

ARYA Atherosclerosis has been Licensed as a scientific & research journal by the iranian commission for medical publications, ministry of health and medical education

Indexed in :

✓PubMed

PubMed Central

- V Scopus
- Islamic World Science Citation (ISC)
- WHO/EMRO/Index Medicus
- NLM Catalog
- Directory of Open Access Journals (DOAJ)
- Index Copernicus
- Academic Search Complete EBSCO Publishing databases
- Scientific Information Database
- Open J Gate
- Google Scholar
- 🗸 Iranmedex
- 🗸 Magiran

Serial Issue: 32

Volume 9, Issue 1, January 2013

Print ISSN: 1735-3955 Online ISSN: 2251-6638

Letter to Editor(s)

The effect of patients' time of arrival at the hospital on the rate of Thrombolytic therapy

Toba Kazemi, Gholam-Reza Sharifzadeh, Samaneh Neikhonjy.....

Original Articles

Obesity and risk of hypercholesterolemia in Iranian northern adults Gholamreza Veghari, Mehdi Sedaghat, Hamidraza Joshghani, Samieh Banihashem, Pooneh Moharloei, Abdolhamid Angizeh, Ebrahim Tazik, Abbas Moghaddami...2-6

The incidence of in-hospital atrial fibrillation after coronary artery bypass grafting using ventricular and atrial pacing

Relationship between left ventricular ejection fraction and depression following myocardial infarction: an original article

Reza Bagherian-Sararoudi, Bijan Gilani, Hadi Bahrami Ehsan, Hamid Sanei...16-21

Primary percutaneous coronary intervention in the Isfahan province, Iran; A situation analysis and needs assessment

Physical activity, sex, and socioeconomic status: A population based study Mohammad Talaei, Katayoun Rabiei, Zahra Talaei, Negar Amiri, Behzad Zolfaghari, Payam Rabiri, Nizal Sarrafzadegan. \$1-60

Parental perceptions of weight status of their children

Differences in the prevalence of metabolic syndrome in boys and girls based on various definitions

Socioeconomic characteristics and controlled hypertension: Evidence from Isfahan Healthy Heart Program

Renal ablation for treatment of hypertension without Symplicity catheter: The first human experience

Alteration in unhealthy nutrition behaviors in adolescents through community intervention: Isfahan Healthy Heart Program

Effects of citrus sinensis juice on blood pressure

Review Article(s)

Psychological factors and coronary heart disease

Case Report(s)

Short Communication(s)

http://www.aryajournal.ir

Email: arya @ crc.mui.ac.ir



Official Journal of the Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences

CHAIRMAN

Masoud Pourmoghaddas, MD Professor of Cardiology, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

SENIOR EDITOR

Nizal Sarrafzadegan, MD Professor of Cardiology, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

EDITOR-IN-CHIEF

Masoumeh Sadeghi, MD Associate Professor of Cardiology, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

SECTION EDITORS

Sedigheh Asgari, PhD: Professor, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Alireza Khosravi, MD: Associate Professor, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Jamshid Najafian, MD: Associate Professor, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Hamidreza Roohafza, MD: Assistant Professor, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Vahid Shaygan Nejad, MD: Associate Professor, Department of Neurology, School of Medicine, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

MANAGING EDITOR

Mojgan Gharipour, MSc, Biochemist, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

STATISTICAL CONSULTANT

Avat Feizi, PhD Assistant Professor, Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, School of Public Health, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Publisher: Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Email: publications@mui.ac.ir

Copy Edit, Layout Edit, Design and Print: Farzanegan Radandish Co. Tel: +98-311-6686302 Email: f.radandish@gmail.com

> Circulation: 500 Distribution: International Language: English Interval: Bimonthly Print ISSN: 1735-3955, Online ISSN: 2251-6638

EDITORIAL BOARD (Alphabetic order)

Peyman Adibi, MD

Associate Professor, Department of Gastroenterology, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Leila Azadbakht, PhD

Associate Professor, Department of Nutrition, School of Health, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Marvam Boshtam, MSc

PhD Candidate, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Armen Gaspayan, MD, PhD Associate Professor, School of Medicine, Chief Editor of European Science Editing, UK Roya Kelishadi, MD

Professor, Department of Pediatrics, Child Health Promotion Research Center, School of Medicine, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran Mohammad Lotfi, MD

Professor, Department of Neurology, Tehran

University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran Mohammad Hossein Mandegar, MD Professor, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Mohammad Navab, MD, PhD

Professor, Department of Medicine, David Geffen School of Medicine, The University of California, Los Angeles, CA

Frirdon Noohi, MD

Professor, Department of Cardiology, Shaheed Rajaei Cardiovascular Medical and Research Center, Tehran, Iran Mohammad Saadatnia, MD Associate Professor, School of Medicine, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran Shahin Shirani, MD

Associate Professor, Department of Cardiology, School of Medicine, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran E Vartianian, PhD

Professor, Department of Epidemiology, National Public Health Institute, Helsinki Finland

Masoud Amini, MD Professor, Department of Endocrinology, Endocrine and Metabolism Research Center, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran Majid Barekatain, MD Associate Professor, Department of Psychiatry, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran Arun Chokalingam, MD Professor, School of Medicine, Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, BC Yousof Gheisari, MD, PhD, Assistant Professor, Department of Biotechnology, School of Medicine, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran Darwin R Labarthe, MD Associate Director for Cardiovascular Health Policy and Research, Division of Adult and Community Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Washington, DC Arya Mani, MD Professor, Department of Internal Medicine, School of Medicine, Yale University, New Haven, CT Ahmad Movahedian, PhD Professor, School of Pharmacy, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran Ebrahim Nematipour, MD Department of Cardiology, Tehran Heart Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran Katavoun Rabiei, MD PhD Candidate, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran Mohammad Shenasa, MD Professor, Department of Cardiovascular Services, O'Connor Hospital, San Jose, CA Bahram Soleimani, PhD Associate Professor. Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Najafabad Branch, Islamic Azad University, Isfahan, Iran

Bahram Aminian, MD

Professor, Department of Medicine and Cardiology, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran

Abolghasem Djazayeri, MD, PhD

Professor, Department of Nutrition, Schoo of Public Health, National Nutrition and Food Technology Research Institute, Tehran, Iran

Ahmad Esmailzadeh, PhD

Associate Professor, Department of Nutrition, Department of Nutrition, School of Public Health, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Shaghayegh Haghjooy Javanmard, PhD

Physiology Research Centre, Isfahan University of medical sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Bagher Larijani, MD

Professor, Research Institute for Endocrine Sciences (R.I.E.S), Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Hossein Malekafzali, MD, PhD

Professor, Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, School of Public Health, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran Noushin Mohammadifard, MSc

PhD Candidate. Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Sania Nishtar, MD

Professor, Department of Cardiology, Founder and President, Heart file, Islamabad, Pakistan

Kusam Sudhakar Reddy, MD

Professor, Department of Cardiology, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, New Delhi, India Shahrzad Shahidi, MD

Associate Professor, Department of Nephrology,

School of Medicine, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Ali Akbar Tavassoli, MD

Associate Professor, Cardiac Rehabilitation Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF

Sharareh Nazemzadeh

TECHNICAL MANAGER

Zahra Kasaei, MD

Address: ARYA Journal Office, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Seddigheh Tahereh Research Complex, Khorram Ave. Isfahan, Iran Tel: +98-311-3377883

PO. Box: 81465-1148 Email: arya@crc.mui.ac.ir

Fax: +98-311-3373435 Web: www.aryajournal.ir

Address: ARYA Journal Office, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Seddigheh Tahereh Research Complex, Khorram Ave. Isfahan, Isfahan, Iran

PO. Box: 81465-1148 Tel: +98-311-3377883 Fax: +98-311-3373435 E-mail: arya@crc.mui.ac.ir Web: www.aryajournal.ir



MANUSCRIPTS

Manuscripts containing original material are accepted for consideration if neither the article nor any part of its essential substance, tables, or figures has been or will be published or submitted elsewhere before appearing in the *Journal*. This restriction does not apply to abstracts or press reports published in connection with scientific meetings. Copies of any closely related manuscripts must be submitted along with the manuscript that is to be considered by the *Journal*. Authors of all types of articles should follow the general instructions given below. Please see Types of Articles for specific word counts and instructions.

SUBMISSION

• Only online submission is acceptable. Please submit online at: http://www.aryajournal.ir

• Manuscripts should be divided into the following sections: (1) Title page, (2) Abstract and Keywords, (3) Introduction, (4) Methods, (5) Results, (6) Discussion, (7) Acknowledgements, (8) Authors contribution, (9) References, (10) Figures' legend, (11), Tables and (12) Appendices. Figures should be submitted in separate files using JPEG or TIF format.

• Prepare your manuscript text using a Word processing package (save in .doc or .rtf format NOT .docx). Submissions of text in the form of PDF files are not permitted.

COVER LETTER

A covering letter signed by corresponding author should provide full contact details (include the address, telephone number, fax number, and Email address). Please make clear that the final manuscript has been seen and approved by all authors, and that the authors accept full responsibility for the design and conduct of the study, had access to the data, and controlled the decision to publish. There should also be a statement that the manuscript is not under submission elsewhere and has not been published before in any form.

AUTHORSHIP

As stated in the Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals, credit for authorship requires substantial contributions to: (a) conception and design, or analysis and interpretation of data; (b) the drafting of the article or critical revision for important intellectual content and (c) final approval of the version to be published. Authors should meet conditions a, b and c. All authors must sign <u>authorship</u> form attesting that they fulfill the authorship criteria. Your submitted manuscript will not be processed unless this form is sent. There should be a statement in manuscript explaining contribution of each author to the work. Those contributors who did not fulfill authorship criteria should be listed in acknowledgments.

Any change in authorship after submission must be approved in writing by all authors.

ASSURANCES

In appropriate places in the manuscript please provide the following items:

- If applicable, a statement that the research protocol was approved by the relevant institutional review boards or ethics committees and that all human participants gave written informed consent
- The source of funding for the study
- The identity of those who analyzed the data
- Financial disclosure or a statement indicating "None" is necessary.

TITLE PAGE

With the manuscript, provide a page giving the title of the paper; titles should be concise and descriptive (not declarative). Title page should include an abbreviated running title of 40 characters, the names of the authors, including the complete first names and no more than two graduate degrees, the name of the department and institution in which the work was done, the institutional affiliation of each author. The name, post address, telephone number, fax number, and Email address of the corresponding author should be separately addressed. Any grant support that requires acknowledgment should be mentioned on this page. Word count of abstract and main text as well as number of tables and figures and references should be mentioned on title page. If the work was derived from a project or dissertation, its code should also be stated. For clinical trials, a registry number like Iranian Registry of Clinical Trials (IRCT) should also be provided.

Affiliation model: Academic Degree, Department, Institute, City, Country

Example: Associate Professor, Department of Cardiology, School of Medicine, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

ABSTRACT

Provide on a separate page an abstract of not more than 300 words. This abstract should consist of four paragraphs, labeled **Background**, **Methods**, **Results, and Conclusion**. They should briefly describe the problem being addressed in the study, how the study was performed, the salient results, and what the authors conclude from the results, respectively. Three to 10 keywords may be included. Keywords are preferred to be in accordance with MeSH terms. Find MeSH terms: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/mesh

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Authors of research articles should disclose at the time of submission any financial arrangement they may have with a company whose product is pertinent to the submitted manuscript or with a company making a competing product. Such information will be held in confidence while the paper is under review and will not influence the editorial decision, but if the article is accepted for publication, a disclosure will appear with the article.

Because the essence of reviews and editorials is selection and interpretation of the literature, the *Journal* expects that authors of such articles will not have any significant financial interest in a company (or its competitor) that makes a product discussed in the article.

REVIEW AND ACTION

Submitted papers will be examined for the evidence of plagiarism using some automated plagiarism detection service. Manuscripts are examined by members of the editorial staff, and two thirds are sent to external reviewers. We encourage authors to suggest the names of possible reviewers, but we reserve the right of final selection. Communications about manuscripts will be sent after the review and editorial decision-making process is complete. After acceptance, editorial system makes a final language and scientific edition. No substantial change is permitted by authors after acceptance. It is the responsibility of corresponding author to answer probable questions and approve final version.

COPYRIGHT

Isfahan Cardiovascular research Institute (ICRI) is the owner of all copyright to any original work published by the ARYA Journal. Authors agree to execute copyright transfer forms as requested with respect to their contributions accepted by the Journal. The ICRI have the right to use, reproduce, transmit, derive works from, publish, and distribute the contribution, in the *Journal* or otherwise, in any form or medium. Authors will not use or authorize the use of the contribution without the Journal Office' written consent

JOURNAL STYLE

Use normal page margins (2.5 cm), and double-space throughout.

Tables

Double-space tables and provide a title for each.

Figures

Figures should be no larger than 125 (height) x 180 (width) mm (5 x 7 inches) and should be submitted in a separate file from that of the manuscript. The name of images or figures files should be the same as the order that was used in manuscript (fig1, fig2, etc.). Only JPEG, tif, gif and eps image formats are acceptable with CMYK model for colored image at a resolution of at least 300 dpi. Graphs must have the minimum quality: clear text, proportionate, not 3 dimensional and without disharmonic language. Electron photomicrographs should have internal scale markers.

If photographs of patients are used, either the subjects should not be identifiable or the photographs should be accompanied by written permission to use them. Permission forms are available from the Editorial Office.

Medical and scientific illustrations will be created or recreated in-house. If an outside illustrator creates the figure, the *Journal* reserves the right to modify or redraw it to meet our specifications for publication. The author must explicitly acquire all rights to the illustration from the artist in order for us to publish the illustration. Legends for figures should be an editable text as caption and should not appear on the figures.

References

The Vancouver style of referencing should be used. References must be double-spaced and numbered as superscripts consecutively as they are cited. References first cited in a table or figure legend should be numbered so that they will be in sequence with references cited in the text at the point where the table or figure is first mentioned. List all authors when there are six or fewer; when there are seven or more, list the first six, then "et al." In the following some examples are listed:

- 1.McLaughlin TJ, Aupont O, Bambauer KZ, Stone P, Mullan MG, Colagiovanni J, et al. Improving psychologic adjustment to chronic illness in cardiac patients. The role of depression and anxiety. J Gen Intern Med 2005; 20(12): 1084-90.
- 2.Bonow RO, Mann DL, Zipes DP, Libby P. Braunwald's Heart Disease E-Book: A Textbook of Cardiovascular Medicine. 7th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier Health Sciences; 2007. p. 1976, 1981, 1982.

3.Gaston M. The psychological care of patients following a myocardial infarction [Online]. 2003; Available from: URL: http://www.nursingtimes.net/the-psychologicalcareof-patients-following-amyocardialinfarction/199464.article/

Units of Measurement

Authors should express all measurements in conventional units, with Système International (SI) units given in parentheses throughout the text. Figures and tables should use conventional units, with conversion factors given in legends or footnotes. In accordance with the Uniform Requirements, however, manuscripts containing only SI units will not be returned for that reason.

Abbreviations

Except for units of measurement, abbreviations are discouraged. Consult Scientific Style and Format: The CBE Manual for Authors, Editors, and Publishers (Sixth edition. New York: Cambridge University Press, 1994) for lists of standard abbreviations. Except for units of measurement, the first time an abbreviation appears, it should be preceded by the words for which it stands.

Drug Names

Generic names should generally be used except for studies on comparative effects of different brands. When proprietary brands are used in research, include the brand name and the name of the manufacturer in parentheses in the Methods section.

For any more detail about the writing style for your manuscripts refer to:

http://www.icmje.org

Try to prepare your manuscript in accord with the scientific writing checklists available in EQUATOR Network:

http://www.equator-network.org

AFTER YOUR SUBMISSION

When a manuscript arrives to ARYA office, a staff member checks it to make sure that all materials required for submission are included. If everything is present, the article is registered in office and referred to the managing editor.

The first step the manuscript makes on its editorial journey is on the desk of the editor-in-chief, who reviews each submission (in his absence this is done by the managing editor) and decides on the basis of its general content whether it is appropriate even for consideration for publication. Each of the remaining scientific manuscripts is assigned to an associate editor with expertise in the subject area covered by the study, who makes an independent assessment of the value and validity of the paper. If the associate editor believes that even with favorable reviews the paper would not be published because it lacks novelty or importance, or if he/she spots a major flaw in experimental design, performance or statistical analysis the manuscript is returned to the authors.

If, on the other hand, the associate editor believes that the paper may merit publication, it is sent to two of our outside **reviewers**. They are asked to provide a frank evaluation of the *scientific validity of the manuscript, insight into its freshness, clinical impact, and timeliness, and an overall opinion* of its worthiness for publication. This is the key step in manuscript evaluation. As editors, we are grateful to all our reviewers for their continued contribution to the rating process. We are careful not to refer to them as "referees," which would suggest that the decision to publish a paper rests entirely with them. It does not. The reviewers provide critiques and advice that the editorial staff uses in making decisions. But we, **ARYA editorial board**, make the decisions.

When both outside reviews are returned, the associate editor then assesses the manuscript again, along with the comments of the reviewers. She may seek additional opinions from other reviewers, or may discuss the manuscript at a meeting of the entire editorial staff. At this meeting a decision is made either to reject the paper or to proceed further editorial consideration, including, if appropriate, a formal review of the statistical or experimental methods. In some cases, the editorial staff may recommend additional review by outside reviewers. On completion of this process, the manuscript is usually returned to its authors along with a letter inviting them to revise it and to respond to certain questions. When all the requested information has been received, the manuscript is reconsidered by an associate editor, and it may be discussed again with other members of the editorial staff. We then make our final decision to accept or reject the paper.

We recognize that the peer-review process is not perfect, but we earnestly believe that it is the best way to select and publish the most important medical research. Peer review is labor-intensive and sometimes *time-consuming*, but without it physicians themselves would have to assess the validity of new medical research and decide when to introduce new treatments into practice.

We do all our efforts to finalize this process in a 3 to 4 months period for each manuscript.

We understand the importance of a submitted manuscript to its authors. We invite you to submit your best research to us; we will treat it with respect, and you can follow it on its journey.

Type of Articles Considered to be Published in ARYA Atherosclerosis Journal

ARYA Atherosclerosis is a quarterly peer-reviewed scientific Journal providing academically sound, clinically practical information for physicians, medical scientists and health care providers. ARYA Atherosclerosis is published by Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute. Journal editors review articles in fields of atherosclerosis, its risk factors and related diseases.

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

• Original Articles are scientific reports of the results of original clinical research. The text is limited to 3000 words (excluding abstracts and references), with a structured abstract, a maximum of 5 tables and figures (total), and up to 40 references.

• **Special Articles** include data and generally focus on areas such as economic policy, ethics, law, or health care delivery. The text is limited to 3000 words, with an abstract, a maximum of 5 tables and figures (total), and up to 40 references.

• Short communication articles are short scientific entities often dealing with methodological problems or with byproducts of larger research projects and are suitable for the presentation of research that extends previously published research. A short communication is for a concise, but independent report representing a significant contribution to cardiology. Short communication is not intended to publish preliminary results. It should be no more than 1500 words, and could include two figures or tables. It should have at least 8 references. Short communications are also sent to peer review.

CLINICAL CASES

• **Brief Reports** usually describe one to three patients or a single family. The text is limited to 2000 words, a maximum of 3 tables and figures (total), and up to 25 references. They do not include an abstract.

• Clinical Problem-Solving manuscripts consider the step-by-step process of clinical decision making. Information about a patient is presented to an expert clinician or clinicians in stages (in the manuscript this is indicated in **boldface** type) to simulate the way such information emerges in clinical practice. The clinician responds (regular type) as new information is presented, sharing his or her reasoning with the reader. The text should not exceed 2500 words, and there should be no more than 20 references. The use of clinical illustrative materials, such as x-ray films, is encouraged.

REVIEW ARTICLES

All review articles undergo the same peer-review and editorial process as original research reports.

Conflicts of Interest: Because the essence of review articles is selection and interpretation of the literature, the *ARYA Atherosclerosis Journal* expects that the authors of such articles will not have a significant financial association with a company (or its competitor) that makes a product discussed in the article.

• Clinical Practice articles are evidence-based reviews of topics relevant to practicing physicians, both primary care providers and specialists. Articles in this series should include the following sections: clinical context, strategies and evidence, areas of uncertainty, guidelines from professional societies, and recommendations from the authors. The text is limited to 2500 words, and a small number of figures and tables. They do not include an abstract.

• **Current Concepts** articles focus on clinical topics, including those in specialty areas but of wide interest. The text is limited to 2400 words, with a maximum of four figures and tables (total), and up to 50 references. They do not include an abstract.

• **Drug Therapy** articles detail the pharmacology and use of specific drugs or classes of drugs, or the various drugs used to treat particular diseases. The text is limited to 4000 words, with a maximum of six figures and tables (total), and up to 120 references. They do not include an abstract.

• Mechanisms of Disease articles discuss the cellular and molecular mechanisms of diseases or

categories of diseases. The text is limited to 3500 words, with a maximum of six figures and tables (total), and up to 100 references. They do not include an abstract.

• Medical Progress articles provide comprehensive, scholarly overviews of important clinical subjects, with the principal (but not exclusive) focus on developments during the past

OTHER SUBMISSIONS

• Editorials usually provide commentary and analysis concerning an article in the issue of the *Journal* in which they appear. They may include an illustration or table. They are nearly always solicited, although occasionally, unsolicited editorials may be considered. Editorials are limited to 1200 words, with up to 15 references.

• **Perspectives** are also nearly always solicited, but we are willing to consider unsolicited proposals. Perspectives provide background and context for an article in the issue in which they appear. Perspectives are limited to 800 words and usually include an illustration. There are no reference citations.

• Sounding Board articles are opinion essays. They are similar to editorials but not tied to a particular article. They often present opinions on health policy issues and are normally unsolicited. The text is limited to 2000 words.

• Clinical Implications of Basic Research articles discuss single papers from preclinical journals. The purpose is to explain the findings and comment on their possible clinical applications in fewer than 1000 words. There may be one figure and up to four references. We do not consider unsolicited manuscripts in this category.

• Images in Clinical Medicine are classic images of common medical conditions. Visual images are an important part of much of what we do and learn in medicine. This feature is intended to capture the five years. Each article details how the perception of a disease, disease category, diagnostic approach, or therapeutic intervention has evolved in recent years. The text is limited to 3500 words, with a maximum of six tables and figures (total), and up to 100 references. They do not include an abstract.

sense of visual discovery and variety that physicians experience. Images in Clinical Medicine are not intended as a vehicle for case reports.

• **Special Reports** are miscellaneous articles of special interest to the medical community. They are limited to 2700 words.

• Legal Issues in Medicine are nearly always solicited, but *Journal* is willing to consider unsolicited manuscripts or proposals for manuscripts.

• Health Policy Reports are nearly always solicited, but *Journal* is willing to consider unsolicited manuscripts or proposals for manuscripts.

• Occasional Notes are accounts of personal experiences or descriptions of material from outside the usual areas of medical research and analysis.

• Book Reviews are generally solicited.

• Letters to the Editor: Letters to the Editor are considered for publication (subject to editing and abridgment) provided they do not contain material that has been submitted or published elsewhere. The text, not including references, must not exceed 175 words if it is in reference to a recent *Journal* article, or 400 words in all other cases. A letter must have no more than five references and one figure or table. It must not be signed by more than three authors. Letters referring to a recent *Journal* article must be received within three weeks of its publication.

Table of Contents

Letter to Editor(s)

1. The effect of patients' time of arrival at the hospital on the rate of Thrombolytic therapy Toba Kazemi, Gholam-Reza Sharifzadeh, Samaneh Neikhonjy1
Original Article(s)
2. Obesity and risk of hypercholesterolemia in Iranian northern adults Gholamreza Veghari, Mehdi Sedaghat, Hamidraza Joshghani, Samieh Banihashem, Pooneh Moharloei, Abdolhamid Angizeh, Ebrahim Tazik, Abbas Moghaddami
3. Correlation between seizure in children and prolonged QT interval Saeid Sadrnia, Parsa Yousefi, Leila Jalali
4. The incidence of in-hospital atrial fibrillation after coronary artery bypass grafting using ventricular and atrial pacing <i>Mina Naghnaeian, Mohammadreza Sameinasab, Mohsen Mirmohammadsadeghi, Majid Rabani, Ali Pourmogaddas, Mahsa Behnemun</i>
5. Relationship between left ventricular ejection fraction and depression following myocardial infarction: an original article <i>Reza Bagherian-Sararoudi, Bijan Gilani, Hadi Bahrami Ehsan, Hamid Sanei</i>
6. Effects of streptokinase on reflow in rescue percutaneous coronary intervention Masoud Sanatkar, Hassan Shemirani, Hamid Sanei, Masoud Pourmoghaddas, Katayoun Rabiei 22-28
7. Improvement of dietary oil consumption following a community trial in a developing country: The role of translational research in health promotion Noushin Mohammadifard, Nafiseh Toghianifar, Firoozeh Sajjadi, Hassan Alikhasi, Roya Kelishadi, Maryam Maghroun, Mostafa Esmaeili, Shahram Ehteshami, Hamzeh Tabaie, Nizal Sarrafzadegan 29-37
8. Primary percutaneous coronary intervention in the Isfahan province, Iran; A situation analysis and needs assessment Ali Reza Khosravi, Mohamadhosein Hoseinabadi, Masoud Pourmoghaddas, Shahin Shirani, Navid Paydari, Mahmoud Sadeghi, Soheila Kanani, Mahnaz Jozan, Elham Khosravi
9. Social norms of cigarette and hookah smokers in Iranian universities Hamidreza Roohafza, Masoumeh Sadeghi, Maryam Shahnam, Pedram Shokouh, Soheila Teimori, Afshin Amirpour, Nizal Sarrafzadegan
10. Physical activity, sex, and socioeconomic status: A population based study <i>Mohammad Talaei, Katayoun Rabiei, Zahra Talaei, Negar Amiri, Behzad Zolfaghari, Payam Kabiri,</i> <i>Nizal Sarrafzadegan</i>
11. Parental perceptions of weight status of their children Nizal Sarrafzadegan, Katayoun Rabiei, Fatemeh Nouri, Noushin Mohammadifard, Fariborz Moattar, Hamidreza Roohafza, Shaghayegh Haghjooy Javanmard, Sonia Zarfeshani, Masoud Pourmoghaddas
12. Differences in the prevalence of metabolic syndrome in boys and girls based on various definitions <i>Nizal Sarrafzadegan, Mojgan Gharipour, Masoumeh Sadeghi, Fatemeh Nouri, Sedigheh Asgary,</i> <i>Sonia Zarfeshani</i>

Table of Contents

13. Socioeconomic characteristics and controlled hypertension: Evidence from Isfahan Healthy Heart Program
Mojgan Gharipour, Alireza Khosravi, Masoumeh Sadeghi, Hamidreza Roohafza, Mohammad Hashemi, Nizal Sarrafzadegan
14. Renal ablation for treatment of hypertension without Symplicity catheter: The first human experience
15. Alteration in unhealthy nutrition behaviors in adolescents through community intervention: Isfahan Healthy Heart Program Noushin Mohammadifard, Nizal Sarrafzadegan, Gholam Reza Ghassemi, Fatemeh Nouri, Rezvan Pashmi
16. Effects of citrus sinensis juice on blood pressure Sedigheh Asgary, Mahtab Keshvari
<u>Kevlew Arucle(s)</u> 17. Psychological factors and coronary heart disease Zohreh Khayyam-Nekouei, Hamidtaher Neshatdoost, Alireza Yousefy, Masoumeh Sadeghi, Gholamreza Manshaee
<u>Case Report(s)</u>
18. Dabigatran, a direct thrombin inhibitor, can be a life-saving treatment in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia
Ahmad Mirdamadi

The effect of patients' time of arrival at the hospital on the rate of Thrombolytic therapy

Toba Kazemi⁽¹⁾, Gholam-Reza Sharifzadeh⁽²⁾, Samaneh Neikhonjy⁽³⁾

Letter to Editor

Date of submission: 8 Aug 2012, Date of acceptance: 14 Oct 2012

The honorable editor-in-chief of the Journal of ARYA

We read with interest the article of Dr. Maleki that has recently been published.1 We conducted a similar study in Birjand Vali-e-Asr Hospital in 2009-2010. This study was done on 125 patients with STEMI with a mean age of 59.2 \pm 11.9 years. In study, 65.6% of patients underwent this thrombolytic therapy. This showed a crucial increase compared to the previous study in Birjand in 2003 that showed 17.3% of patients underwent thrombolytic therapy.² Mean door to needle time was 74.8 ± 42.7 minutes (median 60 minutes). Thrombolytic therapy showed no difference for difference in sex (69.4% in males, and 51.9% in females, P = 0.08). However, in working staff (86.7%) employees, in and 51.2% in farmers/workers, P = 0.003), in highly educated individuals (92.3% at university level, and 45.5% illiterate, P < 0.001), and in citizens (73.2% in urban, and 51.2% in rural citizens, P = 0.01) there was a higher percentage of thrombolytic therapy. The main reason for this difference between them is earlier arrival to the hospital since the onset of symptoms. The arrival time in the city's residents was 166.7 ± 179.6 minutes, but for villagers it was 221.6 ± 112 minutes (P = 0.001). Furthermore, the rate of thrombolytic therapy during the night was not significantly different compared to the rest of the day (73% during morning, 62.9% during afternoon, and 62.3% during night, P = 0.52). The patient's arrival time to the hospital at night was not different compared to the rest of the day $(166.9 \pm 174.7 \text{ minutes in the morning shift, and}$ 148.2 ± 85.2 minutes during the night shift, P = 0.63). Visiting patients during the night shift

was similar to other shifts; visit by intern was 12.3 ± 9.1 minutes during the morning shift, and 14.1 ± 9.3 minutes during the night shift (P = 0.73). The rate of thrombolytic therapy in our study was similar to the study by Dr. Maleki¹ however, door to needle time was longer. In our hospital (Birjand Vali-e-Asr Hospital), due to lack of residents, it is necessary that patients should certainly be visited by a cardiologist (on call) before starting thrombolytic therapy and the cardiologist should himself/herself be present at the patient's bedsides.

It is necessary that public awareness be increased through educational programs on television, and local journals. Providing telemedicine facilities, through which a patient's ECG is observed by a cardiologist at home, is one of the necessities.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

References

- 1. Maleki A, Shariari A, Sadeghi M, Rashidi N, Alyari F, Forughi S, et al. Evaluation of fibrinolytic medical therapy for patients with acute myocardial infarction. ARYA Atheroscler 2012; 8(1): 46-9.
- **2.** Kazemy T, Sharifzadeh GR. Changes in risk factors, medical care and rate of acute myocardial infarction in Birjand (1994-2003). ARYA Atheroscler 2006; 1(4): 271-4.

How to cite this article: Kazemi T, Sharifzadeh GR, Neikhonjy S. **The effect of patients' time of arrival at the hospital on the rate of Thrombolytic therapy.** ARYA Atheroscler 2013; 9(1): 1.

¹⁻ Associate Professor, Birjand Atherosclerosis and Coronary Artery Research Center, Department of Cardiology, Birjand University of Medical Science, Birjand, Iran

²⁻ Department of Epidemiology, Birjand University of Medical Sciences, Birjand, Iran

³⁻ Medical Student, Student Research Committee, Birjand University of Medical Science, Birjand, Iran

Correspondence to: Toba Kazemi, Email: drtooba.kazemi@gmail.com

Obesity and risk of hypercholesterolemia in Iranian northern adults

<u>Gholamreza Veghari</u>⁽¹⁾, Mehdi Sedaghat⁽²⁾, Hamidraza Joshghani⁽³⁾, Samieh Banihashem⁽²⁾, Pooneh Moharloei⁽²⁾, Abdolhamid Angizeh⁽²⁾, Ebrahim Tazik⁽²⁾, Abbas Moghaddami⁽²⁾

Original Article

Abstract

BACKGROUND: The main aim of this study was to evaluate the association between serum cholesterol level and body mass index (BMI) in northern Iran.

METHODS: This was a cross-sectional study carried out on the 1995 subjects (997 males and 998 females) aged 25-65 years that were selected using multistage cluster sampling method. Plasma cholesterol was measured in the morning after a 12-hour fasting and was determined by auto-analyzer. Hypercholesterolemia (HC) was defined by a total plasma cholesterol level over 200 mg/dl. Weight and height were measured and BMI 25-29.9 kg/m² and \geq 30 kg/m² was classified overweight and obesity, respectively.

RESULTS: Mean of age was 44.2 ± 11.5 years $(44.3 \pm 11.5$ in men and 44.1 ± 11.2 in women) and plasma total cholesterol level was 203.1 ± 41.8 mg/dl. The HC was detected in 49.1% with higher rate in women (57.0%) than men (44.7%). In men at age 25-35 years, the odds ratio was 3.42 (1.60-7.29) in obese group and 1.90 (1.03-3.50) in overweight group compared to normal weight. In women, at age 35-45 years, the risk of HC in obese group was 3.01 (1.58-5.73) and in overweight group it was 2.06 (1.58-5.73), while in men aged 35-45 years the relative risk was 4.03 (2.22-7.34) in overweight and 3.58 (1.77-7.25) in obese group. In women after age 45 years, higher BMI was not a risk factor for HC.

CONCLUSION: There was a positive association between BMI and serum cholesterol level. In early middle age, obese individuals were at risk of HC more than overweight subjects. In men, after age 35 years, the risk of HC increased in overweight group while in women there was no statistically significant association between BMI and HC.

Keywords: Serum Cholesterol Level, Adult, Body Mass Index, Gender, Iran

Date of submission: 23 Jul 2012, Date of acceptance: 23 Oct 2012

Introduction

In middle-age, serum cholesterol level is well known as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease (CVD).¹ World Health Organization (WHO) reported that the prevalence of hypercholesterolemia (total cholesterol \geq 6.5 mmol/l or taking lipid-lowering drugs) is varied across populations from 3% to 53% in men, and from 4% to 40% in women.² Some factors such as life style, diet, smoking, BMI (Body Mass Index), gender, physical activity and age are associated with plasma cholesterol level.²⁻⁵

The relationship between BMI and risk of CVD is well established in some studies⁶⁻⁸ whereas the negative correlation was shown between serum cholesterol level and height in others.^{9,10} BMI is positively associated with serum cholesterol level in middle-age men in Helsingborg, Sweden and the changing in cholesterol levels over the six-year follow-up was significantly related to the changing in BMI and WHR.¹¹ Alterations in lipid and lipoprotein concentrations and changing the CVD risk factors was seen in some studies.¹²⁻¹⁵ In Framingham study,¹⁶ the mortality and morbidity due to CVD was estimated by determining of plasma cholesterol levels in young and adult people. The risk of CVD death among subjects with high serum cholesterol was approximately 5-fold more than of those individuals having low serum cholesterol level and 10% decline of serum cholesterol decreased 30% in mortality rate due to it.¹⁷

2 ARYA Atheroscler 2013; Volume 9, Issue 1

¹⁻ Assistant Professor, Ischemic Disorders Research Center, School of Medicine, Golestan University of Medical Sciences, Golestan, Iran

²⁻ Deputy of Health, Golestan University of Medical Sciences, Golestan, Iran

³⁻ Associate Professor, Department of Clinical Biochemistry, Golestan University of Medical Sciences, Golestan, Iran Correspondence to: Gholamreza Veghari, Email: grveghari@yahoo.com

Golestan province is in the north of Iran (south east of Caspian Sea). Of 1.6 million people in this area, 66.4% are 15-64 years old. 43.9% and 56.1% people live in urban and rural areas, respectively. Agriculture is the main job in rural area and different ethnic groups such as Fars (native), Turkman and Sisstani live in this region.¹⁸ The aim of this study was to evaluate the association between serum cholesterol level and BMI in men and women among 25-65 years old people in northern Iran.

Materials and Methods

We established a cross-sectional study with a sample of 1995 cases (997 men and 998 women with equal age) of urban and rural area, aged 25-65 years living in 11 districts in Golestan, Iran, situated at the south east of Caspian Sea. With assumption of 25% obesity rate,3 a confidence level of 95% and a maximum marginal error about 0.02, the sample size was calculated 1800 subjects. For more efficiency the sample size was raised to 1995 subjects. We conducted a multistage cluster sampling techniques by 100 clusters with equal size of 20 subjects. In the first stage, the clusters were chosen randomly using systematic sampling technique based on postal code in urban areas and family health number in Primary Health Centers in rural areas. In the second stage, we randomly selected 20 subjects in each cluster. All family members in blocks (a complex of building) who were 25-65 years old were included in our study. Weight was measured with light clothing and without shoes and height was measured standing up with head, back and buttock on the vertical land of the height-gauge.

BMI was calculated as weight (kg) / height (m)² and World Health Organization classification was applied. BMI of 25.0-29.9 kg/m² was classified as overweight, BMI of 30.0 to 39.9 kg/m² was classified as obese and BMI equal to or greater than 40 kg/m^2 was classified as pathologic obese.¹⁹

For measuring of serum cholesterol level, blood sample was taken in the morning after 12 hours fasting. Serum cholesterol was measured by commercial kits (Pars Azmoon, Karaj, Iran) using auto-Analyzer. Plasma hypercholesterolemia (HC) was defined by a total plasma cholesterol level over 200 mg/dl.²⁰

Quantitative and qualitative data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation and frequently (%), respectively. SPSS software (version 16.0; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL., USA) was used for the statistical analysis. Pearson's correlation coefficient was employed to determine correlation between BMI and serum cholesterol level. ANOVA and post-hoc Tukey's test were used to compare the means. Logistic regression analysis was applied to estimate the odds ratio (OR) of HC risk according to the BMI ranges. P-value under 0.05 was considered as statistically significant. This study approved by Ethical Research Committee and consent was received from all participants. Pregnant women, those on cholesterol lowering drugs and those who were unwilling to participate in this study were excluded from the study.

Results

The characteristics of subjects are presented in table 1. Mean of age and serum cholesterol level were 44.2 ± 11.3 years $(44.3 \pm 11.5$ in men and 44.1 ± 11.2 in women) and 203.1 ± 41.8 mg/dl (196.7 \pm 39.5 in men and 209.4 \pm 42.9 women), respectively. The obesity and overweight were seen in 29.5% and 33.9%, respectively. HC was detected in 49.1% of population and was more in women (57.0%) than men (44.7%).

The serum cholesterol levels and BMI in age and sex groups are presented in table 2. The serum cholesterol level tended to increase with BMI and ANOVA test showed significant differences in all age groups (P < 0.001) in both genders. In men, the post-hoc Tukey test done for pair-waise comparison between three BMI ranges revealed a statistically significant differences in the mean cholesterol between normal and overweight as weel as between normal and obese people in all age groups (P < 0.05). There was no statistically significant differences in the mean cholesterol between overweight and obese groups. In women, the posthoc Tukey test showed a significant difference in the mean cholesterol based on overweight in all age groups and in the whole population, except in 45-55 years age groups (P < 0.05). This test was significant between normal weight and obese in all age groups and in total (P < 0.05). However, this relationship was not seen between overweight and obese people in all age groups and in total population.

The odds ratio was estimated for HC based on BMI and age by logistic regrision. Normal weight (BMI < 25 kg/m²) was considered as reference. In men, the results of logistic regresion analysis showed that the risk of HC before age 35 years in obese group was more than overweight. At age 25-35 years, the risk of HC was 3.42 (1.60-7.29) in obese group and in overweight it was 1.90 (1.03-3.50) compared to normal subjects [Odds ratio (95% Confidence Interval)]. In contrary, in over 35 years, the relative risk of HC in overweight men [4.03 (2.22-7.34)] was more than obese men [3.587 (1.77-7.25)].

In women, the relative risk of HC among those aged under 45 years, in obese was more than overweight. Hence, the odds ratio at age 25-35, in obese was 4.05(2.07-7.90) and in overweight was 3.71(1.91-7.18). In 35-45 year age group in obese, the risk was 3.01(1.58-5.73) and in overweight was 2.06(1.58-5.73).

In women, the odds ratio of HC in obese was 2.75(2.00-3.77) and in overweight was 2.11(1.52-2.94). After age 45, the odds ratio for HC was not significant.

Table 1. The charac	teristics of	subjects	with respect to	gender	(N =	1995)
---------------------	--------------	----------	-----------------	--------	------	-------

	Men	Women	Total	Р
	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	
N (%)	997 (50)	998 (50)		
Age (year)	44.3 ± 11.5	44.1 ± 11.2	44.2 ± 11.3	0.700
Serum cholesterol (mg/dl)	196.7 ± 39.5	209.4 ± 42.9	203.1 ± 41.8	0.001
Body mass index (Kg/m2)	26.0 ± 4.8	28.7 ± 6.3	27.3 ± 5.8	0.001

*Numbers represent mean ± standard deviation;

SD: Standard deviation

Table 2. Serum cholesterol level and body mass index based on age and gend

Age group (Year)		No	Body mass index status	Cholesterol mg/dl Mean ± SD	P *	OR (CI 95%)	$\mathbf{P}^{\$}$
25-35	Men	119	Normal	178.6 ± 33.2	0.001	(1)	-
		84	Overweight	188.9 ± 38.3		1.90(1.03-3.50)	0.040
		39	Obese	202.6 ± 33.8		3.42(1.60-7.29)	0.001
	Women	106	Normal	177.5 ± 32.8	0.001	(1)	-
		71	Overweight	202.1 ± 42.3		3.71(1.91-7.18)	0.001
		68	Obese	204.3 ± 33.1		4.05(2.07-7.90)	0.001
35-45	Men	114	Normal	185.9 ± 43.8	0.001	(1)	-
		85	Overweight	208.2 ± 36.6		4.03(2.22-7.34)	0.001
		48	Obese	211.5 ± 41.6		3.58(1.77-7.25)	0.001
	Women	62	Normal	184.9 ± 38.3	0.001	(1)	-
		71	Overweight	206.5 ± 37.6		2.06(1.58-5.73)	0.041
		114	Obese	213.2 ± 36.9		3.01(1.58-5.73)	0.001
45-55	Men	91	Normal	189.4 ± 37.3	0.002	(1)	-
		92	Overweight	208.5 ± 35.3		2.37(1.31-4.30)	0.004
		64	Obese	207.5 ± 35.2		1.93(1.01-3.69)	0.047
	Women	52	Normal	204.1 ± 34.7	0.001	(1)	-
		65	Overweight	208.3 ± 37.6		0.98(0.47-2.05)	0.967
		123	Obese	218.4 ± 43.4		1.64(0.84-3.19)	0.142
55-65	Men	111	Normal	187.4 ± 39.6	0.001	(1)	-
		95	Overweight	213.2 ± 42.3		2.92(1.65-5.16)	0.001
		39	Obese	209.5 ± 25.9		2.73(1.28-5.79)	0.009
	Women	66	Normal	217.8 ± 44.8	0.001	(1)	-
		96	Overweight	233.3 ± 48.1		1.48(0.73-2.97)	0.270
		83	Obese	235.0 ± 41.6		1.81(0.86-3.81)	0.117
Total	Men	438	Normal	185.0 ± 38.6	0.001	(1)	-
		356	Overweight	205.1 ± 39.2		2.78(2.08-3.72)	0.001
		191	Obese	207.8 ± 34.8		2.82(1.99-4.01)	0.001
	Women	286	Normal	193.2 ± 40.6	0.001	(1)	-
		304	Overweight	214.3 ± 44.0		2.11(1.52-2.94)	0.001
		388	Obese	217.9 ± 40.6		2.75(2.00-3.77)	0.001
	a - · ·						

* ANOVA

§ Logistic regression

Discussion

The association between hypercholesterolemia and BMI in men and women was not the same. In early middle-age the risk of HC in obese people was more than overweight people while in older age this relation was increased in overweight men without significant differences in women.

The association between serum cholesterol levels and BMI based on age and gender was reported in other studies. Serum cholesterol level increased with age.²¹ BMI and waist circumference were positively associated with total serum cholesterol and non-HDL cholesterol level and inversely associated with HDL cholesterol.¹¹ Alteration in serum cholesterol levels was related to lifestyle factors in some areas.^{22,23}

In pubertal children, total serum cholesterol level was negatively associated with height.²⁴ In Gostynski et al. study, the prevalence of hypercholesterolemia increased with age and compared with women, it was significantly increased more in men at age 24-46 years.²⁵ The association between hypercholesterolemia and BMI became significantly weaker in high age groups while it was not significant in female aged 50-64 years. A study in white Americans²⁶ revealed that changing in BMI from 21.1 to 30.0 kg/m² were associated with a higher total serum cholesterol level up to 23 mg/dl. Relationship between BMI and serum cholesterol level was not significant at age.²¹ The relationship between menopause dyslipidemia and BMI, waist circumference and age was seen in Turkish adult men.27

Similar to mentioned studies, we found the obesity and overweight as the risk factors for HC that was steeper in early middle-age while in women was weaker than men. The insignificant association between BMI and serum cholesterol level in menopause women was shown in other studies.^{21,25} Moreover, different ethnic groups live in northern Iran and inherent factors may influence changing of serum cholesterol level. The variation of serum cholesterol level among ethnic groups should be considered in future studies. Due to the changes in life style in Iran as a developing country in nutrition transition phase,28 we recommend to establish an educational planning to control obesity and HC especially in early middle-age. Food behavior, weight gain control and serum cholesterol treatment was not assessed and they were limitations of our study.

Conclusion

HC is a major health problem in the Iranian

northern adults and BMI is a risk factor for it. In early middle-age, obese subjects more than overweighed subjects were in the risk of HC, while in men, this pattern altered after age 35 years. In women, obesity and overweight was not a risk factor for HC in older middle-age.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the medical and administrative staff in the Primary Health Care Centers of Golestan University of Medical Sciences for their valuable assistance during the field work. This paper was derived from Provincial Incommunicable Data Study and supported by Health Office of Golestan University of Medical Sciences. It was based on official document no. 258888 and was justified for publication.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

References

- 1. Kones R. Primary prevention of coronary heart disease: integration of new data, evolving views, revised goals, and role of rosuvastatin in management. A comprehensive survey. Drug Des Devel Ther 2011; 5: 325-80.
- **2.** Tolonen H, Keil U, Ferrario M, Evans A. Prevalence, awareness and treatment of hypercholesterolaemia in 32 populations: results from the WHO MONICA Project. Int J Epidemiol 2005; 34(1): 181-92.
- **3.** Morikawa Y, Nakagawa H, Miura K, Soyama Y, Ishizaki M, Kido T, et al. Effect of shift work on body mass index and metabolic parameters. Scand J Work Environ Health 2007; 33(1): 45-50.
- **4.** Oanca ME, Azoicai D, Manole A, Ivan A. Contributions to the knowledge of clinical and epidemiological features of essential arterial hypertension in Moldavia, Romania. Rev Med Chir Soc Med Nat Iasi 2007; 111(4): 1012-6.
- **5.** Kolovou GD, Anagnostopoulou KK, Damaskos DS, Mihas C, Mavrogeni S, Hatzigeorgiou G, et al. Gender influence on postprandial lipemia in heterozygotes for familial hypercholesterolemia. Ann Clin Lab Sci 2007; 37(4): 335-42.
- **6.** Wattanakit K, Lutsey PL, Bell EJ, Gornik H, Cushman M, Heckbert SR, et al. Association between cardiovascular disease risk factors and occurrence of venous thromboembolism. A timedependent analysis. Thromb Haemost 2012; 108(3): 508-15.
- 7. Hashemipour M, Soghrati M, Malek Ahmadi M, Soghrati M. Anthropometric indices associated with

dyslipidemia in obese children and adolescents: a retrospective study in Isfahan. ARYA Atheroscler 2011; 7(1): 31-9.

- **8.** Rheaume C, Leblanc ME, Poirier P. Adiposity assessment: explaining the association between obesity, hypertension and stroke. Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther 2011; 9(12): 1557-64.
- **9.** Hebert PR, Rich-Edwards JW, Manson JE, Ridker PM, Cook NR, O'Connor GT, et al. Height and incidence of cardiovascular disease in male physicians. Circulation 1993; 88(4 Pt 1): 1437-43.
- **10.** Kannam JP, Levy D, Larson M, Wilson PW. Short stature and risk for mortality and cardiovascular disease events. The Framingham Heart Study. Circulation 1994; 90(5): 2241-7.
- **11.** Henriksson KM, Lindblad U, Agren B, Nilsson-Ehle P, Rastam L. Associations between body height, body composition and cholesterol levels in middle-aged men the coronary risk factor study in southern Sweden (CRISS). Eur J Epidemiol 2001; 17(6): 521-6.
- **12.** Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III) final report. Circulation 2002; 106(25): 3143-421.
- **13.** Sarwar N, Danesh J, Eiriksdottir G, Sigurdsson G, Wareham N, Bingham S, et al. Triglycerides and the risk of coronary heart disease: 10,158 incident cases among 262,525 participants in 29 Western prospective studies. Circulation 2007; 115(4): 450-8.
- **14.** Freiberg JJ, Tybjaerg-Hansen A, Jensen JS, Nordestgaard BG. Nonfasting triglycerides and risk of ischemic stroke in the general population. JAMA 2008; 300(18): 2142-52.
- **15.** Labreuche J, Touboul PJ, Amarenco P. Plasma triglyceride levels and risk of stroke and carotid atherosclerosis: a systematic review of the epidemiological studies. Atherosclerosis 2009; 203(2): 331-45.
- **16.** D'Agostino RB, Grundy S, Sullivan LM, Wilson P. Validation of the Framingham coronary heart disease prediction scores: results of a multiple ethnic groups investigation. JAMA 2001; 286(2): 180-7.
- **17.** Jousilahti P, Vartiainen E, Pekkanen J, Tuomilehto J, Sundvall J, Puska P. Serum cholesterol distribution and coronary heart disease risk: observations and predictions among middle-aged population in eastern Finland. Circulation 1998; 97(11): 1087-94.
- **18.** Nourolahi T. 2006 National Population and Housing Census in Iran [Online]. 2009; Available from: URL:

http://www.ancsdaap.org/cencon2009/Papers/Iran/I ran_slides.pdf/

- **19.** WHO. Obesity: Preventing and Managing the Global Epidemic. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2000.
- **20.** Costa J, Borges M, Oliveira E, Gouveia M, Carneiro AV. Incidence and prevalence of hypercholesterolemia in Portugal: a systematic review. Part III. Rev Port Cardiol 2003; 22(6): 829-36.
- **21.** Akahoshi M, Soda M, Nakashima E, Tsuruta M, Ichimaru S, Seto S, et al. Effects of age at menopause on serum cholesterol, body mass index, and blood pressure. Atherosclerosis 2001; 156(1): 157-63.
- **22.** Hubert HB, Eaker ED, Garrison RJ, Castelli WP. Life-style correlates of risk factor change in young adults: an eight-year study of coronary heart disease risk factors in the Framingham offspring. Am J Epidemiol 1987; 125(5): 812-31.
- **23.** Ledoux M, Lambert J, Reeder BA, Despres JP. A comparative analysis of weight to height and waist to hip circumference indices as indicators of the presence of cardiovascular disease risk factors. Canadian Heart Health Surveys Research Group. CMAJ 1997; 157(Suppl 1): S32-S38.
- **24.** Kouda K, Nakamura H, Fan W, Takeuchi H. Negative relationships between growth in height and levels of cholesterol in puberty: a 3-year follow-up study. Int J Epidemiol 2003; 32(6): 1105-10.
- **25.** Gostynski M, Gutzwiller F, Kuulasmaa K, Doring A, Ferrario M, Grafnetter D, et al. Analysis of the relationship between total cholesterol, age, body mass index among males and females in the WHO MONICA Project. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2004; 28(8): 1082-90.
- **26.** Denke MA, Sempos CT, Grundy SM. Excess body weight. An under-recognized contributor to dyslipidemia in white American women. Arch Intern Med 1994; 154(4): 401-10.
- **27.** Erem C, Hacihasanoglu A, Deger O, Kocak M, Topbas M. Prevalence of dyslipidemia and associated risk factors among Turkish adults: Trabzon lipid study. Endocrine 2008; 34(1-3): 36-51.
- **28.** Ghassemi H, Harrison G, Mohammad K. An accelerated nutrition transition in Iran. Public Health Nutr 2002; 5(1A): 149-55.

How to cite this article: Veghari G, Sedaghat M, Joshghani H, Banihashem S, Moharloei P, Angizeh A, Tazik E, Moghaddami A. **Obesity and risk of hypercholesterolemia in Iranian northern adults.** ARYA Atheroscler 2013; 9(1): 2-6.

Correlation between seizure in children and prolonged QT interval

Saeid Sadrnia⁽¹⁾, Parsa Yousefi⁽²⁾, Leila Jalali⁽³⁾

Original Article

Abstract

BACKGROUND: Long QT is a cardiac electrical disorder. One of the symptoms of long QT caused by fatal ventricular arrhythmia is seizure. In some studies it was indicated that up to 35% of seizures induced by long QT may be misdiagnosed as other causes of seizure.

METHODS: In a case-control study, patients experiencing primary seizure with unknown etiology and referring for clinical diagnosis were selected as the case group. The control group consisted of patients hospitalized for other reasons except seizure. Corrected QT Interval (QTc) was measured for each patient on an electrocardiogram, and the two groups were compared. Long QT was defined as a QT more than 0.46 seconds.

RESULTS: Among 508 subjects who were recruited in this study 254 children were in the case group and 254 were in the control group. There were 66 children experiencing seizure and long QT in the case group. In the control group, 48 children with long QT were observed; the difference was statistically significant (P = 0.02). Syncope and sudden death were not significantly different between the two groups.

CONCLUSION: The present study showed that children with unknown causes of seizure have more frequently long QTc, which implies the possibility of an arrhythmic origin of some seizures. Therefore, it is advised to get an electrocardiography for patients with unknown causes of seizure.

Keywords: Seizure, Children, Long QTc

Date of submission: 09 Jun 2012, Date of acceptance: 08 Nov 2012

Introduction

Long QTc is one of the cardiac electrical disorders caused by prolonged ventricular re-polarization which can be acquired either by drugs, such as antiarrhythmia or three-ring drugs, or appears congenitally.

A normal QTc is less than 0.44 seconds. When QTc is equal to or more than 0.46 seconds, it is considered as long QT Syndrome.¹ Long QT syndrome (LQTS) occurs in about 1 in 2500 of the general population.² The clinical symptoms of long QT differ from the classical symptoms of absolutely long QT to sub-clinical forms which have long borderline QT. It was indicated that long QT and fatal ventricular arrhythmias were the cause of the seizures, and have been controlled by suitable treatment.³

Other studies conducted at the Neurology Department of The University of California indicated that long QT may emerge as seizure or epilepsy convulsion, but by early diagnosis sudden death can be avoided.^{4,5} If an EKG is taken, this Syndrome can easily be diagnosed and be taken care of.⁶

Investigations carried out in the year 2010 showed that one of the most important complaints in LQTS was syncope and seizure. Research on 1059 patients with syncope or seizure showed that a large number of patients suffering from this complain that "they have been under treatment with beta-blocker for a long time due to wrong diagnosis".

Patients who suffer from convulsions complain that "The treatment with beta blocker has been longer, caused more errors, and has a higher percentage of exposure to deadly disorders and fatal heart attack than other treatments".⁷

In some studies, misdiagnosis between Long QT, and arrhythmia caused by neurological seizure has shown to be up to 35%. Therefore, initial EKG has been recommended.⁸ In one study, the possibility of misdiagnosis has been determined to be 20-30%.⁹

A twenty one year old woman was diagnosed

¹⁻ Assistant Professor, Department of Cardiology, School of Medicine, Arak University of Medical Sciences, Arak, Iran

²⁻ Assistant Professor, Department of Pediatrics, School of Medicine, Arak University of Medical Sciences, Arak, Iran

³⁻ Young Researcher Club, Arak Branch, Islamic Azad University, Arak, Iran

Correspondence to: Saeid Sadrnia, Email: saeidsadrnia@yahoo.com

with ventricular tachycardia after experiencing seizures with high fever. By taking her EKG it was found that signs of Brugada during fever were observed in the patient.¹⁰ Therefore, in order to prevent an incorrect diagnosis and delay in making the correct diagnosis, EKG recording should be performed for every patient presenting with a seizure, considered to be of epileptic origin, not only at the beginning of the disease but also when fits occur in spite of antiepileptic treatment.¹¹

A recent study showed that sudden loss of consciousness can be caused by syncope or epileptic seizure, which therefore requires a diagnostic workup including cardiological and neurological examinations. Cardiac channelopathies such as LQTS may be associated with seizures, suggesting a possible link between cardiac and cerebral channelopathy.¹²

On the whole, in all the studies mentioned above patients experiencing seizure referring to the emergency room are diagnosed with febrile seizure and hospitalized. For this reason, a study that determines LQTS among these patients was conducted. The prevalence of long QT among patients with febrile seizures was studied. In addition, the need for performing EKG as a screening test was examined.

Materials and Methods

All those patients who had experienced seizure without any specific cause, and all those patients without any history of seizures referring to Amirkabir Hospital of Arak, Iran, were included in the case and control groups, respectively. The need to attain both an accurate examination and EKG to diagnose the cause of their complaints was clarified for patients. The patients were also assured that their information would remain confidential.

Sample size was estimated to be 254 subjects for

each group. The aim of the present study was to determine the association of long QT of hospitalized children aged 1-12 years with epilepsy. The primary examinations showed neither any evidence of secondary causes, such as hypoxia and hypocalcaemia, nor any signs of known neurological injuries. Moreover, no evidence of secondary causes was found in clinical examinations. Patients in the case group were also included in the study seeing that many cases of seizures lead to fever; additionally, cases of seizures with cardiac etiology may emerge following a fever. Hence, seizure patients who had a fever were also included in the case group. Patients of the control group consisted of children aged 1-12 years hospitalized due to reasons other than seizure.

A questionnaire collecting information about patient's age, gender, family history of seizure, family history of heart disease, family history of sudden death, family history of syncope of children, type of delivery, drugs prescribed for the children, and also drugs used by the mothers during breast feeding was completed in both case and control groups.

A twelve lead EKG was taken for patients of both groups. The QT and RR were measured and calculated using the QTc Bazett Formula by a cardiologist. The SPSS software was used for statistical analysis using the chi-square test and logistic regression for data analysis.

Results

508 subjects were recruited in this study; 254 children were in the case group and the same number of children were in the control group. In each group 142 were male (55.9%) and 112 were female (44.1%). There was no statistically significant difference between gender and QTc interval. The gender distribution and different levels of QT is presented in table 1.

Group			Female	Male	Total
Case	QT Interval	< 0.044	74	101	175
		0.44-0.46	6	7	13
		0.46 <	30	36	66
Control (< 0.044	79	100	179
	QT Interval	0.44-0.46	10	17	27
		0.46 <	20	28	48

In the case group, 175 children (34.4%) had a QTc level of 0.44 seconds or less. 64 children (12.6%) had a QTc level of 0.44-0.46 seconds. 66 children (13%) had a QTc level of more than 0.46 seconds. Regarding the control group, 178 children (35%) had a QTc level of 0.44 seconds or less. 71 children (14%) had a QTc level of 0.44-0.46 seconds. 48 children (9.4%) had a QTc level of more than 0.46 seconds. The difference in prolonged QT between case and control groups (13% vs. 9.4%) was statistically significant (P = 0.02). Three children in the case group and two in the control group had a previous history of syncope according to their parents, but this was not statistically significant.

There were two cases of sudden death among the family of the patients in the case group, but there was no record of this among the immediate family of the control group, the difference was not statistically significant.

Discussion

No significant difference was observed between men and women in terms of QTc in previous studies. In a study conducted on 328 families, higher rates of syncope and cardiac arrest were seen among probands (first family members who had long QT), which were mostly young females.¹³

In a study in 1998 on clinical presentation related to gender of proband patients, 70% of the patients were females, but it was presented earlier in men.¹⁴ The main difference between the present study and the studies previously stated was that they were conducted on patients having long QT, whereas the present study was conducted on patients experiencing seizure. In addition, more males were included in the present study.

In a study on 287 patients in seven different countries, it was revealed that long QT emerged in 9% of cases by cardiac arrest, 26% by syncope, and 10% by seizure.¹⁵ This shows that long QTc probably leads to seizure. Another study conducted on patients with long QTc indicated that 50% of the patients had no symptoms; as a result, any young patient admitted to hospital with seizure uncontrolled by medication should be evaluated for long QTc.¹⁶ Another study noted that the LQTS in young patients can easily be mistaken for seizure.¹⁷

Overall, these studies show that one of the symptoms of long QT is seizure and many of these cases are discovered incidentally; hence, it seems necessary to take a test for long QTc on cases admitted for seizure. The present study confirms that the seizure group had a longer QT than the control group. Therefore, it seems helpful to take an EKG for young patients being admitted for seizure.

The present study showed no significant statistical difference in syncope and sudden death between case and control groups. On the other hand, the previous studies were carried out on patients with long QTc, consequently numerous syncope and deaths were observed.

It should be noted that there were some limitations, such as fever among the patients of the case group, which was discussed earlier in the method section. Another limitation was the lack of extensive analysis, such as CT-scan to rule out secondary causes of seizures. In conclusion, findings of the present study imply that an EKG should be taken on young patients experiencing seizures with unidentified causes.

Acknowledgments

This paper was extracted from a student thesis; therefore, we express our gratitude to all who supported us.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

References

- **1.** Arnestad M, Crotti L, Rognum TO, Insolia R, Pedrazzini M, Ferrandi C, et al. Prevalence of long-QT syndrome gene variants in sudden infant death syndrome. Circulation 2007; 115(3): 361-7.
- **2.** Albertella L, Crawford J, Skinner JR. Presentation and outcome of water-related events in children with long QT syndrome. Arch Dis Child 2011; 96(8): 704-7.
- **3.** Horn CA, Beekman RH, Dick M, Lacina SJ. The congenital long QT syndrome. An unusual cause of childhood seizures. Am J Dis Child 1986; 140(7): 659-61.
- Hordt M, Haverkamp W, Oberwittler C, Ludemann P, Borggrefe M, Ringelstein EB, et al. The idiopathic QT syndrome as the cause of epileptic and nonepileptic seizures. Nervenarzt 1995; 66(4): 282-7.
- **5.** Gospe SM, Choy M. Hereditary long Q-T syndrome presenting as epilepsy: electroencephalography laboratory diagnosis. Ann Neurol 1989; 25(5): 514-6.
- **6.** Davis AM, Wilkinson JL. The long QT syndrome and seizures in childhood. J Paediatr Child Health 1998; 34(5): 410-1.
- **7.** Jons C, Moss AJ, Goldenberg I, Liu J, McNitt S, Zareba W, et al. Risk of fatal arrhythmic events in long QT syndrome patients after syncope. J Am

Coll Cardiol 2010; 55(8): 783-8.

- **8.** Akhtar MJ. All seizures are not epilepsy: many have a cardiovascular cause. J Pak Med Assoc 2002; 52(3): 116-20.
- **9.** Zaidi A, Clough P, Cooper P, Scheepers B, Fitzpatrick AP. Misdiagnosis of epilepsy: many seizure-like attacks have a cardiovascular cause. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000; 36(1): 181-4.
- **10.** Skinner JR, Chung SK, Nel CA, Shelling AN, Crawford JR, McKenzie N, et al. Brugada syndrome masquerading as febrile seizures. Pediatrics 2007; 119(5): e1206-e1211.
- **11.** Burghaus L, Liu W, Eggers C, Muller-Ehmsen J, Fink GR. Mistaking a long QT syndrome for epilepsy: does every seizure call for an ECG? Fortschr Neurol Psychiatr 2010; 78(7): 419-24.
- 12. Iniesta I, Yotti R, Garcia-Pastor A. Transient loss of consciousness with convulsions in two young adults with potentially fatal underlying heart disease: syncope versus seizures. BMJ Case Rep 2009; 2009.
- **13.** Moss AJ, Schwartz PJ, Crampton RS, Tzivoni D, Locati EH, MacCluer J, et al. The long QT syndrome. Prospective longitudinal study of 328 families. Circulation 1991; 84(3): 1136-44.
- 14. Locati EH, Zareba W, Moss AJ, Schwartz PJ,

Vincent GM, Lehmann MH, et al. Age- and sexrelated differences in clinical manifestations in patients with congenital long-QT syndrome: findings from the International LQTS Registry. Circulation 1998; 97(22): 2237-44.

- **15.** Garson A, Dick M, Fournier A, Gillette PC, Hamilton R, Kugler JD, et al. The long QT syndrome in children. An international study of 287 patients. Circulation 1993; 87(6): 1866-72.
- 16. Children's Healthcare of Atlanta. Long QT syndrome in pediatric patients [Online]. 2010; Available from: URL: http://www.choa.org/Child-Health-Glossary/L/LO/Long-QT-Syndrome/
- **17.** Woodin SH. Long-QT syndrome easily misdiagnosed as epilepsy in young people unless ECG performed, physicians caution [Online]. 2007; Available from: URL:

http://www.theheart.org/article/817685.do/

How to cite this article: Sadrnia S, Yousefi P, Jalali L. Correlation between seizure in children and prolonged QT interval. ARYA Atheroscler 2013; 9(1): 7-10.

The incidence of in-hospital atrial fibrillation after coronary artery bypass grafting using ventricular and atrial pacing

<u>Mina Naghnaeian⁽¹⁾, Mohammadreza Samienasab⁽²⁾, Mohsen Mirmohammadsadeghi⁽³⁾,</u> Majid Rabani⁽¹⁾, Ali Pourmoghaddas⁽⁴⁾, Mahsa Behnemun⁽¹⁾

Original Article

BACKGROUND: Atrial fibrillation (AF) after coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) surgery is a common problem. In this study, we sought to evaluate the safety and tolerance of continuous atrial pacing after CABG. We hypothesized that a strategy of temporary atrial pacing after CABG would reduce the incidence of postoperative AF.

METHODS: During 2012, CABG candidates over 18 years of age at Sina Hospital (Isfahan, Iran) were recruited. Before surgery, the participants were randomly assigned to two groups of ventricular pacing and left atrial ventricular pacing (atrial pacing). The primary end point of the study was the initial occurrence of AF or atrial flutter with a ventricular rate greater than 100 beats per minute for 10 consecutive minutes or completion of the 48-hour monitoring period.

RESULTS: We evaluated 64 consecutive CABG candidates with sinus rhythm. They were allocated to two groups of ventricular pacing and atrial ventricular pacing (n = 32 in each group). Three patients in the ventricular pacing group (10%) and six in the atrial ventricular pacing group (22%) had sustained AF during the first 48 hours after CABG (P = 0.18 according to Fisher's exact test).

CONCLUSION: Continuous atrial pacing in the postoperative setting is safe and well-tolerated. In this study, we found that temporary atrial pacing increased the frequency of postoperative AF. Since the difference between the two groups was not significant, larger studies are required to determine the exact relation between pacing method and AF.

Keywords: Atrial Fibrillation, Coronary Artery Bypass Graft, Atrial Pacing

Date of submission: 02 Nov 2012, Date of acceptance: 09 Jan 2013

Introduction

Abstract

Atrial fibrillation (AF) after coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) surgery is a common problem.¹ It is associated with longer intensive care unit (ICU) and hospital stay and increased costs of postoperative care.² On the other hand, treatment with electrical cardioversion, antiarrhythmic and anticoagulant drugs adds significant morbidity and cost.^{1,3} Prophylactic pharmacological treatment has also been disappointing. Although a recent trial found a significant reduction in postoperative AF after treatment with amiodarone, the incidence of AF in the treatment group was still 25% and concerns about potential morbidity exist.⁴ Atrial-based pacing has become an attractive non-pharmacological therapy for the prevention of AF.⁵ Patients undergoing CABG surgery have temporary atrial and ventricular pacing wires implanted at the time of surgery. Since the incidence of AF is high among these patients, they may provide a model to examine the impact of prophylactic atrial pacing. Such a technique would also be of extreme clinical value in reducing the cost and morbidity associated with postoperative AF. In this study, we sought to evaluate the safety and tolerance of continuous atrial pacing after CABG. We hypothesized that a strategy of temporary atrial pacing after CABG would reduce the incidence of postoperative AF.

Materials and Methods

During 2012, CABG candidates over 18 years of age

¹⁻ Resident, Cardiac Rehabilitation Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

²⁻ Associate Professor, Department of Cardiology, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

³⁻ Associate Professor, Department of Cardiac Surgery, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁴⁻ Associate Professor, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Correspondence to: Mina Naghnaeian, Email: lacrimal_lake2004@yahoo.com

at Sina Hospital (Isfahan, Iran) were recruited. All patients had to be in sinus rhythm before surgery and on no antiarrhythmic medications. Before surgery, the participants were randomly assigned to two groups of ventricular pacing and left atrial ventricular pacing (atrial pacing). The subjects were followed for 48 hours after the operation.

Patients were excluded if they had a known history of AF or atrial flutter requiring antiarrhythmic medications, had renal or hepatic dysfunction (serum creatinine > 3mg/dl, liver enzyme tests $> 3 \times normalU/L$), or were unable to give informed consent. In addition, patients in whom epicardial pacing wires could not be placed during surgery, or patients who developed postoperative ventricular arrhythmias requiring therapy with oral or intravenous antiarrhythmic agents other than intravenous lidocaine were excluded. Patients who required temporary pacing immediately after surgery due to hemodynamic compromise remained in the study. Baseline characteristics and history of arrhythmia were ascertained from direct patient interviews and review of their medical records.

All patients had one set of ventricular pacing wires (Model #6500, Medtronic Inc., Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA) implanted at the conclusion of surgery. Half of the patients also had atrial wires implanted in the standard location attached to the posterior surface of the left atrium between the right superior and inferior pulmonic veins. The ventricular wires were attached to the right ventricular apex in the standard fashion.

Patients in the ventricular group were paced using the single-chamber pacing mode at a backup rate of 50 pulses per minute (ppm) in the surgical ICU. Patients in the atrial group were paced with a temporary external dual-chamber pacemaker (Model #5346, Medtronic Inc., Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA) using the atrioventricular (AV) universal (DDD) mode at a lower rate limit of 100 ppm with an AV delay of 220 ms to establish continuous atrial pacing at rest. Pacemaker settings included an upper-rate limit of 140 ppm, a post ventricular atrial refractory period of 175 ms, atrial sensitivity of 0.5 mV, ventricular sensitivity of 2 mV and maximum atrial and ventricular pacing output of 20 mA. Pacing was continued for 48 hours or until the first sustained episode of AF (> 10 minutes).

After the operation, physicians were instructed to continue beta-adrenergic blocking agents in all patients who had received preoperative beta-blocker therapy. Preoperative beta-blockers were administered through the morning of surgery. Oral metoprolol (25 mg twice daily) was also started postoperatively as soon as all intravenous inotropes were discontinued. The dose was titrated upward at the discretion of the attending surgeon. Patients not on preoperative beta-blockers received these agents in the postoperative period if no contraindications were found.

Patients were continuously monitored during the study period with a telemetry system. Pacing and sensing thresholds for both atrial and ventricular leads were checked after arrival at the ICU and daily thereafter to ensure the capture. The underlying heart rhythm and rate were documented daily. When considered stable, patients were transferred from the ICU to monitored beds in the general hospital ward where pacing was discontinued.

The primary end point of the study was the initial occurrence of AF or atrial flutter with a ventricular rate greater than 100 beats per minute for 10 consecutive minutes or completion of the 48-hour monitoring period. An investigator reviewed the hospital chart and full telemetry at least once daily to monitor the cardiac rhythm and establish the time of onset of AF.

Data analysis

All values were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD). Baseline characteristics of the study groups were compared using Student's t-test or analysis of variance for continuous variables and chi-square test for discrete variables. Other tests including Mann-Whitney, Fisher's exact, and Mantel-Haenszel tests were applied for analysis of data. All analyses were performed with SPSS for Windows 20.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

Results

We evaluated 64 consecutive CABG candidates with sinus rhythm. They were assigned to two groups of ventricular pacing and atrial ventricular pacing. (n = 32 in each group). The mean age of the participants was 57.86 \pm 10.16 years. Independent ttest did not show significant differences in age, LVEF, Hb level, O₂ saturation, and Cr level between the two groups (Table 1). Moreover, the two groups matched well in terms of gender distribution (P = 0.08 in chi-square test and P = 0.86 in Mantel-Haenszel test).

Chi-square test did not suggest the two groups to be significantly different in terms of risk factors such as presence of hypertension, pulmonary disease, history of smoking, and diabetes (Table 2). None of the patients in either group reported documented lung disease.

Mann-Whitney test showed that the two groups were matched in regard to angina level (according to the Canadian Cardiovascular Society classification)⁶ and level of dyspnea (according to New York Heart Association classification)⁶ (Table 3). Three patients in the ventricular pacing group (10%) and six in the atrial ventricular pacing group (22%) had sustained AF during the first 48 hours after CABG (P = 0.18 according to Fisher's exact test).

Discussion

Echocardiography recordings during the first 48 hours after CABG showed that AF occurred in 10% of patients with ventricular pacemakers and 22% of those with atrial ventricular pacemakers.

The pathogenesis of post-CABG AF has been

Table 1. Description of quantitative variables

proposed to be multifactorial with abnormal atrial conduction and lack of uniformity of atrial repolarization as main elements. It can have different triggers including premature contractions, pericarditis, electrolyte disorders, cardiopulmonary bypass and cardioplegia.^{7,8}

The limited efficacy of conventional agents has led to searches for non-pharmacological modalities for the prevention of postoperative AF. About a decade ago, Coumel⁹ and Attuel et al.¹⁰ were among the first to report the potential of pacing in prevention of AF. They described the use of singlesite atrial overdrive pacing to prevent AF or flutter in a selected group of patients with vagally mediated AF or flutter.^{9,10} Further studies by Murgatroyd et al. utilized a unique pacing algorithm for the suppression of atrial premature depolarizations.¹¹ This technique resulted in a significant reduction in episodes of AF. The mechanism by which atrial

Voriable	Atri	al ventricul	ar pacing	Ventricular pacing			
variable	Minimum	Maximum	Mean ± SD Minimum Maximum		Mean ± SD		
Age	36.00	75.00	57.85 ± 9.82	28.00	78.00	57.87 ± 10.63	0.99
Creatinine	2.00	0.70	1.01 ± 0.28	3.00	0.70	1.03 ± 0.44	0.81
Oxygen saturation	95.00	99.70	98.40 ± 0.60	94.00	100.00	98.24 ± 0.96	0.48
Left ventricular ejection fraction	20.00	65.00	51.66 ± 11.00	60.00	25.00	49.80 ± 10.70	0.92
Hemoglobin	12.00	16.00	13.19 ± 2.60	9.90	15.30	13.16 ± 1.20	0.95

Table 2. Description of qualitative variabes

		Atrial pacing group (%)	Atrial ventricular pacing group (%)	Р
Gender	Male	88.9	70.0	0.08
	Female	11.1	30.0	0.08
Hypertension	No	59.3	53.3	
	Not known	3.7	3.3	0.23
	Treated	37.0	43.3	
Smoking history	Never	77.8	79.3	
	Ex-smoker	11.1	6.9	0.83
	Smoker	11.1	13.8	
Diabetes	No	63.0	70.0	
	On diet	3.7	0	0.57
	On oral agent	33.3	26.7	0.57
	On insulin + oral agent	0	3.3	

Values are expressed as percentages.

Table 3. Description od Angina and Dyspnea in Atrial And Ventricular Pacing groups

		Atrial ventricular pacing group (%)	Ventricular pacing group (%)	Р
Angina*	1	3.7	6.7	
	2	85.2	86.7	0.44
3 4	3	7.4	6.7	0.44
	4	3.7	0	
Dyspnea**	1	7.4	6.7	
	2	92.6	93.3	0.01
	3	0	0	0.91
	4	0	0	

* Canadian Cardiovascular Society classification ** New York Heart Association classification

overdrive pacing reduces the occurrence of AF is unclear. However, suppression of atrial premature depolarizations and a reduction in the dispersion of refractoriness have been proposed.^{12,13}

Most evidence suggests that AF is a reentrant rhythm consisting of multiple wandering wavelets of electrical activity.^{14,15} It is often initiated by atrial premature beats (APB) encountering areas of slow conduction and unidirectional block.16 There are many reasons why one might expect atrial pacing to be effective in preventing AF. Increasing atrial rate suppresses the APB which may initiate AF. A prospective randomized trial found that AF recurrences are reduced in patients receiving right atrial pacing compared to those receiving ventricular pacing.17 Papageorgiou et al. found that the posterior triangle of Koch is a critical area of slow conduction and that coronary sinus (i.e. left atrial) pacing prevented the induction of AF by high right atrial APB.18

In our study, three patients in the ventricular pacing group (10%) vs. six in the atrial ventricular pacing group (22%) had sustained AF during the first 48 hours after CABG. Although the frequency of AF was higher in the atrial paced group, the difference was not significant. Another study suggested that temporary pacing may paradoxically induce AF in some patients if inappropriate sensing leads to pacing during atrial repolarization.¹⁹ While the findings of some studies about the absence of a significant reduction in recurrence of AF using atrial pacing were similar to our observations,⁵ other researchers have reported favorable effects of right atrial pacing in reducing post-CABG AF.¹⁹

Pacing was well tolerated in all patients and did not increase hospital stay. There were no complications related to the placement of left atrial pacing wires at the conclusion of surgery.

Among the strengths of our study was eliminating the effects of risk factors associated with frequency of AF. In other words, age, sex, LVEF, Cr level, pulmonary disease, diabetes mellitus, hypertension, anemia, and hypoxia were completely adjusted in the two groups.

Conclusion

Continuous atrial pacing in the postoperative setting is safe and well tolerated. In this study, we found that temporary atrial pacing increased the frequency of postoperative AF. Since the difference between the two groups was not significant, larger studies are required to determine the exact relation between pacing method and AF.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

References

- 1. Aranki SF, Shaw DP, Adams DH, Rizzo RJ, Couper GS, VanderVliet M, et al. Predictors of atrial fibrillation after coronary artery surgery. Current trends and impact on hospital resources. Circulation 1996; 94(3): 390-7.
- Crystal E, Healey J, Connolly SJ. Atrial fibrillation after cardiac surgery: update on the evidence on the available prophylactic interventions. Card Electrophysiol Rev 2003; 7(2): 189-92.
- **3.** Mathew JP, Parks R, Savino JS, Friedman AS, Koch C, Mangano DT, et al. Atrial fibrillation following coronary artery bypass graft surgery: predictors, outcomes, and resource utilization. MultiCenter Study of Perioperative Ischemia Research Group. JAMA 1996; 276(4): 300-6.
- **4.** Daoud EG, Strickberger SA, Man KC, Goyal R, Deeb GM, Bolling SF, et al. Preoperative amiodarone as prophylaxis against atrial fibrillation after heart surgery. N Engl J Med 1997; 337(25): 1785-91.
- **5.** Gerstenfeld EP, Hill MR, French SN, Mehra R, Rofino K, Vander Salm TJ, et al. Evaluation of right atrial and biatrial temporary pacing for the prevention of atrial fibrillation after coronary artery bypass surgery. J Am Coll Cardiol 1999; 33(7): 1981-8.
- Bonow RO, Mann DL, Zipes DP, Libby P. Braunwald's Heart Disease: A Textbook of Cardiovascular Medicine. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier Health Sciences; 2011. p. 108.
- **7.** Cooklin M, Gold MR. Implications and treatment of atrial fibrillation after cardiothoracic surgery. Curr Opin Cardiol 1998; 13(1): 20-7.
- **8.** Mohr R, Smolinsky A, Goor DA. Prevention of supraventricular tachyarrhythmia with low-dose propranolol after coronary bypass. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1981; 81(6): 840-5.
- Coumel P. Paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: a disorder of autonomic tone? Eur Heart J 1994; 15 (Suppl A): 9-16.
- **10.** Attuel P, Pellerin D, Mugica J, Coumel P. DDD pacing: an effective treatment modality for recurrent atrial arrhythmias. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1988; 11(11 Pt 2): 1647-54.
- **11.** Murgatroyd FD, Nitzsche R, Slade AK, Limousin M, Rosset N, Camm AJ, et al. A new pacing algorithm for overdrive suppression of atrial fibrillation. Chorus Multicentre Study Group. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1994; 17(11 Pt 2): 1966-73.
- **12.** Ramdat MA, Beukema WP, Oude Luttikhuis HA. Multisite or alternate site pacing for the prevention

of atrial fibrillation. Am J Cardiol 1999; 83(5B): 237D-40D.

- **13.** Luck JC, Engel TR. Dispersion of atrial refractoriness in patients with sinus node dysfunction. Circulation 1979; 60(2): 404-12.
- **14.** Moe GK. On the multiple wavelet hypothesis of atrial fibrillation. Arch Int Pharmacodyn 1962; 140: 183-7.
- **15.** Allesie MA, Lammers WJ, Bonke FI, Hollen J. Experimental evaluation of Moe's multiple wavelet hypothesis of atrial fibrillation. In: Zipes DP, Jalife J, Editors. Cardiac electrophysiology and arrhythmias.Orlando, FL: Grune & Stratton; 1985. p. 265-75.
- **16.** Papageorgiou P, Monahan K, Boyle NG, Seifert MJ, Beswick P, Zebede J, et al. Site-dependent intra-atrial conduction delay. Relationship to initiation of atrial fibrillation. Circulation 1996; 94(3): 384-9.
- 17. Andersen HR, Nielsen JC, Thomsen PE, Thuesen L, Mortensen PT, Vesterlund T, et al. Long-term

follow-up of patients from a randomised trial of atrial versus ventricular pacing for sick-sinus syndrome. Lancet 1997; 350(9086): 1210-6.

- 18. Papageorgiou P, Anselme F, Kirchhof CJ, Monahan K, Rasmussen CA, Epstein LM, et al. Coronary sinus pacing prevents induction of atrial fibrillation. Circulation 1997; 96(6): 1893-8.
- 19. Greenberg MD, Katz NM, Iuliano S, Tempesta BJ, Solomon AJ. Atrial pacing for the prevention of atrial fibrillation after cardiovascular surgery. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000; 35(6): 1416-22.

How to cite this article: Naghnaeian M, Samienasab M, Mirmohammadsadeghi M, Rabani M, Pourmoghaddas A, Behnemun M. The incidence of in-hospital atrial fibrillation after coronary artery bypass grafting using ventricular and atrial pacing. ARYA Atheroscler 2013; 9(1): 11-5.

Relationship between left ventricular ejection fraction and depression following myocardial infarction: an original article

<u>Reza Bagherian-Sararoudi</u>⁽¹⁾, Bijan Gilani⁽²⁾, Hadi Bahrami Ehsan⁽³⁾, Hamid Sanei⁽⁴⁾

Original Article

Abstract

BACKGROUND: The aim of this study was to examine the association between left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) and incidence of depression following the myocardial infarction (MI).

METHODS: In a prospective study, 176 patients aged 32-84 years with the mean age of 56 years (SD = 10.05) with a definitive diagnosis of myocardial infarction and admitted to one of the coronary care units (CCU) of Isfahan during April to August 2006 were selected through consecutive sampling method. The demographic and medical characteristics were collected by their medical record and also the results of the LVEF assessment of the patients were obtained through echocardiography or angiography following the myocardial infarction. Thereafter, the patients were given Beck Depression Inventory for the primary care (BDI-PC) in three months after myocardial infarction. The collected data were analyzed during the hospitalization and follow-up periods using logistic regression method.

RESULTS: The findings indicated that left ventricular dysfunction identified by the Left ventricular ejection fraction index was significantly correlated with depression three months after the myocardial infarction (P < 0.01). In addition, the exploratory model (which only includes LVEF variable) had the predictive validity of 64.8% with 55.7% sensitivity and 72.1% specificity.

CONCLUSION: Left ventricular dysfunction is associated with increased risk of depression following the myocardial infarction.

Keywords: Depression, Myocardial Infarction (MI), Left Ventricular Ejection Fraction (LVEF)

Date of submission: 1 Jan 2012, Date of acceptance: 2 Apr 2012

Introduction

Incidence of depression symptoms following myocardial infarction (MI) is a very common psychological problem among patients with MI. This psychological problem has negative impacts on the prognosis of cardiac disease.¹ Many researchers believe that regardless of cardiac disease intensity, depression is associated with its negative prognosis. In addition, the question of whether or not characteristics of MI intensity such as left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) are associated with the incidence of depression has been raised by some researchers.¹

Although the number of conducted articles regarding the effects of depression following MI and

its etiology is increasing, many studies have not given attention to indicators such as LVEF as MI intensity.

Lesperance et al. in a study regarding major depression before and after MI as well as risk factors of depression after MI including LVEF and history of MI, found no relationship between the required variable and depression.² Moreover, while Frasure-Smith et al.³ showed a significant correlation between LVEF (which has been defined as a two-level variable higher than 35% and lower than 35%) and depression scores in Beck Depression Inventory (BDI), Carney et al showed no significant correlation between LVEF and depression.⁴ It seems that Carney et al. had created some limitations in their analysis by controlling the

¹⁻ Associate Professor, Department of Psychiatry, School of Medicine, Behavioral Sciences Research Center, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

²⁻ Professor, Department of Clinical Psychology, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran

³⁻ Assistant Professor, Department of Psychology, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran

⁴⁻ Associate Professor, Cardiac Rehabilitation Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Correspondence To: Reza Bagherian-Sararoudi, Email: bagherian@med.mui.ac.ir

social isolation; because social isolation and depression are often manifested together in cardiac patients.⁵

van Melle et al. confirmed lower age, low LVEF and high depression level during admission as variables predicting depression following the MI.1 van Melle et al. in a separate analysis of the data of their study reviewed the relationship of LVEF and incidence of depression in MI patients and found that the LVEF level has a significant inverse correlation with the depression score of patients in BDI three months after MI.6 These researchers demonstrated that by controlling the demographic variables, risk factors of cardiovascular diseases, comorbidities and depression score during hospitalization, there is still a significant correlation between LVEF level and depression intensity.

Spijkerman et al. also reported a high risk of depression following MI in Netherland. They also evaluated а wide range of psychological, cardiovascular, physical and demographical risk factors as predictors of depression variables following MI and concluded that history of depressive disorder, being female, low LVEF and hospitalization duration can be considered as independent predictive variables for depression symptoms following MI.7 Certain studies did not report any significant relationship between LVEF and depression; however, they showed a higher tendency toward depression in patients with lower LVEF.1 Carney et al.⁵ analyzed LVEF as a continuous variable and found no correlation between LVEF in depressed and non-depressed patients.

The present study was also conducted in line with this objective aiming to determine the potential correlation between left ventricular dysfunction and incidence of depression following MI.

Materials and Methods

This was a prospective study. The study subjects were 176 MI patients aged 32 to 84 years (Mean age = 56 ± 10.05 years) with a definitive diagnosis of MI who had been admitted to one of the hospitals of Isfahan equipped with a Cardiac Care Unit (CCU) during April to August 2006. The majority of the subjects were males (84%), married (89%) and of low-moderate socioeconomic class (87%). 123 of them had no previous history of MI. 48.3% of the patients have been admitted with diagnosis of anterior MI and 51.7% with non-anterior MI.

The patients were selected through consecutive sampling method and by considering the inclusion

and exclusion criteria. The inclusion criteria were the following:

A) Two out of three diagnostic criteria were taken into account: 1. Chest pain caused by low blood supply to heart muscle (typical ischemia) which takes at least 20 minutes, 2. Presence of pathologic changes indicative of ischemia/infarction in ECG waves, 3. Increase in cardiac enzymes; B) Patient's consent for participation in the study.

The exclusion criteria were the following:

A) Secondary MI for bypass surgery or angioplasty, B) Presence of another serious physical disease that reduces life expectancy, C) Presence of major psychiatric disorders in the patient, D) Treated with antidepressants and E) Impossibility of follow-up with the patient after their discharge.

The following tools were used to collect data: **Echocardiography:** LVEF is an appropriate clinical indicator of the functionality or dysfunctionality of the left ventricular systolic which can be determined by echocardiography and its result will absolutely be identified. This indicator is shown by the following formula:

$$LVEF = \frac{\frac{End \, diastalla \, walume - End \, systalla \, walume}{End \, diastalla \, valume} \times 100$$

In most conducted studies in this regard, this index is used as a categorical variable (e.g. for the two low and normal levels).^{1,8}

Demographic and medical information Questionnaire: Demographic and medical data of the patients were collected through a questionnaire designed to do so. Their medical information was gathered from their records.

Beck Depression Inventory for Primary Care (BDI-PC): It has been designed by Beck et al by removing the physical symptoms from the original questionnaire for application in medical centers as a screening tool aiming to decrease the likelihood of reaching false estimates of depression among physical patients.9 Previous studies indicated a preference for this tool compared with anxiety and depression index in hospitals.^{10,11} This is a 7-item inventory, in which each item indicated a depression symptom. The items of this inventory are in accordance with the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorder 4th edition (DSM-IV) for the diagnosis of clinical depression.¹² Intensity of each symptom in each item has been stated in four phrases. Phrases of each item scored from zero to three. Zero in each item indicates lack of that symptom and 1 to 3 indicate the existence and amount of that symptom. The highest score in this

inventory is 21.

Beck et al.9 and Steer et al.13 reported this inventory for screening depression in physical patients with high sensitivity and efficiency. Cronbach's alpha obtained an internal consistency of 0.88 for this inventory in an Iranian population (n = 176) in the present study. Furthermore, reliability of this inventory showed correlation coefficient of 0.74 through test re-test method with a three-week interval (n = 62) in cardiac patients. Construct validity of this inventory, in comparison with the depression subscale of the Iranian version of hospital depression and anxiety scale, in 140 patients obtained 0.87.14 Moreover, through an organized clinical interview based on DSM-IV in the mentioned sample, the cut-off point is five which was obtained with sensitivity of 0.84, and specificity of 0.97 and the maximum clinical efficiency for screening clinical depression obtained 0.91 (including major depressive disorder and minor depression).

The present study was designed using logistic regression in order to determine the medical risk factors i.e. depression following MI. First, during the hospitalization time, the required data were collected from the study subjects enrolled in the study and LVEF was assessed as an appropriate clinical indicator from left ventricular function using echocardiography or angiography by a cardiologist in a short time after myocardial infarction. The depression of the patients was evaluated three months after the MI through Beck Depression Inventory for Primary Care. In order to complete this scale, the patients were asked to read the choices of every item carefully and choose the correct one by considering their status during the past two weeks.

In follow-up stage (3 months after discharge), by the help of patients' score in BDI-PC and based on cut-off point five, depressed patients were separated from non-depressed patients. Thereafter, the collected data were analyzed during hospitalization and followup stages in both depressed and non-depressed groups using stepwise logistic regression test.

Results

Out of 176 MI patients, 79 patients (44.9%) suffered from depression three months after discharge. Table 1 shows depressed and non-depressed patients three months after discharge in terms of demographic and medical variables during hospitalization (base line) using univariate analysi.

Table 1. Results of univariate a	analysis of	the relationship	of each	possible	predicting	variable in	base line	and i	incidence	of
depression three months after d	lischarge									

Demographic and medical variables	The group of depressed patients three months after discharge (n = 79)	The group of non-depressed patients three months after discharge (n = 79)	Odds Ratio	Confidence Interval 95%	Significant level
Mean age	54.37	57.16	0.97	(0.42-1.00)	N.S.
Sex					
Male	35.20%	48.90%	2.14	(0.94 - 4.95)	NS
Female	9.70%	6.30%	2.17	(0.94-4.93)	11.5.
Marital status					
Married	38.10%	50.60%	1.00	(0.77, 5, 15)	NS
Single	6.80%	4.50%	1.99	(0.77 - 3.13)	11.5.
Socioeconomic class					
Low	27.30%	24.40%			0.05
Average	14.80%	20.50%	0.55	(0.35-0.86)	0.05
High	2.80%	10.20%			N.S.
History of MI					
Yes	17.00%	13.10%	1.07	(1 02 2 81)	0.05
No	27.80%	42.00%	1.97	(1.05-5.61)	0.05
LVEF 40%	25.00%	15.30%	3.26	(1.74-6.11)	0.001
Family history of cardiac disease	22.16%	30.68%	0.78	(0.43-1.41)	N.S.
Hypertension	13.00%	17.61%	0.87	(0.46 - 1.67)	N.S.
Smoking	25.00%	25.56%	1.45	(0.80-2.64)	N.S.
Diabetes	14.00%	14.00%	1.33	(0.69-2.58)	N.S.
Hyperlipidemia	18.20%	25.00%	0.82	(0.45-1.50)	N.S.
Logarithm of maximum creatine phosphokinase	0.05	0.05	1.06	(0.59-1.90)	N.S.

As indicated in table 1, in univariate analysis most of the depressed patients were in lowmoderate socioeconomic class (P < 0.05) and had a history of MI (17% vs. 13%; P < 0.05). In addition, the results of univariate analysis showed that most of the patients who have been depressed during the three months after discharge had lower LVEF 40% (25% vs. 15.3%; P < 0.001).

Hypothetical predictive variables including demographic and medical variables listed in table 1 had been assessed shortly after myocardial infarction. Data analysis related to these variables in logistic regression showed that left ventricular function lower than 40% could predict depression following MI (P < 0.01; β = 1.18; OR = 3.259; CI 95% = 1.739-6.106). These findings showed that among the variables assumed to predict depression following MI, LVEF had a significant contribution.

This study showed that exploratory model (which only includes LVEF variable) had a predictive validity 64.77% with 55.7% sensitivity and 72.2% specificity. This model correctly predicted 55.7% of depressed and 72.2% nondepressed patients. Given that this model had a degree of freedom of less than one, it was impossible to use Hosmer-Lemeshow test in determining its goodness of fit.

Discussion

In this study, demographic and medical variables were taken into account during hospitalization in predicting depression following required MI. The results showed that left ventricular dysfunction represented by LVEF had a significant contribution to analyzing the model including the mentioned variables in predicting depression three months after myocardial infarction. Nevertheless, it is generally accepted that depression by itself is associated with poor prognosis in cardiac disease; however, some researchers believe this relationship as a reflection of cardiac disease intensity.^{15,16} The results of the present study showed that low LVEF is correlated with incidence of depression in patients following the myocardial infarction. Although, it seems that the number of studies conducted on depression following MI is increasing;¹ LVEF has not been evaluated in most of these studies and in most cases, the degree of depression was assessed immediately after MI.

The results of the present study were not in accordance with the study of Carney et al.⁵ which found no correlation between LVEF and depression but they were in accordance with the

results of Frasure-Smith et al. who found a significant correlation between LVEF and depression scores in BDI.3 Lesperance et al. also found no correlation between LVEF and depression.² However, it seems that there were two major issues in the study of Lesperance et al; first, in their study, the cut-off point 35% was considered as low LVEF; while it seems that a cutoff point of 40% is an appropriate and logical point for dividing the LVEF data.² The second issue was a small study sample. It is obvious that by considering a low cutoff point, many patients with really low LVEF will be excluded from the range of low LVEF and this issue in a small sample size results in the effect of low LVEF is not provided with the opportunity of emerging in the predictive model.

The results of the present study were in accordance with the studies of van Melle et al.¹, van Melle et al.6 and Spijkerman et al.7 Perhaps, these three studies were more psychologically reliable studies in this regard. In the first study, the cut-off point of low LVEF was considered as 30% and in the second study, it was considered as 40%. Nevertheless, given to the appropriate sample size in both studies, the difference in cutoff point did not prevent the emergence of the LVEF effect in predicting depression following MI. van Melle et al.¹ in a separate analysis on data of their own study reviewed the correlation of LVEF with depression in MI patients. Results of this study also confirmed the obtained findings from the above mentioned analyses. The mentioned researchers in their study showed that the LVEF level had a significant correlation with the depression score in BDI three months after MI and the lower the LVEF level was, the higher the depression score after three months.

In other studies,¹⁷⁻¹⁹ there was also no significant correlation between LVEF and depression; however, most of these studies showed a tendency toward a higher degree of depression in patients with low LVEF. Therefore, perhaps lack of a significant relationship has resulted from type II error i.e. low sample size.

In most of the conducted studies, LVEF index is used as a categorical variable (e.g. low level and normal level).^{1,7} van Melle et al.⁶ who reviewed the correlation between LVEF and the incidence of depression following MI more than others emphasized that they prefer to use this variable as a categorical variable due to some reasons. First, it is impossible to use a similar method in all medical centers for evaluating LVEF as a continuous variable; hence, LVEF is assessed by various

methods such as echocardiography and angiography. Therefore, the difference in the assessment method can cause difference in continuous sizes. Second, although the mentioned tools are used to determine this index, clinical judgment based on individual's observation can also determine the percentage of LVEF. Hence, it seems that its classification has less error.⁶

Generally, given to the findings of the present study and previous studies it can be said that there is a correlation between LVEF and depression following MI. It is worth mentioning that the circumstance of the relationship between poor left ventricular function and incidence of depression in MI patients is important. In terms of possible mechanisms among left ventricular dysfunction and depression there are two considered ways; 1. Psychological way: in revising the conducted studies about heart failure, this correlation can be due to low quality of life resulting from overall poor conditions,18 physical increased rate of hospitalizations and inappropriate social functioning²⁰ and increased unemployment.²¹ All these factors can lead to depression due to stress. 2. Biological way: on the other hand, the correlation between left ventricular dysfunction and depression can be due to biological adaptability, which merges with left ventricular dysfunction.²² The correlation between brain and heart has been reported very much in medicine; e.g. patients with subarachnoid haemorrhage may show severe changes of echocardiography and even refer with new (recurrent) left ventricular dysfunction and some symptoms from myocardial injury.23 There were some similar findings in MI patients²⁴ and in those with severe emotional stress.25

Perhaps, it can be said that an increased level of cytokines in heart failure such as interleukin 1 (IL-1), IL-6 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha have a mediating role in the incidence of depression.⁶ However, it is also possible for depression to lead to LVEF.

In reviewing the conducted studies regarding the objective of this study, the finding that left ventricular dysfunction is correlated with an increased risk of depression following MI is a new achievement and has only been obtained in two other recently implemented studies. This finding can illustrate the necessity of reviewing the role of nervous-hormonal system function or increased inflammatory cytokines associated with left ventricular dysfunction. Perhaps these processes have a major role in incidence of depression following MI. Moreover, the achievement that low LVEF can predict depression is a reasonable logic for further more accurate studies about the effect of LVEF in the prognostic role of depression.

Due to time limitation in selection criteria of the study subjects, the sample size was small. Therefore, generalization of the results should be done with caution. Lack of accurate information about consumed drugs and their dosage during the three months after incidence of myocardial infarction confined the definite conclusion of the results in the present study. In order to generalize the findings, it is suggested that the sample size be increased in further studies, similar method of assessment of LVEF be used, the role of cardiac medications in exacerbation and incidence of depression symptoms in MI patients be evaluated and also the role of cardiac diseases risk factor such as diabetes mellitus, hypertension and hyperlipidemia in incidence of depression following MI be considered.

Acknowledgments

Our many appreciations go to the esteemed staff of CCU wards, hospitals of Al-Zahra, Noor, Feiz, Chamran, Shariati, Gharazi, Sepahan, Sina and Sadi in Isfahan, Iran.

The Persian version of this article has been previously published in journal of Iranian Psychiatry and Clinical Psychology: 2007, No: 4; 320-27.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

References

- 1. van Melle JP, De JP, Ormel J, Crijns HJ, van Veldhuisen DJ, Honig A, et al. Relationship between left ventricular dysfunction and depression following myocardial infarction: data from the MIND-IT. Eur Heart J 2005; 26(24): 2650-6.
- 2. Lesperance F, Frasure-Smith N, Talajic M. Major depression before and after myocardial infarction: its nature and consequences. Psychosom Med 1996; 58(2): 99-110.
- **3.** Frasure-Smith N, Lesperance F, Juneau M, Talajic M, Bourassa MG. Gender, depression, and one-year prognosis after myocardial infarction. Psychosom Med 1999; 61(1): 26-37.
- **4.** Carney RM, Blumenthal JA, Catellier D, Freedland KE, Berkman LF, Watkins LL, et al. Depression as a risk factor for mortality after acute myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol 2003; 92(11): 1277-81.
- 5. Carney RM, Blumenthal JA, Stein PK, Watkins L, Catellier D, Berkman LF, et al. Depression, heart

rate variability, and acute myocardial infarction. Circulation 2001; 104(17): 2024-8.

- **6.** van Melle JP, De JP, Kuyper AM, Honig A, Schene AH, Crijns HJ, et al. Prediction of depressive disorder following myocardial infarction data from the Myocardial Infarction and Depression-Intervention Trial (MIND-IT). Int J Cardiol 2006; 109(1): 88-94.
- **7.** Spijkerman TA, van den Brink RH, Jansen JH, Crijns HJ, Ormel J. Who is at risk of post-MI depressive symptoms? J Psychosom Res 2005; 58(5): 425-32.
- 8. Zipes DP, Braunwald E. Braunwald's heart disease: a textbook of cardiovascular medicine. Philadelphia, PA: W.B. Saunders; 2005.
- **9.** Beck AT, Steer RA, Ball R, Ciervo CA, Kabat M. Use of the Beck Anxiety and Depression Inventories for Primary Care with Medical Outpatients. Assessment 1997; 4(3): 211-19.
- **10.** Wilhelm K, Kotze B, Waterhouse M, Hadzi-Pavlovic D, Parker G. Screening for Depression in the Medically Ill: a comparison of self-report measures, clinician judgment, and DSM-IV diagnoses. Psychosomatics 2004; 45(6): 461-9.
- **11.** Parker G, Hilton T, Hadzi-Pavlovic D, Bains J. Screening for depression in the medically ill: the suggested utility of a cognitive-based approach. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2001; 35(4): 474-80.
- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-IV. 4th ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association; 1994.
- **13.** Steer RA, Cavalieri TA, Leonard DM, Beck AT. Use of the Beck Depression Inventory for Primary Care to screen for major depression disorders. Gen Hosp Psychiatry 1999; 21(2): 106-11.
- **14.** Montazeri A, Vahdaninia M, Ebrahimi M, Jarvandi S. The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS): translation and validation study of the Iranian version. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2003; 28: 14-9.
- **15.** Lane D, Carroll D, Lip GY. Anxiety, depression, and prognosis after myocardial infarction: is there a causal association? J Am Coll Cardiol 2003; 42(10): 1808-10.
- 16. Mendes de Leon CF. Depression and social support in recovery from myocardial infarction: confounding and confusion. Psychosom Med 1999;

61(6): 738-9.

- **17.** Bush DE, Ziegelstein RC, Tayback M, Richter D, Stevens S, Zahalsky H, et al. Even minimal symptoms of depression increase mortality risk after acute myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol 2001; 88(4): 337-41.
- **18.** Rumsfeld JS, Havranek E, Masoudi FA, Peterson ED, Jones P, Tooley JF, et al. Depressive symptoms are the strongest predictors of short-term declines in health status in patients with heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003; 42(10): 1811-7.
- **19.** Strik JJ, Lousberg R, Cheriex EC, Honig A. One year cumulative incidence of depression following myocardial infarction and impact on cardiac outcome. J Psychosom Res 2004; 56(1): 59-66.
- **20.** Murberg TA, Bru E. Social relationships and mortality in patients with congestive heart failure. J Psychosom Res 2001; 51(3): 521-7.
- 21. Freedland KE, Rich MW, Skala JA, Carney RM, Davila-Roman VG, Jaffe AS. Prevalence of depression in hospitalized patients with congestive heart failure. Psychosom Med 2003; 65(1): 119-28.
- **22.** Joynt KE, Whellan DJ, O'connor CM. Why is depression bad for the failing heart? A review of the mechanistic relationship between depression and heart failure. J Card Fail 2004; 10(3): 258-71.
- **23.** Macrea LM, Tramer MR, Walder B. Spontaneous subarachnoid hemorrhage and serious cardiopulmonary dysfunction-a systematic review. Resuscitation 2005; 65(2): 139-48.
- **24.** Apak I, Iltumur K, Tamam Y, Kaya N. Serum cardiac troponin T levels as an indicator of myocardial injury in ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke patients. Tohoku J Exp Med 2005; 205(2): 93-101.
- **25.** Wittstein IS, Thiemann DR, Lima JA, Baughman KL, Schulman SP, Gerstenblith G, et al. Neurohumoral features of myocardial stunning due to sudden emotional stress. N Engl J Med 2005; 352(6): 539-48.

How to cite this article: Bagherian-Sararoudi R, Gilani B, Bahrami Ehsan H, Sanei H. Relationship between left ventricular ejection fraction and depression following myocardial infarction: an original article. ARYA Atheroscler 2013; 9(1): 16-21.

Effects of streptokinase on reflow in rescue percutaneous coronary intervention

Masoud Sanatkar⁽¹⁾, <u>Hassan Shemirani</u>⁽²⁾, Hamid Sanei⁽³⁾, Masoud Pourmoghaddas⁽⁴⁾, Katayoun Rabiei⁽⁵⁾

Original Article

Abstract

BACKGROUND: Primary percutaneous coronary intervention (PPCI) is the preferred treatment method for ST elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI). However, the required equipments are not available in all hospitals. Thus, due to shortage of time, some patients receive thrombolysis therapy first. Patients with chest pain and/or persistent ST segment elevation will then undergo rescue percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI). The present study evaluated and compared the frequency of no-reflow phenomenon and 24-hour complications after PCI among patients who underwent PPCI or rescue PCI.

METHODS: This cross-sectional study assessed no-reflow phenomenon, 24-hour complications, and thrombolysis in myocardial infarction (TIMI) flow in patients admitted to Chamran Hospital (Isfahan, Iran) with a diagnosis of STEMI during March-September, 2011. Subjects underwent PPCI if they had received eptifibatide. Rescue PCI was performed if patients had chest pain and/or persistent ST segment elevation despite receiving streptokinase (SK). Demographic characteristics, history of diseases, medicine, angiography findings, PCI type, and complications during the first 24 hours following PCI were collected. Data was then analyzed by Student's t-test, chi-square test, and logistic regression analysis.

RESULTS: A total number of 143 individuals, including 67 PPCI cases (46.9%) and 76 cases of rescue PCI (53.1%), were evaluated. The mean age of the participants was 58.92 ± 11.16 years old. Females constituted 18.2% (n = 26) of the whole population. No-reflow phenomenon was observed in 51 subjects (37.1%). Although 9 patients (6.3%) died during the first 24 hours after PCI, neither the crude nor the model adjusted for age and gender revealed significant relations between rescue PCI and death or no-reflow phenomenon. Rescue PCI and no-reflow phenomenon were not significantly correlated even after adjustments for age, gender, history of diabetes, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, coronary artery disease, smoking, platelets number, myocardial infarction level, the extent of stenosis, and the involved artery.

CONCLUSION: According to the present study, although SK is more effective than eptifibatide in resolution of thrombosis and clots, rescue PCI did not differ from PPCI in terms of the incidence of no-reflow phenomenon or short-term complications.

Keywords: Primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention, Rescue Percutaneous Coronary Intervention, No-Reflow Phenomenon

Date of submission: 23 Jul 2012, Date of acceptance: 23 Oct 2012

Introduction

Primary percutaneous coronary intervention (PPCI) is suggested for treating ST elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI).¹ Rescue percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) is also recommended in patients under fibrinolysis without electrocardiographic

(ECG) improvements.² Reductions in short-term and 30-day mortality after PPCI have been found by a number of meta-analyses.³⁻⁵

An important factor in determining the success of reperfusion therapy (RT) is the comparison of thrombolysis in myocardial infarction (TIMI) flow

¹⁻ Fellowship Resident, Cardiac Rehabilitation Research Center, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

²⁻ Associate Professor, Hypertension Research Center, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

³⁻ Associate Professor, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁴⁻ Professor, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁵⁻ PhD Candidate, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran Correspondence to: Hassan Shemirani, Email: shemirani@med.mui.ac.ir

before and after treatment. TIMI flow is of high value in prognosis of patients.^{6,7} This semiquantitative scale divides patients into three categories among which the best prognosis belongs to the TIMI3. Compared to other two groups, patients with TIMI3 present better local and general improvements in left ventricular perfusion and performance, enzyme level reductions, and overall morbidity and mortality.⁸

RT is considered as successful if no-reflow phenomenon does not occur. Kloner et al. defined noreflow as reduced coronary reperfusion without any arterial obstruction, dissection, or spasm in angiography.⁹ However, the prevalence of no-reflow phenomenon has been reported as high as 20% in PPCI.¹⁰

Although PPCI is the preferred treatment for patients with STEMI, its successful implementation depends on available facilities and circumstances. An appropriate hospital, availability of an angioplasty department with an experienced cardiologist, as well as accessibility to the equipments and the staff at any time are among the most important factors affecting the success of the treatment. Thus, absence of any of the abovementioned factors would make PPCI problematic.¹¹ In such cases, patients do not have much time and are often suggested to undergo intravascular thrombolysis. If the patient does not respond to the treatment, PCI would also be applied. This procedure is called rescue PCI.²

On the other hand, some studies have indicated that even a successful PCI cannot guarantee the perfusion in all parts of myocardium. In fact, the existing thromboemboli may interfere with perfusion and even lead to clotting in capillaries.^{12,13} Therefore, some researchers have recommended facilitated PCI which consists of thrombolytic treatment prior to PCI. However, contrastive results have been reported for this treatment method, i.e. although some studies indicated PCI after thrombolytic treatment to have negative outcomes, others considered it as efficient.¹¹

The high incidence of coronary artery disease (CAD) in Iran¹⁴ has increased the need to implement PPCI. However, absence of necessary facilities for PPCI in villages and small towns makes thrombolytic treatment the first choice management in many cases. Streptokinase (SK) is more effective than eptifibatide in resolution of thrombosis and risk of bleeding. The present study compared the prevalence of complications among patients who

received SK prior to PCI (Rescue PCI) and those who received eptifibatide during PPCI.

Materials and Methods

In a cross-sectional study, the short-term complications, incidence of no-reflow phenomenon, and TIMI flow grades were assessed in patients who underwent PPCI in Chamran Hospital (Isfahan, Iran) during March-September, 2011. Using census sampling method, all hospitalized patients who had undergone PPCI due to a diagnosis of STEMI and consented to participate were included. A sample size of 140 patients was calculated based on the ratio comparison formula and considering the incidence of no-reflow among individuals who receive eptifibatide (6%¹⁵) and SK (21.8%¹⁶).

In the beginning, the subjects were explained about the study procedure and informed consents were obtained. Then, a questionnaire containing demographic data (age and gender), history of diseases (diabetes mellitus, stroke, hypertension, CAD, and hyperlipidemia), smoking, medicines [aspirin, heparin, Plavix, eptifibatide, adenosine, adrenaline, betablockers, SK, and angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors], and MI level was completed.

SK was prescribed if the patient had not received thrombolysis treatment with SK, the symptoms had started less than 12 hours before, and the angiography ward was not ready. However, patients were not prescribed with SK if they had cardiogenic shock or were categorized in class 3 or 4 of heart failure.

In case the angiography ward was ready, the subjects underwent angiography and were then prepared for PPCI. In order to perform angiography, Seldinger method was applied by 6 French catheter. The results of angiography including the involved artery and the position and extent of stenosis were recorded for each patient.

After receiving a 70 IU/kg dose of stat heparin, PCI was applied using Seldinger method by a 7 French catheter. In patients who did not receive SK, 10 mg eptifibatide was injected into the coronary artery candidate for PCI immediately after catheter insertion. The interventionist selected the stent based on the involved artery and plaque length and diameter. The size of catheter balloon was determined by а skilled operator who simultaneously viewed a cineangiogram. Ballooning and stenting were applied according to the involved artery and the extent of obstruction. Angiography was performed after PCI to assess TIMI and noreflow phenomenon and the results were recorded

for all patients.

Patients were transferred to coronary care unit (CCU) after PCI. Individuals who had received eptifibatide during PCI were kept under treatment with 75 mg eptifibatide infusions by a micro-set for about 18 hours.

In addition, all patients received 600 mg clopidogrel and 325 mg aspirin stat prior to PCI. They were also prescribed with 325 mg aspirin and 75-150 mg clopidogrel daily following PCI. Any observed complications, including death, reinfarction, bleeding, arrhythmia, and repeated PCI, during or 24 hours after PCI were recorded.

In order to analyze the collected data, descriptive statistics (frequency and mean) was applied. PPCI and rescue PCI groups (that had received eptifibatide and SK, respectively) were compared in terms of complications, incidence of no-reflow phenomenon, and TIMI flow using chi-square test. The effects of SK on any of the complications were determined by logistic regression. After evaluating the crude relations, the effects of age, gender, medicines, MI levels, and history of diseases on no reflow phenomenon were adjusted by multivariate logistic regression. Moreover, the model was adjusted based on sex and age (by multivariate logistic regression) to assess the effects of rescue PCI on 24-hour death. P values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant. All analyses were performed in SPSS for Windows 19.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

Results

A total number of 143 individuals with a mean age of 58.92 ± 11.16 years old were studied. Females constituted 18.2% (n = 26) of the whole population. PPCI and rescue PCI were performed for 67 (46.9%) and 76 (53.1%) subjects, respectively. No-reflow phenomenon was observed in 51 cases (37.1%). During the first 24 hours after PCI, 9 individuals died and arrhythmia, allergy, reinfarction, and bleeding occurred in 6 (4.02%), 1 (0.7%), 1 (0.7%), and 0 (0%) participants, respectively.

Table 1. The demographic characteristics and history of diseases in the rescue and facilitated percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) groups

	Primary PCI	Rescue PCI	Р
	(n = 67)	(n = 76)	
Age	57.01 ± 11.49	60.61 ± 10.66	0.055
Sex (female)	15 (22.4)	11 (14.5)	0.221
Diabetes	45 (68.2)	54 (72.0)	0.621
Hypertension	41 (63.1)	50 (66.7)	0.657
Previous CAD	55 (83.3)	64 (85.3)	0.744
Smoking	45 (68.2)	49 (65.3)	0.720
Hyperlipidemia	42 (64.6)	45 (60.0)	0.574
SBP	121.89 ± 20.38	121.99 ± 22.60	0.980
DBP	73.28 ± 13.37	78.20 ± 21.43	0.115
RBC	4.55 ± 0.43	4.52 ± 10.72	< 0.001
НСТ	42.68 ± 3.53	41.02 ± 0.60	0.726
Platelet	2198356 ± 51062	193460 ± 48415	< 0.001
LVEF	38.76 ± 11.00	40.77 ± 9.47	0.259
Anterior MI	40 (59.7)	40 (52.6)	0.395
Inferior MI	16 (23.9)	22 (28.9)	0.494
Posterior MI	0	0	
RV MI	0	0	
Lateral MI	2 (3.0)	0 (0)	0.218
Posterior-inferior MI	2 (3.0)	8 (10.5)	0.106
Anterolateral MI	7 (10.4)	5 (6.6)	0.405
Aspirin	66 (98.5)	76 (100)	0.469
Plavix	66 (98.5)	76 (100)	0.469
Heparin	64 (95.5)	75 (98.7)	0.341
Beta-blocker	60 (89.6)	71 (93.4)	0.405
Statin	66 (98.5)	73 (96.1)	0.623
ACE	59 (88.1)	70 (92.1)	0.417
TNG	21 (31.3)	31 (40.8)	0.425

CAD: Coronary artery disease; SBP: Systolic blood pressure; DBP: Diastolic blood pressure; RBC: Red blood cell count; HCT: Hematocrit; LVEF: Left ventricular ejection fraction; MI: Myocardial infarction; RV: Right ventricular; ACE: Angiotensin-converting enzyme; TNG: Nitroglycerin Data is presented as mean ± SD or number (%)

	Primary PCI (n = 67)	Rescue PCI (n = 76)	Р
Stenosis			
Cut-off	30 (44.8)	46 (60.5)	0.600
90-99	28 (41.8)	23 (30.3)	0.151
70-90	9 (13.4)	8 (10.5)	0.592
LAD stent number			
0	1 (2.0)	0 (0)	
1	43 (86.0)	30 (68.2)	< 0.001
2	5 (10.0)	13 (29.5)	
3	1 (2.0)	1 (2.3)	
RCA stent number			
0			
1	14 (93.3)	23 (85.2)	0.639
2	1 (6.7)	4 (14.8)	
3	0	0	
LCX stent	1	3	0.165
Complications			
ĊVA	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	1.000
Death	5 (7.5)	4 (5.3)	0.734
Arrhythmia	3 (4.5)	3 (3.9)	1.000
Bleeding	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Reinfarction	1 (1.5)	0 (0.0)	0.469
No-reflow phenomenon	23 (34.3)	30 (39.5)	0.525
TIMI flow			
1	8 (11.9)	5 (6.6)	0.266
2	12 (17.9)	21 (27.6)	0.169
3	43 (64.2)	45 (59.2)	0.542

 Table 2. Angiographic and percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI)-related data in rescue

 and facilitated PCI groups

LAD: Left anterior descending artery; RCA: Right coronary artery; LCX: Left circumflex artery; CVA: Cardiovascular arrest; TIMI: Thrombolysis in myocardial infarction Data is presented as number (%)

Odds ratio	95% confidence interval	Р
1.240	0.630-2.469	0.525
1.200	0.595-2.428	0.607
0.925	0.409-2.093	0.852
0.689	0.177-2.678	0.591
0.846	0.202-3.542	0.891
	Odds ratio 1.240 1.200 0.925 0.689 0.846	Odds ratio95% confidence interval1.2400.630-2.4691.2000.595-2.4280.9250.409-2.0930.6890.177-2.6780.8460.202-3.542

Crude model: The effects of streptokinase or eptifibatide on dependent variables Model 2: Adjusted based on age and sex

Model 3: Adjusted based on age, sex, history of diabetes, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, coronary artery disease, smoking, platelets, myocardial infarction level, vascular involvement (cutoff: 90-99 and 70-99) and the involved artery

Table 1 summarizes the demographic data, history of diseases, medicines intake, medical tests, MI type, and left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) of subjects in the PPCI and rescue PCI groups. As it is seen, the two groups were only significantly different in terms of red blood cell count (RBC) and platelets.

The two groups were not significantly different

in vascular involvements. However, a significant difference in the number of left anterior descending artery (LAD) stents was observed, i.e. 31.8% of the cases in the rescue PCI group had more than 2 stents. The incidences of no-reflow phenomenon or complications were not significantly different between the two groups (Table 2).

Table 3 presents the effects of PCI type on
no-reflow phenomenon and mortality. In order to evaluate the effects of SK, 3 models of crude, adjusted for age and sex, and adjusted for age, sex, history of diabetes, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, CAD, smoking, platelets, MI level, vascular involvement (cutoff: 90-99 and 70-99), and the involved artery were used. The effects of PCI type on mortality were assessed in the crude model and the model adjusted for age and sex. Due to small sample size, adjustment for other factors did not result in an appropriate model for mortality. As Table 3 shows, PCI type did not affect no-reflow phenomenon and 24-hour death in either crude or adjusted models.

Discussion

In this study, the two groups were not significantly different in terms of 24-hour mortality and complications or no-reflow phenomenon. The frequency of no-reflow phenomenon among the PPCI group was 34.3%. Palomo Villada et al. found no-reflow phenomenon to occur in 21.8% of 32 cases of rescue PCI.¹⁶ However, their mortality rate was much higher than ours (18.7% vs. 7.5%) which might have been the result of higher ages of their participants.

Steg et al. followed 362 patients with STEMI for 10 years. They reported the in-hospital death rate among the 91 individuals who underwent PCI after angiography as 5.5%. In addition, 1.6% of the same patients experienced intracerebral hemorrhage and 2.8% suffered from bleeding in other organs.¹⁷ In our study, however, despite the higher in-hospital death rate, brain damage and bleeding were not observed probably due to not using heparin after PCI.

In a study on 109 patients with STEMI who underwent rescue PCI after unsuccessful thrombolysis, Balachandran et al. reported the inhospital death rate as 9%.¹⁸ Perez-Berbel et al. evaluated 361 similar patients and observed noreflow phenomenon in 73 individuals (20.2%). Moreover, 33 subjects (10.4%) died throughout their study.¹⁹ Interestingly, Perez-Berbel et al. used abciximab, a glycoprotein (GP) IIb/IIIa inhibitor, during the PCI procedure¹⁹ which makes their groups comparable to ours.

In a multi-country, double-blind, placebocontrolled clinical trial, Ellis et al. compared the efficacy of reteplase plus abciximab (combinationfacilitated PCI) with abciximab-facilitated PCI and PPCI in patients whose ischemic signs initiated at most 6 hours before and who qualified for undergoing fibrinolysis or PCI. A total number of 2452 patients were randomized into three groups of PPCI (n = 806), abciximab-facilitated PCI (n = 818) and combination-facilitated PCI (n = 828). Mortality rates in the three mentioned groups were not significantly different (4.5%, 5.5%, and 5.2%, respectively).²⁰ The mortality rate among the patients treated by facilitated PCI with eptifibatide was 5.3% in the present study. In contrast to Ellis et al., we performed either rescue PCI on patients who had received SK followed by PCI or PPCI on individuals who had received eptifibatide.²⁰ Furthermore, in our cross-sectional study, no placebo group was included and the interventionist decided to conduct PCI according to the conditions of the patients.

Another clinical trial was conducted by Kanakakis et al. to measure the effects of facilitated PCI on patients with STEMI. Patients were included if STEMI symptoms had started not more than 6 hours earlier. They were then randomly allocated to two groups of facilitated PCI with tenecteplase or PPCI (control group). The mortality in the two groups was not significantly different (6% vs. 3.5%).²¹

Likewise, in a randomized clinical trial, Le May et al. divided 400 patients with STEMI into two groups of PCI with eptifibatide or PPCI and evaluated death and major complications during a 30-day period following PCI. Although bleeding was increased in the first group, they did not report any significant differences in the outcomes between the two groups.²² However, the present study could not make such a comparison since it did not assess the long-term outcomes. In addition, PCI was not performed without eptifibatide or SK to compare the efficacy of the two medicines.

Vienna STEMI Registry was a study to investigate STEMI treatment in five hospitals in Vienna. It included 1053 individuals. PPCI with eptifibatide and abciximab was conducted on 631 patients. However, 281 cases first underwent thrombolysis with tenecteplase (TT). They were then transferred to hospitals equipped with angioplasty wards where PCI was performed. The remaining 141 individuals did not receive PCI at all. The total in-hospital death rate and the rates in the PPCI and TT groups were not significantly different (9.5%, 8.1%, and 8.2%, respectively). However, in the no reperfusion group, 18.4% of the subjects died.²³

Although the present study could not determine factors related with no-reflow phenomenon among the two groups of rescue PCI and PPCI with

eptifibatide, various studies have shown the phenomenon to have negative effects on clinical outcomes of patients with STEMI. Resnic et al. reported an odds ratio (OR) of 3.6 when the effects of no-reflow phenomenon on mortality and MI was concerned among 4264 patients who had experienced PCI (P < 0.001).²⁴ Similarly, Morishima et al. followed 120 patients with STEMI who had undergone PCI for five years. No-reflow phenomenon occurred in 25% of the subjects. They suggested the phenomenon to be an independent risk factor for cardiac arrest [OR: 5.25; 95% confidence interval (CI): 1.79-7.69].25 No-reflow also considered as phenomenon was an independent risk factor for death during the first year after PCI [hazard ratio (HR): 3.35; 95% CI: 1.97-5.69] by Ndrepepa et al. who observed the complication in 9.5% of the studied patients with STEMI.9 Therefore, identification and prevention of contributing factors to no-reflow phenomenon might lead to reduced complications and mortality following PCI.

The present study could not evaluate effective factors on death since it aimed to determine inhospital complications and thus followed the patients for a short period. According to the obtained results, however, the mortality rates, in either the primary or rescue PCI groups, did not seem different from the studies in other countries. It can therefore be concluded that thrombolytic therapy and RT for patients with STEMI in Iran follow standards similar to other countries and cause the same short-term complications.

Ethical considerations imposed a limitation on the present study. In fact, we could not perform a double-blind randomized clinical trial. In addition, due to the short follow-up period, long-term complications of the two methods could not have been compared with previous researches. Another limitation was the absence of a control group for making appropriate comparisons. A clinical trial model with completely aware and consented patients is suggested for better evaluation of the outcomes. Moreover, long-term follow-up may find the best treatment method applicable by the interventionists in the country.

Overall, the present study suggested thrombolytic therapy (when angioplasty is not accessible) not to significantly differ from PCI with eptifibatide in terms of no-reflow phenomenon and short-term complications. Thrombolytic therapy is thus recommended in all hospitals lacking an angioplasty ward. However, the patient must be quickly transferred to a fully equipped hospital for PCI afterwards.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

References

- 1. Antman EM, Anbe DT, Armstrong PW, Bates ER, Green LA, Hand M, et al. ACC/AHA guidelines for the management of patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction-executive summary. A report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Writing Committee to revise the 1999 guidelines for the management of patients with acute myocardial infarction). J Am Coll Cardiol 2004; 44(3): 671-719.
- 2. Goodman SG, Menon V, Cannon CP, Steg G, Ohman EM, Harrington RA. Acute ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th Edition). Chest 2008; 133(6 Suppl): 708S-75S.
- **3.** Keeley EC, Boura JA, Grines CL. Primary angioplasty versus intravenous thrombolytic therapy for acute myocardial infarction: a quantitative review of 23 randomised trials. Lancet 2003; 361(9351): 13-20.
- **4.** Nallamothu BK, Bates ER. Percutaneous coronary intervention versus fibrinolytic therapy in acute myocardial infarction: is timing (almost) everything? Am J Cardiol 2003; 92(7): 824-6.
- **5.** Boersma E. Does time matter? A pooled analysis of randomized clinical trials comparing primary percutaneous coronary intervention and in-hospital fibrinolysis in acute myocardial infarction patients. Eur Heart J 2006; 27(7): 779-88.
- **6.** The effects of tissue plasminogen activator, streptokinase, or both on coronary-artery patency, ventricular function, and survival after acute myocardial infarction. The GUSTO Angiographic Investigators. N Engl J Med 1993; 329(22): 1615-22.
- **7.** An international randomized trial comparing four thrombolytic strategies for acute myocardial infarction. The GUSTO investigators. N Engl J Med 1993; 329(10): 673-82.
- **8.** Kern MJ, Moore JA, Aguirre FV, Bach RG, Caracciolo EA, Wolford T, et al. Determination of angiographic (TIMI grade) blood flow by intracoronary Doppler flow velocity during acute myocardial infarction. Circulation 1996; 94(7): 1545-52.
- **9.** Ndrepepa G, Tiroch K, Keta D, Fusaro M, Seyfarth M, Pache J, et al. Predictive factors and impact of no reflow after primary percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with acute myocardial

27

infarction. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2010; 3(1): 27-33.

- **10.** Ito H, Okamura A, Iwakura K, Masuyama T, Hori M, Takiuchi S, et al. Myocardial perfusion patterns related to thrombolysis in myocardial infarction perfusion grades after coronary angioplasty in patients with acute anterior wall myocardial infarction. Circulation 1996; 93(11): 1993-9.
- 11. O'Connor RE, Bossaert L, Arntz HR, Brooks SC, Diercks D, Feitosa-Filho G, et al. Part 9: Acute coronary syndromes: 2010 International Consensus on Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care Science With Treatment Recommendations. Circulation 2010; 122(16 Suppl 2): S422-S465.
- **12.** Henriques JP, Zijlstra F, Ottervanger JP, de Boer MJ, van 't Hof AW, Hoorntje JC, et al. Incidence and clinical significance of distal embolization during primary angioplasty for acute myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J 2002; 23(14): 1112-7.
- **13.** Sakuma T, Leong-Poi H, Fisher NG, Goodman NC, Kaul S. Further insights into the no-reflow phenomenon after primary angioplasty in acute myocardial infarction: the role of microthromboemboli. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2003; 16(1): 15-21.
- **14.** Sarraf-Zadegan N, Sayed-Tabatabaei FA, Bashardoost N, Maleki A, Totonchi M, Habibi HR, et al. The prevalence of coronary artery disease in an urban population in Isfahan, Iran. Acta Cardiol 1999; 54(5): 257-63.
- **15.** Fu XH, Hao QQ, Jia XW, Fan WZ, Gu XS, Wu WL, et al. Effect of tirofiban plus clopidogrel and aspirin on primary percutaneous coronary intervention via transradial approach in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Chin Med J (Engl) 2008; 121(6): 522-7.
- **16.** Palomo Villada JA, Santiago Hernandez JA, Gonzalez DB, Astudillo SR, Flores FJ, Montoya SA, et al. Short-term results of rescue angioplasty in patients with acute myocardial infarction and failure of thrombolysis treatment. Arch Cardiol Mex 2005; 75(3): 296-305.
- **17.** Steg PG, Francois L, Iung B, Himbert D, Aubry P, Charlier P, et al. Long-term clinical outcomes after rescue angioplasty are not different from those of successful thrombolysis for acute myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J 2005; 26(18): 1831-7.
- 18. Balachandran KP, Miller J, Pell AC, Vallance BD, Oldroyd KG. Rescue percutaneous coronary intervention for failed thrombolysis: results from a district general hospital. Postgrad Med J 2002;

78(920): 330-4.

- **19.** Perez-Berbel P, Valencia J, Ruiz-Nodar JM, Pineda J, Bordes P, Mainar V, et al. Rescue angioplasty: characteristics and results in a single-center experience. J Interv Cardiol 2011; 24(1): 42-8.
- **20.** Ellis SG, Tendera M, de Belder MA, van Boven AJ, Widimsky P, Janssens L, et al. Facilitated PCI in patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 2008; 358(21): 2205-17.
- **21.** Kanakakis J, Nanas JN, Tsagalou EP, Maroulidis GD, Drakos SG, Ntalianis AS, et al. Multicenter randomized trial of facilitated percutaneous coronary intervention with low-dose tenecteplase in patients with acute myocardial infarction: the Athens PCI trial. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2009; 74(3): 398-405.
- **22.** Le May MR, Wells GA, Glover CA, So DY, Froeschl M, Marquis JF, et al. Primary percutaneous coronary angioplasty with and without eptifibatide in ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: a safety and efficacy study of integrilin-facilitated versus primary percutaneous coronary intervention in ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction (ASSIST). Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2009; 2(4): 330-8.
- **23.** Kalla K, Christ G, Karnik R, Malzer R, Norman G, Prachar H, et al. Implementation of guidelines improves the standard of care: the Viennese registry on reperfusion strategies in ST-elevation myocardial infarction (Vienna STEMI registry). Circulation 2006; 113(20): 2398-405.
- 24. Resnic FS, Wainstein M, Lee MK, Behrendt D, Wainstein RV, Ohno-Machado L, et al. No-reflow is an independent predictor of death and myocardial infarction after percutaneous coronary intervention. Am Heart J 2003; 145(1): 42-6.
- **25.** Morishima I, Sone T, Okumura K, Tsuboi H, Kondo J, Mukawa H, et al. Angiographic no-reflow phenomenon as a predictor of adverse long-term outcome in patients treated with percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty for first acute myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000; 36(4): 1202-9.

How to cite this article: Sanatkar M, Shemirani H, Sanei H, Pourmoghaddas M, Rabiei K. **Effects of streptokinase on reflow in rescue percutaneous coronary intervention.** ARYA Atheroscler 2013; 9(1): 22-8.

Improvement of dietary oil consumption following a community trial in a developing country: The role of translational research in health promotion

Noushin Mohammadifard⁽¹⁾, Nafiseh Toghianifar⁽²⁾, Firoozeh Sajjadi⁽³⁾, Hassan Alikhasi⁽³⁾, Roya Kelishadi⁽⁴⁾, Maryam Maghroun⁽⁵⁾, Mostafa Esmaeili⁽⁶⁾, Shahram Ehteshami⁽⁷⁾, Hamzeh Tabaie⁽⁸⁾, <u>Nizal Sarrafzadegan⁽⁹⁾</u>

Original Article

Abstract

BACKGROUND: This study aimed to determine the effects of the interventions of Isfahan Healthy Heart Program (IHHP) on the type of oil consumed at the population level. It also tried to assess how this strategy has been effective as a health policy.

METHODS: The IHHP, a six-year community intervention program (2001-07), aimed at health promotion through the modification of cardiovascular disease risk factors. It was performed in Isfahan and Najafabad counties (intervention area) and Arak county (reference area), all in central Iran. This study targeted the whole population of over 2,000,000 in the intervention area. The findings of annual independent sample surveys were compared with the reference area. Dietary interventions were performed as educational, environmental, and/or legislative strategies.

RESULTS: From 2001 to 2007, the mean of changes for hydrogenated oil consumption was -3.2 and -3.6, and for liquid oil it was 3.6 and 2.8 times per week in the intervention and reference areas, respectively (P < 0.001). According to Commerce office record, the increase in liquid oil distribution during 2000-2007 was significantly higher in Isfahan than Arak (34% vs. 25%).

CONCLUSION: The effects of the simple, comprehensive, and integrated action-oriented interventions of our program could influence policy making and its results at the community level. It can be adopted by other developing countries.

Keywords: Oil Consumption, Hydrogenated Oil, Liquid Oil, Community Trial

Date of submission: 25 Aug 2012, Date of acceptance: 09 Nov 2012

Introduction

The prevalence of noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) has been rapidly increasing worldwide. Their related mortality has been estimated to increase by 15% globally between 2010 and 2020 (to 44 million deaths).¹ Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) are currently considered as major NCDs causing mortality and morbidity in most countries. They are a great concern in low- and middle-income countries which will face an epidemic of NCDs in the near

future. Population-based interventions might reduce the burden of NCDs and their risk factors.²

Healthy lifestyle habits are recommended both in health and disease conditions to prevent further diseases. Healthy nutrition for improvement of lipid profile is an integral part of all interventions to prevent or reduce CVD risk at individual or population levels.² The quality of the fat consumed in each population is one of the most important nutritional elements that affects cardiovascular

1- PhD Candidate, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

8- Isfahan Commerce Office, Isfahan, Iran

ARYA Atheroscler 2013; Volume 9, Issue 1 29

²⁻ Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

³⁻ Cardiac Rehabilitation Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁴⁻ Professor, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁵⁻ Hypertension Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁶⁻ Pharmacologist, Vice-chancellery for Food and Drug, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁷⁻ Environmental Health, Isfahan Health Center (No2), Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁹⁻ Professor, Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran Correspondence to: Nizal Sarrafzadegan, Email: nsarrafzadegan@gmail.com

health. Unlike other dietary fats, trans fatty acids are not essential and have potential health hazards. Most of the trans fat is artificially created in a process known as hydrogenation. Trans fats from partially hydrogenated oils are more harmful than naturally occurring oils.3 Besides their health hazards to the cardiovascular system and malignancies, there is evidence to suggest that consumption of trans fats can trigger insulin resistance and boost the risk of developing type 2 diabetes. Trans fats not only increase total and low density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterols, triglycerides, and saturated fatty acids, but also decrease high density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol levels.4,5 Large cross-population studies have shown a strong correlation between trans fat intake and mortality.6-8

High prevalence of NCDs, particularly CVDs,⁹ and their risk factors¹⁰ have been well documented in Iran. Implementation of public health policies for lifestyle modification is hence necessary. In 2003, about 89% of the Iranian population consumed hydrogenated oils while trans fatty acids constituted 59.1% and 51.2% of available hydrogenated oils and margarines, respectively.¹¹

Efforts to reduce trans fatty acid consumption have been performed in several countries. In the 1990s for instance, trans fatty acid content of retail foods was decreased in the Netherlands through interventions in food industries.³ In the US, mandatory disclosure of trans fat content on food labels led to the reduction of trans fat content of foods by production industries. The improvement was mostly based on population knowledge about the hazards of this type of fatty acids.¹²

In response to the increased burden of NCDs in Iran,¹³ the Isfahan Healthy Heart Program (IHHP) was implemented as a comprehensive communitybased demonstration program with reference area. The IHHP aimed to integrate programs and policies that effectively impact the major determinants of NCDs, mainly through lifestyle change.^{14,15} One of the main strategies of this program targeted improvement in oil production and consumption.

Here, we report the main effects of this six-year interventional program on the type of oil consumed by the population living in interventional areas in comparison to the reference population. We also evaluate how this strategy of the program has been translated to a health policy.

Materials and Methods

Design and sampling

The IHHP aimed to improve the knowledge,

attitude, and practice of the population, health professionals, and CVD patients in order to reduce the risk factors of NCDs that share the same risk behaviors.¹⁴⁻¹⁶

The IHHP was conducted in the central part of Iran, in two neighboring counties (Isfahan and Najafabad) as the intervention area and one county (Arak) as the control area. According to the national census in 2000, the population was 1895856, 275084, and 668531 in Isfahan, Najafabad and Arak, respectively. Multistage cluster random sampling was used to select eligible individuals from urban and rural areas. Residents older than 19 years of age in these counties were included while pregnant women and mentally retarded subjects were excluded. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants after full explanation of the study. The program was designed in three phases: baseline survey, intervention, and postintervention phase.

The baseline survey was performed in 2001 in both the intervention and reference areas. It included a total of 12514 participants. The intervention was started in 2002 in Isfahan and Najafabad and lasted until 2006. Annual surveys on independent samples were conducted in both the intervention and reference areas. In baseline and final survey, sampling was performed according to age and sex distribution. Sampling method of Countrywide Integrated Noncommunicable Disease Intervention (CINDI) was used in other annual surveys in both the intervention and reference areas.¹⁴ While routine national health activities continued in the intervention and reference areas, the IHHP interventions aimed at improving four major lifestyle behaviors including tobacco control, healthy diet, physical activity, and stress management. In 2007, a final survey was performed on independent random samples from the two communities. Overall 9570 individuals were studied in the post-intervention survey.

A questionnaire including sociodemographic characteristics and other health-related issues was completed for the participants by trained health professionals.

Dietary assessment

An open-ended food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) was used to assess dietary behavior. This 48item qualitative questionnaire was adapted from the CINDI program questionnaire.¹⁷ The Persian version of the questionnaire had shown good reliability ($\mathbf{r} = 0.8$) and validity in a previous study.¹⁸ For the present study, the two questions related to

consumption of hydrogenated and nonhydrogenated oils were used. The participants were asked "How many times per week do you consume hydrogenated oil?" and "How many times per week do you consume liquid oil?". The mean number of times these types of oils were consumed in a week was calculated. Additional nutritional status of the intervention vs. reference area were compared in a randomly selected subsample of 1000 adults aging ≥ 19 years old from urban populations in each of the intervention and reference areas. The obtained data was included in the cross-sectional survey. A 24-hour dietary recall questionnaire was used to study the nutritional habits in the subsample. Nutrients contents of the questionnaire were computed by the Iranian Food Consumption Program (IFCP) designed by Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center (ICRC),¹⁷ based on the Iranian Food Composition Table.18 Trained nutritionists assisted in fulfillment and rechecking as well as data entry of the assembled dietary questionnaire.

Intervention strategies

Based on the findings from the baseline survey, intervention strategies were designed by considering available human and economic resources. Interventions were conducted through 10 interventional projects with various target groups including youth, women, children and adolescents, staff, health worksite professionals, health volunteers and non-governmental organizations, individuals with CVD risk factors, CVD patients and their family members.15

Nutritional interventions were performed through a project entitled "Healthy Food for Healthy Community" (HFHC). This project aimed to improve the knowledge, attitude, and practice of the society regarding healthy nutrition, to increase the availability of healthy nutrition, and to improve the quality of food production and distribution. Details of nutritional interventions have been described previously.^{16,19} Only strategies and activities related to hydrogenated/liquid oil consumption are presented here.

Training involved the target groups of all IHHP interventional projects regarding the hazards of hydrogenated oil. It encouraged reduced consumption of fat and substitution of hydrogenated oils with liquid oils. Training sessions were held for owners and staff of restaurants, pizzerias and confectionaries and kitchens of factories, universities, garrisons, and hospitals. Training was supported by formal instructions for serving healthy food choices and healthy cooking in

restaurants and fast food shops through reducing oil consumption and using liquid oil. In order to make improvement in oil consumption, collaborations were made with Isfahan Provincial Health Center and food unions to implement approved instructions aimed at reducing the amount of fat and oils in cooking, substituting hydrogenated oil with non-hydrogenated oil, and using modified deep frying oils for frying. Similar instructions were implemented in universities and worksites including offices and factories that served foods.

A monitoring checklist of healthy food choices was designed by ICRC and was integrated into ongoing health system supervising activities to implementation of the IHHP ensure the interventions. Accommodations were made with food industries to produce healthy foods with reduced oil and without hydrogenated oil in order to sustain an initially established partnership between the academic field, industry, and other health-related sectors. This partnership was later transferred and registered as a non-governmental organization named "Food Industry and Healthy Community Association". Its members were from food industries, faculty members specialized in nutrition, medicine, and public health, and other stakeholders such as Provincial Commerce Office, the Food and Drug Supervision Office, Standard and Industrial Research Institution, and researchers and collaborators of HFHC. The association aimed at facilitating the cooperation between food industries and scientific institutes toward manufacturing healthy food products. Moreover, it offered new and healthy formulations for food products and provided facilities to encourage food industries to produce healthy products. The intervention covered products such as oil, margarines, beverages, canned fish, soymilk, sweets, candies, cakes, pies, biscuits, and low-fat dairy products.

At the beginning of the IHHP interventions in 2001, subsidized dietary oil distributed by the Ministry of Commerce was mainly in the form of hydrogenated oil. Therefore, users of liquid oil had to pay some extra money for receiving liquid oil. Collaborations were made with the provincial Commerce Office to substitute hydrogenated oil with liquid oil in 2003. The proposal was reflected to the Nutrition Improvement Department in the Ministry of Health and then to the Ministry of Commerce, responsible for provision and distribution of oil throughout the country. It was later implemented at the national level. Moreover, extensive requested letters were sent to Isfahan Provincial Commerce Office to increase liquid oil subsidiaries in Isfahan and Najafabad. Correspondences were made with this office to substitute production of hydrogenated oil with liquid oil by the only oil production factory in Isfahan which was approved by Ministry of Commerce. Food industries were asked to add information about trans fatty acids and saturated fat content of oils to the labels on their food products and the community was informed to read these labels.

Statistical analysis

Univariate analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to compare the mean consumption of hydrogenated and liquid oil per week in intervention and control areas in annual surveys. T-test was used to compare the mean values of weekly consumption of hydrogenated or liquid oil in pre- and postintervention phases. General linear model was used to compare the trend and the mean changes of hydrogenated oil and liquid oil consumption in intervention and reference areas. SPSS for Windows 15.00 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, II, USA) was used to analyze the data. P values of less than 0.05 were considered as significant.

Results

Table 1 shows the characteristics of the study population. The baseline survey included a total of

12514 subjects. The annual surveys included 5891, 4793, and 6083 subjects from 2002 to 2004, respectively. Because of financial limitations, the fourth annual evaluation (in 2005) could not be conducted in the reference area and just included 3010 individuals in the intervention area. The final survey in 2007 included 9572 participants. Additional nutritional status was assessed in 1749 and 1632 urban individuals in 2001 and 2007, respectively.

Figure 1 shows the trend of hydrogenated oil consumption in the reference and intervention areas. Throughout the study, the mean frequency of weekly hydrogenated oil consumption was significantly lower in the intervention area than in the reference area. The mean frequency of hydrogenated oil consumption decreased in both reference and intervention areas from 2001 to 2007 but with a greater slope in the intervention area. The mean weekly consumption of liquid oil was significantly higher in the intervention area. In fact, it increased in both areas but with a higher slope in the intervention area (P < 0.001) (Figure 2). The mean changes in weekly consumption of hydrogenated oil were -3.2 and -3.6 times in the intervention and reference areas, respectively. During 2001-2007, the mean increase of liquid oil consumption was 3.6 and 2.8 times per week in the intervention and reference areas, respectively (P < 0.001).

		Baseline survey (2001)	First evaluation (2002)	Second evaluation (2003)	Third evaluation (2004)	Forth evaluation (2005)	Fifth evaluation (2006)
Residency							
Urban	Intervention	4873	2438	1950	2402	2652	3897
	Control	4220	1932	1556	2119		2795
Rural	Intervention	1302	556	450	613	360	822
	Control	2119	965	837	962		2058
Sex							
Male	Intervention	3006	1482	1186	1479	1453	2320
	Control	3117	1416	1183	1492		2458
female	Intervention	3169	1512	1214	1534	1558	2399
	Control	3222	1481	1210	1578		2395
Education (years)							
0-5	Intervention	2738	1316	1040	1649	1454	1641
	Control	3659	1717	1203	1768		2658
6-12	Intervention	2704	1220	1041	1071	1185	2130
	Control	2112	973	927	1001		1862
> 12	Intervention	626	417	299	288	372	931
	Control	451	198	257	301		333
Age (years)*							
	Intervention	6.80 ± 4.36	6.43 ± 4.74	5.69 ± 4.48	3.76 ± 4.36	3.97 ± 4.63	3.04 ± 4.45
	Control	10.63 ± 4.61	10.15 ± 4.93	8.90±4.68	8.62 ± 5.08	-	7.38 ± 5.36

Table 1. Characteristics of the study population in the reference and intervention areas from 2001 to 2	007
---	-----

* Mean ± SD



Figure 1. Trend of hydrogenated oil consumption in the intervention and reference areas



Figure 2. Trend of liquid oil consumption in the intervention and reference areas



Figure 3. Trend of hydrogenated and liquid oil distribution in intervention and reference area based on Commerce office records

Table 2. The mean changes in dietary fat and oils intake in subsamples of the intervention and reference areas in 2001-07

Oils	Intervention Area			Re	Р		
	2001	2007	Р	2001	2007	Р	
Hydrogenated oil (g/day)	15.2 ± 4.3	7.4 ± 3.8	0.005	18.3 ± 4.2	13.4 ± 3.7	0.020	0.030
Liquid oil (g/day)	9.6 ± 3.7	16.7 ± 4.9	0.006	10.5 ± 3.8	12.7 ± 3.9	0.100	0.008
Values are expressed as mean + SD							

Values are expressed as mean \pm SD.

Based on the Commerce Office records, from 2000 to 2007, the distribution of hydrogenated oil was higher in the reference area. On the other hand, distribution of liquid oil was higher in the intervention area. Trend of hydrogenated oil distribution showed a descending slope in both intervention and control areas. Distribution of liquid oil had a rising trend in both areas with a higher slope in the intervention area (P < 0.05, Figure 3).

Liquid oil production increased from 21.5% in 2004 to 56.5% in 2008. Canola oil comprised the greatest share of produced oils. At the end of the intervention, restaurants and food shops increased usage of frying oil to 100%. Restaurants used liquid oil for cooking all foods except rice (15% hydrogenated oil).

Table 2 shows changes of hydrogenated and liquid oils intake in intervention vs. reference areas based on 24-hour recall in 2001-2007. The trend of hydrogenated oil consumption showed significant reduction and liquid oil showed a significant enhancement in intervention area (P = 0.03 and P = 0.008, respectively).

Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, this interventional study was the first of its kind not only in Iran, but also in the east Mediterranean region. It could successfully decrease the consumption of hydrogenated oil and substitute it with liquid oil. Increasing liquid oil distribution in intervention acea has become circulated as a health policy by the Commerce Office. According to independent reports of Commerce Office, the implementation of this policy showed consistent changes in the type of distributed oil. It was confirmed at population level based on the results of IHHP surveys. The hazardous effects of high fat intake have been known for more than five decades. It is welldocumented that limiting dietary fat reduces cardiovascular mortality.7 Further studies revealed that diets lower in trans fat and higher in unsaturated fat may particularly decrease the risk of cardiovascular death even among individuals with previous cardiovascular events.6 All scientific evidence in this field has improved knowledge on the role of diet on health. In addition, better understanding of dietary elements at molecular level has directed scientific recommendations to focus on diets low in saturated fat. The Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity and Health (DPAS) considers diet and physical activity as two main risk factors of NCDs. It hence recommends lower daily fat intake and a shift from saturated fat toward unsaturated fat with the final goal of eliminating trans fatty acids from diet.²⁰ Latest dietary recommendations advise reduction of trans fatty content of foods to less than 1%.²¹

Various strategies have been implemented in different countries to reduce total, saturated, and trans fat intake. Based on scientific evidence,22 ratifying government support,²³ legislation, regulations for food industries,12 enhancement of public knowledge,24 and using technology in production of new and healthier formulations for fats and oils^{3,25} are among these strategies. The IHHP benefited from a variety of action plans and strategies to implement healthy nutrition in the intervention area. It in fact tried to increase public knowledge, improve public attitudes and behaviors, develop new regulations and enforce the existing ones based on collaboration with food industries, and increase the production and distribution of healthier types of oils.

Using an FFQ and a 24-hour recall questionnaire, we observed reduced hydrogenated fat consumption and increased liquid oil consumption after six years of intervention at the community level. This reflects improved public consumption pattern that can be explained in part by enhanced knowledge and practice. The IHHP strategy to improve people's knowledge can also be observed in other dietary habits of the population such as improvements in fat and meat consumption indices reported in a previous study.¹⁶ Although as a reflection of the national policies in increasing the production of liquid oils, favorable changes were also documented in the reference area of our study, the considerably higher levels of improvement in the intervention area are an evidence for the success of the project's interventions.

The role of public knowledge in the amount and type of consumed fat can be proved by reduced consumption of fat and oils in the American diet between 1989 and 1996. The American population seemed to effectively reduce foods classified in the 'oil and fat' category. However, the amount of fat within other food categories, especially meat, was increased.³ Consumers' awareness on healthy and unhealthy food items will also affect the food industries that seek consumer satisfaction to keep their sale and reputation.^{26,27}

The IHHP enhanced labeling of food products, in particular oils and trans fat content, by encouraging oil production companies to add the level of industrial trans fatty acids on their labels and educating and encouraging people to read labels on food products. In the beginning of IHHP, an evaluation was done to assess the awareness, use and understanding of these labels by the consumers. Only 7% reported that they read the labels regularly, mainly because labels are too complicated and reading them needs longer time. Furthermore, 95% of participants stated that they did not understand the labels. Together with the food producers and based on the consumers' suggestions, IHHP started an initiative to simplify the labels, so that contents only refer to total energy, total fat, saturated fat and trans fatty acids, sugar and salt and to place the labels by the production date to increase consumers attention.28 The effects on consumers' choice and sensitivity to quality of products might have indirectly reduced the rate of hydrogenated oil consumption. A similar experience was observed in the US where mandatory labeling of industrial trans fat content of food products was enacted in 2006. Primary recommendations had been made in 1994 (about 12 years earlier). Later, the regulations were extended to ban the use of industrial trans fats in restaurants. The chain of improvement, which started from federal regulations in food industry, developed rapidly to other parts of food production industry and supply and even enhanced related research in the field for providing more qualified oils.12 In 2006, about 96% of packaged foods in the US had nutrition labeling with 12% providing data about the amount of tans fats.²⁶

The present report from our study is mainly devoted to reporting one of the outcomes of the IHHP. Educational and intersectoral collaboration between scientific and executive manager of the study influence the policy of a public sector responsible for distributing oil in the community level. This strategy improved the availability of a healthier type of oil. As supported by the World Health Organization's latest scientific update in 2004, modification of public nutritional habits requires the collaboration of many stakeholders in public and private sectors.²² The completing part, that is the population demand, was affected through various activities aimed at improving people's knowledge about the health hazards of hydrogenated oil and the necessity of substituting it with liquid oil.

Previous studies have advised the discrimination of percentage versus total fat intake when interpreting trends of dietary components.24 Therefore, the observed improvement in the trend of hydrogenated and liquid oil intake in Iranian population cannot be counted as a real improvement in oil consumption unless the findings of a previous study from the IHHP data are considered. This study showed an improvement in the kind of oil consumption in the intervention area.16 In the setting of reduced total fat intake, relative improvement in type of oil is interpreted as a positive change in dietary habits. This seems a possible result of activities and policies that have been implemented in the IHHP. Moreover, reports of Commerce Office, which provides a major source of oil consumption in the community, adds to the validity of our findings. The political will and community request besides our extensive contacts and follow-up with the Office of Nutrition Improvement in the Ministry of Health resulted in a recent legislation that mandates the production of oils with trans fatty acid content less than 15%. An external evaluation by a team of experts from National Institute for Health and Welfare of Finland in 2009 confirmed the benefits of nutritional interventions.28

However, as a limitation of our study, improved knowledge of the population might have made them say they had consumed liquid oil than hydrogenated oil. We did not assess intake of other sources of hydrogenated oil. Hence, the findings cannot be generalized unless we know total caloric intake and percentage of all dietary nutrients from the beginning to the end of this intervention.

Conclusion

Community-based interventions can improve healthy lifestyle in the population through establishing partnership between stakeholders, population, and industries. This is practiced through enhancing public knowledge based on scientific findings that sensitize people to shop healthier products. Healthy recommendations help industries keep their credit by elevating the quality of their products. Involving stakeholders and policy makers community in such trials assures the implementation of recommendations. The leading role of research centers can enhance the acceptance of the recommended improvements among authorities and the society. The effects of simple, comprehensive, and integrated action-oriented

interventions of our program are evidences on how research can influence policy decisions at community level.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

References

- 1. World Health Organization. Global Status Report on Noncommunicable Diseases 2010. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2011.
- 2. Schaefer EJ. Lipoproteins, nutrition, and heart disease. Am J Clin Nutr 2002; 75(2): 191-212.
- **3.** Katan MB. Regulation of trans fats: the gap, the Polder, and McDonald's French fries. Atheroscler Suppl 2006; 7(2): 63-6.
- Mozaffarian D, Katan MB, Ascherio A, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC. Trans fatty acids and cardiovascular disease. N Engl J Med 2006; 354(15): 1601-13.
- **5.** Ascherio A, Katan MB, Zock PL, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC. Trans fatty acids and coronary heart disease. N Engl J Med 1999; 340(25): 1994-8.
- **6.** Mozaffarian D. The great fat debate: taking the focus off of saturated fat. J Am Diet Assoc 2011; 111(5): 665-6.
- Kato H, Tillotson J, Nichaman MZ, Rhoads GG, Hamilton HB. Epidemiologic studies of coronary heart disease and stroke in Japanese men living in Japan, Hawaii and California. Am J Epidemiol 1973; 97(6): 372-85.
- **8.** Katan MB, Zock PL, Mensink RP. Trans fatty acids and their effects on lipoproteins in humans. Annu Rev Nutr 1995; 15: 473-93.
- **9.** Sarraf-Zadegan N, Sayed-Tabatabaei FA, Bashardoost N, Maleki A, Totonchi M, Habibi HR, et al. The prevalence of coronary artery disease in an urban population in Isfahan, Iran. Acta Cardiol 1999; 54(5): 257-63.
- **10.** Sarraf-Zadegan N, Boshtam M, Rafiei M. Risk factors for coronary artery disease in Isfahan, Iran. Eur J Public Health 1999; 9(1): 20-6.
- **11.** Bahrami GR, Mirzaeei Sh. The Evaluation of Fatty Acids Profile in Available Hydrogenated Oils and Margarines in Iran. Iranian Heart Journal 2003; 4(3): 59-67. [In Persian].
- **12.** Unnevehr LJ, Jagmanaite E. Getting rid of trans fats in the US diet: Policies, incentives and progress. Food Policy 2008; 33(6): 497-503.
- **13.** Sarraf-Zadegan N, Boshtam M, Malekafzali H, Bashardoost N, Sayed-Tabatabaei FA, Rafiei M, et al. Secular trends in cardiovascular mortality in Iran, with special reference to Isfahan. Acta Cardiol 1999; 54(6): 327-33.
- 14. Sarraf-Zadegan N, Sadri G, Malek AH, Baghaei M, Mohammadi FN, Shahrokhi S, et al. Isfahan Healthy Heart Programme: a comprehensive

integrated community-based programme for cardiovascular disease prevention and control. Design, methods and initial experience. Acta Cardiol 2003; 58(4): 309-20.

- **15.** Sarrafzadegan N, Baghaei A, Sadri G, Kelishadi R, Malekafzali H, Boshtam M, et al. Isfahan healthy heart program: Evaluation of comprehensive, community-based interventions for noncommunicable disease prevention. Prevention and Control 2006; 2(2): 73-84.
- **16.** Mohammadifard N, Kelishadi R, Safavi M, Sarrafzadegan N, Sajadi F, Sadri GH, et al. Effect of a community-based intervention on nutritional behaviour in a developing country setting: the Isfahan Healthy Heart Programme. Public Health Nutr 2009; 12(9): 1422-30.
- **17.** Rafiei M, Boshtam M, Marandi A, Jalali A, Vakili R. "The Iranian Food Consumption Program (IFCP), A Unique Nutritional Software in Iran". Iran J Public Health 2002; 31(3-4): 105-7. [In Persian].
- **18.** Dorosti Motlagh AR, Tabatabaei M. Iranain Food Composition Table. 1st ed. Tehran, Iran: Donyaye Taghzieh Publication; 2005. [In Persian].
- **19.** Sarrafzadegan N, Kelishadi R, Esmaillzadeh A, Mohammadifard N, Rabiei K, Roohafza H, et al. Do lifestyle interventions work in developing countries? Findings from the Isfahan Healthy Heart Program in the Islamic Republic of Iran. Bull World Health Organ 2009; 87(1): 39-50.
- 20. Nishida C, Uauy R. WHO Scientific Update on health consequences of trans fatty acids: introduction. Eur J Clin Nutr 2009; 63(Suppl 2): S1-S4.
- **21.** Mossoba MM, Moss J, Kramer JK. Trans fat labeling and levels in U.S. foods: assessment of gas chromatographic and infrared spectroscopic techniques for regulatory compliance. J AOAC Int 2009; 92(5): 1284-300.

- **22.** Stender S, Dyerberg J, Bysted A, Leth T, Astrup A. A trans world journey. Atheroscler Suppl 2006; 7(2): 47-52.
- **23.** Chanmugam P, Guthrie JF, Cecilio S, Morton JF, Basiotis PP, Anand R. Did fat intake in the United States really decline between 1989-1991 and 1994-1996? J Am Diet Assoc 2003; 103(7): 867-72.
- **24.** Rogers M. Novel structuring strategies for unsaturated fats Meeting the zero-trans, zero-saturated fat challenge: A review. Food Research International 2009; 42(7): 747-53.
- **25.** Chern WS, Loehman ET, Yen ST. Information, Health Risk Beliefs, and the Demand for Fats and Oils. Review of Economics & Statistics 1995; 77(3): 555-64.
- **26.** Brandt M, Moss J, Ferguson M. The 2006-2007 Food Label and Package Survey (FLAPS): Nutrition labeling, trans fat labeling. Journal of Food Composition and Analysis 2009; 22(Supplement): S74-S77.
- 27. Kim SY, Nayga RM, Capps O. The Effect of Food Label Use on Nutrient Intakes: An Endogenous Switching Regression Analysis. Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics 2000; 25(1): 215-31.
- 28. Vartiainen E, Laatikainen T. Isfahan Healthy Heart Program (IHHP): External Evaluation Report: National Institute for Health and Welfare, Finland [Online]. 2009; Available from: URL: http://www.ibhp.ir/IHHP/dienlay.aspx?id=165626

http://www.ihhp.ir/IHHP/display.aspx?id=165626.

How to cite this article: Mohammadifard N, Toghianifar N, Sajjadi F, Alikhasi H, Kelishadi K, Maghroun M, Esmaeili M, Ehteshami Sh, Tabaie H, Sarrafzadegan N. Improvement of dietary oil consumption following a community trial in a developing country: The role of translational research in health promotion. ARYA Atheroscler 2013; 9(1): 29-37.

Primary percutaneous coronary intervention in the Isfahan province, Iran; A situation analysis and needs assessment

Ali Reza Khosravi⁽¹⁾, <u>Mohamadhosein Hoseinabadi⁽²⁾</u>, Masoud Pourmoghaddas⁽³⁾, Shahin Shirani⁽⁴⁾, Navid Paydari⁽⁵⁾, Mahmoud Sadeghi⁽⁶⁾, Soheila Kanani⁽⁷⁾, Mahnaz Jozan⁽⁷⁾, Elham Khosravi⁽⁷⁾

Original Article

Abstract

BACKGROUND: Primary percutaneous coronary intervention (PPCI) is considered as a choice of treatment in ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI). PPCI has been performed in the Isfahan Province for several years. This study was performed to describe the situation, and determine in-hospital and early (30 days) clinical outcomes of the patients in order to provide sufficient evidence to evaluate and modify this treatment modality if necessary.

METHODS: All patients, who underwent PPCI for STEMI from July to December 2011 at Chamran and Saadi Hospitals (PPCI centers in the Isfahan Province), were included in this case series study. Premedication, angioplasty procedure, and post-procedural treatment were performed using standard protocols or techniques. All discharged patients were followed for 30 days by phone. Endpoints consisted of clinical success rate, and in-hospital and 30 day major adverse cardiac events (MACEs) (death, reinfarction, stroke, and target vessel revascularization).

RESULTS: 93 patients (83 (89.2%) at Chamran Hospital and 10 (10.8%) patients at Saadi Hospital) had PPCI. Mean Age of the patients was 59.60 ± 11.10 and M/F ratio was 3.89. From the 181 involved vessels (involved vessels/patient ratio = 1.97 ± 0.70), the treatment of 105 lesions (lesions/patient ratio = 1.13 ± 0.368) was attempted. The clinical success rate was 72%. Pain-to-door and door-to-balloon times were, respectively, 255.1 ± 221.4 and 148.9 ± 168.5 min. The reason for failure was impaired flow (n = 17 (18.3%)), failure to cross with a guidewire (n = 2 (2.2%)), suboptimal angiographic results (n = 2 (2.2%)), and death in one patient. The inhospital and 30 days MACE rates were, respectively, 8.6% and 3.2%.

CONCLUSION: Low success rate in our series could be due to prolonged pain-to-door and doorto-balloon times and lack of an established, definite protocol to regularly perform PPCI in a timely fashion. We should resolve these problems and improve our techniques in order to prevent and treat slow/no-reflow phenomenon.

Keywords: Acute Coronary Syndrome, Myocardial Infarction, Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty, Cardiogenic Shock, No-Reflow Phenomenon

Date of submission: 26 Aug 2012, Date of acceptance: 24 Nov 2012

Introduction

ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) is a dangerous manifestation of coronary artery disease (CAD) and continues to be a significant public health problem in industrialized and developing

countries.^{1,2}

The cornerstone of treatment of these patients is the rapid and effective restoration of blood flow with fibrinolytic therapy, and/or primary percutaneous coronary intervention (PPCI).³ PPCI

1- Associated Professor, Hypertension Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran 2- Interventional Cardiology, Cardiac Rehabilitation Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

³⁻ Professor, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁴⁻ Assistant Professor, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁵⁻ Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁶⁻ Infectious Disease Specialist, Babol University of Medical Sciences, Babol, Iran

⁷⁻ Hypertension Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran Correspondence to: Mohamadhosein Hoseinabadi, Email: hoseinabadi1382@yahoo.com

has been shown to be the superior strategy resulting in a markedly lower occurrence of short-term major adverse cardiac events (MACEs).⁴⁻⁹

Impaired or ceased flow in the absence of anatomical obstruction may occur after PPCIN; this can influence the prognosis negatively.^{10,11} this event known as angiographic slow/no-reflow phenomenon is recognized angiographically in 5-20% of patients undergoing PPCI for acute myocardial infarction (AMI).^{10,12,13}

A major disadvantage of PPCI is related to the availability of facility and an experienced team; PPCI is the treatment of choice for reperfusion therapy of STEMI whenever available and feasible.^{14,15} Its golden time is within 90 min of admission to the hospital (door-to-balloon time 90 min) especially when thrombolytic therapy has failed (known as rescue PCI).^{2,4,16}

In the Isfahan Province, PPCI has been performed since 2006. It was performed in Chamran Hospital for the first time, and has recently been performed in Saadi Hospital. However, after 6 years of experience of PPCI we could not find any study describing the situation, problems, and clinical outcomes of PPCI in Isfahan. Therefore, the objective of this study is to describe the situation and determine in-hospital and early (after discharge until 30 days) clinical outcomes of the patients who underwent primary or rescue PCI in the Isfahan Province. This study was done in order to provide sufficient evidence to evaluate and modify our system if necessary.

Materials and Methods

All patients who underwent primary or rescue PCI for the STEMI from July to December 2011 in the Isfahan Province (at Chamran and Saadi Hospitals) were included in this case series study.

All patients received orally 325 mg of chewable aspirin, and 600 mg of Plavix in the emergency room. After coronary angiography if the anatomy was eligible for PCI additional heparin (100 units/kg) was administered intravenously, and angioplasty procedure was performed using standard techniques.^{2,16} However, strategic planning of the procedure and device selection were dependent on the operator's discretion.

After the angioplasty, patients received 325 mg of aspirin daily, beta-blockers, and angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitors if not contraindicated. All patients (DES or BMS) received 75 mg of Plavix daily for the first month, and were suggested to continue using it for 12 months under the supervision of their physician.

Lesion types were noted according to the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association's (ACC/AHA) lesion characteristics classification.¹⁶

All Patients who were discharged alive from hospitals were eligible to be followed by a phone survey for 30 days.

Definitions: Myocardial infarction (MI) was defined as Ischemic symptoms accompanied by at least one of the following criteria: positive cardiac enzymes, electrocardiographic changes (pathologic Q wave or new ST changes), and new cardiac motion abnormality on echocardiographic or radionuclide imaging.

Coronary blood flow after PPCI is graded on a scale of 0 through 3 depending on flow Thrombolysis characteristics. In myocardial infarction (TIMI) 0 is defined as no contrast flow beyond the site of occlusion (no perfusion), TIMI 1 as contrast flow beyond the site of occlusion but failing to opacify the entire artery (penetration with minimal perfusion), TIMI 2 is defined as contrast flow beyond the site of occlusion and opacification of the entire artery but at a rate slower than normal (partial reperfusion), and TIMI 3, known as normal flow, as opacification of the entire artery at a normal rate. No-reflow is traditionally defined as TIMI grade 0 or 1, and slow flow is defined as TIMI grade 2 in this scheme.¹³

Angiographic success was defined as postprocedure TIMI flow grade 3 and a residual stenosis of less than 20%.² The procedure was considered as successful if it was angiographically successful in all attempted lesions.

Clinical success was defined as a successful procedure in the absence of in-hospital major adverse cardiac events (MACEs: death, reinfarction, stroke and target vessel revascularization (TVR)) during hospitalization.^{2,16} Reinfarction after PCI was defined as recurrent symptoms of ischemia with new electrocardiographic changes, and/or a rise in cardiac troponin more than twice the normal limits. Early MACEs were defined as the occurrence of mentioned events during the first 30 days after STEMI. TVR was defined as ischemia-driven repeat percutaneous intervention, or bypass surgery of the target vessel. Target lesion revascularization (TLR) was defined as ischemia-driven repeat percutaneous intervention, or bypass surgery for the target lesion. Other adverse events in this study included arrhythmia, congestive cardiac failure, allergy, access site complications, and bleeding.

The left ventricular ejection fraction was determined using either echocardiography, or contrast ventriculography during the procedure.

Data Collection and Management: The data were collected by specific data collection forms. Data entry was done using the forms designed in EPI InfoTM 3.3.2 (Center for Disease Control and Prevention; Atlanta, GA). Moreover, data were analyzed using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) for Windows 15.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

All the continuous data were expressed as mean \pm SD or range (min-max) and categorical data were expressed as number, and percentages. After descriptive analyses, categorical variables were compared using the chi-square test (or Fisher's exact test if required), and continuous variables by using student's t-test or Mann-Whitney test. P values of less than 0.05 were considered as statistically significant.

Results

From July to December 2011, 83 (89.2%) patients at Chamran Hospital and 10 (10.8%) patients at Saadi Hospital (93 patients in total) underwent PPCI. Table 1 describes baseline characteristics of the patients at the time of reaching the hospital. Mean age of the patients was 59.60 \pm 11.10, and M/F ratio was 3.89.

Table 2 reveals angiographic success, lesion characteristics, and treatment strategies of the patients. The interventionalists attempted to treat 105 lesions (lesions/patient ratio = 1.13 ± 0.368) of the 181 involved vessels (involved vessels/patient ratio = 1.97 ± 0.70) in our patients. In total 116 stents (62 BMS and 54 DES) were deployed in 98 lesions, and 4 lesions were treated only by balloon angioplasty. 3 lesions remained inaccessible during the PPCI.

83 of 105 lesions were treated successfully (angiographic success rate = 79.0%).

Procedural details are described in table 3. Painto-door (time from onset of symptoms to hospital admission and door-to-balloon time were 255.1 ± 221.4 and 148.9 ± 168.5 min, respectively. Their medians were 255.1 and 148.8 min, respectively.

Pain-to-door time was significantly different in primary and rescue PCI (207.9 \pm 203.9 min vs. 396.3 \pm 217.3 min, P < 0.001), but the door-to-balloon time was not (137.1 \pm 150.9 min vs. 184.7 \pm 217.3 min, P = 0.359).

Thrombectomy was used in 23 (24.7%) patients, and stents were deployed in lesions of 87 (93.5%) patients.

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of patients

Age	
Mean (years)	59.60 ± 11.10
Range (years)	33-86
Age \geq 65 years	34 (36.6)
Gender, M/F ratio	74/19
MI location	
Anterior	58 (63)
Inferior	32 (34.8)
Other	2 (2.2)
Killip class	
1	72 (77.4)
2	12 (12.9)
3	4 (4.3)
Ischemic time (pain-to-door time)	
Mean (minutes)	255.1 ± 221.4
Range (minutes)	16-720
< 2 hr	29 (31.2)
≤ 2 hr - ≤ 4 hr	21 (22.6)
\leq 4hr - < 6 hr	6 (6.5)
≤6hr - < 12 hr	30 (32.3)
Missed	7 (7.5)
Unconsciousness at admission	4 (4.3)
Cardiogenic shock at admission	9 (9.7)
Renal insufficiency(Cr > 1.5)	12 (12.9)
Smoker *	28 (30.1)
Diabetes mellitus	19 (20.4)
Hypertension [†]	24 (25.8)
Hyperlipidemia‡	18 (19.4)
Previous stroke	1 (1.1)
Previous CAD	25 (26.9)
EF	
Mean (%)	36.02 ± 11.58
Range (%)	15-60
Low EF (< 40%)	40 (43.0)

Categorical variables are expressed as n (%) and continuous variables are expressed as Mean \pm SD or range (Min-Max).

M/F: Male/Female; MI: Myocardial infarction; SBP: Systolic blood pressure; CAD: Coronary artery disease; EF: Ejection fraction

*Smoker: a person who has smoked at least 1 cigarette (or cigar, pipe) in the last month.

[†]Hypertension: Systolic blood pressure > 140 mmHg; diastolic blood pressure > 90 mmHg; or taking hypertensive drugs

#Hyperlipidemia: LDL cholesterol $\ge 130 \text{ mg/dl}$; triglycerides $\ge 150 \text{ mg/dl}$; and HDL $\le 40 \text{ mg/dl}$; or on treatment of hyperlipidemia

characteristics, and treatment strategies*	
Attempted lesions	105 (100)
Left main	1 (1.0)
LAD	58 (55.2)
D1	5 (4.8)
LCX	9 (8.6)
OM1	4 (3.8)
RCA	25 (23.8)
PDA	2 (1.9)
Ramus	1 (1.0)
Lesion characteristics	
Mean preprocedural stenosis,%	96.19 ± 7.44
Total occlusion	61 (59.9)
Proximal location	44 (41.9)
Small vessels (RVD < 3mm)	23 (21.9)
Long (>10, < 20 mm)	52 (49.5)
Diffuse ($\geq 20 \text{ mm}$)	49 (46.7)
Treatment strategy	
Predilation balloon	74 (70.5)
Stenting	98 (93.3)
Postdilation balloon	11 (10.5)
Thrombectomy	25 (23.8)
TIMI grade after procedure	
0–1	9 (8.6)
2	10 (9.5)
3	84 (80.0)
Angiographic success	83 (79.0)

angiographic

success.

lesion

Angiographic success83 (79.0)Categorical variables are expressed as n (%) and continuous

variables are expressed as mean ± SD. LAD: Left anterior descending; D1: Diagonal1; LCX: Left circumflex artery; OM1: Obtuse marginal; RCA: Right coronary artery; PDA: Posterior descending artery; BMS: Bare metal stents; DES: Drug-eluting stents; BMS+DES: Combined DES and BMS stenting in a lesion, TIMI: Thrombolysis in myocardial infarction

*Lesion-based Analysis

Table

2.

Basic

The procedure failed due to impaired flow (n = 17 (18.3%)), failure to cross with a guide wire (n = 2 (2.2%)), suboptimal angiographic results (n = 2 (2.2%)), and death during procedure in one patient (procedural success rate = 76.3\%). As mentioned above, impaired flow was the most frequent cause of failure. Slow flow (TIMI less than 3) was detected in 8 (47.1\%) and no-reflow in 9 (52.9%) cases all of whom had been treated by stenting (BMS 9 (52.9%), DES 6 (35.3%), and combined stents 2 (11.8\%)). This phenomenon was treated by intracoronary (IC) Integrilin in 12 cases (70.6%), IC epinephrine in 8 cases (47.1%), IC adenosine in 6 cases (35.3%), IABP in 3 cases (17.6%), and Nitrate in 3 cases (17.6%) in this series.

8 (8.6%) patients had MACEs during hospitalization which included 5 (5.4%) cases of inhospital death (Figure 1). Of the five patients who died, 3 (60.0%) had cardiogenic shock, 3 (60%) had impaired flow. In-hospital mortality was significantly higher in the shock group (33.3% vs. 2.5%, P < 0.001), and in the older patients (over 65 years of age: 11.8% vs. 1.7%, P < 0.05). Successful PCI decreased in-hospital mortality significantly (33.3% vs 3.4%, P < 0.05) in our series.

PPCI was clinically successful in 67 (72.0%) patients. The response rate in the follow-up was 100%, and 3 other patients developed MACEs in this period (Figure 1). In total 11 (11.8%) patients had MACEs (combined MACEs) in our study. The rate of MACEs was significantly higher in the patients with impaired flow (29.4% vs. 7.0%, P = 0.009).

All of the PPCI failures and MACEs occurred in Chamran Hospital, but due to the small sample size at Saadi Hospital we could not compare clinical outcomes of the patients in these hospitals.

Table	3.	Procedural	details*	and	complications	of
primary	per	cutaneous co	oronary in	nterve	entions	

minary percutatieous coronary intervention	15
SVD	24 (25.8)
Multivessel PCI	11 (11.8)
Primary	69 (74.2)
Rescue	24 (25.8)
Door-to-balloon time	
Mean (min)	148.9 ± 168.5
Range (min)	24-900
IABP	6 (6.5)
Arrhythmia	27 (29.0)
Procedure	
Plain old balloon angioplasty (POBA)	3 (4.3)
Guide wire cross failure	2 (2.2)
Cardiogenic shock, only IABP /	1 (1.1)
discontinue procedure for CPR	
Use of stent	87 (93.5)
Only BMS	42 (48.3)
Only DES	34 (39.1)
BMS+DES	11 (12.6)
Stent/patient ratio	1.31 ± 0.64
Procedural acute adverse events	
Impaired flow	17 (18.3)
Access site complications	7 (7.5)
Congestive cardiac failure	13 (14)
Bleeding	1 (1.1)
Procedural success rate	71 (76.3)

Categorical variables are expressed as n (%) and continuous variables are expressed as mean \pm SD.

SVD: Single vessel disease; PCI: Percutaneous coronary intervention; IABP: Intra-aortic balloon pump; PVC: Premature ventricular contraction; VF: Ventricular fibrillation; VT: Ventricular Tachycardia; CPR: Cardiopulmonary resuscitation; LAD: Left anterior descending; LCX: Left circumflex artery; RCA: Right coronary artery

*Patient Based Analysis

IIMultivessel PCI: PCI on more than one lesion in one stage



Figure 1. In-hospital and early* clinical outcome of the patients *Early clinical outcome: after discharge until 30 days; **Combined: In-hospital and early clinical outcome MACE: Major adverse cardiac events; ReMI: Repeated myocardial infarction; CVA: Cerebrovascular accident; TVR: Target vessel revascularization; TLR: Target lesion revascularization

Discussion

PPCI is considered to be a superior strategy in treatment of STEMI.^{14,15} This procedure has been carried out for our patients since 2006, but, to our knowledge it has not yet been evaluated in any research project.

Our study revealed that procedural success rate was 76.3%, in-hospital MACEs was 8.6%, and combined MACEs was 11.8%. Alidoosti et al. described their experience of 83 primary angioplasty in STEMI based on their single center registry at Tehran Heart Center during a period of 2 years (2003-2005).17 Their reported procedural success rate was 95%, both in-hospital MACEs and mortality were 8.4%, and MACEs after 9 months was 12%.17 The results of our study are in accordance with that of the study by Alidoosti et al. regarding in-hospital MACEs, but are different in terms of success rates and in-hospital mortality. In comparison with other studies, although we reported lower success rates our patients' early clinical outcomes were in accordance with international data.^{10,11,17} For instance, the in-hospital mortality, which was 5 (5.4%) cases, in our series of patients is comparable to international data, which showed in-hospital mortality of 5.2% in the second national registry of Myocardial infarction (NRMI2).18

In our study 9 patients had cardiogenic shock; 3 (33.3%) of them died, which is again in agreement with international data, which showed higher mortality in patients with cardiogenic shock (i.e.

32% in NRMI 2, 46.4% in shock registry, and 59.1% in American College of Cardiology-National Cardiovascular Data Registry (ACCNCDR).¹⁸⁻²⁰

Poor angiographic and procedural results in our series were related to the most frequent cause of failure, which was impaired flow (18.3%). Although, the mechanisms of slow-flow and no-reflow phenomenon have been debated extensively, it has been proposed that obstruction of the myocardial microcirculation is a result of distal embolization or vasospasm.¹² Moreover, it was revealed that the degree of impaired flow is associated with the duration of the preceding myocardial ischemia, infarct size, procedural variables, and patient characteristics.¹⁰

Our study revealed that pain-to-door and doorto-balloon times had an extremely wide range of almost 12, and 14.5 hours, respectively. These wide ranges, which were observed both in primary and rescue PCI, demonstrated that PPCI was not performed in a timely fashion.

In Tehran, 88% of the patients arrived at the hospital in the first 6 hours.¹⁷ 46% of our patients arrived during this time. This shows that our patients request medical help later. We think that this is a multifactorial issue (cultural, socioeconomic, political, and educational), which could be improved by intersectoral and cross-sectoral collaboration, and the contribution of all authorities of the province.

Door-to-balloon time is exclusively related to health management, and it is an important determinant of the quality of care. The door-toballoon time recommended by the American College of Cardiology (ACC)/American Heart Association (AHA) guidelines is 90 minutes.² However, achieving this time is only possible in an ideal world scenario. In developing countries financial constraints, insurance coverage problems, and delay in decision making due to lack of knowledge are the major obstacles in following door-to-balloon time recommendations. In Pakistan the median door-to-balloon time was reported to be 115 minutes with 40% of patients having PCI performed at or over 90 minutes.3 In China the median door-to-balloon time was 132 min, and only 22% of patients had PCI performed in less than 90 minutes.²¹ In Germany this time, from admission to start of PPCI, was 86 ± 42.22 In Tehran door-toballoon time was not reported.¹⁷ Solving the Insurance problems, facilitating the process of admittance, discharge, and transfer, providing wellestablished protocols and an expert team, and informing the community could improve this Index.

Conclusion

The low success rate in our series could be due to prolonged pain-to-door time; community education is necessary to decrease this type of delay.

Long door-to-balloon time could be due to lack of a definite protocol to regularly perform PPCI in a timely fashion. We should define the duty and role of different components of the process of patient admission, transfer, and treatment to reduce doorto-balloon time.

Finally, we should improve our technique, especially to prevent and treat slow/no-reflow phenomena, in order to reach a better outcome after PPCI.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

References

- 1. Libby P. Current concepts of the pathogenesis of the acute coronary syndromes. Circulation 2001; 104(3): 365-72.
- 2. Antman EM, Anbe DT, Armstrong PW, Bates ER, Green LA, Hand M, et al. ACC/AHA guidelines for the management of patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction--executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Writing Committee to Revise the 1999 Guidelines for the Management of Patients With

Acute Myocardial Infarction). Circulation 2004; 110(5): 588-636.

- **3.** Shaikh AH, Siddiqui MS, Hanif B, Malik F, Hasan K, Adhi F. Outcomes of primary percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) in a tertiary care cardiac centre. J Pak Med Assoc 2009; 59(7): 426-9.
- **4.** Raff GL, O'Neill WW. Interventional therapy of the acute coronary syndromes. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 2002; 44(6): 455-68.
- **5.** Keeley EC, Boura JA, Grines CL. Primary angioplasty versus intravenous thrombolytic therapy for acute myocardial infarction: a quantitative review of 23 randomised trials. Lancet 2003; 361(9351): 13-20.
- **6.** Zijlstra F, de Boer MJ, Hoorntje JC, Reiffers S, Reiber JH, Suryapranata H. A comparison of immediate coronary angioplasty with intravenous streptokinase in acute myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 1993; 328(10): 680-4.
- Grines CL, Browne KF, Marco J, Rothbaum D, Stone GW, O'Keefe J, et al. A comparison of immediate angioplasty with thrombolytic therapy for acute myocardial infarction. The Primary Angioplasty in Myocardial Infarction Study Group. N Engl J Med 1993; 328(10): 673-9.
- **8.** Stone GW, Grines CL, Rothbaum D, Browne KF, O'Keefe J, Overlie PA, et al. Analysis of the relative costs and effectiveness of primary angioplasty versus tissue-type plasminogen activator: the Primary Angioplasty in Myocardial Infarction (PAMI) trial. The PAMI Trial Investigators. J Am Coll Cardiol 1997; 29(5): 901-7.
- **9.** Reeder GS, Bailey KR, Gersh BJ, Holmes DR, Christianson J, Gibbons RJ. Cost comparison of immediate angioplasty versus thrombolysis followed by conservative therapy for acute myocardial infarction: a randomized prospective trial. Mayo Coronary Care Unit and Catheterization Laboratory Groups. Mayo Clin Proc 1994; 69(1): 5-12.
- **10.** Jaffe R, Charron T, Puley G, Dick A, Strauss BH. Microvascular obstruction and the no-reflow phenomenon after percutaneous coronary intervention. Circulation 2008; 117(24): 3152-6.
- **11.** Hillegass WB, Dean NA, Liao L, Rhinehart RG, Myers PR. Treatment of no-reflow and impaired flow with the nitric oxide donor nitroprusside following percutaneous coronary interventions: initial human clinical experience. J Am Coll Cardiol 2001; 37(5): 1335-43.
- **12.** Yip HK, Chen MC, Chang HW, Hang CL, Hsieh YK, Fang CY, et al. Angiographic morphologic features of infarct-related arteries and timely reperfusion in acute myocardial infarction: predictors of slow-flow and no-reflow phenomenon. Chest 2002; 122(4): 1322-32.

- **13.** Prasad S, Meredith IT. Current Approach to Slow Flow and No-Reflow. Cardiac Interventions Today 2008; 43-51.
- 14. Simes RJ, Topol EJ, Holmes DR, White HD, Rutsch WR, Vahanian A, et al. Link between the angiographic substudy and mortality outcomes in a large randomized trial of myocardial reperfusion. Importance of early and complete infarct artery reperfusion. GUSTO-I Investigators. Circulation 1995; 91(7): 1923-8.
- **15.** Ross AM, Coyne KS, Moreyra E, Reiner JS, Greenhouse SW, Walker PL, et al. Extended mortality benefit of early postinfarction reperfusion. GUSTO-I Angiographic Investigators. Global Utilization of Streptokinase and Tissue Plasminogen Activator for Occluded Coronary Arteries Trial. Circulation 1998; 97(16): 1549-56.
- 16. Smith SC, Feldman TE, Hirshfeld JW, Jacobs AK, Kern MJ, King SB, III, et al. ACC/AHA/SCAI 2005 Guideline Update for Percutaneous Coronary Intervention-Summary Article: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (ACC/AHA/SCAI Writing Committee to Update the 2001 Guidelines for Percutaneous Coronary Intervention). J Am Coll Cardiol 2006; 47(1): 216-35.
- **17.** Alidoosti M, Salarifar M, Hajizeinali A, Kassaian SE, Kasemisaleh D, Goodarzynejad H. Outcomes of primary percutaneous coronary intervention in acute myocardial infarction at Tehran Heart Center. Med Princ Pract 2007; 16(5): 333-8.
- **18.** Tiefenbrunn AJ, Chandra NC, French WJ, Gore JM, Rogers WJ. Clinical experience with primary

percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty compared with alteplase (recombinant tissue-type plasminogen activator) in patients with acute myocardial infarction: a report from the Second National Registry of Myocardial Infarction (NRMI-2). J Am Coll Cardiol 1998; 31(6): 1240-5.

- 19. Webb JG, Sanborn TA, Sleeper LA, Carere RG, Buller CE, Slater JN, et al. Percutaneous coronary intervention for cardiogenic shock in the SHOCK Trial Registry. Am Heart J 2001; 141(6): 964-70.
- **20.** Klein LW, Shaw RE, Krone RJ, Brindis RG, Anderson HV, Block PC, et al. Mortality after emergent percutaneous coronary intervention in cardiogenic shock secondary to acute myocardial infarction and usefulness of a mortality prediction model. Am J Cardiol 2005; 96(1): 35-41.
- **21.** Zhang SY, Hu DY, Sun YH, Yang JG. Current management of patients with ST elevation myocardial infarction in Metropolitan Beijing, China. Clin Invest Med 2008; 31(4): E189-E197.
- **22.** Zeymer U, Schroder R, Machnig T, Neuhaus KL. Primary percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty accelerates early myocardial reperfusion compared to thrombolytic therapy in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Am Heart J 2003; 146(4): 686-91.

How to cite this article: Khosravi AR, Hoseinabadi M, Pourmoghaddas M, Shirani Sh, Paydari N, Sadeghi M, Kanani S, Jozan M, Khosravi E. Primary percutaneous coronary intervention in the Isfahan province, Iran; A situation analysis and needs assessment. ARYA Atheroscler 2013; 9(1): 38-44.

Social norms of cigarette and hookah smokers in Iranian universities

<u>Hamidreza Roohafza</u>⁽¹⁾, Masoumeh Sadeghi⁽²⁾, Maryam Shahnam⁽³⁾, Pedram Shokouh⁽³⁾, Soheila Teimori⁽³⁾, Afshin Amirpour⁽⁴⁾, Nizal Sarrafzadegan⁽⁵⁾

Original Article

BACKGROUND: First experiences of tobacco use usually occur in adolescence. The recognition of social norms leading to youth smoking is hence necessary. We tried to assess the social norms among Iranian young cigarette and hookah smokers.

METHODS: This cross-sectional study was conducted on 451 girls and 361 boys aging 20-25 years old who entered Isfahan and Kashan Universities (Iran) in 2007. Demographic factors (age, gender, and age at smoking onset) cigarette and hookah smoking status, having a smoking father or smoking friends and four related social norms were recorded. Binary logistic regression analysis was used to separately determine associations between hookah and cigarette smoking and the four social norm variables.

RESULTS: Cigarette and hookah smokers had significant differences with nonsmokers in two social norms: "Perceived smoking by important characters" [odds ratio (OR) = 1.35 in cigarette smokers and 1.58 in hookah smokers; P < 0.001] and "smoking makes gatherings friendly" (OR = 3.62 in cigarette smokers and 6.16 in hookah smokers; P < 0.001). Furthermore, cigarette and hookah smoking were significantly associated with having smoking friends.

CONCLUSION: Highlighting the social norms leading to cigarette and hookah smoking may help policy makers develop comprehensive interventions to prevent smoking among adolescents.

Keywords: Cigarette, Hookah, Smoking, Social Norm

Date of submission: 15 Oct 2012, Date of acceptance: 15 Dec 2012

Introduction

Abstract

First experiences of smoking usually occur in adolescence and most adolescent smokers continue smoking to adulthood. Due to the deleterious effects of smoking, exposure to tobacco smoke from adolescence increases related morbidity and mortality and leads to premature death.¹ Accordingly, every effort to prevent or decrease the prevalence of smoking should consider this age group. In fact, clarifying the determinants of smoking initiation in the youth is a necessity for effective tobacco control and prevention measures.

In spite of the recent decline in the prevalence of smoking among the youth in developed countries, the problem has become more prevalent in many developing countries.² In Iran, the prevalence of smoking has increased from 12.6% in 2000 to 14.3% in 2004.^{3,4} A survey on 4361 adolescents living in Tehran (Iran) indicated that 30.7% of boys and 20.6% of girls had smoked hookah.⁵

Research has found the process of cigarette smoking to depend on underlying social and psychological factors such as peer smoking and approval,⁶ prevalence estimates of smoking among youth and adults,6 availability,7 parental characteristics, smoking, and approval,8,9 attitudes,10 family environment, and peer pressure.8 In other words, young people tend to follow the beliefs and attitudes of the group to which they belong or people they admire. According to the few studies on social correlates of hookah smoking, the smokers consider it as a pleasurable social hobby promoting

1- Assistant Professor, Head of Tobacco Control Unit, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

²⁻ Associate Professor, Cardiac Rehabilitation Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

³⁻ Research Assistant, Tobacco Control Unit, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁴⁻ Interventional Cardiologist, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁵⁻ Professor, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran Correspondence to: Hamidreza Roohafza, Email: roohafza@crc.mui.ac.ir

a sense of togetherness. They view it a relatively harmless leisure time activity.¹¹ Apparently, the attitudes of family and society are more permissive regarding hookah smoking than about any other kind of smoking.¹²

The term "social norms" is a broad term that explains the underlying social factors for many of investigated determinants. It extends from family beliefs to social environments such as school and society. Cigarettes are the most common form of tobacco products in many parts of the world including Iran.³ In the recent decade, however, the traditional hookah smoking culture has become increasingly popular especially among the youth of Iran and its neighboring countries. Little evidence exists about social norms involved in hookah smoking and its similarities or differences with cigarette smoking particularly among the youth. Social determinants of hookah smoking will undoubtedly differ from those of cigarette smoking due to traditional and cultural backgrounds. This study aimed to compare social norms related to smoking behavior among young cigarette and hookah smokers.

Materials and Methods

This cross-sectional study included all 20-25 yearold students of Isfahan and Kashan Universities (Iran) during 2007. Isfahan and Kashan Universities are the first and second largest universities in Isfahan Province, central Iran. These universities have different majors such as health, science, law, and humanities sciences. Informed consents were obtained from eligible subjects after full explanation of the study. Approvals were obtained from the ethics committee of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences for performing the research. The participants attended a 30-minute interview in which trained health professionals recorded their sociodemographic characteristics, smoking behavior, and attitudes and perceived social norms related to smoking. The questionnaires were completed anonymously and no personally identifiable information was collected.

Sociodemographic characteristics such as age and gender were asked to characterize the sample. The participants were also asked about the age of smoking (either cigarette or hookah) onset and whether there is a smoker in their family. Smoking behavior was assessed by asking "Do you currently smoke tobacco products such as cigarettes or hookah?". Positive answers were followed by another question: "What type(s) of tobacco product(s) do you currently smoke?". The answers could be only cigarettes, only hookah, or both. Those who smoked both hookah and cigarettes were asked "What type of tobacco product do you mainly smoke?". Subjects who did not smoke at the time of the study were categorized as nonsmokers. Students who smoked cigarettes alone or more frequently were categorized as cigarette smokers and those who smoked hookah alone or more frequently were categorized as hookah smokers.

Four aspects of perceived social norms of smoking were measured: (1) perceived smoking of important characters, (2) belief that smoking makes the gatherings friendly, (3) perception that adults disapprove of youth smoking, and (4) the belief that anti-smoking campaigns are disregarded in the community. Cigarette smokers and hookah smokers offered their views toward the tobacco product they smoked mainly and nonsmokers reported their views on both cigarettes and hookah. The participants were asked what they thought about smoking doctors, nurses, teachers, athletes, actors/actresses, and women. They could respond as "The majority of them smoke and this is a personal affair", "He or she should not smoke and few people in this job smoke", and "I have no idea". Respondents with missing data on more than two out of six items were excluded.

The scores of items were summed to create a range of 4 to 12 (Cronbach's alpha = 0.86 for smoking cigarettes and 0.85 for smoking hookah). The participants were also asked if they agreed or disagreed with the statement "Smoking cigarettes/hookah makes the gatherings friendly." or had no idea about it. The subjects could agree or disagree with or have no idea about the perception that adults disapprove youth smoking. In order to evaluate the idea of the participants about antismoking campaigns, the statement "The present prevalence of tobacco products is due to the fact that anti-smoking campaigns are not working properly at community level." Was read to them and they were asked if they agreed, disagreed, or had no idea. Finally, the students had to clarify if their fathers or friends smoked.

Statistical analysis

Data was analyzed using SPSS for Windows 15.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Continuous variables are presented as means while qualitative variables are presented as absolute and relative frequencies. Differences between cigarette smokers and none smokers as well as hookah smokers and none smokers were detected with t-test and χ^2 tests.

Binary logistic regression analysis was used to find associations between cigarette and hookah smoking and four social norm variables and peer and father smoking. The stepwise approach was selected for regression model and two unique models were created for cigarette and hookah smoking.

Independent variables included four aspects of perceived social norms, peer and father smoking, and demographic characteristics (age and gender). Dependent variables were cigarette and hookah smoking in two separate models. P values were based on two-sided tests and were compared to a significance level of 5%.

Results

The sample consisted of 451 girls and 361 boys with the mean age of 21.50 ± 1.04 and 21.80 ± 1.32 years old, respectively. While 71% of the students had never smoked, 9.5% were cigarette smokers and 19.5% were hookah smokers. The mean age of smoking onset was 16.32 \pm 3.18 years old in cigarette smokers and 16.38 \pm 3.78 years old in hookah smokers. In addition, more than 50% of hookah smokers and approximately 40% of cigarette smokers had smoking friends. Further details of the subjects are shown in table 1.

The response rate of the participants was 95%. The mean response for perceiving cigarette smoking by important characters was 7.45 ± 1.72 among cigarette smokers and 6.24 ± 1.77 in nonsmokers. Also, perceived hookah smoking by important characters was 7.58 ± 2.17 among hookah smokers and 5.92 ± 1.45 in nonsmokers. Cigarette and hookah smokers and nonsmokers were significantly different in this regard.

Of cigarette smokers, 75.3% believed that smoking cigarettes makes gatherings friendlier. Hookah smoking was believed to have the same function in the view of 88.4% of hookah smokers. Again, the two groups of smokers were significantly different with nonsmokers. On the other hand, 72.7% of cigarette smokers and 76.3% of hookah smokers believed that adults disapprove of youth smoking. Anti-smoking campaigns were considered ineffective at community level by 83.1% of cigarette smokers and 89.1% of hookah smokers. The groups did not have significant differences in the two latter factors. The four social norms had low correlations with each other ($0.21 \le r \le 0.35$) (Table 1).

Personal characteristics	Cigarette smokers (n = 77)	Nonsmokers (n = 579)	Hookah smokers (n = 156)
Gender (male)	66 (85.0)*	191 (32.0)	104 (66.0)**
Age (years)	$22.00 \pm 1.35*$	21.54 ± 1.03	$22.34 \pm 1.57 **$
Age at first cigarette smoking†	16.32 ± 3.18	-	-
Age at first hookah smoking†	-	-	16.38 ± 3.78
Family/peer smoking			
Father smokes	10 (12.9)*	44 (7.6)	14 (10.2)**
Friends smoke	31 (40.2)*	88 (15.2)	83 (53.2)**
Social norms			
Perceived cigarette smoking by important characters†	$7.45 \pm 1.72*$	6.24 ± 1.77	-
Perceived hookah smoking by important characters†	-	5.92 ± 1.45	$7.58 \pm 2.17 **$
Belief that cigarette smoking makes gatherings friendly	58 (75.3)*	33 (5.7)	-
Belief that hookah smoking makes gatherings friendly	-	224 (38.7)	138 (88.4)**
Perceived adults' disapproval of youth smoking cigarettes	56 (72.7)%	463 (80.0)	-
Perceived adults' disapproval of youth smoking hookah	-	494 (85.3)	119 (76.3)
Belief that anti-cigarette smoking campaigns are	64 (83.1)	424 (73.2)	-
disregarded in the community			
Belief that anti-hookah smoking campaigns are disregarded in the community	-	407 (70.3)	139 (89.1)

Values are reported as n (%) unless expressed otherwise.

†Mean± SD

* Significant differences between cigarette smokers and nonsmokers (P < 0.05)

** Significant differences between hookah smokers and nonsmokers (P < 0.05)

	Cigarette smoking OR (95% CI)	Hookah smoking OR (95% CI)
Personal characteristics		
Gender (male)	12.2 (6.60-21.27)*	7.90 (4.35-14.25)*
Age	1.59 (1.11- 3.29)**	0.92 (0.78-1.09)
Family/peer smoking		
Father smokes	1.21 (1.03-3.22)**	1.25 (1.04-1.70)**
Friends smoke	10.68 (3.15-36.06)*	12.09 (4.12-35.44)*
Social norms		
Perceived smoking by important characters	1.35 (1.05-2.70)*	1.58 (1.09-2.27)*
Belief that smoking makes gatherings friendly	3.62 (2.46-12.51)*	6.16 (2.37-9.01)*
Perceived adults' disapproval of youth smoking	0.55 (0.12-2.45)	0.63 (0.15-2.75)
Belief that anti-smoking campaigns are disregarded in the community	1.70 (0.47-6.09)	2.24 (0.47-8.45)
* P < 0.001 ** P < 0.01		

Table 2. Odds ratio (OR) and 95% confidence interval (CI) of correlates of smoking (both cigarette and hookah smoking)

The two multivariate models predicting smoking are presented in table 2. At first, four social norm variables were simultaneously entered in cigarette smoking model and the results were statistically significant, consistent with the bivariate associations explained above (data not shown). These significant relationships were maintained for "perceived smoking by important characters" and "smoking makes the gathering friendly" in cigarette smokers when demographic characteristics were added to the model. In addition, by inserting father and peer smoking to the model, the odds ratios for the two mentioned scales among the cigarette smokers were 1.35 and 3.62, respectively.

Likewise, the four social norm variables were simultaneously entered in hookah smoking model and the results were statistically significant. By entering demographic characteristics and father and peer smoking, the odds ratios were significant for the above-mentioned scales, too (1.58 for "perceived smoking by important characters" and 6.16 for "smoking makes the gatherings friendly").

Discussion

In this study, four social norm variables were assessed. Cigarette and hookah smokers were significantly different with nonsmokers in "perceived smoking by important characters" and "smoking makes gatherings friendly". Moreover, odds ratio was higher in hookah smokers than in cigarette smokers. Both cigarette and hookah smoking were significantly associated with having smoking friends. Odds ratio of this factor was far higher than having a smoking father.

Several studies on the roles of social norms on high risk behaviors such as tobacco use among the

youth have indicated that perceiving smoking by significant others and friends as a social value can be a strong predictor of tobacco use.¹³ In fact, the youth may mimic the smoking behavior of significant others and acquire the habit of tobacco use.14 In the current study, smoking by doctors, nurses, or teachers as intelligent individuals, by athletes and actors as role models, and by women who are expected not to smoke could be imitated by the youth. Generally, role models are more widely followed in eastern societies than in western societies. Hence, mimicking persons who are publicly respected or shown in mass media can greatly influence the increased prevalence of cigarette and hookah smoking. Hookah smoking receives special attention in Middle East countries including Iran. As a result, the youths have a better perception of hookah smoking and they tend to smoke hookah much more than cigarettes. Consistent results were found in the present study.

Smoking behaviors are also affected by other social contexts such as family, school, and peer groups. According to a review article in 2003, while some studies have reported peer groups to have stronger effects than families on initiation of smoking, some others consider the role of parents to be greater.¹⁵ Based on the odds ratios calculated in the current study, cigarette and hookah smoking are more influenced by smoking of friends than having a smoking father. This difference was more significant in case of hookah smoking. Iran is a developing country which has faced extensive and rapid social changes in recent decades. Iranian youth and adolescents are thus totally different from their parents and peers can affect each other more. In other words, hookah smoking is seen as a social activity in which everyone can participate and have an enjoyable time. Hookah smoking can gather people in public places such as coffee shops and tea houses and provide a sense of closeness through using a shared hookah.¹⁶ A study on Arab-American subjects reported similar results about tobacco, and particularly hookah, use.¹⁷

According to our findings, Iranian females are less likely to smoke cigarettes or hookah. Although the same is true in many countries in the Middle East, recent studies in this region have shown the increased prevalence of smoking, especially hookah smoking, among women.^{11,18} In general, hookah smoking is more positively perceived than other methods of tobacco use. Hookah users, especially women, believe that it looks traditional, familiar, social, and attractive. Therefore, hookah smoking may be perceived as a social norm in the Middle East especially among women.^{19,20}

The present study had some limitations. First, the results are relational and not causal. Therefore, it cannot be concluded whether social norms are causes or results of youth smoking. Moreover, this study relied exclusively on questionnaires to assess social norms and smoking. On the other hand, our findings cannot be generalized as our sample was restricted to students in Isfahan and Kashan Universities (Iran). Finally, individual traits influencing youth smoking was not considered in this study.

Conclusion

The results of this study indicated that social norms are significantly different in hookah and cigarette smokers. Among hookah smokers, "perceived smoking by important characters" and "smoking makes gatherings friendly" were more effective than among cigarette smokers. In addition, smoking friends had a greater influence than smoking fathers. By highlighting the social norms related to cigarette and hookah smoking, this study may help policy makers develop comprehensive interventions to prevent smoking among adolescents.

Acknowledgements

This research was funded and supported by the Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center. We would like to thank Dr. Mohammad Talaei, Dr Nafiseh Toghianifar, Nahid Shirani, Mansoureh Boshtam, and Imandokht Golshadi who helped us in conducting this study. We are also indebted to Hasti Roohafza for her kind cooperation in drafting this manuscript.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

References

- D'Amico EJ, McCarthy DM. Escalation and initiation of younger adolescents' substance use: the impact of perceived peer use. J Adolesc Health 2006; 39(4): 481-7.
- 2. World Health Organization, Research for International Tobacco Control. WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic? Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2008.
- **3.** Kelishadi R, Ardalan G, Gheiratmand R, Majdzadeh R, Delavari A, Heshmat R, et al. Smoking behavior and its influencing factors in a national-representative sample of Iranian adolescents: CASPIAN study. Prev Med 2006; 42(6): 423-6.
- Sarraf-Zadegan N, Boshtam M, Shahrokhi S, Naderi GA, Asgary S, Shahparian M, et al. Tobacco use among Iranian men, women and adolescents. Eur J Public Health 2004; 14(1): 76-8.
- **5.** Momenan AA, Sarbandizaboli F, Etemadi A, Azizi F. Pattern of hookah use among intermediate and high school students: a cross-sectional study in Tehran, Iran. Payesh 2007; 6(2): 135-44.
- Bisset S, Markham WA, Aveyard P. School culture as an influencing factor on youth substance use. J Epidemiol Community Health 2007; 61(6): 485-90.
- Molyneux A, Lewis S, Antoniak M, Hubbard R, McNeill A, Godfrey C, et al. Is smoking a communicable disease? Effect of exposure to ever smokers in school tutor groups on the risk of incident smoking in the first year of secondary school. Tob Control 2002; 11(3): 241-5.
- **8.** Engels RC, Willemsen M. Communication about smoking in Dutch families: associations between anti-smoking socialization and adolescent smoking-related cognitions. Health Educ Res 2004; 19(3): 227-38.
- **9.** Komro KA, McCarty MC, Forster JL, Blaine TM, Chen V. Parental, family, and home characteristics associated with cigarette smoking among adolescents. Am J Health Promot 2003; 17(5): 291-9.
- **10.** Piko B. Smoking in adolescence do attitudes matter? Addict Behav 2001; 26(2): 201-17.
- **11.** Tamim H, Terro A, Kassem H, Ghazi A, Khamis TA, Hay MM, et al. Tobacco use by university students, Lebanon, 2001. Addiction 2003; 98(7): 933-9.
- **12.** Maziak W, Eissenberg T, Rastam S, Hammal F, Asfar T, Bachir ME, et al. Beliefs and attitudes related to narghile (waterpipe) smoking among university students in Syria. Ann Epidemiol 2004; 14(9): 646-54.

- **13.** Iannotti RJ, Bush PJ. Perceived vs. actual friends' use of alcohol, cigarettes, marijuana, and cocaine: Which has the most influence? Journal of Youth and Adolescence 1992; 21(3): 375-89.
- **14.** Botvin GJ, Botvin EM, Baker E, Dusenbury L, Goldberg CJ. The false consensus effect: predicting adolescents' tobacco use from normative expectations. Psychol Rep 1992; 70(1): 171-8.
- **15.** Kobus K. Peers and adolescent smoking. Addiction 2003; 98 (Suppl 1): 37-55.
- **16.** Hammal F, Mock J, Ward KD, Eissenberg T, Maziak W. A pleasure among friends: how narghile (waterpipe) smoking differs from cigarette smoking in Syria. Tob Control 2008; 17(2): e3.
- Rice VH, Templin T, Kulwicki A. Arab-American adolescent tobacco use: four pilot studies. Prev Med 2003; 37(5): 492-8.
- **18.** Fakhfakh R, Hsairi M, Maalej M, Achour N, Nacef T. Tobacco use in Tunisia: behaviour and

awareness. Bull World Health Organ 2002; 80(5): 350-6.

- **19.** Maziak W, Rastam S, Eissenberg T, Asfar T, Hammal F, Bachir ME, et al. Gender and smoking status-based analysis of views regarding waterpipe and cigarette smoking in Aleppo, Syria. Prev Med 2004; 38(4): 479-84.
- **20.** Chaaya M, Awwad J, Campbell OM, Sibai A, Kaddour A. Demographic and psychosocial profile of smoking among pregnant women in Lebanon: public health implications. Matern Child Health J 2003; 7(3): 179-86.

How to cite this article: Roohafza H, Sadeghi M, Shahnam M, Shokouh P, Teimori S, Amirpour A, Sarrafzadegan N. **Social norms of cigarette and hookah smokers in Iranian universities.** ARYA Atheroscler 2013; 9(1): 45-50. Physical activity, sex, and socioeconomic status: A population based study

Mohammad Talaei⁽¹⁾, <u>Katayoun Rabiei</u>⁽¹⁾, Zahra Talaei⁽²⁾, Negar Amiri⁽³⁾, Behzad Zolfaghari⁽⁴⁾, Payam Kabiri⁽⁵⁾, Nizal Sarrafzadegan⁽⁶⁾

Original Article

Abstract

BACKGROUND: The purpose of the present study was to investigate physical activity by socioeconomic status (SES) and sex in an Iranian adult population.

METHODS: In a cross-sectional study, 6622 adults, who participated in the Isfahan Healthy Heart program (IHHP) surveys in 2004 and 2005 and were living in urban areas, were studied. Daily leisure time, household, occupational, and transportation physical activity, and total physical activity were calculated and compared in 3 socioeconomic status groups classified by the two-step cluster analysis procedure.

RESULTS: Statistically significant variations were found in all physical activity levels, except transportation, by sex. Men were more active than women in all fields, except household physical activity. Leisure time physical activity of men and women were significantly higher in higher SES levels. There was an opposite correlation between SES and total physical activity in men.

CONCLUSION: Considering the importance of physical activity as a component of a healthy lifestyle, differences among varying socioeconomic status and sex must be considered while planning for healthy lifestyle programs. Women with low SES, in particular, may need more attention.

Keywords: Physical Activity, Socioeconomic Status, Leisure Time, Gender, Cluster Analysis

Date of submission: 15 Oct 2012, Date of acceptance: 22 Dec 2012

Introduction

There is an international concern about the impact of low levels of physical activity on health.¹ The association between physical activity and health status is well known; active individuals present a lower likelihood of developing several chronic diseases, and physical activity or exercise has been the most common intervention for prevention or management of disability.²

Physical activity prevents cardiovascular disease (CVD) by decreasing blood pressure, plasma fibrinogen, viscosity, improvements in glucose metabolism, and blood lipid levels.^{3.7} Low levels of physical activity are associated with an increased risk of stroke.⁸ It was shown that occupational physical activity reduces woman's risk of breast cancer.⁹ A

sedentary life style is a major risk factor for type 2 diabetes.¹⁰ Nonetheless, alarming rates of sedentarism are observed in studies on developed and developing countries.¹¹⁻¹³

In spite of several current initiatives aimed at increasing the activity level of people, socioeconomic differences in physical activity are complex.¹⁴ Some studies showed that in men, overall activity levels are the lowest in those with managerial and professional jobs, while the pattern in women is reversed. Overall activity levels vary by household income in men, being the highest among those with mid-range household incomes and lowest at both extremes of the income distribution but no pattern is apparent in women.¹⁵ Previous studies suggested that males are more active than

ARYA Atheroscler 2013; Volume 9, Issue 1 51

¹⁻ General Practitioner, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

²⁻ Resident, Isfahan Medical Student Research Committee, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

³⁻ Resident, Isfahan Medical Student Research Committee, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran AND Shahrekord University of Medical Sciences, Shahrekord, Iran

⁴⁻ Associate Professor, Department of Pharmacognosia, School of Pharmacy, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁵⁻ Epidemiologist, Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, School of Public Health, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

⁶⁻ Professor, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran Correspondence to: Katayoun Rabiei, Email: k_rabiei@crc.mui.ac.ir

females in leisure-time, although not all were consistent.¹⁶ Low leisure-time physical activity has been found to be strongly associated with low income, low education, and low socioeconomic status.¹⁷⁻¹⁹ On the other hand, in the few studies that considered physical activity domains other than leisure-time physical activity, no gender differences were observed.²⁰ The majority of these studies were carried out in high-income countries, where activity patterns are different from those observed within low and middle-income countries. In this study we examined different types of physical activity by socioeconomic status in a population of Iranian men and women.

Materials and Methods

This study was performed as part of annual surveys of the Isfahan Healthy Heart Program (IHHP), collecting two consecutive cross-sectional data from 2004 and 2005. IHHP is a community based, quasiexperimental demonstration program with the aim prevention and healthy of CVD lifestyle promotion.^{21,22} After the baseline survey on adults aged 18 years and over residing in three cities in central Iran (Isfahan, Najaf-Abad, and Arak, with nearly similar socio-demographic situations), the IHHP interventions began in late 2001 and continued for 5 years. In all surveys, participants were selected by multistage cluster random sampling method according to the regional population distribution. Full explanation and sampling details were previously given.²¹ Due to essential differences in the lifestyle of rural and urban areas, this study focused on 6622 participants in the urban population. The response rates were 91.6% and 93.2% in 2004 and 2005, respectively. Nonrespondents were substituted to reach original sample size. Written informed consents were obtained from all participants. Ethical approval was obtained from the Ethics Committee of Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Centre (ICRC), a WHO collaborating centre.

The validity of the questionnaire was confirmed by three experts. The reliability of the questionnaire was 0.73 (Cronbach's Alpha). Based on the existing categorizations and the purpose of each activity done during the day, physical activities are divided into four main fields (leisure time, occupational, household, and transportation physical activities).²³ Particular items in each field were selected based on the usual Iranian life style.

During a structured interview, based on a researcher made questionnaire, the above items in

the everyday life of the participants were asked. The duration of activities in each session and their frequency per week were also asked.

The amount of each physical activity was calculated by multiplying its intensity (in the unit of metabolic equivalent of the task (Met)) and duration (minutes) per day.²³

MET minutes -	times/week*	^c duration/times Motel	
lime r - minutes/day =		7	

One MET is reflective of energy expenditure during rest (1 metabolic unit = oxygen consumption of 3.5 mL/min kg-1).²⁴ To obtain each field's value, the amounts of physical activities in items related to each field were added together.

Indicators of socioeconomic status (SES), including income, education level, and occupation type, were determined based on a combination of NS-SEC model (National Statistics Socio-Economic Classification), other similar studies, and WHO recommendation on measuring socioeconomic inequalities in health.²⁵⁻²⁷ Dependency ratio, an indicator used in population studies to measure the portion of the population that is economically dependent on the active age group, was added as the fourth factor. It was calculated by the number of those aged under 18 or over 65 being divided by the number of those aged 18 to 64.

Reported jobs were categorized into four groups; namely upper white-collar employees, lower white-collar employees, manual workers, and self-employed persons.²⁸ The unemployed, retired, and housewife groups were added to the mentioned pattern. Education level was defined as illiterate, primary school, guidance school, high school, associate or bachelor degree, and master's degree or higher. Income was reported in Iranian currency unit (RIALs), and as table 1 shows it was categorized into 4 groups.

Statistical analysis

Data entry was done using EPI info[™]. All data were analyzed by SPSS for Windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA; version 15). Two-step cluster analysis procedure was done to explore SES grouping of participants using income, education, and occupation as categorical variables, and dependency ratio as continuous variable. This procedure seeks to identify homogeneous subgroups of cases in a population. Number of clusters was limited to three (high, moderate, and low SES), and analysis was performed separately for each gender. To compare various components of physical activity among the three SES groups, ANOVA and Tukey's post-hoc test were used. Student's t-test was used to compare between men and women. Spearman correlation was used to determine the relationship of physical activity with age. In order to include age as an important related factor, multiple regression analysis was carried out using sex and age as covariates. The averages are reported as mean \pm standard deviation. For all analyses, statistical significance was assessed at a level of 0.05 (2-tailed).

Results

The mean age of the 6622 participants in the survey was 45.2 ± 17.2 years. 3401 (51.3%) of the participants were women. Table 1 describes the distribution of SES indicators; the SES levels (three different clusters produced by cluster analysis) were identified based on them. SES levels (high, moderate, and low) were attributed to clusters of people based on the distribution of indicators. Occupational factors were overlapped between low SES and moderate SES in both genders, but other factors perfectly differentiated SES levels. Income, occupation, and education were all used to significantly determine clusters. However, dependency ratio was statistically significant for high SES in women, and both high SES and moderate SES in men. 353 (10.4%) men and 300 (9.3%) women were excluded by cluster analysis.

The mean age of the men did not differ significantly between different SES groups, nor did that of the women. No important relationships were found between physical activity and age in various fields. The most significant correlation was shown to be between age and both Leisure time physical activity (r = -0.25, P < 0.001), and total physical activity (r = -0.23, P < 0.001) in women. In men, maximum correlation was between age and total physical activity (r = -0.27, P < 0.001). Table 2 shows the sex separated differences in various fields of physical activity among three defined socioeconomic status levels; low socioeconomic status (LSES), moderate socioeconomic status (MSES), and high socioeconomic status (HSES).

Leisure time Physical Activity

The average amount of leisure time physical activity (MET - minutes per day) was 147.6 \pm 289.3 (Median: 62.1). It was significantly higher in men than women (198.6 \pm 355.9 vs. 99.4 \pm 198.6, P < 0.001; Median: 90 vs. 45, respectively). In women the estimated amount of MET - minutes in leisure time physical activity was significantly higher for HSES participants than MSES, and also higher for HSES in comparison with LSES (Figure 1). In men the estimated amount of leisure time physical activity was also greater for HSES participants than MSES as well as HSES and LSES. The age and sex adjusted model yielded a significant regression coefficient for SES level (B = 11.5, R2 = 0.046, P = 0.03).

Occupational Physical Activity

Mean occupational physical activity for 2433 employed (36.7%)participants of was 635.1 ± 510.5 . They consist of 2196 (68.1%) men and 237 (6.9%) women. Men had more occupational physical activity than women $(659.4 \pm 520.5 \text{ vs. } 427 \pm 353.5, \text{ P} < 0.001).$ According to high frequency of housewives in women of MSES, no occupational physical activity was reported in this level. There was no significant difference between occupational physical activity of women of LSES and HSES (Table 2). In spite of the results in women, occupational physical activity was less in HSES men than MSES men, and also than LSES men. The age and sex adjusted model yielded a significant regression coefficient for SES level (B = -68.3, R2 = 0.035, P < 0.001).

Household Physical Activity

Household physical activity was reported by 4305 (65%) participants with the average amount of 360.8 \pm 307.9. Recorded household physical activity was higher in 3390 (99.6%) women than 915 (28.4%) men (421.1 \pm 296.1, 137.2 \pm 240.5, respectively), and the difference was significant. In women, the values of this field in all three levels of SES were significantly different (P < 0.001) (Table 2). However household physical activity was higher in MSES than HSES and LSES; it was lower in HSES than LSES. No significant differences were found between various SES levels of men. The age and sex adjusted model yielded a significant regression coefficient for SES level (B = -38.3, R2 = 0.169, P < 0.001).

Transportation Physical Activity

The mean of transportation physical activity was 63.8 ± 120 (Median: 25.7) MET - minutes in the study sample. There was higher transportation physical activity in men than women (84.5 ± 154.4 vs. 44.21 ± 68.3 ; Median: 38.5 vs. 25.7); the difference was statistically significant. No significant difference was reported in transportation physical activity for three SES levels neither in men nor in women (Table 2). The age and sex adjusted model did not show a significant relationship for SES (P = 0.555).

		Female n (%)				Male n (%)				T-4-1¥
		Low SES	Moderate SES	High SES	All≁	Low SES	Moderate SES	High SES	All≁	lotal
Income	≤ 1,000,000 Rials	471 (100)	0	0	898 (26.4)	376 (71.2)	0	152 (28.8)	614 (19.1)	1512 (22.8)
	1,000,000-3,000,000 Rials	0	1661 (81.2)	384 (18.8)	2200 (64.7)	10 (0.5)	1193 (59.8)	793 (39.7)	2176 (67.6)	4376 (66.1)
	3,000,000-5,000,000 Rials	0	0	211 (100)	221 (6.5)	120 (37.2)	0	203 (62.8)	332 (10.3)	553 (8.4)
	5,000,000-10,000,000 Rials	0	0	46 (100)	49 (1.4)	5 (7.7)	0	60 (92.3)	68 (2.1)	117 (1.8)
	\geq 10,000,000	0	0	5 (100)	5 (0.1)	3 (33.3)	0	6 (66.7)	9 (0.3)	14 (0.2)
Education	Illiterate	351 (46.6)	368 (48.9)	34 (4.5)	969 (28.5)	90 (23.2)	93 (24)	205 (52.8)	458 (14.2)	1427 (21.5)
	Primary school	191 (22.9)	590 (70.7)	54 (6.5)	902 (26.5)	193 (27.5)	476 (67.7)	34 (4.8)	791 (24.6)	1693 (25.6)
	Guidance school	70 (19.2)	253 (69.3)	42 (11.5)	386 (11.3)	108 (23.5)	296 (64.5)	55 (12)	488 (15.2)	874 (13.2)
	High school	104 (13.4)	450 (57.8)	225 (28.9)	806 (23.7)	116 (13.6)	284 (33.2)	456 (53.3)	935 (29)	1741 (26.3)
	Associate and bachelor degree	25 (8.3)	0	275 (91.7)	321 (9.4)	7 (1.5)	44 (9.3)	424 (89.3)	507 (15.7)	828 (12.5)
	Master's degree and higher	0	0	16 (100)	17 (0.5)	0	0	40 (100)	42 (1.3)	59 (0.9)
Occupation	Upper white-collar employees	3 (23.1)	0	10 (76)	13 (0.4)	1 (0.8)	0	124 (99.2)	128 (4)	141 (2.1)
	Lower white-collar employees	9 (7.2)	0	116 (92.8)	131 (3.9)	3 (0.8)	0	389 (99.2)	406 (12.6)	537 (8.1)
	Manual Workers	9 (17.6)	0	42 (82.4)	53 (1.6)	248 (32.2)	508 (65.9)	15 (1.9)	812 (25.2)	865 (13.1)
	Self-employed persons	7 (25%)	0	21 (75)	32 (0.9)	154 (26.1)	408 (69.3)	27 (4.6)	621 (19.3)	653 (9.9)
	Housewife	663 (26.1)	1661 (65.4)	217 (8.5)	2860 (84.1)	0	0	0	0	2860 (43.9)
	Unemployed	50 (17.2)	0	240 (82.8)	303 (8.9)	108 (10.3)	277 (26.5)	659 (63.1)	1158 (36)	1461 (22.1)
	Dependency Ratio (mean \pm SD)	0.47 ± 0.58	0.47 ± 0.54	$0.41\pm0.46^{\$}$	0.46 ± 0.54	$0.71\pm1.03^{\$}$	0.47 ± 0.52	$0.39\pm0.47^{\$}$	0.48 ± 0.64	0.47 ± 0.59
	Total	741 (21.8)	1661 (48.8)	646 (19)	3401*	514 (16)	1193 (37)	1214 (37.7)	3221*	6622

Table1. Distribution of socioeconomic indicators in three levels of socioeconomic status (clusters)

↓Percentages are pertaining to columns

* In females 353 cases (10.4%) and in males 300 (9.3%) cases could not be inserted to any cluster by cluster analysis and were excluded.

§ Significantly participate in cluster definition (P < 0.05).

SES: Socioeconomic status

Socioeconomic Status	Leisure time physical activity	Occupational physical activity	Household physical activity	Transportation physical activity	Total physical activity
Men					
High	218 (197-239)	564 (525-602)	114 (93.4-135)	79.6 (73-86.2)	600 (565-635)
Moderate	187 (168-206)	710 (676-745)	131 (102-160)	88.2 (77.8-98.7)	877 (830-924)
Low	176 (142-210)	690 (632-748)	147 (104-189)	84.2 (71.1-97.2)	877 (798-956)
P-value	0.032	< 0.001	0.325	0.385	< 0.001
Women					
High	144 (125-163)	448 (339-497)	331 (309-354)	48 (41.9-54.2)	678 (636-721)
Moderate	88.5 (80.4-96.6)	- *	482 (486-497)	43.5 (40.7-46.3)	619 (600-637)
Low	98.7 (83.1-114)	381 (219-543)	404 (382-425)	45.3 (39.6-51.1)	566 (534-598)
Р	< 0.001	0.357	< 0.001	0.364	< 0.001

Table 2. The mean of physical activity (95% confidence interval) calculated as MET min/day in three different socioeconomic status levels

*No occupational physical activity was reported due to high frequency of house wives in MSES level.





Figure 1. Leisure time physical activity (MET min/day) in different socioeconomic status levels (Error Bars: 95% CI) SES: socioeconomic status



Error Bars: 95% CI

Figure 2. Total daily physical activity (MET min/day) in different socioeconomic status levels (Error Bars: 95% CI) SES: socioeconomic status

Total Physical Activity

Total physical activity in the sampled population was 677.5 ± 624 . It was higher in men (756.6 \pm 766) than women (602.71 \pm 437.10), and the difference was significant. Total physical activity of women was higher in HSES than MSES and LSES; it was the same for MSES in comparison with LSES. In contrast with these findings, in men the total daily physical activity was higher in LSES than HSES, and also was higher in MSES than HSES. However, there was no significant difference between total physical activity of participants in LSES and MSES (Figure 2).

The overall differences of men and women in most physical activity fields have been followed similarly in each level of SES. However, the occupational physical activity differences of men and women in LSES were greater in comparison with the overall differences. It was the same in MSES level for household physical activity. Moreover, differences in total physical activity were greater than the overall differences between men and women in LSES and MSES level, but it was less in HSES. The age and sex adjusted model yielded a significant regression coefficient for SES level (B = -97.9, R2 = 0.060, P < 0.001).

Discussion

In this study we found statistically significant differences in the extent of leisure-time, household, occupational, and total physical activity based on SES but not in transportation physical activity.

It seems that none of the socioeconomic factors alone can define the precise socioeconomic level of people in non-industrial countries, like Iran, due to being in a transitory period from traditional to modern conditions. Consequently, in this study we used multivariable method (cluster analysis) to categorize people according to their real SES characteristics, like education or income, etc. It is obvious that the relative importance of leisure-time physical activity has increased over time.^{29,30} Reports from developed and developing countries showed that men are more active than women in leisuretime.^{12,16,31,32} In their study, Droomer et al. have found lower levels of leisure-time physical activity in lower educated, lower income level, and in general low socioeconomic status groups.^{2,33-36} These findings seem to have two main reasons. The first is internal barriers, such as lack of motivation and free time, and special attitudes in women, who do not think that household physical activity is insufficient for health. The second is external barriers such as lack of appealing public places for physical activity, not enough knowledge about exercise related issues, and low income.³⁷

We believe that low SES men were more active than high SES in occupational physical activity due to accumulation of handworkers in this category.

While higher SES is positively associated with leisure time physical activity, lower SES is positively associated with occupational physical activity.³⁸ It has been suggested that health outcomes depend not on absolute income, but rather on equality or how resources are distributed in society. However, access to health care explains only part of the difference in health status among various SES groups.³⁸

Furthermore, it is interesting to note that as the result of using more technology and spending less time in the house, women who had occupational physical activity had less household activity.

Men were prominently more active in transportation physical activity than women. Moreover, in contrast with other studies, gender difference was observed when all domains of activity practice were considered.²⁰ Nonetheless, no important differences were found between SES levels, which implicate the general behavior of the population apart from SES levels. However, overall values of this field in both genders and all SES levels are trivial. It can be an issue for health policy makers to plan for promoting more active transportation instead of using motor vehicles.

Although higher levels of household physical activity was seen among women, the effect of having lower activity level in other domains of physical activity causes low total physical activity in women. This may be due to cultural characteristics of Iranian women about social behavior, jogging or cycling less than men, or less tendency or opportunity to have a job, and considerably less opportunity to leave the home. As we have shown men were considerably more active than women during leisure time in all 3 levels of SES (the difference was more than 70 Met - minute per day). Similar pattern were shown in total physical activity except in high SES men, who were less active than women. In both sexes fewer but more important differences were found between SES levels, especially high SES and low SES. However, we should be cautious in our interpretation in men due to overlapping 95%CI compared to significant P-value.

In line with other studies, our finding showed that association between SESs and total physical activity levels was exactly the opposite in men; the lower the SES level, the higher the rate of physical activity.22 However, in women this pattern has not been shown. Although the pattern of physical activity and SES for women were similar in leisure time physical activity (as the most important field) and total physical activity (as life style marker), the HSES men with the most leisure time physical activity had the least total physical activity. This supports the fact that although they have high leisure time physical activity, they have an inactive lifestyle. Although leisure time physical activity was less in LSES than HSES, higher level of occupational physical activity cause higher total physical activity in these groups. On the contrary, the HSES group had more leisure physical activity, but less occupational physical activity.

In the past, physical activity was simply a part of ordinary life. However, in the modern and new life style of humanity many activities have been transferred to machines. This trend has finally affected people with different SES levels, even if begun in high SES's. Consequently, the role of leisure time physical activity has gradually become more important. In Iran, such activities need extra costs, and are not a part of daily routines in the traditional culture. For these reasons, it seems that leisure time physical activities are considered to be a special behavior rather than a routine. Hence, it is less probable that low SES people have leisure time physical activities. Moreover, they might not be aware of the important role of such activities, and think that the costs are unnecessary. Therefore, attempts to develop these habits among low SES groups, decrease costs, and increase easy available facilities should be taken into account as a part of health policies.

The improvements of the physical environment, eliminating physical barriers, group physical exercise instead of individuals ones, and community and workplace policies may promote physical activity in a population.³⁹⁻⁴¹ The results presented in this paper emphasis the fact that women of low and moderate SES who live in these areas need particular measures to increase their physical activity. They not only have low leisure time, but also low total physical activity. Although there are many cultural and social differences between the Persian society and neighbor countries in the Middle East, some similarities like religion or economy may make these results generalizable to them.

This study has a number of strengths. The large sample size provided statistical power to examine associations within subgroups. This study reveals special physical activity patterns related to socioeconomic (that was not clear before) and exaggerated gender differences, and complete profile of physical activity fields (leisure time, occupational, household, and transportation) in Iran. The questionnaire included a wide range of subjects to prepare a more accurate estimation of physical activity together with more variation. Using Mets to report physical activity in this study provides quantifiable values based on calorie expenditure, which is more accurate than physical activity duration, but it leads to some difficulties in comparison with other studies.

Some of the limitations of our research are that assessments of physical activity via a questionnaire may not accurately reflect physical activity. Participation in active sports may be particularly overestimated, considering the strong Iranian social attitudes towards the desirability of an active lifestyle. Furthermore, information on income was self-reported and may be affected by prestige bias, or underestimation to avoid taxation. Our findings emphasize the need for a better understanding of social and environmental barriers, and special considerations for women in the low and moderate socioeconomic status in order to make social and health policies particularly in unindustrialized countries similar to Iran. More research is needed to examine the effect of other constructs of social class, such as acculturation, safety, and social support, in promoting successful interventions to increase physical activity.

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by the grants No. HQ/03/873531 of the WHO Department of Chronic Disease and Health Promotion, and No. 31309304 of the Iranian Budget and Programming Organization, Deputy for Research of the Ministry of Health and Medical Education, the Cardiovascular Research Center, and Provincial Health Office of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences. The authors wish to thank all scientific and executive collaborators of the programs.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

References

- 1. World Health Organization. Global strategy on diet, physical activity, and health. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2004.
- **2.** Azevedo MR, Araujo CL, Reichert FF, Siqueira FV, da Silva MC, Hallal PC. Gender differences in leisure-time physical activity. Int J Public Health 2007; 52(1): 8-15.
- **3.** Kokkinos PF, Narayan P, Papademetriou V. Exercise as hypertension therapy. Cardiol Clin 2001; 19(3): 507-16.
- **4.** Autenrieth C, Schneider A, Doring A, Meisinger C, Herder C, Koenig W, et al. Association between different domains of physical activity and markers of inflammation. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2009; 41(9): 1706-13.
- **5.** Carroll S, Cooke CB, Butterly RJ. Physical activity, cardiorespiratory fitness, and the primary components of blood viscosity. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2000; 32(2): 353-8.
- **6.** Dunstan DW, Salmon J, Owen N, Armstrong T, Zimmet PZ, Welborn TA, et al. Physical activity and television viewing in relation to risk of undiagnosed abnormal glucose metabolism in adults. Diabetes Care 2004; 27(11): 2603-9.
- 7. Szapary PO, Bloedon LT, Foster GD. Physical activity and its effects on lipids. Curr Cardiol Rep 2003; 5(6): 488-92.
- **8.** Sacco RL, Gan R, Boden-Albala B, Lin IF, Kargman DE, Hauser WA, et al. Leisure-time physical activity and ischemic stroke risk: the Northern Manhattan Stroke Study. Stroke 1998; 29(2): 380-7.
- **9.** Housley E, Leng GC, Donnan PT, Fowkes FG. Physical activity and risk of peripheral arterial disease in the general population: Edinburgh Artery Study. J Epidemiol Community Health 1993; 47(6): 475-80.
- **10.** Kirk AF, Barnett J, Mutrie N. Physical activity consultation for people with Type 2 diabetes: evidence and guidelines. Diabet Med 2007; 24(8): 809-16.
- **11.** Varo JJ, Martinez-Gonzalez MA, De Irala-Estevez J, Kearney J, Gibney M, Martinez JA. Distribution and determinants of sedentary lifestyles in the European Union. Int J Epidemiol 2003; 32(1): 138-46.
- **12.** Monteiro CA, Conde WL, Matsudo SM, Matsudo VR, Bonsenor IM, Lotufo PA. A descriptive epidemiology of leisure-time physical activity in

Brazil, 1996-1997. Rev Panam Salud Publica 2003; 14(4): 246-54.

- **13.** Rabiei K, Kelishadi R, Sarrafzadegan N, Sadri G, Amani A. Short-term results of community-based interventions for improving physical activity: Isfahan Healthy Heart Programme. Arch Med Sci 2010; 6(1): 32-9.
- **14.** Klavestrand J, Vingard E. The relationship between physical activity and health-related quality of life: a systematic review of current evidence. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2009; 19(3): 300-12.
- **15.** Socio-economic differences in physical activity. british heart fundation stsatistics website [Online]. 2007 [cited 2007 Jun 8]; Available from: URL: http://www.heartstats.org/datapage.asp?id=987/
- **16.** Steptoe A, Wardle J, Cui W, Bellisle F, Zotti AM, Baranyai R, et al. Trends in smoking, diet, physical exercise, and attitudes toward health in European university students from 13 countries, 1990-2000. Prev Med 2002; 35(2): 97-104.
- **17.** Lindstrom M, Hanson BS, Ostergren PO. Socioeconomic differences in leisure-time physical activity: the role of social participation and social capital in shaping health related behaviour. Soc Sci Med 2001; 52(3): 441-51.
- **18.** Papadopoulou SK, Papadopoulou SD, Zerva A, Paraskevas GP, Dalkiranis A, Ioannou I, et al. Health status and socioeconomic factors as determinants of physical activity level in the elderly. Med Sci Monit 2003; 9(2): CR79-CR83.
- **19.** Powell LM, Slater S, Chaloupka FJ, Harper D. Availability of physical activity-related facilities and neighborhood demographic and socioeconomic characteristics: a national study. Am J Public Health 2006; 96(9): 1676-80.
- **20.** Hallal PC, Victora CG, Wells JC, Lima RC. Physical inactivity: prevalence and associated variables in Brazilian adults. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2003; 35(11): 1894-900.
- **21.** Sarraf-Zadegan N, Sadri G, Malek AH, Baghaei M, Mohammadi FN, Shahrokhi S, et al. Isfahan Healthy Heart Programme: a comprehensive integrated community-based programme for cardiovascular disease prevention and control. Design, methods and initial experience. Acta Cardiol 2003; 58(4): 309-20.
- **22.** Sarrafzadegan N, Baghaei A, Sadri G, Kelishadi R, Malekafzali H, Boshtam M, et al. Isfahan healthy heart program: Evaluation of comprehensive, community-based interventions for noncommunicable disease prevention. Prevention and control 2006; 2(2): 73-84.
- **23.** Dafoe WA. Appendix A. tables of energy requirements for activities of daily living, houshold tasks, recreational activities, and vocational activities. In: Pashkow FJ, Dafoe WA, Editors. Clinical Cardiac Rehabilitation: A Cardiologist's

Guide. Philadelphia, PA: Williams & Wilkins; 1999. p. 515-24.

- **24.** Sternfeld B, Ainsworth BE, Quesenberry CP. Physical activity patterns in a diverse population of women. Prev Med 1999; 28(3): 313-23.
- 25. Rose D, Pevalin DJ. The National Statistics Socioeconomic Classification: unifying official and sociological approaches to the conceptualisation and measurement of social class [Online]; 2001 [cited 2001 Mar 1]; Available from: URL: http://ideas.repec.org/p/ese/iserwp/2001-04.html/
- **26.** Barbeau EM, Krieger N, Soobader MJ. Working class matters: socioeconomic disadvantage, race/ethnicity, gender, and smoking in NHIS 2000. Am J Public Health 2004; 94(2): 269-78.
- 27. Kunst AE, Mackenbach JP. Measuring socioeconomic inequalities in health. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization, Regional Office for Europe; 1995.
- 28. Sarlio-Lahteenkorva S, Silventoinen K, Lahelma E. Relative weight and income at different levels of socioeconomic status. Am J Public Health 2004; 94(3): 468-72.
- **29.** Aarnio M, Winter T, Kujala UM, Kaprio J. Familial aggregation of leisure-time physical activity -- a three generation study. Int J Sports Med 1997; 18(7): 549-56.
- **30.** Simoes EJ, Byers T, Coates RJ, Serdula MK, Mokdad AH, Heath GW. The association between leisure-time physical activity and dietary fat in American adults. Am J Public Health 1995; 85(2): 240-4.
- **31.** Gomes VB, Siqueira KS, Sichieri R. Physical activity in a probabilistic sample in the city of Rio de Janeiro. Cad Saude Publica 2001; 17(4): 969-76. [In Portuguese].
- **32.** Martinez-Gonzalez MA, Varo JJ, Santos JL, De IJ, Gibney M, Kearney J, et al. Prevalence of physical activity during leisure time in the European Union. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2001; 33(7): 1142-6.
- **33.** Droomers M, Schrijvers CT, van de Mheen H, Mackenbach JP. Educational differences in leisuretime physical inactivity: a descriptive and explanatory study. Soc Sci Med 1998; 47(11): 1665-76.
- **34.** Iribarren C, Luepker RV, McGovern PG, Arnett DK, Blackburn H. Twelve-year trends in cardiovascular disease risk factors in the Minnesota Heart Survey. Are socioeconomic differences widening? Arch Intern Med 1997; 157(8): 873-81.
- **35.** Mensink GB, Loose N, Oomen CM. Physical activity and its association with other lifestyle factors. Eur J Epidemiol 1997; 13(7): 771-8.
- **36.** Wister AV. The effects of socioeconomic status on exercise and smoking: age-related differences. J Aging Health 1996; 8(4): 467-88.

- **37.** Chinn DJ, White M, Harland J, Drinkwater C, Raybould S. Barriers to physical activity and socioeconomic position: implications for health promotion. J Epidemiol Community Health 1999; 53(3): 191-2.
- **38.** McNeill LH, Kreuter MW, Subramanian SV. Social environment and physical activity: a review of concepts and evidence. Soc Sci Med 2006; 63(4): 1011-22.
- **39.** Sallis JF, Johnson MF, Calfas KJ, Caparosa S, Nichols JF. Assessing perceived physical environmental variables that may influence physical activity. Res Q Exerc Sport 1997; 68(4): 345-51.

- **40.** Clark DO. Age, socioeconomic status, and exercise self-efficacy. Gerontologist 1996; 36(2): 157-64.
- **41.** Eyler AA, Brownson RC, King AC, Brown D, Donatelle RJ, Heath G. Physical activity and women in the United States: an overview of health benefits, prevalence, and intervention opportunities. Women Health 1997; 26(3): 27-49.

How to cite this article: Talaei M, Rabiei K, Talaei Z, Amiri N, Zolfaghari B, Kabiri P, Sarrafzadegan N. Physical activity, sex, and socioeconomic status: A population based study. ARYA Atheroscler 2013; 9(1): 51-60.

Parental perceptions of weight status of their children

Nizal Sarrafzadegan⁽¹⁾, <u>Katayoun Rabiei</u>⁽²⁾, Fatemeh Nouri⁽³⁾, Noushin Mohammadifard⁽⁴⁾, Fariborz Moattar⁽⁵⁾, Hamidreza Roohafza⁽⁶⁾, Shaghayegh Haghjooy Javanmard⁽⁷⁾, Sonia Zarfeshani⁽⁸⁾, Masoud Pourmoghaddas⁽⁹⁾

Original Article

Abstract

BACKGROUND: Understanding the knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs of parents is important for planning appropriately to control their children's weight. We aimed to study these variables in parents of normal, underweight, overweight, and obese children.

METHODS: This cross-sectional study targeted the parents of normal, underweight, overweight, and obese children, who were selected using multistage random sampling method. The parents' knowledge, attitudes, beliefs, and behaviors about the weight status of their children, weight management, obesity, diet, lifestyle, and related psychosocial factors were evaluated using a validated questionnaire. The questionnaire, which had been validated, consisted of 12 demographic, 8 knowledge, 19 attitude and beliefs, and 25 behavior questions. Mean knowledge, attitude and beliefs, and behavior scores were compared across three subgroups of parents. Student's independent t-test, ANOVA, and Kruskal-Wallis test were used to study the correlation between different demographic and socioeconomic factors, and the studied variables.

RESULTS: 90% of parents were aware that obesity is a disease, and 92% knew that eating too much fast food would lead to obesity in children. Only 5% assumed that obese children are healthier than non-obese children. The mean scores of the three subgroups showed no significant difference in knowledge, attitude and beliefs, and behavior. Families with fathers, whose education level was higher than high school diploma, rated their children's weight status as overweight or obese significantly less than families with fathers, whose education level was high school diploma or lower (8.5% vs. 16.5%, respectively, P = 0.014). Only 12% of parents tried to help their children lose weight at least once, and only 6% arranged sport activities for the family members. In 57% and 41% of families, the child, respectively, decided how much time was enough to watch TV, and how much chocolates and sweets to eat. 46% of children watched TV for more than 2 hours/day, and 49% of children watched TV while eating meals. The mean total score of boys' parents was significantly lower than that of girls' parents (P < 0.05). Families with low income, with no medical insurance, or not owning a house thought that the cost of registration in sport activities for children was too high (P < 0.03).

CONCLUSION: Some parents unreasonably rated the weight status of their children as overweight/obese. It is suggested that further studies be carried out to evaluate and improve parents' knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors regarding their children's weight.

Keywords: Children, Obesity, Overweight, Knowledge, Attitude, Belief, Behavior

Date of submission: 01 Oct 2012, Date of acceptance: 11 Dec 2012

4- PhD Candidate, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Centre, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

¹⁻ Professor, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Centre, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

²⁻ General Practitioner, Cardiac Rehabilitation Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan, Iran

³⁻ Cardiac Rehabilitation Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁵⁻ School of Pharmacy, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁶⁻ Assistant Professor, Cardiac Rehabilitation Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan, Iran

⁷⁻ Physiology Research Centre, Department of Physiology, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁸⁻ Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Centre, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁹⁻ Professor, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Centre, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran Correspondence to: Katayoun Rabiei, Email: ktrabiei@gmail.com
Introduction

The epidemic of obesity in children has become one of the main concerns in developed and many developing countries.¹⁻⁵ The prevalence of overweight (BMI of 85th to 95th percentile) and obesity (BMI $> 95^{th}$ percentile) in our country were about 5% and 10%, respectively.6 Childhood obesity is related to some chronic diseases in adulthood such as hypertension, diabetes mellitus, disease.7-10 cardiovascular In and addition. overweight and obese adults demonstrated less successful economic and social patterns.1 Complex interactions of genetics, sedentary lifestyle, poor nutrition, and psychosocial and environmental factors are essential in inducing excess body weight in children around the world.^{1,11,12} Overweight and obese children are more likely to eat fatty and salty food, and spend more time watching TV rather than being physically active. They are also less likely to consume enough vegetables, fruits, and whole grains.13 Moreover, there are some psychosocial factors that endorse the risk of being overweight and obesity in children. For example, some parents believe that the larger the body size, the healthier the child. In other words, they are even satisfied with their children's obesity or overweight. Some parents also consider their overweight children as strong and/or solid.14 The social acceptance of being overweight leads to less pressure on children to lose weight. This results in less frequent seeking of appropriate weight management strategies. There are similar trends in many cultures. Understanding the thinking patterns of caregivers of overweight and obese children is the first step in the modification of their behaviors. Appropriate planning may also help to promote a healthier lifestyle in children, and to tackle the epidemic of obesity. The current study evaluated a sample of parents of normal, overweight, and obese children in order to assess their knowledge, attitudes, beliefs, and behaviors related to obesity and weight management in their children.

Materials and Methods

Sampling, Recruitment, and Data Collection

In 2011, a qualitative study was performed as the initial step of a large study, named TABASSOM study, on obesity determinants in adults and children. It was conducted to investigate the knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors toward obesity variables.¹⁵ Then a questionnaires was developed for adults and adolescents and validated to be used in this study.¹⁶ The current study has been approved by the Ethical

Committee of Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center (a WHO collaboration center). 320 families were randomly selected through multistage random sampling after clustering urban health centers. They were randomly selected from each health center from the list of families with children aged 15 years and under. The parents were called, informed about the study, and asked if they were willing to take part in the study between January 2011 and December 2011. Appointments were made, and trained interviewers went door to door and completed the questionnaire. All participating parents gave their consents before enrollment in the study. Each questionnaire started with demographic and socioeconomic questions (family structure, parent's education, employment, family income, and medical insurance) followed by knowledge, attitude, beliefs, and behavior questions. Questions on barriers or facilitators of weight management strategies from the parents' points of view were included.

Measurement Tool, Development, Validity, and Reliability

The parents' knowledge, attitudes, beliefs, and behaviors about their children's weight and its management were measured using a validated instrument.¹⁶ The measurement tool was developed based on the literature review and qualitative study conducted previously.¹⁵ In brief, the qualitative study evaluated weight status, physical activity, and nutritional, environmental, and psychosocial issues affecting weight control in children. Textbooks, scientific literatures, and published questionnaires were also used to extract the questions. A panel of experts, including nutritionists and psychologists, was asked to review the instrument for content validity, accuracy, and suitability of different items.¹⁶ In order to check the face validity, a number of lecturers of the Social Medicine Department, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences (Isfahan, Iran) were asked to answer the questionnaire. The answers were prepared in scales or multiple choices. According to the recommendations and feedbacks of the expert panel and the lecturers, the items were either kept unchanged, removed, or revised. The modified instrument was pretested with 10 parents for readability and transparency of the overall questionnaire, items, answers, and scales. A few corrections were made according to the new feedbacks of parents. Cronbach's alpha coefficient of the questionnaire ranged between 0.6 and 0.8.16 The final questionnaire consisted of 12 demographic, 8 knowledge, 19 attitude and belief, and 25 behavior questions. The knowledge questions consisted of obesity and its relationship with the following factors:

diet quality, physical activity, psychosocial factors, obesity control and prevention, and associated diseases. Each knowledge question had three answers of true, false, and I don't know. Every correct answer was assigned 1 point, and every incorrect response or I don't know answer was assigned 0 points. Attitude and belief questions corresponded to the personal values and beliefs on 6 obesity related constructs of body image, diet, active or sedentary lifestyle and related cultural, educational issues, and psychosocial issues. The first 16 attitude and belief questions were assessed using five-point Likert scale answers, ranging from strongly agree to strongly disagree. The answers were given 1 to 5 points according to the correctness of the response. 3 other attitude and belief questions had favorable and unfavorable options, and were scored accordingly. Behavior questions represented behaviors of both parents and children evaluated by different questions in the following domains: physical activity and sedentary lifestyle, diet pattern, parent-child communication, and weight management education and interventions. The first 17 behavior questions had five-point Likert type scales, ranging from everyday to never. The correct behavior was given 5 points, and the other choices were ranked accordingly. The rest of the behavior questions were assessed according to the multiple choice answers. The correct response was given one point and other choices were given 0. The higher the scores, the higher the knowledge, right attitudes, correct beliefs, and appropriate behaviors.

Data Analysis

Frequency distributions of demographic and socioeconomic information of families and of the parental knowledge, attitudes, beliefs, and behavior patterns were determined. The scores of each section of knowledge, attitude and belief, and behavior and the total score for every person were calculated. Parents were divided into three subgroups based on their perceptions of children's weight status (underweight, normal weight, and overweight and obese). The mean knowledge, attitude and belief, and behavior scores among three subgroups and across different demographic and socioeconomic factors were compared using independent t-test, ANOVA, and Kruskal-Wallis. SPSS for Windows (Version 15; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL., USA) was used for data analysis.

Results

Demographic and Socioeconomic Status

Parents of 146 boys and 139 girls participated in the study. The mean age of boys and girls were

 9.6 ± 2.6 and 9.4 ± 2.7 , respectively. The age range of children was 5-14 years in both genders. 21%, 51%, and 28% of families had one, two, and three or more children, respectively. In 270 children, the father and mother were living together. 15 children lived with single parents (parents were divorced and separated in 5 and 3 cases, respectively) and one parent was not alive in 7 children. Five fathers and five mothers were illiterate (2%), whereas 157 fathers (56%) and 167 mothers (59%) had a high school diploma or college/university degree. 262 mothers were housewives. Monthly income was equal or less than US\$ 300 in 69 families, and equal or greater than US\$ 1000 in 3 families. 171 and 191 families owned a house and 1 or more cars, respectively. 221 families were covered by medical insurance.

Knowledge, Attitude and Belief, and Behavior about Obesity and Overall Health

Participating parents had a reasonable knowledge of obesity. About 90% knew that obesity is a disease, 91% were aware that it is possible to become obese at all ages, 89% knew that the possibility of becoming obese in adulthood is higher for obese children, and 95% were aware of the good chance of preventing childhood obesity. 98% knew that having a normal weight is important in maintaining children's overall health. 93%, 95%, and 96% were aware that obesity may lead to diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular diseases, and hypertension, respectively. When asked "Have you ever been informed about the risks of obesity and overweight in children?" 69% of parents responded yes. However, when the same question was asked about their children, the positive answer dropped to 40%. 54% of parents found their information about the risk of obesity through TV and radio, whereas in 32%, books, journals and newspapers were the sources of information.

Knowledge, Attitude and Belief, and Behavior about Obesity and Physical Activity

Although 91% of parents knew that children with less physical activity are more prone to become obese, only 6% arranged exercise and sport activities, such as walking and mountain climbing, for the family members. About 42% of parents talked to their children about the advantages of sport activities. In 57% of families, the child decided how much TV to watch and 46% of children watched TV for more than 2 hours per day. In 13% of families, the child worked on the computer for more than 2 hours per day. One-third of parents believed that the time of sport activities in their children's schools was not enough and assumed that there was not enough space for sport activities in their children's schools. 28.5% of parents thought the children did not have enough time for sport activities because of the pressure of the school's science programs. Nearly half of the parents believed that the cost of registration of their children in sport activities was too high. Only the latter item was significantly different based on the sex of the child and the family's economic status. In other words, 58% of boys' parents and 39% of girls' parents believed that the cost of registration of children in sport activities was too high (P = 0.001). Furthermore, families with low income, no medical insurance, or those who did not own a house similarly thought that the cost of registration in sport activities for children was too high (P < 0.03). Knowledge, Attitude and Belief, and Behavior about Obesity and Dietary Habits

About 92% of parents knew that eating too much fast food would lead to obesity in children. Although 34% thought not having fast food could be difficult for their children, only 5% and 13% declared that their children were regularly eating fast foods (such as pizza, or sandwich) and snacks (such as chips, cheese balls, biscuits, or chocolates). 52% stated that educational programs on appropriate nutrition were not frequently conducted in schools. 39% believed that selling some snacks such as chips and cheese balls in schools made their children consume them more frequently, and 53% thought that by their children's friends eating snacks their children ate more snacks. In 49% of families, the children watched TV while eating meals and 57% believed that TV advertisements on some snacks such as chips and cheese balls led the children to consume them more frequently. 65% of children were regularly eating breakfast, 81% were eating fruits every day, and 63.5% had healthy snacks such as bread and cheese, nuts, or dried fruits between the meals. 78% of parents selected the type of food consumed at home, 14% prepared fried food for their children, 3% chose chips, cheese balls, or chocolates to reward the children's good behavior, 25% locked some foods such as sweets or chocolates out of access of children, and 45.5% talked to children about the advantages of having healthy foods. In 41% of families, the child was authorized to decide how much chocolates and sweets to eat. Only the last item was significantly different based on father's education; in 36% of families with father's education of lower than high school diploma, and in 50% of families with father's education of higher than high school diploma, children were rarely or never authorized to decide how much chocolate and sweets to eat (P < 0.02).

Knowledge, Attitude and Belief, and Behavior about Obesity and Psychosocial Issues

About 72% of parents believed that children of obese parents are more probable to become obese. Only 5% assumed that obese children are healthier than non-obese children. 79% believed that obesity caused the isolation of children from other children at school, 83% thought obese children might become depressed and 81% assumed that obesity might decrease self-confidence in children. When asked "How important is the normal weight of your child to you and your spouse?" 96% and 87% responded it is very important to me, and it is very important to my spouse, respectively. The parents ratings of their children's weight status was very interesting; 25% of parents rated their children as thin or very thin, 62% considered them to be about the right weight, and only 13% selected overweight or obese as the body shape of their children. Only 12% had tried to help their children lose weight. Of the latter group (35 children) the parents of 16 children consulted with a nutritionist or a medical doctor to get help on reducing the child's weight. 11 children lost weight with no return, and 9 lost weight and regained the weight. The following methods were used by this group of children to lose weight: diet (12 children), exercise (7 children), and both (16 children). When asked "Which one of the following behaviors was more difficult to control for your child?" the answers were as follows: self-regulation of eating (14 children), exercise (4 children), and both (7 children). Comparison of Knowledge, Attitude and Belief, and Behavior Scores

Few significant differences were found between the knowledge, attitude and belief and behavior scores across different demographic and socioeconomic factors (Table 1). The mean scores of knowledge, attitude and belief, and behaviors were not significantly different between boys' parents and girl's parents. However, the mean total score of boys' parents was significantly lower than that of girl's parents (P < 0.05). Families with fathers' education of lower than high school diploma had significantly lower mean knowledge, behavior, and total scores than those of families with fathers' education of high school diploma or higher (Table 1).

One question evaluated the parents' perception on their children's weight status. The mean scores of the three subgroups (underweight, normal weight, and overweight and obese) were compared and no significant difference in knowledge, attitude and

Demographic and socioeconomic factors		Knowledge		Attitudes and	Attitudes and beliefs		Behavior		Total	
		Scores	Р	Scores	Р	Scores	Р	Scores	Р	
Con of shild*	Boys	0.90 ± 0.14	0.7	0.76 ± 0.13	0.08	0.51 ± 0.15	0.08	0.69 ± 0.09	0.02	
Sex of child	Girls	0.91 ± 0.13	0.7	0.78 ± 0.13	0.08	0.54 ± 0.16	0.08	0.72 ± 0.09	0.03	
	One	0.87 ± 0.15		0.75 ± 0.14		0.52 ± 0.13		0.69 ± 0.08		
Number of children in the family	Two	0.91 ± 0.12	0.15**	0.78 ± 0.13	0.31**	0.53 ± 0.16	0.49**	0.71 ± 0.09	0.15***	
	\geq Three	0.91 ± 0.13		0.77 ± 0.11		0.51 ± 0.17		0.69 ± 0.11		
Eather advantion*	< High school diploma	0.88 ± 0.15	0.02	0.76 ± 0.14	0.07	0.49 ± 0.15	0.01	0.68 ± 0.10	0.001	
Father education.	\geq High school diploma	0.92 ± 0.12	0.02	0.79 ± 0.12		0.54 ± 0.15		0.72 ± 0.09		
	\leq 300,000	0.87 ± 0.16		0.75 ± 0.13		0.53 ± 0.16	0.3**	0.69 ± 0.09	0.4***	
Family income	301,000-600,000	0.91 ± 0.12	0.2**	0.78 ± 0.13	0.3**	0.53 ± 0.15		0.71 ± 0.09		
	\geq 601,000	0.89 ± 0.13		0.77 ± 0.15		0.53 ± 0.18		0.70 ± 0.11		
Number of automobiles*	≥ 1	0.90 ± 0.13	0.8	0.78 ± 0.12	0.2	0.52 ± 0.15	0.25		0.8	
Number of automobiles.	0	0.90 ± 0.14	0.8	0.75 ± 0.15	0.2	0.54 ± 0.16	0.55		0.8	
House*	Owned	0.89 ± 0.16	0.5	0.78 ± 0.12	0.35	0.51 ± 0.15	0.2	0.70 ± 0.09	0.6	
	Not owned	0.91 ± 0.13	0.5	0.76 ± 0.14	0.55	0.54 ± 0.16	0.2	0.71 ± 0.10	0.0	
Madical insurance*	Yes	0.91 ± 0.13	0.1	0.77 ± 0.13	0.07	0.53 ± 0.16	0.1	0.71 ± 0.09	0.1	
Medical insurance*	No	0.88 ± 0.16	0.1	0.77 ± 0.16	0.97	0.49 ± 0.15	0.1	0.69 ± 0.09	0.1	

Table 1. Mean knowledge, attitude and beliefs, behaviors, and total scores across various demographic and socioeconomic factors

* Independent t-test was applied.

** Kruskal-Wallis test was used.

*** ANOVA was employed.

Table 2. Comparison of mean and/or median scores of knowledge, attitudes and beliefs, and behaviors across three subgroups of parental ratings of children's weight status

Parental perception of	Knowledge scores			Attitudes an	Attitudes and beliefs scores			Behavior scores			ores
children's weight status	Median (IQR)	Mean ± SD	Р	Median (IQR)	Mean ± SD	Р	Median (IQR)	Mean ± SD	Р	Mean ± SD	Р
Underweight $(n = 71)$	0.87 (0.75, 1)	0.88 ± 0.15		0.79 (0.71, 0.86)	0.77 ± 0.14		0.5 (0.37, 0.64)	0.51 ± 0.16		0.69 ± 0.1	
Normal $(n = 177)$	1 (0.87, 1)	0.91 ± 0.13	0.37	0.79 (0.71, 0.86)	0.77 ± 0.13	0.99	0.5 (0.43, 0.64)	0.53 ± 0.15	0.46	0.71 ± 0.09	0.55
Overweight and Obese $(n = 37)$	1(0.87, 1)	0.93 ± 0.09		0.79 (0.71, 0.86)	0.77 ± 0.13		0.5 (0.36, 0.64)	0.49 ± 0.17		0.69 ± 0.08	

beliefs, behaviors, and total scores were found among them (Table 2).

Moreover, parental perception about children's weight status had no significant relationship with the sex of the child or the number of children in the family. However, families with fathers' education of lower than high school diploma rated their children's weight status as overweight or obese significantly less than families with fathers' education of high school diploma or higher (8.5% vs. 16.5%, respectively, P = 0.014).

Discussion

Although some parents enrolled in this study had overweight or obese children, the majority of parents didn't think that their children were either overweight or obese. This finding is important given that parents had good or very good knowledge about obesity and its health related consequences. They were aware that obesity is a disease, causes psychosocial problems in children, and leads to chronic diseases later in life. Furthermore, the majority of the subjects stated that their children consumed fruits and vegetables every day, and two-thirds ate breakfast and healthy snacks, regularly. However, in half of the families, the children watched TV while eating meals, a finding that may explain the high level of overweight and obesity in our society.5 The Ministry of Health has banned TV advertisement on nonhealthy snacks in Iran which further helps reduce the consumption of non-healthy snacks. However, the effect of international media including internet, and satellites may be more effective. Overall, some parents were not able to recognize the correct body shape of their children in the current study. Therefore, they were not expected to intervene to modify the children's, and probably their own, unhealthy lifestyles and to treat this disease. That's why only 12% had ever tried to help their children lose weight. Parents' underestimation or misperception of children's weight status has also been demonstrated by other studies.¹⁷⁻³⁵ This finding seems more important when we learn that the scores of knowledge, attitude and beliefs, and behaviors of parents who perceived their children as overweight and obese in the current study were not significantly different than those who rated their children's weight as normal or underweight. It seems that increase in knowledge of parents is not enough for them to perceive the correct weight status, and prevent or treat overweight or obesity in their children. Some researchers gave three reasons

for parental misperception of children's weight status; gender-based different viewpoints of parents, ethnic-based different perspectives, and low education and income levels.14,21,32 Our study demonstrated no difference between the parents of boys and girls in rating the children's weight status. The level of income of parents also caused no difference in parental rating of children's body shape. A previous local research found that overweight children were significantly more prevalent in average-income families than in highincome families, and in lower-educated mothers than in higher-educated ones in our city.5 In the current study, the higher the level of education of fathers, the higher the possibility of rating the weight status of children as overweight or obese.

Overweight and obesity in children are prevalent in our country.^{5,6,36-40} Furthermore, their prevalence decreased significantly in girls, though it increased in boys following the interventional activities of the Heart Health Promotion from Childhood as one of the ten interventional projects of the Isfahan Healthy Heart Program.^{12,41,42} Body weight increases gram by gram and obesity develops very slowly. Thus, its development in children might not be noticeable for parents. They see their children every day since their birth. Day to day weight increase in children is not large enough for parents to perceive in day to day interaction with them. For parents, the child's body shape today is similar to the picture taken yesterday. Many parents have a fixed image of the child in their minds which is most often a healthy portrait. They do not see what the health care providers see.33 Some parents do not see the ongoing increase in weight unless it is acute. Acute changes or events are perceived immediately but chronic ones are not. As long as the children have a good appetite, do not complaint of any symptoms, and are active in their school homework, the parents' attention may not be directed towards their body shape.¹⁴ Some parents do not care about the gradual weight changes of their children.²¹ On the other hand, parents may know obesity but may not be able to diagnose it; because they may either compare their children with extreme cases of obesity or assess their weight status visually. They do not trust or use clinical measures.27 Besides, parents know fever and cough but cannot easily diagnose whether they are due to common cold, sinusitis, bronchitis, or pneumonia. Increase in weight is a sign not a symptom. People come to the medical doctor with symptoms whereas the signs are mostly picked up by doctors. The information

on symptoms and signs directs the doctor towards correct diagnosis. Obesity is not a symptom or sign, but a disease. It is probably too much to expect of parents to diagnose this disease given their various responsibilities and stresses. Overweight and obesity can be detected actively by health care providers rather than passively by the parents. It is important to mention that the results of the current study demonstrated that only 40% of parents were educated about the risks of obesity in their children. It seems that the main focus on overweight and obesity detection might shift from families to schools. Teachers or school health care providers could be continually educated on this issue. They probably can easily detect overweight and obesity and inform the parents about the weight status of their children in a non-stigmatizing and nonoffensive way.43 This can raise the parents' concerns about this issue. The parents are aware of the longterm consequences of obesity on biopsychosocial aspects of their children's lives and they know that they can largely shape the lifestyles of their schoolaged children.44,45 As soon as parents acknowledge the children's overweight or obesity they can start appropriate interventions. In other words, although the parents are principal keys in weight management of children, they need assistance and guidance by public health programs to successfully perceive the problem. Increasing the knowledge and awareness of parents is important and should be continued but to translation this knowledge into perception needs further practical strategies. Otherwise, underestimation of the weight status of children by their parents will be an important barrier in preventing the epidemic of obesity among children.

Conclusion

Recognition of the correct body shape of children by parents needs special attention. Further actionoriented studies are necessary to build practical steps in order to improve the practice and behaviors of parents towards tackling the epidemic of overweight and obesity in their children.

Acknowledgements

TABASSOM study has been sponsored by the National Elites Foundation (project number, 88125) as well as the Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute (ICRI). The authors would like to extend their sincere appreciation to the big study team, and other collaborators of ICRI for their hard work and assistance.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

References

- Lobstein T, Baur L, Uauy R. Obesity in children and young people: a crisis in public health. Obes Rev 2004; 5(Suppl 1): 4-104.
- Hedley AA, Ogden CL, Johnson CL, Carroll MD, Curtin LR, Flegal KM. Prevalence of overweight and obesity among US children, adolescents, and adults, 1999-2002. JAMA 2004; 291(23): 2847-50.
- **3.** Livingstone MB. Childhood obesity in Europe: a growing concern. Public Health Nutr 2001; 4(1A): 109-16.
- **4.** Magarey AM, Daniels LA, Boulton TJ. Prevalence of overweight and obesity in Australian children and adolescents: reassessment of 1985 and 1995 data against new standard international definitions. Med J Aust 2001; 174(11): 561-4.
- Kelishadi R, Pour MH, Sarraf-Zadegan N, Sadry GH, Ansari R, Alikhassy H, et al. Obesity and associated modifiable environmental factors in Iranian adolescents: Isfahan Healthy Heart Program - Heart Health Promotion from Childhood. Pediatr Int 2003; 45(4): 435-42.
- **6.** Gaeini A, Kashef M, Samadi A, Fallahi A. Prevalence of underweight, overweight and obesity in preschool children of Tehran, Iran. J Res Med Sci 2011; 16(6): 821-7.
- Fagot-Campagna A. Emergence of type 2 diabetes mellitus in children: epidemiological evidence. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab 2000; 13(Suppl 6): 1395-402.
- Freedman DS, Dietz WH, Srinivasan SR, Berenson GS. The relation of overweight to cardiovascular risk factors among children and adolescents: the Bogalusa Heart Study. Pediatrics 1999; 103(6 Pt 1): 1175-82.
- **9.** Reilly JJ, Methven E, McDowell ZC, Hacking B, Alexander D, Stewart L, et al. Health consequences of obesity. Arch Dis Child 2003; 88(9): 748-52.
- 10. Tavassoli A, Gharipour M, Toghianifar N, Sarrafzadegan N, Khosravi A, Zolfaghari B, et al. The impact of obesity on hypertension and diabetes control following healthy Lifestyle Intervention Program in a developing country setting. J Res Med Sci 2011; 16(Suppl 1): S368-S376.
- **11.** Bray GA, Champagne CM. Beyond energy balance: there is more to obesity than kilocalories. J Am Diet Assoc 2005; 105(5 Suppl 1): S17-S23.
- **12.** Sarrafzadegan N, Kelishadi R, Esmaillzadeh A, Mohammadifard N, Rabiei K, Roohafza H, et al. Do lifestyle interventions work in developing countries? Findings from the Isfahan Healthy Heart Program in the Islamic Republic of Iran. Bull World Health Organ 2009; 87(1): 39-50.

- **13.** Adair LS, Popkin BM. Are child eating patterns being transformed globally? Obes Res 2005; 13(7): 1281-99.
- 14. Jain A, Sherman SN, Chamberlin LA, Carter Y, Powers SW, Whitaker RC. Why don't low-income mothers worry about their preschoolers being overweight? Pediatrics 2001; 107(5): 1138-46.
- **15.** Abolhassani S, Doosti Irani M, Sarrafzadegan N, Rabiei K, Shahrokhi S, Pourmoghaddas Z, et al. Barriers and facilitators of weight management in overweight and obese people: Qualitative findings of TABASSOM project. Iran J Nurs Midwifery Res 2011; 17(3): 205-10.
- **16.** Golshiri P, Yarmohammadi P, Sarrafzadegan N, Shahrokhi S, Yazadani M, Pourmoghaddas M. Developing and validating questionnaires to assess knowledge, attitude, and performance toward obesity among Iranian adults and adolescents: TABASSOM study. ARYA Atheroscler 2012; 7(Special Issue): S132-S137.
- 17. Carnell S, Edwards C, Croker H, Boniface D, Wardle J. Parental perceptions of overweight in 3-5 y olds. Int J Obes (Lond) 2005; 29(4): 353-5.
- 18. Wake M, Salmon L, Waters E, Wright M, Hesketh K. Parent-reported health status of overweight and obese Australian primary school children: a cross-sectional population survey. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2002; 26(5): 717-24.
- **19.** Huang JS, Becerra K, Oda T, Walker E, Xu R, Donohue M, et al. Parental ability to discriminate the weight status of children: results of a survey. Pediatrics 2007; 120(1): e112-e119.
- **20.** Eckstein KC, Mikhail LM, Ariza AJ, Thomson JS, Millard SC, Binns HJ. Parents' perceptions of their child's weight and health. Pediatrics 2006; 117(3): 681-90.
- **21.** He M, Evans A. Are parents aware that their children are overweight or obese? Do they care? Can Fam Physician 2007; 53(9): 1493-9.
- **22.** Rhee KE, De Lago CW, Arscott-Mills T, Mehta SD, Davis RK. Factors associated with parental readiness to make changes for overweight children. Pediatrics 2005; 116(1): e94-101.
- **23.** Miller JC, Grant AM, Drummond BF, Williams SM, Taylor RW, Goulding A. DXA measurements confirm that parental perceptions of elevated adiposity in young children are poor. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2007; 15(1): 165-71.
- **24.** Lampard AM, Byrne SM, Zubrick SR, Davis EA. Parents' concern about their children's weight. Int J Pediatr Obes 2008; 3(2): 84-92.
- **25.** Chaimovitz R, Issenman R, Moffat T, Persad R. Body perception: do parents, their children, and their children's physicians perceive body image differently? J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2008; 47(1): 76-80.
- 26. Campbell MW, Williams J, Hampton A, Wake M.

Maternal concern and perceptions of overweight in Australian preschool-aged children. Med J Aust 2006; 184(6): 274-7.

- 27. Jones AR, Parkinson KN, Drewett RF, Hyland RM, Pearce MS, Adamson AJ. Parental perceptions of weight status in children: the Gateshead Millennium Study. Int J Obes (Lond) 2011; 35(7): 953-62.
- 28. Tschamler JM, Conn KM, Cook SR, Halterman JS. Underestimation of children's weight status: views of parents in an urban community. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2010; 49(5): 470-6.
- **29.** Muhammad NA, Omar K, Shah SA, Muthupalaniappen LA, Arshad F. Parental perception of their children's weight status, and its association with their nutrition and obesity knowledge. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr 2008; 17(4): 597-602.
- **30.** Wald ER, Ewing LJ, Cluss P, Goldstrohm S, Cipriani L, Colborn DK, et al. Parental perception of children's weight in a paediatric primary care setting. Child Care Health Dev 2007; 33(6): 738-43.
- **31.** Nazario Rodriguez IJ, Figueroa WI, Rosado J, Parrilla IC. Perception of parents regarding their children's weight. Bol Asoc Med P R 2008; 100(2): 33-8.
- **32.** De La OA, Jordan KC, Ortiz K, Moyer-Mileur LJ, Stoddard G, Friedrichs M, et al. Do parents accurately perceive their child's weight status? J Pediatr Health Care 2009; 23(4): 216-21.
- **33.** Maximova K, McGrath JJ, Barnett T, O'Loughlin J, Paradis G, Lambert M. Do you see what I see? Weight status misperception and exposure to obesity among children and adolescents. Int J Obes (Lond) 2008; 32(6): 1008-15.
- **34.** Taveras EM, Gortmaker SL, Mitchell KF, Gillman MW. Parental perceptions of overweight counseling in primary care: the roles of race/ethnicity and parent overweight. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2008; 16(8): 1794-801.
- **35.** Doolen J, Alpert PT, Miller SK. Parental disconnect between perceived and actual weight status of children: a metasynthesis of the current research. J Am Acad Nurse Pract 2009; 21(3): 160-6.
- **36.** Moadab MH, Kelishadi R, Hashemipour M, Amini M, Poursafa P. The prevalence of impaired fasting glucose and type 2 diabetes in a population-based sample of overweight/obese children in the Middle East. Pediatr Diabetes 2010; 11(2): 101-6.
- **37.** Motlagh ME, Kelishadi R, Ziaoddini H, Mirmoghtadaee P, Poursafa P, Ardalan G, et al. Secular trends in the national prevalence of overweight and obesity during 2007-2009 in 6year-old Iranian children. J Res Med Sci 2011; 16(8): 979-84.
- **38.** Behzadnia S, Vahidshahi K, Hamzeh HS, Anvari S, Ehteshami S. Obesity and related factors in 7-12 year-old elementary school students during 2009-

2010 in Sari, Iran. Med Glas Ljek komore Zenicko -doboj kantona 2012; 9(1): 86-90.

- **39.** Kajbaf TZ, Asar S, Alipoor MR. Relationship between obesity and asthma symptoms among children in Ahvaz, Iran: a cross sectional study. Ital J Pediatr 2011; 37: 1.
- **40.** Hajian-Tilaki KO, Sajjadi P, Razavi A. Prevalence of overweight and obesity and associated risk factors in urban primary-school children in Babol, Islamic Republic of Iran. East Mediterr Health J 2011; 17(2): 109-14.
- **41.** Kelishadi R, Mohammadifard N, Sarrafzadegan N, Nouri F, Pashmi R, Bahonar A, et al. The effects of a comprehensive community trial on cardiometabolic risk factors in adolescents: Isfahan Healthy Heart Program. ARYA Atheroscler 2012; 7(4): 184-90.
- **42.** Sarrafzadegan N, Baghaei A, Sadri Gh, Kelishadi R, Malekafzali H, Boshtam M, et al. Isfahan healthy heart program: Evaluation of comprehensive, community-based interventions for

non-communicable disease prevention. Prevention and Control 2006; 2(2): 73-84.

- **43.** Puhl RM, Peterson JL, Luedicke J. Parental perceptions of weight terminology that providers use with youth. Pediatrics 2011; 128(4): e786-e793.
- 44. Klesges RC, Stein RJ, Eck LH, Isbell TR, Klesges LM. Parental influence on food selection in young children and its relationships to childhood obesity. Am J Clin Nutr 1991; 53(4): 859-64.
- **45.** Contento IR, Basch C, Shea S, Gutin B, Zybert P, Michela JL, et al. Relationship of mothers' food choice criteria to food intake of preschool children: identification of family subgroups. Health Educ Q 1993; 20(2): 243-59.

How to cite this article: Sarrafzadegan N, Rabiei K, Nouri F, Mohammadifard N, Moattar F, Roohafza H, Haghjooy Javanmard Sh, Zarfeshani S, Pourmoghaddas M. **Parental perceptions on weight status of their children.** ARYA Atheroscler 2013; 9(1): 61-9.

Differences in the prevalence of metabolic syndrome in boys and girls based on various definitions

Nizal Sarrafzadegan⁽¹⁾, <u>Mojgan Gharipour⁽²⁾</u>, Masoumeh Sadeghi⁽³⁾, Fatemeh Nouri⁽⁴⁾, Sedigheh Asgary⁽⁵⁾, Sonia Zarfeshani⁽⁶⁾

Original Article

Abstract

BACKGROUND: The prevalence of metabolic syndrome (MetS) is increasing among children and adolescents. However, the prevalence of this disorder varies based on its different definitions. This study aimed to determine the prevalence of MetS in Iranian adolescents in junior high and high schools according to the definitions provided by the International Diabetes Federation (IDF) and De Ferranti.

METHODS: Overall, 1039 junior high school and 953 high school students were selected using multistage random sampling. Demographic data was collected using validated questionnaires. Fasting blood sugar, total cholesterol, triglyceride, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) levels were determined. Waist circumference and blood pressure were measured by trained individuals. Subjects with MetS were selected according to two definitions provided by the IDF and De Ferranti. Chi-square and Fisher's exact tests were used to compare the prevalence of MetS and its components based on sex, school level, and the two definitions.

RESULTS: The mean age of junior high and high school students was $13.11 \pm 1.21ad 15.93 \pm 1.07$ years old, respectively. The prevalence of MetS among all participants was 4.8% and 12.7% according to the definitions by the IDF and De Ferranti, respectively. It was significantly higher among boys compared to girls. According to the IDF definition, low HDL-C and hypertension were the most frequent components. Based on the De Ferranti, abdominal obesity and hypertriglyceridemia were the most frequent components.

CONCLUSION: The prevalence of MetS was higher in both groups of students based on De Ferranti definition compared to the IDF definition. The prevalence was not significantly different in boys and girls. Further studies to investigate the most suitable definition of MetS for Iranian adolescents are necessary.

Keywords: Metabolic Syndrome, Adolescence, International Diabetes Federation and De Ferranti

Date of submission: 02 Dec 2012, Date of acceptance: 02 Feb 2013

Introduction

The prevalence of metabolic syndrome (MetS) is on the rise as a result of the global epidemic of obesity among children and adolescents.¹ There are different definitions of MetS including those provided by the Third National Health and Nutritional Survey (NHANES III), the International Diabetes Federation (IDF), and the World Health Organization (WHO).^{2,3} The prevalence of MetS differs within the same population based on each definition.^{4,5} Different studies have shown that MetS increases with age, but the frequency depends on the studied population and the applied definition. The

¹⁻ Professor, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Centre, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

²⁻ PhD Candidate, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Centre, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

³⁻ Associate Professor, Rehabilitation Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁴⁻ Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Centre, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁵⁻ Physiology Research Center, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁶⁻ Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran Correspondence to: Mojgan Gharipour, Email: gharipour@crc.mui.ac.ir

NHANES IIIreported the prevalence of MetS as 4.2% in teenagers.6 A study on 9-10 year-old children in Tehran (Iran) suggested the prevalence of MetS based on IDF, NHANES III, the American Heart Association (AHA), and Adult Treatment Panel III (ATP III) as 1.5%, 5.9%, 17.8%, and 5.8%, respectively. It found the values to be significantly higher in boys than in girls. It also showed the prevalence of MetS based on the ATP III definition to be 2.2% among normal weight children and 62.2% among obese children.7 Weiss et al. showed that increased prevalence of MetS was directly related to obesity in children and adolescents.8 The difference in the frequency of this syndrome in children and adolescents is related to different definitions used.5,9-11 The cut-off point specified for MetS definition differs probably due to the lack of a gold standard for the diagnosis of MetS in adolescents. The place of residence is also important in determining the prevalence of MetS. A previous study calculated the prevalence of MetS in urban and rural adults of Isfahan (Iran) as 24.2% and 19.5%, respectively.12

The definitions developed by IDF and De Ferranti and Osganian⁵ (which we call the De Ferranti's definition throughout this paper) appear to be more efficient for determining the prevalence of MetS in adolescents.3-5 Increasing prevalence of MetS has an important role in the increased prevalence of other diseases and mortality at older ages. To the best of our knowledge, no Iranian study has evaluated MetS in school children based on the two mentioned definitions. Due to the absence of estimates of the prevalence of the MetS using the mentioned definitions, we analyzed data from an American sample of children and adolescents to estimate the prevalence of the syndrome and to examine demographic variation in its prevalence. Our results provide the first data of the prevalence of the MetS using the definitions provided by the pediatric IDF and De Ferranti among a representative sample of Iranian adolescents.

Materials and Methods

This study was a part of the Healthy Heart from Childhood (HHC) project which was in turn one of the 10 projects forming the Isfahan Healthy Heart Program (IHHP) conducted from 2000 to 2007 in Isfahan, Najafabad, and Arak (all in Iran).^{13,14} The IHHP was a community-based interventional program that was performed to prevent and control cardiovascular diseases and to promote healthy lifestyle. While the intervention community comprised urban and rural regions in Isfahan and Najafabad, Arak was studied as the control area. Details relating to the methodology, sampling, and study populations of HCC are noted elsewhere.¹⁵

In summary, 1039 junior high school and 953 high school students in Isfahan and Najafabad were selected by multistage random sampling. Validated questionnaires were used to collect sociodemographic data. Parents of all participating students signed informed consent forms. This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center (a WHO collaborating center).

Fasting blood samples were taken from all participants to measure blood sugar, total cholesterol, and triglyceride levels using the enzymatic methods. The amount of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) was determined by heparin-manganese precipitation. LDL was estimated using the Friedewald equation.15 All tests were performed at the laboratory of the Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center which had been validated by national and international authorities. In order to measure weight, height, and waist circumference (WC), the participants were asked to wear light clothes and to take off their shoes. They stood upright on a scale after it had been reset and their weight was measured to a standard error of 1%. The participants' right hand blood pressure was measured twice after a five-minute rest and the mean value was recorded as their blood pressure. All measurements were performed by trained individuals.

MetS was defined according to the definitions suggested by the IDF and De Ferranti.³⁻⁵ The IDF defines MetS as the presence of at least three of the following criteria: 1) WC $\geq 90^{\text{th}}$ percentile, 2) serum triglyceride $\geq 150 \text{ mg/dl}$, 3) HDL-C < 40 mg/dl, 4) systolic and diastolic blood pressure $\geq 90^{\text{th}}$ percentile, and 5) fasting blood sugar (FBS) > 100 mg/dl. De Ferranti De Ferranti consider all the above-mentioned criteria except for WC $\geq 75^{\text{th}}$ percentile and serum triglyceride > 100 mg/dl.⁵

Statistical analysis

Data was entered in Epi Info 2000 and analyzed with SPSS for Windows 15.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Comparisons of the prevalence of MetS based on sex in the two school levels were performed using chi-square test and Fisher's exact tests (if required). P values less than 0.05 were considered significant.

Results

Of the 978 female adolescents (500 junior high

school and 478 high school students) and 1014 male adolescents (539 junior high school and 475 high school students), 1532 students were from urban areas and 460 from rural regions. The mean age of the junior high school and high school students was 13.11 ± 1.21 and 15.93 ± 1.07 years old, respectively.

In general, the prevalence of MetS was 4.8% based on the IDF's definition and 12.7% based on the De Ferranti's definition (Table 1). Based on the IDF's definition, the prevalence of MetS in boys of all grades was significantly higher than in girls. However, there was no significant relation between the prevalence of MetS and school grade either boys or girls. Similarly, the definition provided by De Ferranti revealed the prevalence of MetS to be significantly higher in male junior high school students than in girls of the same level (15.8% vs. 10.2%; P = 0.012). However, no significant difference was observed between boys and girls in high school (11.5% vs. 13.0%; P = 0.510). Furthermore, the overall prevalence of MetS was higher in all grades and both sexes according to the De Ferranti's definition compared to the IDF's definition (13.2 and 12.3 vs. 5.3 and 4.2).

Table 2 shows the components of MetS stratified based on sex, school, and the two definitions. Using both definitions, the prevalence hypertriglyceridemia, low of HDL-C, and hypertension was higher than other components. Based on the IDF's definition, low HDL-C and hypertension and based on the De Ferranti's abdominal definition, obesity and hypertriglyceridemia were the most prevalent components. In junior high school students, hypertension and high FBS level were significantly higher in boys than in girls. Moreover, boys in junior high schools had significantly higher blood pressure than boys in high schools. Although the prevalence of MetS in male and female high school students was not significantly different, a significantly higher prevalence was observed in boys in junior high schools than in the girls of the same age.

Base on the IDF's definition, the frequency of hypertriglyceridemia in girls was higher in junior high schools than in high schools (15.1% vs. 6.4%; P < 0.001). In addition, the frequency of hypertriglyceridemia in boys was significantly higher than that in girls (P = 0.003). Based on the De Ferranti's definition. the frequency of hypertriglyceridemia in girls in junior high schools was higher than that in boys of the same age and higher than that in high school girls. Using both definitions resulted in significantly higher frequency of abdominal obesity among junior high school boys than in girls (P < 0.001). However, this difference was not significant in high school students.

Discussion

This was the first study to compare the prevalence of MetS in female and male junior high school and high school students from two districts in Iran based on definitions provided by the IDF and De Ferranti. The prevalence of MetS was three-fold higher when our measurements were based on the De Ferranti's definition compared to the IDF's definition irrespective of sex and school grade. Previous studies on MetS in adolescents and adults have reported different results in different parts of the world. The prevalence of MetS has been calculated as 3.0-11.0% in Europe,¹⁶ 2.5-12.9% in the U.S.,¹⁷ 3.6% in Brazil,¹⁸ and 4.8% in Greece.¹⁹

Metabolic syndrome		, 	Girls	Boys	Total	Р
Based on the IDF's	Junior high school	Number	14	37	51	0.005
definition		Percent (SE)	3.1 (0.8)	7.2 (1.1)	5.3 (0.7)	0.005
	High school	Number	11	28	39	0 000
		Percent (SE)	2.4 (0.7)	5.9 (1.1)	4.2 (0.7)	0.008
	Total	Number	25	65	90	<
		Percent (SE)	2.8 (0.5)	6.6 (0.8)	4.8 (0.5)	0.001
	Р		0.530	0.430	0.280	
Based on the De	Junior high school	Number	46	81	127	0.012
Ferranti's definition		Percent (SE)	10.2 (1.4)	15.8 (1.6)	13.2 (1.1)	0.012
	High school	Number	52	61	113	0.510
		Percent (SE)	11.5 (1.5)	13.0 (1.5)	12.3 (1.1)	0.510
	Total	Number	98	142	240	0.022
		Percent (SE)	10.9 (1.0)	14.4 (1.1)	12.7 (0.8)	0.022
	Р		0.540	0.210	0.540	

Table 1. Prevalence of metabolic syndrome based on sex and school level according to the definitions by the International Diabetes Federation (IDF) and De Ferranti and Osganian⁵

SE: Standard error

P values were obtained from chi-square test.

Component of me	etabolic syndro	ome	Girls	Boys	Total	Р
High blood	Junior high	Number	117	167	284	0.007
pressure	school	Percent (SE)	23.7 (1.9)	31.2 (2.0)	27.6 (1.4)	0.007
	High	Number	83	87	170	0.700
	school	Percent (SE)	17.7 (1.8)	18.4 (1.8)	18.0 (1.3)	0.780
	Total	Number	200	254	454	0.000
		Percent (SE)	20.8 (1.3)	25.2 (1.4)	23.0 (0.9)	0.020
		P	0.021	< 0.001	< 0.001	
Low high-	Junior high	Number	114	133	247	0.07
density	school	Percent (SE)	25.3 (2.1)	25.8 (1.9)	25.6 (1.4)	0.87
lipoprotein	High	Number	102	147	249	0.004
cholesterol	school	Percent (SE)	22.7 (1.9)	31.3 (2.1)	27.1 (1.5)	0.004
	Total	Number	216	280	496	0.021
		Percent (SE)	24.0 (1.4)	28.4 (1.4)	26.3 (1.0)	0.031
		Р	0.36	0.056	0.45	
High fasting	Junior high	Number	11	38	49	0.001
blood sugar	school	Percent (SE)	2.4 (0.7)	7.4 (1.1)	5.1 (0.7)	0.001
	High	Number	15	28	43	0.050
	school	Percent (SE)	3.3 (0.8)	5.9 (1.1)	4.6 (0.7)	0.058
	Total	Number	26	66	92	0.001
		Percent (SE)	2.9 (0.5)	6.7 (0.8)	4.9 (0.5)	< 0.001
		Р	0.440	0.370	0.670	
High triglyceride	Junior high	Number	68	63	131	0.400
base on the	school	Percent (SE)	15.1 (1.7)	12.2 (1.4)	13.6 (1.1)	0.190
IDF's definition	High	Number	29	57	86	0.000
	school	Percent (SE)	6.4 (1.1)	12.1 (1.5)	9.3 (0.9)	0.003
	Total	Number	97	120	217	0.040
		Percent (SE)	10.8(1.0)	12.2(1.0)	11.5(0.7)	0.340
		P	< 0.001	0.940	0.004	
High TG	Junior high	Number	244	232	476	0.004
Base on De	school	Percent (SE)	54.2 (2.3)	45.0 (2.2)	49.3 (1.6)	0.004
Ferranti's	High	Number	179	199	378	0.450
definition	school	Percent (SE)	39.7 (2.3)	42.2 (2.3)	41.0 (1.6)	0.450
	Total	Number	423	431	854	0.1.5
		Percent (SE)	46.9 (1.7)	43.7 (1.6)	45.2 (1.1)	0.15
		Р	< 0.001	0.360	< 0.001	
High waist	Junior high	Number	30	65	95	0.001
circumference	school	Percent (SE)	6.1 (1.1)	12.1 (1.4)	9.2 (0.9)	0.001
base on the	High	Number	35	49	84	0 1 0 0
IDF's definition	school	Percent (SE)	7.4 (1.2)	10.4 (1.4)	8.9 (0.9)	0.100
	Total	Number	65	114	179	0.001
		Percent (SE)	6.7 (0.8)	11.3 (1.0)	9.1 (0.6)	< 0.001
		Р	0.410	0.390	0.810	
High waist	Junior high	Number	79	141	220	0.001
circumference	school	Percent (SE)	16.0 (1.6)	26.3 (1.9)	21.3 (1.3)	< 0.001
base on the De	High	Number	92	108	200	0.100
Ferranti's	school	Percent (SE)	19.5 (1.8)	23.0 (1.9)	21.2 (1.3)	0.190
definition	Total	Number	171	249	420	0.001
		Percent (SE)	17.7 (1.2)	24.8 (1.4)	21.3 (0.9)	< 0.001
		Р	0.150	0.220	0.940	

Table 2. Frequency of metabolic syndrome components based on sex and school level according to the definitions by the International Diabetes Federation (IDF) and De Ferranti and Osganian⁵

P values were obtained from chi-square test.

The prevalence of MetS in Germany was 4.0%,9.5%, 7.6%, and 9.6% based on a definition suggested by Cook et al.,⁹ the De Ferranti's definition, the Jolliffe and Janssen's definition,¹¹ and the IDF's definition, respectively.⁵

In the present study, based on both the De Ferranti's and the IDF's definitions, the prevalence of MetS was higher among boys than among girls in all grades. While based on the IDF's definition, the prevalence of MetS was higher in junior high school girls than in high school girls, evaluations based on the De Ferranti's definition did not show a similar significant difference. In contrast, applying the De Ferranti's definition revealed higher prevalence of MetS in junior high school boys than in high school boys. These differences are related to differences in the cut-off points for WC and serum triglycerides in the two definitions. The prevalence of hypertriglyceridemia was higher among girls than among boys in junior high schools using both definitions. This difference can be attributed to the age of puberty in girls which can affect triglyceride levels.

Various definitions of pediatric MetS have been used in different populations. Cook et al. reported lower prevalence in adolescents since they used more limited lipid and abdominal obesity cut-off points. They in fact translated the adult definition of MetS to pediatric percentiles. For instance, a higher triglyceride cut-off point of 110 mg/dl represents the 85th to 95th pediatric percentiles which is higher than the adult range (75th to 85th percentiles). The HDL-C level of 40 mg/dl represents the 10th to 25th percentiles in boys and the 10th to 15th percentiles in girls (lower than the 40th percentile in adults).9 Moreover, their waist circumference cut-off point of the 90th percentile9 is higher than the 75th percentile used in the present study. In contrast to other criteria, De Ferranti De Ferranti considered the effects of gender, age, and puberty and provided a pediatric definition based on the more inclusive ATP III adult criteria.5

The definitions suggested by De Ferranti and Osganian⁵ and the IDF have been used more commonly than other definitions of MetS in recent years. Although their prevalence and cut-off points differ, it seems that both definitions are effective in determining MetS in adolescents.²⁰ The advantage of the De Ferranti's definition is that it is completely based on the ATP III which is recommended as a standard definition for determining the prevalence of MetS in adults.² A study in Mashhad (Iran) reported the prevalence of MetS based on ATP III to be 6.5% in high school girls.²¹

Although the etiology of MetS is not yet known, factors such as genetics, metabolism, and several environmental factors affect its occurrence.²² The high prevalence of MetS in junior high schools compared to high schools can be attributed to the lifestyles of adolescents at this age, e.g. immobility,²³ interest in processed food, and entertainment devices such as computers and television. On the other hand, high school students pay more attention to their appearance, shape, and weight.

The importance of MetS in childhood is its impact on the health of adults. What is worrying about our studied population is the higher prevalence of other risk factors in junior high school students. In addition, we found higher prevalence of high blood pressure and FBS in junior high school boys than girls of the same age. Their prevalence was also higher among junior high school students than in high school students. Burns et al. showed that those who suffer from MetS in childhood will have systolic and diastolic hypertension, hypertriglyceridemia, and a higher body mass index in adulthood.24 A cohort study in Japan with seven years of follow-up indicated that as the number of MetS components increased at the beginning of the study, the probability of cardiovascular diseases increased in the following years.25

The prevalence of obesity, which is the starting point of acquiring MetS in children and adolescents, is increasing in most parts of the world, especially in developing countries.²⁶ Acquiring the Western lifestyle and reduced physical activity can be responsible in this regard. It seems that obesity in one family member impacts MetS in adolescents. According to previous research, having an overweight or obese family member increases the prevalence of MetS to 7.0% in the boys and 8.1% in the girls of the family.^{27,28} As obesity is turning into an epidemic among Iranian families,²² it is necessary to pay more attention to children's lifestyle.

Conclusion

Compared to the IDF's definition, employing the De Ferranti's definition resulted in higher prevalence of MetS among junior high and high school students. Furthermore, the prevalence of MetS was higher in boys than in girls. Hence, more attention has to be paid to the definition used in determining the prevalence of MetS in adolescents. Further studies may introduce a standard definition specific for different societies and age groups.

Acknowledgments

The IHHP was conducted by the Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center with the collaboration of Isfahan Provincial Health Office. It was supported by a grant (No. 31309304) from the Iranian Budget and Planning Organization, as well as the Deputy for Health of the Iranian Ministry of Health and Medical Education and the Iranian Heart Foundation. We are thankful to the mentioned organizations and collaborators from Najafabad Health Office and Arak University of Medical Sciences.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

References

- **1.** Zeitler PS, Nadeau KJ. Insulin Resistance: Childhood Precursors and Adult Disease. New York, NY: Springer; 2008.
- 2. Grundy SM, Cleeman JI, Daniels SR, Donato KA, Eckel RH, Franklin BA, et al. Diagnosis and management of the metabolic syndrome: an American Heart Association/National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Scientific Statement. Circulation 2005; 112(17): 2735-52.
- **3.** Zimmet P, Alberti KG, Kaufman F, Tajima N, Silink M, Arslanian S, et al. The metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents an IDF consensus report. Pediatr Diabetes 2007; 8(5): 299-306.
- **4.** Alberti KG, Zimmet P, Shaw J. Metabolic syndrome--a new world-wide definition. A Consensus Statement from the International Diabetes Federation. Diabet Med 2006; 23(5): 469-80.
- **5.** De Ferranti SD, Osganian SK. Epidemiology of paediatric metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diab Vasc Dis Res 2007; 4(4): 285-96.
- **6.** Duncan GE, Li SM, Zhou XH. Prevalence and trends of a metabolic syndrome phenotype among u.s. Adolescents, 1999-2000. Diabetes Care 2004; 27(10): 2438-43.
- 7. Chiti H, Hoseinpanah F, Mehrabi Y, Azizi F. The Prevalence of Metabolic Syndrome in Adolescents with Varying Degrees of Body Weight: Tehran Lipid and Glucose Study (TLGS). Iran J Endocrinol Metab 2009; 11(6): 625-37. [In Persian].
- **8.** Weiss R, Dziura J, Burgert TS, Tamborlane WV, Taksali SE, Yeckel CW, et al. Obesity and the metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents. N Engl J Med 2004; 350(23): 2362-74.
- **9.** Cook S, Weitzman M, Auinger P, Nguyen M, Dietz WH. Prevalence of a metabolic syndrome phenotype in adolescents: findings from the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey,

1988-1994. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2003; 157(8): 821-7.

- **10.** Calcaterra V, Klersy C, Muratori T, Telli S, Caramagna C, Scaglia F, et al. Prevalence of metabolic syndrome (MS) in children and adolescents with varying degrees of obesity. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2008; 68(6): 868-72.
- **11.** Jolliffe CJ, Janssen I. Development of age-specific adolescent metabolic syndrome criteria that are linked to the Adult Treatment Panel III and International Diabetes Federation criteria. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007; 49(8): 891-8.
- **12.** Sarrafzadegan N, Kelishadi R, Baghaei A, Hussein SG, Malekafzali H, Mohammadifard N, et al. Metabolic syndrome: an emerging public health problem in Iranian women: Isfahan Healthy Heart Program. Int J Cardiol 2008; 131(1): 90-6.
- **13.** Sarraf-Zadegan N, Sadri G, Malek AH, Baghaei M, Mohammadi FN, Shahrokhi S, et al. Isfahan Healthy Heart Programme: a comprehensive integrated community-based programme for cardiovascular disease prevention and control. Design, methods and initial experience. Acta Cardiol 2003; 58(4): 309-20.
- 14. Sarrafzadegan N, Baghaei A, Sadri Gh, Kelishadi R, Malekafzali H, Boshtam M, et al. Isfahan healthy heart program: Evaluation of comprehensive, community-based interventions for non-communicable disease prevention. Prevention and Control 2006; 2(2): 73-84.
- **15.** Kelishadi R, Mohammadifard N, Sarrazadegan N, Nouri F, Pashmi R, Bahonar A, et al. The effects of a comprehensive community trial on cardiometabolic risk factors in adolescents: Isfahan Healthy Heart Program. ARYA Atheroscler 2012; 7(4): 184-90.
- **16.** Di SC, Pivonello R, Pizza G, De RA, Lombardi G, Colao A, et al. Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in moderately-severely obese subjects with and without growth hormone deficiency. J Endocrinol Invest 2010; 33(3): 171-7.
- **17.** de Ferranti SD, Gauvreau K, Ludwig DS, Neufeld EJ, Newburger JW, Rifai N. Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in American adolescents: findings from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Circulation 2004; 110(16): 2494-7.
- **18.** Seki M, Matsuo T, Carrilho AJ. Prevalence of metabolic syndrome and associated risk factors in Brazilian schoolchildren. Public Health Nutr 2009; 12(7): 947-52.
- **19.** Athyros VG, Bouloukos VI, Pehlivanidis AN, Papageorgiou AA, Dionysopoulou SG, Symeonidis AN, et al. The prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in Greece: the MetS-Greece Multicentre Study. Diabetes Obes Metab 2005; 7(4): 397-405.
- 20. Moraes AC, Fulaz CS, Netto-Oliveira ER, Reichert

FF. Prevalence of metabolic syndrome in adolescents: a systematic review. Cad Saude Publica 2009; 25(6): 1195-202.

- **21.** Mirhosseini NZ, Yusoff NA, Shahar S, Parizadeh SM, Mobarhen MG, Shakery MT. Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome and its influencing factors among adolescent girls in Mashhad, Iran. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr 2009; 18(1): 131-6.
- **22.** Sarrafzadegan N, Kelishadi R, Siadat ZD, Esmaillzadeh A, Solhpour A, Shirani S, et al. Obesity and cardiometabolic risk factors in a representative population of Iranian adolescents and adults in comparison to a Western population: the Isfahan Healthy Heart Programme. Public Health Nutr 2010; 13(3): 314-23.
- **23.** CDC. Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance-United States, 2009. Surveillance Summaries 2010; 59(SS05): 1-142.
- 24. Burns TL, Letuchy EM, Paulos R, Witt J. Childhood predictors of the metabolic syndrome in middle-aged adults: the Muscatine study. J Pediatr 2009; 155(3): S5-26.
- **25.** Nakanishi N, Takatorige T, Fukuda H, Shirai K, Li W, Okamoto M, et al. Components of the metabolic syndrome as predictors of cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes in middle-aged Japanese men.

Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2004; 64(1): 59-70.

- **26.** Rouhani MH, Mirseifinezhad M, Omrani N, Esmaillzadeh A, Azadbakht L. Fast Food Consumption, Quality of Diet, and Obesity among Isfahanian Adolescent Girls. J Obes 2012; 2012: 597924.
- **27.** Lafortuna CL, Adorni F, Agosti F, De CA, Sievert K, Siegfried W, et al. Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome among extremely obese adolescents in Italy and Germany. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2010; 88(1): 14-21.
- **28.** Bosy-Westphal A, Onur S, Geisler C, Wolf A, Korth O, Pfeuffer M, et al. Common familial influences on clustering of metabolic syndrome traits with central obesity and insulin resistance: the Kiel obesity prevention study. Int J Obes (Lond) 2007; 31(5): 784-90.

How to cite this article: Sarrafzadegan N, Gharipour M, Sadeghi M, NouriF, Asgary S, Zarfeshani S. Differences in the prevalence of metabolic syndrome in boys and girls based on various definitions. ARYA Atheroscler 2013; 9(1): 70-6.

Socioeconomic characteristics and controlled hypertension: Evidence from Isfahan Healthy Heart Program

Mojgan Gharipour⁽¹⁾, Alireza Khosravi⁽²⁾, <u>Masoumeh Sadeghi⁽³⁾</u>, Hamidreza Roohafza⁽⁴⁾, Mohammad Hashemi⁽⁵⁾, Nizal Sarrafzadegan⁽⁶⁾

Original Article

Abstract

BACKGROUND: Hypertension is a major risk factor for cardiovascular diseases. It affects approximately 18.0% of Iranian adults. This study aimed to estimate age-adjusted prevalence of hypertension and its control among Iranian persons older 19 years of age. It also tried to find and socioeconomic factors associated with hypertension control in Iranian population.

METHODS: In Isfahan Healthy Heart Program (IHHP) subjects were selected by multistage random sampling. The participants completed questionnaires containing demographic information, lifestyle habits, medical history, and consumption of relevant medications, especially antihypertensive agents. Income, marital status, and educational level were considered as socioeconomic factors. Hypertension was defined as systolic blood pressure \geq 140 mmHg, diastolic blood pressure \geq 90 mmHg, or taking antihypertensive medications. Controlled hypertension was considered as systolic blood pressure < 140 mmHg and diastolic blood pressure < 90 mmHg among hypertensive subjects.

RESULTS: The prevalence of hypertension and controlled hypertension was 18.9% and 20.9%, respectively. We found significant relationships between hypertension and marital status, education, and income. At age \geq 65 years old, odds ratio (OR) was 19.09 [95% confidence interval (CI): 15.01-24.28] for hypertension. Middle family income (OR: 0.71; 95% CI: 0.58-0.87) and education level of 6-12 years (OR: 0.29; 95% CI: 0.25-0.35) were significantly associated with increased risk of hypertension (P = 0.001). Among subjects aging 65 years old or higher, the OR of controlled hypertension was 2.64 (95% CI: 1.61-4.33). Married subjects had a higher OR for controlled hypertension (OR: 2.19; 95% CI: 1.36-3.52). Obesity had no significant relationships with controlled hypertension.

CONCLUSION: The IHHP data showed significant relationships between some socioeconomic factors and controlled hypertension. Therefore, as current control rates for hypertension in Iran are clearly unacceptable, we recommend preventive measures to control hypertension in all social strata of the Iranian population.

Keywords: Socioeconomic Factor, High Blood Pressure, Control

Date of submission: 18 Oct 2012, Date of acceptance: 22 Dec 2012

Introduction

Hypertension is a serious public health problems in Iran with a prevalence of approximately 18.0% in Iranian adults.^{1,2} Since hypertension increases the

risk of non-communicable diseases such as heart disease and stroke, it is considered as the most important cause of death among Iranian population.^{3,4} Numerous studies have documented

6- Professor, Director of Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Correspondence to: Masoumeh Sadeghi, Email: sadeghimasoumeh@gmail.com

¹⁻ Researcher, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

²⁻ Associate Professor, Hypertension Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

³⁻ Associate Professor, Cardiac Rehabilitation Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁴⁻ Assistant Professor, Cardiac Rehabilitation Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁵⁻ Professor, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

the prevalence of hypertension in Iran during different periods.^{1,5,6} It seems that between 2000 and 2007, the prevalence of hypertension did not change, but control of hypertension increased among individuals with hypertension.1 Although awareness, treatment, and control of hypertension significantly improved from 2001 to 2007, almost half of adults with hypertension did not have controlled blood pressure.^{2,7} As hypertension plays an important role in cardiovascular diseases (CVD), the Isfahan Healthy Heart Program (IHHP), a community-based intervention program, was designed and implemented to prevent CVD and control its related risk factors by promoting healthy lifestyle.8 The IHHP used high risk intervention strategies on general population to prevent CVD. This study aimed to estimate the prevalence and control of age-adjusted hypertension among persons over 18 years of age and to determine their relationship with socioeconomic disparities in Iranian population.

Materials and Methods

As a secondary analysis of the IHHP, this study was conducted by Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center (Isfahan, Iran). Full details of the program have been reported elsewhere.⁹ Data of the last phase (2007) was used in this study. The methods were in accordance with ethical standards of the ethics committee of Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center. Trained interviewers completed questionnaires for each subject. The questionnaire contained demographic information, lifestyle habits,¹⁰ medical history, and consumption of relevant medications especially antihypertensive agents. Subsequently, the participants were invited to certain health centers where physical examination and blood sampling (after 12-14 hours of fasting) were carried out.¹¹

Marital status, education level, occupation, and income were considered as socioeconomic factors. Based on the Iranian education system, education was categorized as 0-5, 6-12 and more than 12 years. Monthly incomes of less than 300000, 300000 to 500000, higher than 500000 were considered as low, middle, and high, respectively. Since the definition of marriage varies according to different cultures, we categorizes the participants only as married and single (including separated, divorced, and widowed).

Blood pressure was calculated by averaging two blood pressure readings taken during the physical examination in the IHHP examination center.¹ Hypertension was defined as having systolic blood pressure (SBP) \geq 140 mmHg, having diastolic blood pressure (DBP) \geq 90 mmHg, or taking antihypertensive medications.¹ Controlled hypertension was defined as SBP < 140 mmHg and DBP < 90 mm Hg among hypertensive patients. The prevalence of hypertension and controlled hypertension was analyzed based on demographic factors (sex, age, marital status, education level, and family income) and health factors (diabetes and obesity).

Univariate t-tests were used to assess significant differences between groups. All significance tests were two-sided (level of significance = 0.05). Multivariate regression tests were used to determine prognostic factors for hypertension and controlled hypertension.

Results

The prevalence of hypertension and controlled hypertension among our participants was 18.9% and 20.9%, respectively. In 2007, there were significant relations between the prevalence of hypertension and age, marital status, education, income, diabetes, and obesity (Table 1). The prevalence of hypertension increased with increasing age and decreased with higher education and income level. Diabetic subjects had a significantly higher prevalence of hypertension than those without diabetes (51.9% vs. 15.3%). A similar difference was observed between obese and nonobese individuals (32.7% vs. 14.3%).

The overall age-adjusted prevalence of hypertension among controlled hypertensive subjects was 20.9% (Table 2). Unemployed 19-44 year-old individuals with higher education had a lower prevalence of controlled hypertension than older subjects. The prevalence of controlled blood pressure in women was significantly higher than men (29.2% vs. 12.7%; P = 0.001). Obese and nonobese participants did not have a significant difference in terms of controlled hypertension (21.5% vs. 20.2%).

Univariate analysis showed that poor control of hypertension was related only with employment among all social factors. Middle-income patients had approximately two times higher probability to have controlled hypertension than uncontrolled hypertension (unadjusted odds ratio: 1.99; 95% confidence interval: 1.2-3.31).

Multivariate logistic regression showed older patients (\geq 65 years old) to have more than fifteen fold increased risk for hypertension than younger patients (adjusted odds ratio: 14.96; 95% confidence interval: 11.11-20.14).

Characteristics	Uncontrol	ieu nypertension	Controlled hypertension			
	n (%)	OR (95%CI)	n (%)	OR (95%CI)		
Sex						
Female	404 (17.6)	Reference	116 (29.2)	Reference		
Male	404 (18.0)	1.02 (0.88-1.19)	51 (2.7)	$0.35(0.25-0.51)^*$		
Age (years)	· · · ·		. ,	. , ,		
19-44	227 (7.2)	Reference	27 (12.0)	R		
44-64	341 (35.4)	7.10 (5.88-8.59)	77 (23.0)	2.19 (1.36-3.52)**		
≥ 65	240 (59.6)	19.09 (15.01-24.28)*	63 (26.5)	$2.64(1.61-4.33)^*$		
Marital Status		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	· · · ·	× , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		
Married	660 (19.2)	Reference	133 (20.5)	Reference		
Single	148 (13.6)	1.51 (1.25-1.83)*	34 (23.0)	1.16 (0.76-1.78)		
Education (years)	× /	× /	~ /	~ /		
0-5	486 (30.5)	Reference	110 (22.9)	Reference		
6-12	235 (11.5)	0.29 (0.25-0.35)	42 (18.1)	$0.74(0.50-1.11)^{*}$		
> 12	85 (9.6)	0.24 (0.19-0.31)	15 (17.9)	0.73 (0.40-1.33)		
Employment	× /		× /	~ /		
Housewife	381 (19.7)	Reference	109 (29.1)	Reference		
Manual jobs	120 (12.8)	$0.59 (0.48 - 0.75)^*$	8 (6.7)	$0.17 (0.08 - 0.37)^*$		
Non-manual jobs	129 (15.6)	0.75 (0.60-0.93)	16 (12.5)	0.35 (0.19-0.62)		
Retired	134 (53.2)	0.27 (0.27-1.37)	29 (22.1)	$0.57(0.37-0.89)^{**}$		
Unemployed	32 (11.5)	-	2 (6.3)	-		
Student	5 (1.9)	-	1 (20.0)	-		
Family income	. ,					
Low	619 (19.5)	Reference	122 (19.9)	Reference		
Middle	141 (14.7)	0.71 (0.580-0.87)	37 (26.4)	1.44 (0.94-2.20)		
High	46 (12.2)	0.57 (0.42-0.79)	8 (18.2)	0.89 (0.41-1.97)		
Obesity		× ,	· · · ·	× , , ,		
No	520 (14.3)	Reference	104 (20.2)	Reference		
Yes	269 (32.7)	$2.90(2.44-3.45)^{*}$	57 (21.5)	1.58 (0.75-1.55)		
DD 011 ' 01 C1 '	1 + D 1 1	1.0 1.	. ,	· /		

OR: Odds ratio; CI: confidence interval * P value obtained from chi-square test. ** Data expressed as OR (95% CI) was obtained from univariate logistic regression

Variable	Uncontrolled hyp	pertension	Controlled hy	pertension
	OR (95% CI)	Р	OR (95% CI)	Р
Sex				
Male/female	2.05 (1.24-3.39)	0.005	0.32 (0.12-0.93)	0.036
Age (years)	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,			
19-44	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
44-64	5.29 (4.25-6.59)	< 0.001	2.20 (1.29-3.74)	0.004
≥ 65	14.96 (11.11-20.14)	< 0.001	3.36 (1.80-6.29)	< 0.001
Marital status	× ,		× ,	
Married vs. single	0.93 (0.73-1.19)	0.582	0.66 (0.40-1.10)	0.108
Education (years)	× , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
0-5	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
6-12	0.88 (0.70-1.11)	0.286	1.36 (0.83-2.25)	0.228
> 12	0.89 (0.63-1.26)	0.512	1.48 (0.67-3.30)	0.332
Income	× , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
Low	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
Middle	1.06 (0.83-1.35)	0.662	1.99 (1.2-3.31)	0.008
High	1.00 (0.68-1.47)	0.986	1.45 (0.58-3.62)	0.424
Job	(,		(
Housewife	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
Manual jobs	0.57 (0.33-0.96)	0.035	0.67 (0.22-2.05)	0.477
Non-manual jobs	0.52 (0.31-0.89)	0.017	1.04 (0.34-3.18)	0.944
Retired	_	_	_	-
Unemployed	-	_	-	_
Student	-	_	-	_
Comorbid disease				
Obesity	2.34 (1.91-2.87)	< 0.001	0.96(0.65-1.42)	0.842

OR: Odds ratio; CI: confidence interval Data expressed as OR (95% CI) was obtained from multivariate logistic regression adjusted for other variables. Variables entered in the model were sex and age in the first step and marital status, educational level, income, job, diabetes, and obesity in the second step.

Discussion

The results of this study demonstrated significant relationships between socioeconomic factors, such as income and education, and controlled hypertension. We found older housewives with lower education to have a greater tendency to control their hypertension. On the other hand, obesity and diabetes were not related with controlled hypertension. Unlike our results, other studies showed controlled hypertension was much less common among older persons and exsmokers.12

In the present study, controlled hypertension was more common among subjects with middle income. However, in contrast with other studies, we failed to establish a significant relationship between income and controlled hypertension. A previous research suggested patients at higher income level to have better awareness and treatment.¹³ Apparently, better awareness and control of hypertension have no strong relationship with income among Iranian population. According to our findings, lower level of education (e.g. having primary school degree) was associated with awareness about control of hypertension. This is justifiable considering the role of mass media in improving self-care and selfawareness among the target audience. Controlled hypertension was more common among subjects aware of their hypertension diagnosis and those who undertook lifestyle modification.¹² Tian et al. reported controlled hypertension to be much less common among older persons and ex-smokers.12

Many studies have shown interactions between blood pressure and socioeconomic factors, lifestyle, and female hormones. Improved lifestyle following the implementation of IHHP interventions14 resulted in significantly better awareness, treatment, and control of hypertension in all groups with different body mass indexes (BMI).¹ Nevertheless, Khosravi et al. emphasized on the necessity of further educational programs on hypertension control for Iranian youth.1 Additionally, the First National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey revealed that compared with younger hypertensive individuals, older patients have a lower control rate despite being equally likely to be treated.¹⁵⁻¹⁷ On the contrary, another study reported higher awareness and control rates among older hypertensive people and found patients of younger age to be undertreated.18 Therefore, close monitoring of blood pressure and relevant adjustment of ntihypertensive treatment are necessary to reduce the risk of cardiovascular events in patients.¹⁹

Obesity seems to have be associated with uncontrolled hypertension among male hypertensive patients of higher age. In women, on the other hand, abdominal obesity (high waist circumference) plays a major role.²⁰ In fact, a strong relationship between decreased abdominal obesity and controlled hypertension has been reported specifically in women.²¹ Many studies proposed the benefits of comprehensive programs to improve blood pressure control after identification, followup, and lifestyle modification in hypertensive subjects.²²

Conclusion

As current control rates for hypertension in Iran are clearly unacceptable, lifestyle modifications, i.e. maintaining a healthy body weight, adopting a diet rich in fruits, vegetables, and low-fat dairy products with reduced levels of saturated and total fat, reducing sodium intake, and participating in regular aerobic physical activity, are recommended in all social groups.

Acknowledgements

This program was supported by a grant (No. 31309304) from the Iranian Budget and Planning Organization, as well as the Deputy for Health of the Iranian Ministry of Health and Medical Education and Iranian Heart Foundation. It was conducted by Isfahan Cardiovascular Institute with the collaboration of Isfahan Provincial Health Center, both affiliated to Isfahan University of Medical Sciences.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

References

- 1. Khosravi A, Mehr GK, Kelishadi R, Shirani S, Gharipour M, Tavassoli A, et al. The impact of a 6-year comprehensive community trial on the awareness, treatment and control rates of hypertension in Iran: experiences from the Isfahan healthy heart program. BMC Cardiovasc Disord 2010; 10: 61.
- Sarrafzadegan N, Gharipour M, Ramezani MA, Rabiei K, Zolfaghar B, Tavassoli AA, et al. Metabolic syndrome and health-related quality of life in Iranian population. J Res Med Sci 2011; 16(3): 254-61.
- **3.** Hatmi ZN, Tahvildari S, Gafarzadeh MA, Sabouri KA. Prevalence of coronary artery disease risk

factors in Iran: a population based survey. BMC Cardiovasc Disord 2007; 7: 32.

- **4.** Haghdoost AA, Sadeghirad B, Rezazadehkermani M. Epidemiology and heterogeneity of hypertension in Iran: a systematic review. Arch Iran Med 2008; 11(4): 444-52.
- Erem C, Hacihasanoglu A, Kocak M, Deger O, Topbas M. Prevalence of prehypertension and hypertension and associated risk factors among Turkish adults: Trabzon Hypertension Study. J Public Health (Oxf) 2009; 31(1): 47-58.
- **6.** Gharipour M, Kelishadi R, Khosravi A, Shirani S, Masjedi M, Sarrafzadegan N.The impact of a community trial on the pharmacological treatment in theindividuals with the metabolic syndrome: findings from the Isfahan Healthy Heart Program, 2001-2007. Arch Med Sci 2012; 8(6):1009-17.
- Shirani S, Gharipour M, Khosravi A, Kelishadi R, Habibi HR, Abdalvand A, Sarrafzadegan N. Gender differences in the prevalence of hypertension in a representative sample of Iranian population: the Isfahan Healthy Heart Program. Acta Biomed. 2011; 82(3): 223-9.
- 8. Sarrafzadegan N, Azadbakht L, Mohammadifard N, Esmaillzadeh A, Safavi M, Sajadi F, et al. Do lifestyle interventions affect dietary diversity score in the general population? Public Health Nutr 2009; 12(10): 1924-30.
- **9.** Sarraf-Zadegan N, Sadri G, Malek AH, Baghaei M, Mohammadi FN, Shahrokhi S, et al. Isfahan Healthy Heart Programme: a comprehensive integrated community-based programme for cardiovascular disease prevention and control. Design, methods and initial experience. Acta Cardiol 2003; 58(4): 309-20.
- **10.** Sarrafzadegan N, Baghaei A, Sadri G, Kelishadi R, Malekafzali H, Boshtam M, et al. Isfahan healthy heart program: Evaluation of comprehensive, community-based interventions for noncommunicable disease prevention. Prevention and Control 2006; 2(2): 73-84.
- **11.** Khosravi AR, Rowzati M, Gharipour M, Fesharaki MG, Shirani S, Shahrokhi S, Jozan M, Khosravi E, Khosravi Z, Sarrafzadegan N. Hypertension control in industrial employees: findings from SHIMSCO study. ARYA Atheroscler 2012; 7(4): 191-6.
- **12.** Tian S, Dong GH, Wang D, Liu MM, Lin Q, Meng XJ, et al. Factors associated with prevalence, awareness, treatment and control of hypertension in urban adults from 33 communities in China: the CHPSNE Study. Hypertens Res 2011; 34(10): 1087-92.
- Wang TJ, Vasan RS. Epidemiology of uncontrolled hypertension in the United States. Circulation 2005;

112(11): 1651-62.

- 14. Sarrafzadegan N, Kelishadi R, Esmaillzadeh A, Mohammadifard N, Rabiei K, Roohafza H, et al. Do lifestyle interventions work in developing countries? Findings from the Isfahan Healthy Heart Program in the Islamic Republic of Iran. Bull World Health Organ 2009; 87(1): 39-50.
- **15.** Vargas CM, Ingram DD, Gillum RF. Incidence of hypertension and educational attainment: the NHANES I epidemiologic followup study. First National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Am J Epidemiol 2000; 152(3): 272-8.
- 16. Hyman DJ, Pavlik VN. Characteristics of patients with uncontrolled hypertension in the United States. N Engl J Med 2001; 345(7): 479-86.
- **17.** Barker WH, Mullooly JP, Linton KL. Trends in hypertension prevalence, treatment, and control: in a well-defined older population. Hypertension 1998; 31(1 Pt 2): 552-9.
- **18.** Hajjar I, Kotchen TA. Trends in prevalence, awareness, treatment, and control of hypertension in the United States, 1988-2000. JAMA 2003; 290(2): 199-206.
- **19.** Ben-Hamouda-Chihaoui M, Kanoun F, Ftouhi B, Lamine-Chtioui F, Kamoun M, Slimane H. Evaluation of blood pressure control by ambulatory blood pressure monitoring and study of factors associated with poor blood pressure control in 300 treated hypertensive type 2 diabetic patients. Ann Cardiol Angeiol (Paris) 2011; 60(2): 71-6.
- **20.** Lee HS, Park YM, Kwon HS, Lee JH, Yoon KH, Son HY, et al. Factors associated with control of blood pressure among elderly people diagnosed with hypertension in a rural area of South Korea: the Chungju Metabolic Disease Cohort Study (CMC study). Blood Press 2010; 19(1): 31-9.
- **21.** Tavassoli A, Gharipour M, Toghianifar N, Sarrafzadegan N, Khosravi A, Zolfaghari B, et al. The impact of obesity on hypertension and diabetes control following healthy Lifestyle Intervention Program in a developing country setting. J Res Med Sci 2011; 16(Suppl 1): S368-S376.
- **22.** Casson RI, King WD, Godwin NM. Markers of loss of control of hypertension. Can Fam Physician 2003; 49: 1323-31.

How to cite this article: Gharipour M, Khosravi A, Sadeghi M, Roohafza H, Hashemi M, Sarrafzadegan N. Socioeconomic characteristics and controlled hypertension: Evidence from Isfahan Healthy Heart Program. ARYA Atheroscler 2013; 9(1): 77-81.

Renal ablation for treatment of hypertension without Symplicity catheter: The first human experience

Mehrdad Honarvar⁽¹⁾, Afshin Amirpour⁽²⁾, Masoud Pourmoghaddas⁽³⁾

Original Article

Abstract

BACKGROUND: Hypertension (HTN) treatment has remained insufficient. New modalities such as "Symplicity method" for the treatment of HTN are a priority, especially in patients with resistant hypertension. In this study, we describe our first experience with a novel percutaneous treatment modality, without using Symplicity catheter.

METHODS: 30 Patients who were resistant to at least three types of antihypertensive medical therapy were selected. Patients received percutaneous renal artery denervation, without Symplicity catheter method, and were followed up for 1 week, 1, 3, and 6 months later after treatment. Ambulatory 24-hour blood pressure (BP) Holter was performed 1 week before intervention and after 1 month. The primary outcome was change in 24-hour ambulatory BP and change in office and home-based BP measurements.

RESULTS: The mean age of the studied patients was 52 ± 15.4 years and 43.3% (n = 13) were female. Systolic and diastolic BP at baseline was 163 ± 17.2 and 95 ± 8.2 mmHg, respectively. Patients took 3.6 ± 1.3 hypertensive medications. Systolic and diastolic BP at 1-week, 1-month, 3-month and 6-month after renal denervation significantly decreased compared to the baseline (P < 0.0001). Average BP derived from 24-hour ambulatory BP monitoring changed in parallel with office-based BP measurements. Most of patients (50%) who underwent renal denervation had reductions of 10 mmHg or greater in systolic BP and 56.7% of them had reductions of 5 mmHg or greater in diastolic BP. 33.3% of patients also achieved the target of systolic BP less than 140 mmHg and 60% achieved the target of diastolic BP less than 90 mmHg. No patients showed vascular damage at final angiography.

CONCLUSION: Catheter based renal ablation was associated with a significant reduction in both systolic and diastolic BP, on top of maximal medical therapy, which persisted throughout 6 months follow-up in the first-in-man study without the Symplicity catheter.

Keywords: Renal Denervation, Resistant Hypertension, Catheter

Date of submission: 10 Oct 2012, Date of acceptance: 1 Jan 2013

Introduction

About 30% of populations in the world have hypertension (HTN). Furthermore, its prevalence is increasing in developing countries. HTN is known as "silent killer" and often is asymptomatic. It is a major risk factor for death worldwide. HTN is also a financial problem for governments and their population.¹ HTN treatment has remained insufficient. About 30% of patients with HTN were aware of their disease. Of those aware patients, about 60% were treated. Of those patients treated, about 40% had blood pressure at optimal level.² Therefore, new modalities for the treatment of HTN are a priority, especially in patients with resistant HTN. Only 10-15% of patients with resistant HTN are optimally treated.³

Sympathetic nerves of renal arteries are essential for occurrence of systemic HTN. Old methods for denervation such as radical surgery for sympathetic nerves were associated with high morbidity/mortality and many complications.⁴ Nowadays, catheter-based approach for disruption of renal sympathetic nerves is done⁵⁻⁹ without long term complications. Percutaneous renal denervation resulted in meaningful reduction in systolic and diastolic blood pressure during medical therapy,

¹⁻ Cardiac Rehabilitation Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

²⁻ Department of Cardiology, School of Medicine, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

³⁻ Professor, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran Correspondence to: Mehrdad Honarvar, Email: honarvarmehrdad@yahoo.com

which persisted for 12 months follow-up in the first human study. The recently published trial "Symplicity 2", which was the first randomized controlled study in this field, confirmed the findings of the first human study. In this study, we wanted to do the first Iranian experience regarding this novel treatment modality and the first human experience of renal ablation without Symplicity catheter.

Materials and Methods

This study was approved by the ethical committee at Vice Chancellor of Research in Isfahan University of Medical Sciences and all patients provided written informed consent. This trial was registered with IUMS.ac.ir number 391001.

Screening was done at HTN clinic in Chamran Heart Hospital, a large teaching, referral heart hospital. Patients were asked to record triple daily automated home blood pressure measurements and to document drug compliance for 10 days before ambulatory 24-hour blood pressure Holter monitoring. Patients were treated with the renal denervation procedure between September 2011 and January 2012, with subsequent 6 months follow-up.

Outpatient (OPD) assessment included patient's characteristics, vital sign, past medical history, physical examination, number and type of medications, blood chemistries (like creatinine and potassium) and ambulatory 24-hour blood pressure Holter. We did follow-up assessments at 1 week and 1, 3, and 6 months, consisted of office blood pressure measurements, surveillance for adverse events, 24-hours blood pressure Holter, serum creatinine and HTN drugs. Office blood pressure measurements were performed in a seated position in at least two visits (1st visit and 2 weeks later) in both arms. Ambulatory 24-hour blood pressure Holter was performed 1 week before intervention and at 1 month follow-up.

Patients aged at least 15 years were eligible for inclusion, with a systolic blood pressure of 160 mmHg or more (\geq 150 in patients with type-2 diabetes) and/or diastolic blood pressure of 90 mmHg or more, despite at least three antihypertensive drugs or confirmed intolerance to medication. The renal artery anatomy was considered suitable in case of a vessel diameter of \geq 4 mm and \geq 20 mm length, no significant stenosis, no previous renal artery intervention and no more than one main renal artery.

Exclusion criteria included patients with any known secondary hypertension and a glomerular filtration rate estimated at $\leq 45 \text{ ml/min}/1.73\text{m}^2$ and

patients with a history of unstable angina or cerebrovascular accident in the previous 6 months or pregnancy. We did not exclude patients with type 1 diabetes, implantable cardioverter defibrillations and advanced congestive heart failure. Patients whose all blood pressure measurements were below the enrolment criteria for blood pressure in 24-hour BP Holter monitoring were excluded.

Patients were pretreated with 2 mg midazolam and 25 mg pethidine. Using local anesthetics, cannulation of the femoral artery was performed by the standard Seldinger technique. Firstly, a 7 Fr sheath was introduced and heparin was given using an intravenous bolus of 10 IE/Kg with a target activated clotting time (ACT) ≥ 250 S. Then, using an 8 Fr coronary sinus (CS) sheath and a 6 Fr soft tip Rt Judkins catheter, a steerable catheter with radiofrequency energy electrode tip was delivered into the renal artery. Before starting the denervation, 50 µg fentanyl and at least 1 cc ketamine were given to patient by anesthesiologist. We applied discrete, radiofrequency ablations lasting 2 minutes each and of 15 watts or less to obtain six ablations separated both longitudinally and rotationally with a minimum of 5 mm distance in between and with a pullback from distal to proximal within each renal artery. During ablation, the catheter system monitored tip temperature and impedance, altering radiofrequency energy delivery in response to a predetermined algorithm. A nonselective renal angiography was performed before and after the procedure. Intraprocedural diffuse visceral pain restricted to the duration of energy delivery was managed with intravenous narcotics.

After procedure till one month, changes to baseline doses of all antihypertensive drugs were not allowed, unless medically judged necessary. At 1 month after the procedure, we repeated ambulatory 24-hour blood pressure monitoring with readings taken every 30 minutes in day time and every 60 minutes at night time. We calculated average values obtained during the day and night for every patient. Patients were instructed to remain adherent to their prescribed antihypertensive drugs.

The primary outcome was change in 24-hour ambulatory blood pressure and change in office and home-based blood pressure measurements. Secondary end points were procedural safety and composite cardiovascular end points such as myocardial infarction, cerebrovascular accidents, and congestive heart failure.

Statistical analysis

Continuous variables were described with mean ±

standard deviation. Other variables were reported as numbers (percentage). For comparison within different time points, a paired t-test was used.

Role of the funding source

The study was designed by Chairperson of Hospital and Cardiology Department of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences and the sponsor (Chamran Hospital). Procedure was done and data were monitored, collected and managed by an interventional fellow. The corresponding author had full access to all the data in the study and had final responsibility for the decision to submit for publication.

Results

Between September 2011 and January 2012, of 45 patients with resistant hypertension who assessed for eligibility, 12 (27%) patients did not meet the inclusion criteria and were not entered the study (7 subjects because of blood pressure < 160 mmHg at baseline visit when it was confirmed that patients took drugs for two weeks, and 5 ineligible anatomy). Three (6%) patients also did not enter the study because of not consenting to participate in the trial. Finally 30 (67%) patients underwent renal denervation and were followed up for 6 months (Figure 1).

Table 1 shows baseline characteristics of the patients. The mean age of the studied patients was 52 ± 15.4 years and 43.3% (n=13) were female. Systolic and diastolic blood pressure at baseline was 163 ± 17.2 mmHg and 95 ± 8.2 mmHg, respectively. Patients took, on average, 3.6 ± 1.3 hypertensive medications. Most of them [43 (96%)] received angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors or angiotensin receptor blockers.

All patients had 24-hour ambulatory blood pressure monitoring at baseline and at follow-up. The mean of systolic and diastolic blood pressure were decreased after renal denervation compared with mean of blood pressure at baseline (Figure 2). Table 2 shows the mean of blood pressure during 6 months of followed-up. Systolic and diastolic blood pressure at 1-week, 1-month, 3-month and 6-month after renal denervation significantly decreased compared to the baseline (P < 0.0001).

Mean of reduction of office blood pressure at 1 week, 1, 3, and 6 months after renal denervation is shown in figure 3. As shown, systolic blood pressure, 1 week after procedure was further reduced at 1, 3, and 6 months. Similarly 1 month after renal denervation diastolic blood pressure was further reduced through subsequent assessments up to 6 months. Thus, average blood pressure derived from 24-hour ambulatory blood pressure monitoring changed in parallel with office-based blood pressure measurements.

Figure 4 shows the proportions of patients achieving defined thresholds of systolic and diastolic blood pressure reduction at 6 months. Most of patients (50%) who underwent renal denervation had reductions of 10 mmHg or greater in systolic blood pressure and 56.7% of them had reductions of 5 mmHg or greater in diastolic blood pressure. 33.3% of patients also achieved the target of systolic blood pressure less than 140 mmHg and 60% achieved the target of diastolic blood pressure less than 90 mmHg.

No patients showed vascular damage at final angiography; however, renal angiographic studies identified focal renal artery irregularities immediately after radiofrequency (RF) energy delivery, none of which was flow limiting at the end of procedure.





Age (years)	52 ± 15.4
Sex	
Male	17 (56.7)
Female	13 (43.3)
Body mass index	30.6 ± 4.7
Medical history	
Coronary artery disease	16 (54.3)
Type 2 diabetes	5 (17.7)
Hyperlipidemia	8 (26.7)
Cerebrovascular accident	2 (6.7)
Smoking	8 (26.7)
Alcohol use	0
Congestive heart failure	4 (13.3)
Baseline systolic blood pressure	163 ± 17.2
(mmHg)	
Baseline diastolic blood pressure	95 ± 8.1
(mmHg)	
K	4.2 ± 0.56
Number of antihypertensive	3.6 ± 1.3
medications	
Drug history	
Beta blockers	3 (10)
Alpha blockers	8 (26.7)
Vasodilators	2 (6.7)
Diuretics	19 (63.3)
Calcium channel blockers	19 (63.3)
ACE inhibitors/ARBs	27 (81.8)
Serum creatinine (µmol/L)	1 ± 0.12

 Table 1. Baseline characteristics of 30 patients with resistant hypertension who underwent renal denervation

Data are presented as mean ± SD or number (percent)

In total, an average of 5.2 \pm 1 RF ablations was performed in the left renal artery, and 5.8 \pm 1 RF

ablations in the right renal artery. The mean use of contrast was 80 ± 20 ml. Mean fluoroscopy time was 11 ± 2 minutes. The mean time of the procedure (i.e. from puncture of the femoral artery to closure) was 38 ± 8 minutes. After the procedure, there was no change in serum creatinine $(1 \pm 0.12 \text{ }\mu\text{ml/L} \text{ compared with } 1 \pm 0.11 \text{ }\mu\text{ml/L};$ P = 0.93). No changes in medication was noted at 1month follow-up; however; 18 (60%) of patients who underwent renal ablation had drug reductions prior to 6-month follow-up and none of them had drug increases prior to 6-month. In general, there per-procedural complication was no a or complications during follow-up.

Table 2. Comparison of 24-hour baseline ambulatory blood pressure monitoring with follow-up period in 30 patients with resistant hypertension who underwent renal denervation

	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)
Baseline (n=30)	163 ± 17.2	95 ± 8.1
1-week (n=30)	136.2 ± 13.1	85.3 ± 8.9
Р	< 0.0001	< 0.0001
1-month (n=30)	137.8 ± 8.5	80.7 ± 8.2
Р	< 0.0001	< 0.0001
3-month (n=26)	136.4 ± 9	81.8 ± 6
Р	< 0.0001	< 0.0001
6-month (n=23)	145.7 ± 10.1	86.3 ± 5.6
Р	< 0.0001	< 0.0001

Data are presented as mean \pm SD; SBP: Systolic blood pressure; DBP: Diastolic blood pressure

P-values calculated by paired samples t-test compared to the baseline



Figure2. Mean of 24-hour ambulatory blood pressuremonitoring for systolic and diastolic blood pressure before and after renaldenervation in 30 patients with resistant hypertension RDN: Renaldenervation; SBP: Systolic blood pressure; DBP: Diastolicblood pressure



Figure 3. Change in office-based measurements of systolic and diastolic blood pressures at 1 week, 1 month, 3 months, and 6 months for renal denervation. Error bars are Standard Error



Figure 4. Proportion of blood pressure status after renal denervation after 6 months based on 24-hour ambulatory blood pressure monitoring (n = 30) SBP: Systolic blood pressure; DBP: Diastolic blood pressure

Discussion

Uncontrolled hypertension is a common clinical condition and causes significant morbidity and mortality such as cardiovascular and cerebral events. Thus, appropriate control of HTN result in prevention of cardiovascular morbidity and even mortality. A new catheter system has been developed, making the endovascular approach to renal denervation an attractive therapeutic option in patients with resistant hypertension. The "Symplicity Catheter System" (Medtronic-Ardian) was the first and only system available.³ Previous studies about radiofrequency renal-nerve ablation in patients with resistant hypertension showed the feasibility and safety of it and reported encouraging blood pressure reductions, with no major complications due to the technique.⁴⁻⁷ In our study, novel catheter-based treatment of resistant hypertension without using of "Symplicity" catheter was assessed and to the best of our knowledge this

is the first human experience. Our results showed that after renal denervation, systolic and diastolic blood pressure decreased compared with blood pressure at baseline. Moreover, systolic and diastolic blood pressure at 1-week and 1, 3 and 6 months after renal denervation significantly decreased compared to baseline. Reductions of 10 mmHg or greater in systolic blood pressure and 5 mmHg or greater in diastolic blood pressure occurred in 50% and 56.7% of patients, respectively.

The Symplicity Catheter System as a new approach to renal denervation was studied in several trial, the first study, a cohort study, was done on 50 hypertension, patients with resistant renal sympathetic ablation was achieved using a radiofrequency ablation catheter inserted through the femoral artery and selectively engaging the renal artery bilaterally (Symplicity, Ardian Inc., Palo Alto, Calif, USA). This study showed safety of denervation of renal sympathetic nerve endings. However, two complications were occurred but not related to ablation itself (complication of site of puncture). Then authors carried out a randomized controlled trial, the Symplicity HTN 2 study, on 106 patients with resistant hypertension, to compare the antihypertensive efficacy of this procedure plus drug treatment with that of drug treatment alone. They reported that catheter-based renal denervation can safely be used to substantially reduce blood pressure in treatment resistant hypertensive patients with a low incidence of immediate per-procedural complications and short- and medium-term renal and vascular complications.5 In another study in 2010, a total of 11 patients who were resistant to at least three types of antihypertensive medical therapy, underwent treatment by renal artery radiofrequency ablation using Symplicity catheter and concluded that catheter-based renal denervation seems an attractive novel minimally invasive treatment option in these patients, with no serious adverse events per-procedurally or at follow-up.7

Our findings showed that a significant reduction in blood pressure, based on 24-hour blood pressure monitoring, can be achieved with catheter-based renal denervation in patients with resistant hypertension which was uncontrolled despite treatment with three or more antihypertensive drugs. Also no vascular damage at angiography or per-procedural complications was observed. This finding supports the results of previous investigations⁴⁻⁷ even though, the procedure was different in present study, which was catheter-based treatment of resistant hypertension without using of Symplicity catheter, compared to other studies that used Symplicity catheter.

The main limitation of present study is that this was not a randomized controlled trial and factors such as regression to the mean and Hawthorne effect need to be considered in the interpretation of these results, because there is no control group with which to make evaluations about blood pressure responses over time. On the other hand, patients in our study were followed for 6-month whereas the efficacy of this new treatment should be investigated in long-term follow-up not only in the short-term. It seems randomized controlled clinical trials are required to confirm this primary experience in long-term follow-up. Accordingly, renal artery denervation without using of Symplicity catheter, which is not ready in any cathlab and is an expensive catheter, opens new opportunities for the treatment of patients with resistant hypertension and further researches are needed to identify groups of patients who might benefit from this intervention such as patients with milder forms of hypertension, patients intolerant to medication and in several other conditions.

In conclusion, previous studies in catheter-based renal denervation represented an advanced new technique to effectively reduce blood pressure in patients with resistant hypertension. Similarly, findings of this study indicated that renal nerve ablation achieved by a catheter-based approach without using of Symplicity catheter has the potential to improve blood pressure control in these patients, simpler and less expensive. For example, in our country, each Symplicity catheter is about \$300 while the catheters for our technique are less than \$30. The Symplicity system is about \$30000 but we did renal nerve ablation by radiofrequency ablation system of our electrophysiology (EP) cathlab. However, randomized controlled clinical trials are needed to compare these two techniques.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the personnel and nurses (Mrs Esmaili; Gheraati; and Sadrameli) of ourcathlab for the preparation of the patients, and Mr Akbari and Heshmati for analyzing the data.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

References

1. Krum H, Schlaich M, Whitbourn R, Sobotka PA, Sadowski J, Bartus K, et al. Catheter-based renal

sympathetic denervation for resistant hypertension: a multicentre safety and proof-of-principle cohort study. Lancet 2009; 373(9671): 1275-81.

- 2. Voskuil M, Verloop WL, Blankestijn PJ, Agostoni P, Stella PR, Doevendans PA. Percutaneous renal denervation for the treatment of resistant essential hypertension; the first Dutch experience. Neth Heart J 2011; 19(7-8): 319-23.
- **3.** Esler MD, Krum H, Sobotka PA, Schlaich MP, Schmieder RE, Bohm M. Renal sympathetic denervation in patients with treatment-resistant hypertension (The Symplicity HTN-2 Trial): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2010; 376(9756): 1903-9.
- **4.** Morrissey DM, Brookes VS, Cooke WT. Sympathectomy in the treatment of hypertension; review of 122 cases. Lancet 1953; 1(6757): 403-8.
- **5.** Schlaich MP, Sobotka PA, Krum H, Whitbourn R, Walton A, Esler MD. Renal denervation as a therapeutic approach for hypertension: novel implications for an old concept. Hypertension 2009; 54(6): 1195-201.
- 6. Schlaich MP, Sobotka PA, Krum H, Lambert E, Esler MD. Renal sympathetic-nerve ablation for

uncontrolled hypertension. N Engl J Med 2009; 361(9): 932-4.

7. Krum H. Is hypertension the next frontier for interventional therapy? Transcatheter Cardiovascular Therapeutics [Online]. 2010; Available from: URL: http://www.medtronicrdn.com/intl/newsevents/events-congresses/ index.htm?TB iframe=true&height=390&width

8. Schlaich MP, Krum H, Sobotka PA. Renal sympathetic nerve ablation: the new frontier in the treatment of hypertension. Curr Hypertens Rep

2010; 12(1): 39-46.
DiBona GF, Esler M. Translational medicine: the antihypertensive effect of renal denervation. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2010; 298(2): R245-R253.

How to cite this article: Honarvar M, Amirpour A, Pourmoghaddas M. **Renal ablation for treatment of hypertension without Symplicity catheter: The first human experience.** ARYA Atheroscler 2013; 9(1): 82-8.

Alteration in unhealthy nutrition behaviors in adolescents through community intervention: Isfahan Healthy Heart Program

Noushin Mohammadifard⁽¹⁾, <u>Nizal Sarrafzadegan⁽²⁾</u>, Gholam Reza Ghassemi⁽³⁾, Fatemeh Nouri⁽⁴⁾, Rezvan Pashmi⁽⁵⁾

Original Article

Abstract

BACKGROUND: Primary prevention of chronic diseases has been suggested to initiate health promotion activities from childhoods. The impact of Isfahan Healthy Heart Program (IHHP), a comprehensive community trial, on unhealthy snacks and fast food intake changes was evaluated in Iranian adolescents between 2001 and 2007.

METHODS: Healthy Heart Promotion from Childhood (HHPC) as one of the IHHP interventional projects was conducted in adolescents aged 11-18 years, selected randomly by multistage random sampling. Isfahan and Najafabad districts were intervention areas (IA) and Arak district was reference area (RA). The baseline and post-intervention surveys were conducted on 1941 and 1997 adolescents, respectively.

Healthy lifestyle interventions were performed during the 2nd phase of the study targeting about 410000 students in urban and rural areas of the IA via education, environmental and legislation activities. Dietary intake was assessed annually using a fifty-item food frequency questionnaire in both communities.

RESULTS: The interaction of year×area demonstrated that the consumption of unhealthy snacks decreased significantly in middle school boys of RA compared to IA (P for interaction=0.01). However, middle school girls (P for interaction = 0.002) and both sexes of high school students in IA showed a significant reduction in fast food consumption against RA (P for interaction < 0.001).

CONCLUSION: The HHPC interventions made some improvement in fast food consumption. It did not show significant decrease regarding unhealthy snacks in adolescents. Proper and higher dose of interventions may be effective in achieving this goal.

Keywords: Nutrition, Dietary Behaviour, Adolescent, Lifestyle, Community Trial

Date of submission: 15 Sep 2012, Date of acceptance: 22 Nov 2012

Introduction

Increasing evidence over the past 4 decades indicates that the progression of atherosclerosis begin early in life is affected by some modifiable and non-modifiable risk factors of cardiovascular diseases (CVD).¹⁻³ Furthermore, the patterns of behavioral and biological risk factors originate in early childhood and influence CVD risk factors in adolescence and usually persist until adulthood.¹⁻²

Dietary behaviour modification has a main effect on the occurrence of chronic diseases and their risk factors.³⁻⁵ Therefore, it has been suggested for primary prevention of chronic diseases, to initiate health promotion activities from childhood.⁴ Moreover, a healthy dietary pattern in childhood is an important public health issue.⁶ A previous study in Iran indicated that excess weight gain and its cardiometabolic outcomes were common in adolescents and it should be considered as a national health priority.⁷ Unhealthy snacks consists of sausage, sandwiches, crisps and cheese balls, creamy wafers, cakes, chocolate and toffee were the

¹⁻ PhD Candidate, Department of Nutrition, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

²⁻ Professor, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran 3- Reader, Medical Education Research Center, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁴⁻ Cardiac Rehabilitation Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁵⁻ Isfahan Provincial Health Center, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Correspondence to: Nizal Sarrafzadegan, Email: nsarrafzadegan@gmail.com

most common snacks consumed by Iranian children and adolescents.⁸Among the reasons that led to the recent habit changes are the long time spent by women working outside homes, inexpensiveness of unhealthy food and their good taste.⁹⁻¹¹ Americans eat outside home four times per week and one third of American children and adolescents consume fast food one time per week,^{12,13} while Iranian adults consume fast foods on average one time per week.¹⁴ It seems Iranian adolescents consume fast foods more.

Since schools are the best place to work with children and adolescents, they are the best place for health promotion and lifestyle modification and for implementing favorable environmental changes through the availability of healthy foods and physical exercise.¹⁵

Several successful school-based health promotion programs were carried out in developed countries.15-18 Therefore, Heart Health Promotion from Childhood (HHPC) project was performed as one of interventional projects of comprehensive а community-based program entitled Isfahan Healthy Heart Program (IHHP) with school-based approach19 to improve lifestyle behaviour and cardiometabolic risk factors among children and adolescents. HHPC targeted students in middle and high schools. The current study focused on the impact of HHPC nutrition interventions on unhealthy dietary behaviour changes of Iranian adolescents.

Materials and Methods

IHHP was carried out by Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center (ICRC) (a WHO Collaborating Center), and Isfahan Provincial Health Office, both affiliated to Isfahan University of Medical Sciences. Ethics committees of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences approved the study. IHHP was a quasiexperimental community trial with reference area and different types of evaluation.^{20,21} The study was launched in 1999-2000 and conducted 2001-2007, in three phases as pre-intervention (baseline), intervention and post-intervention phase.²¹ Written informed consent was obtained from the parents or legal guardians of students.

Design and participants: This study reports part of data of the HHPC project. The impact of all interventional projects in IHHP was reported before.²² In the 1st phase, the baseline status was assessed on 2000 students in middle and high schools (1000 girls and1000 boys) aged 11-18 years, selected from Isfahan and Najafabad districts, as the intervention areas (IA) and Arak district as the reference area (RA) in 2001.20,23 Both areas are industrial and located in the center of Iran with similar socio-economic and demographics. Recruitment was performed by multistage cluster random sampling method from 56 middle and high schools of different urban and rural areas. Sampling details were presented elsewhere.^{19,23} Based on the results of the baseline study, multidisciplinary interventions were conducted during the 2nd phase (2002-2006) of the study in IAs, but not in Arak. Lifestyle behaviors were evaluated annually by questionnaires in IA and RA. Post-intervention outcomes comprising behaviour, physical and biochemical measurements were done similar to the 1st phase but on independent random sample in 2007. Process evaluation was done in the IA only.24 Overall, 1941students in both communities were studied at baseline and 1997 students in postintervention survey. Trained nurses carried out data collection.²³ The study design has been described elsewhere.20,21

Interventions: HHPC interventions' design was based on findings of the baseline survey and needs assessment considering the existing health and human resources.²² Target groups were middle and high school students, their parents and teachers in urban and rural areas of IA. Healthy nutrition was one of the main fields of interventions in the program which was performed based on educational, environmental and legislative strategies. The details of IHHP interventions were presented elsewhere.^{21,22} In the beginning, HHPC activities were carried out in 1769 (45%) schools in IA; however, until 2004 it increased to 3654 (92.9%) schools with about 410000 students of Isfahan and Najaf-Abad.25

Briefly, HHPC public education was done through mass media, pamphlets, booklets, face-toface meetings, proposing role models among students, arranging different competitions with the subject of healthy heart, serving healthy snacks, establishing healthy heart buffets, reinforcing healthy eating habits in schools, and gathering parents at least yearly to train healthy nutrition.¹⁹

Dietary assessment: The common foods consumed in Iran were assessed by a validated 50item-food frequency questionnaire (FFQ). The FFQ was adopted from the Non communicable Disease Intervention program questionnaire.²⁶ Four experts in nutrition and pediatrics assessed the content validity of the FFQ. Moreover, its criterion validity was evaluated by 24-hour recall questionnaires that were completed three times. The criterion validity was acceptable for unhealthy snacks and fast food consumption. Unhealthy snacks included salty, sweeten and fatty snacks that were assessed by4 questions and frequency consumption of fast foods included sausages, pizza and hamburgers were evaluated by 3 questions.

Evaluation: Evaluation consisted of impact, outcome and process types that were done as integrated elements of the program. The detail of evaluation was described previously.21,24,25 The impact of interventions on dietary behaviour was carried out by implementing annual dietary surveys during 2001-2006 and the outcome evaluation was done at baseline (2001) and post-intervention (2007) phases. Both impact and outcome evaluations were performed on independent samples in both communities, while process evaluation was done only in IA during the study.²⁴ Following the request of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences for undertaking an external evaluation of the whole IHHP, all component of the program including implementation of interventions as well as all evaluation studies was done by international experts.25This study reports the results of impact evaluation on unhealthy nutrition behaviors.

Statistical analysis: The mean frequency consumption of foods was compared between preand post-intervention in independent sample surveys using t-test and in terms of frequency of students by chi-square. The year \times area interaction was determined by General Linear Model-univariate analysis to compare variable changes in intervention vs. reference community by adjustment for residency (urban/ rural). Data were analyzed using the SPSS statistical package version 15.0 for windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago, USA). The significance level was set at P < 0.05.

Results

The frequency of studied population in IA were 969, 1000, 629, 518, 389, and 972 subjects in 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005 and 2007, respectively. In RA, it was 977, 999, 798, 707 and 1020 subjects, in 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004, and 2007, respectively. Due to budget limitations, the repeated study was not done in RA in 2005. The basic characteristics of adolescences in 2001 and 2007 are presented in table 1. The mean age of students was not significantly different across the years. The differences were not significantly significant at baseline and final surveys in IA and RA based on sex, grade as well as place of residence.

Table 2 indicates the mean of unhealthy food consumption in IA vs. RA based on the school grade during the study. There was no significant difference between unhealthy snacks consumption in pre- and post- intervention phases in both sexes of middle and high school students in IA as well as high school students of RA. However, it showed a significant decrease in middle school boys (P =0.001) and girls (P <0.001) of RA. Furthermore, the interaction of year ×area demonstrated the consumption of these snacks decreased significantly in middle school boys of RA compared to IA (P for interaction=0.011).

	Base 2000-	eline -2001	Post-intervention 2007			
	Intervention	Reference	Intervention	Reference		
Age (year)		Mean	\pm SD			
Middle school	12.92 ± 1.14	12.63 ± 1.11	13.17 ± 1.26	13.04 ± 1.15		
High school	15.36 ± 1.02	15.36 ± 1.19	16.02 ± 1.00	15.85 ± 1.12		
Sex		Frequer	ncy (%)			
Boy	501(51.7)	500(51.2)	467(48.0)	511(50.1)		
Girl	468(48.3)	477(48.8)	505(52.0)	509(49.9)		
Grade						
Middle school	500(51.6)	486(49.7)	524(53.9)	515(50.5)		
High school	469(48.4)	491(50.3)	448(46.1)	505(49.5)		
Residency						
Urban	613(63.3)	638(65.3)	857(88.2)	675(66.2)		
Rural	356(36.7)	339(34.7)	115(11.8)	345(33.8)		
Total	969	977	972	1020		

Table 1. Basic characteristics of study population in intervention and reference area before and after intervention

In IA, mean of fast foods consumption had a significant reduction in middle school girls (P <0.001), in high school boys (P =0.002) and girls (P =0.008), while it increased significantly in both sexes of high school students in RA (in boys: P =0.026 and in girls: P =0.006). Moreover, it showed

a significant reduction in middle school girls (P =0.001) and both sexes of high school students in IA vs. RA across the years (P <0.001). Figures 1 and 2 illustrate the trend of unhealthy snacks and fast food consumption (per week) based on sex and grade in IA vs. RA areas across years of study.

intervention

intervention

reference

- reference

Ι

Ι

Table 2. The mean of unhealthy food consumption (per week) in intervention vs. reference area based on school grade between 2001 and 2007

	Intervention				<u> </u>		
	Baseline	Post- intervention	Р	Baseline	Post- intervention	Р	Interaction P
	Mean±SD [*]	Mean±SD		Mean±SD	Mean±SD		
Unhealthy snacks							
(per week)							
Middle schools							
Boys	6.47 ± 0.29	6.46 ± 0.26	0.99	9.15 ± 0.31	7.700 ± 0.27	0.001	0.011
Girls	7.08 ± 0.28	6.61 ± 0.30	0.23	9.75 ± 0.29	8.26 ± 0.29	< 0.001	0.079
High schools							
Boys	6.61 ± 0.32	6.27 ± 0.32	0.49	7.94 ± 0.30	7.98 ± 0.30	0.93	0.55
Girls	7.63 ± 0.32	7.10 ± 0.32	0.23	8.87 ± 0.31	9.10 ± 0.29	0.59	0.22
Fast foods(per week)							
Middle schools							
Boys	1.23 ± 0.09	1.11 ± 0.08	0.32	1.42 ± 0.09	1.44 ± 0.08	0.86	0.4
Girls	1.41 ± 0.08	0.92 ± 0.08	< 0.001	1.17 ± 0.08	1.18 ± 0.08	0.98	0.002
High schools							
Boys	1.58 ± 0.09	1.13 ± 0.09	0.002	1.30 ± 0.09	1.54 ± 0.09	0.026	< 0.001
Girls	1.34 ± 0.08	1.04 ± 0.08	0.008	1.02 ± 0.08	1.33 ± 0.07	0.006	< 0.001



Figure 1. The trend of unhealthy snacks consumption (per week) based on sex and school grade in intervention vs. reference area between 2001 and 2007



Figure 2. The trend of fast food consumption (per week) based on sex and school grade in intervention vs. reference areas between 2001 and 2007

Discussion

IHHP is the first community-based trial with quasiexperimental design and RA to assess the impact of comprehensive, multidisciplinary interventions on lifestyle improvement, and CVD and its risk factors prevention in a developing country setting. Our findings indicated that the HHPC, as one of IHHP intervention projects, made some positive changes in unhealthy dietary behaviors. There were no significant changes in unhealthy snacks consumption in middle and high school adolescents in IA vs. RA, except for unexpected reduction of unhealthy snacks in middle school girls of RA compared to IA, whereas fast food consumption showed a significant reduction in IA vs. RA in both sexes of high school students and middle school girls.

Lifestyle modification programs in other countries indicated contradictory findings.²⁷⁻³⁷ A cohort study of dietary intake tracking in Mexican-American and white children aged 4 to 12 years found that dietary intake was steady over 8 years and was better in younger ages compared with older children.²⁷ It may be the purpose of not improving unhealthy snacks consumption in middle schools students in our study. Another study was done in elementary school children to ease obesity and

improve lifestyle behaviors through nutrition education and serving lower fat and sodium lunch in intervention schools during 2 years. Although the lunch in these schools showed significantly less energy, fat, sodium, and more fiber, only sodium intake had significant difference in intervention vs. control schools.34This study concluded that dietary intake outside schools may be the cause of no differences between intervention and control schools.34 Another study in adolescence from Tehran(Iran) indicated that there was no association between nutrition knowledge and behaviors,8 the same as other countries.38,39 Therefore, it seems that nutrition education and serving healthy food in schools could not improve nutrition behaviors of adolescents.

Obesity epidemic and nutrition transition is increasing in developing countries. Thus the nonsignificant improvement of unhealthy snacks consumption might be considered as favorable impact of interventions in IA. Conversely, the trend of fast food consumption was increased in all students' categories of RA. Although it was insignificant in some groups, it might be significant if our sample size was larger. Planet Health study in middle schools of Massachusetts communities which was focused on decreasing high-fat foods consumption and increasing fruit and vegetable intake, illustrated only increase in fruit and vegetable consumption without any change in high-fat foods intake and smaller increment in total energy intake among girls.³³

Conversely, the Child and Adolescent Trial for Cardiovascular Health (CATCH) in USA during 3 years,²⁹ a short-term school-based school interventional study in rural communities in USA,32 and a small scale multi-component intervention study in India managed to improve knowledge and healthy dietary behaviors by nutrition and lifestyle education model in children and adolescences.28 Another school based health behaviour intervention program in England led to significant decrease in carbonated drink consumption.31 Implementing a multi component obesity prevention program in of American elementary schools Indian communities made significant improvement in dietary fat intake.36 Moreover, there was some differences in nutrition behaviour changes among boys and girls in a controlled trial in Perth, Western Australia, which was conducted on children aged 10-12 years old, as change was larger in sugar intake in boys compared to girls, while fat intake showed contradictory changes.37

Although comprehensive community-based lifestyle interventions of IHHP were successful in improving some dietary behaviour, fast food consumption had no reduction in adults of IA. Since it increased in the adults of RA, the trend of fast food consumption indicated a significant improvement in IA vs. RA.14,22 However, we found a significant reduction in fast food consumption of adolescents in IA, as well as significant reduction in IA compared to RA. Attained healthy information from other IHHP projects could increase the dose of interventions to improve the parents' life style and consequently had some beneficial effect on their children.^{20,21}

Unhealthy snack consumption showed no improvement, especially in middle school students. Moreover, unhealthy snack was consumed more than healthy snack in adolescents from Tehran.⁸Non-communicable diseases prevention from childhood needs an intersectoral collaboration of governmental, non-governmental, national and organizations, international media, general population, and food producers. Although schoolbased programs that focused on improving knowledge could improve knowledge and attitude; however, it has less beneficial impact on lifestyle behaviors of students; because it has been affected

by socioeconomic status, culture, and environment.¹⁹ Therefore, there may be need for supportive policies and change in environment besides improving knowledge and behaviors.¹⁹

Furthermore, urban-rural residency, parents education (especially mothers), and family income may predict dietary changes during lifestyle modification program in developing countries with social and economic transitions. Wang et al. suggested children in higher income family, urban residency and with higher educated mothers are more likely to track unhealthy nutrition habits related to chronic disease. Although these mothers had better access to the media and to healthy nutrition awareness, their behaviors illustrated that they had no consideration about higher fat foods.⁴⁰ Unfortunately, these data were not gathered in our study. Therefore, it might have diluted the impact of our interventions. Considering the main role of parents in the dietary behaviors of their children, more emphasis on parents and their diet may improve adolescents' nutrition habits.41,42In addition, advertisements in television have great effect on adolescences' nutrition behaviors.18 Although there are limited unhealthy food advertisements in Iran, especially after the enforcement by IHHP and the close collaboration with the Iranian Ministry of Health officials,²² these advertisements have been increased in computer digital games or movies on compact disks (CD). Therefore, as adolescents are getting used to watching video and computer CDs even more than TV, they are influenced by unhealthy food advertisement. Since the companies that produced CD's were private, forbidding these the advertisements was impossible. The attractive package of unhealthy snacks is another influential choosing factor⁸ that if had been considered in our interventions, we might have had better results in terms of unhealthy snacks.

Strength and limitation: The novelty of the data, assessing the impact of the comprehensive community-based interventions with quasi-experimental design and having reference area in several annual surveys in a developing country setting were the main strength of the present study.

The implemented FFQ was qualitative; therefore, the estimation of food intake was not precise. Furthermore, according to the limited food list, the frequency of categories choice and the difficulty in remembering foods were sources for bias.⁴³ Another limitation of the study was the small sample size in some annual surveys, which might be

the reason of non-significant results in some group. Mother education and family income might influence adolescences' dietary behaviour, but the data was unavailable.

Conclusion

The HHPC interventions had some improvement in fast food consumption. It did not show significant decrease regarding unhealthy snacks in adolescents; however, the insignificant change might be considered as favorable impact of interventions in IA in which a fast epidemic toward more consumption of these foods has been recently seen. Proper and higher dose of interventions may be effective in achieving this goal.

Acknowledgments

This program was supported by a grant (No. 31309304) from the Iranian Budget and Planning Organization, the Deputy for Health of the Iranian Ministry of Health and Medical Education, Iranian Heart Foundation, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Centre and Isfahan Provincial Health Center.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

References

- 1. Thompson JA, Regnault TR. In utero origins of adult insulin resistance and vascular dysfunction. Semin Reprod Med 2011; 29(3): 211-24.
- **2.** Hayman LL. Starting young: promoting a healthy lifestyle with children. J Cardiovasc Nurs 2010; 25(3): 228-32.
- **3.** Knoflach M, Kiechl S, Kind M, Said M, Sief R, Gisinger M, et al. Cardiovascular risk factors and atherosclerosis in young males: ARMY study (Atherosclerosis Risk-Factors in Male Youngsters). Circulation 2003; 108(9): 1064-9.
- 4. Hayman LL, Meininger JC, Daniels SR, McCrindle BW, Helden L, Ross J, et al. Primary prevention of cardiovascular disease in nursing practice: focus on children and youth: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Committee on Atherosclerosis, Hypertension, and Obesity in Youth of the Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young, Council on Cardiovascular Nursing, Council on Epidemiology and Prevention, and Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism. Circulation 2007; 116(3): 344-57.
- **5.** Berenson GS, Srinivasan SR, Bao W, Newman WP, III, Tracy RE, Wattigney WA. Association between multiple cardiovascular risk factors and atherosclerosis in children and young adults. The

Bogalusa Heart Study. N Engl J Med 1998; 338(23): 1650-6.

- 6. Diethelm K, Jankovic N, Moreno LA, Huybrechts I, De HS, De VT, et al. Food intake of European adolescents in the light of different food-based dietary guidelines: results of the HELENA (Healthy Lifestyle in Europe by Nutrition in Adolescence) Study. Public Health Nutr 2012; 15(3): 386-98.
- 7. Sarrafzadegan N, Kelishadi R, Siadat ZD, Esmaillzadeh A, Solhpour A, Shirani S, et al. Obesity and cardiometabolic risk factors in a representative population of Iranian adolescents and adults in comparison to a Western population: the Isfahan Healthy Heart Programme. Public Health Nutr 2010; 13(3): 314-23.
- **8.** Mirmiran P, Azadbakht L, Azizi F. Dietary behaviour of Tehranian adolescents does not accord with their nutritional knowledge. Public Health Nutr 2007; 10(9): 897-901.
- **9.** Rydell SA, Harnack LJ, Oakes JM, Story M, Jeffery RW, French SA. Why eat at fast-food restaurants: reported reasons among frequent consumers. J Am Diet Assoc 2008; 108(12): 2066-70.
- **10.** Jabs J, Devine CM. Time scarcity and food choices: an overview. Appetite 2006; 47(2): 196-204.
- **11.** Fitzgerald CM, Kannan S, Sheldon S, Eagle KA. Effect of a promotional campaign on heart-healthy menu choices in community restaurants. J Am Diet Assoc 2004; 104(3): 429-32.
- **12.** Paeratakul S, Ferdinand DP, Champagne CM, Ryan DH, Bray GA. Fast-food consumption among US adults and children: dietary and nutrient intake profile. J Am Diet Assoc 2003; 103(10): 1332-8.
- 13. National Restaurant Association. Restaurant industry to continue to be major driver in nation's economy through sales employment growth in 2008 [Online] 2008 [cited 2012 Apr 23]; Available from: URL: www.restaurant.org/pressroom/pressrelease.cfm?ID =1535/
- **14.** Mohammadifard N, Kelishadi R, Safavi M, Sarrafzadegan N, Sajadi F, Sadri GH, et al. Effect of a community-based intervention on nutritional behaviour in a developing country setting: the Isfahan Healthy Heart Programme. Public Health Nutr 2009; 12(9): 1422-30.
- 15. Baranowski T, Cullen KW, Nicklas T, Thompson D, Baranowski J. School-based obesity prevention: a blueprint for taming the epidemic. Am J Health Behav 2002; 26(6): 486-93.
- 16. Berenson GS, Arbeit ML, Hunter SM, Johnson CC, Nicklas TA. Cardiovascular health promotion for elementary school children: the Heart Smart Program. In: Williams CL, Wynder EL, Editors. Hyperlipidemia in childhood and the development of atherosclerosis. New York, NY: New York Academy of Sciences; 1991. p. 299-13.

- **17.** Johnson CC, Nicklas TA, Webber LS, Berenson GS.Health promotion. In: Ammerman RT, Hersen M, Editors. Handbook of prevention and treatment with children and adolescents: intervention in the real world context. New Jersey, NJ: John Wiley & Sons; 1997. p. 287-331.
- **18.** Nicklas TA, Johnson CC, Farris R, Rice R, Lyon L, Shi R. Development of a school-based nutrition intervention for high school students: Gimme 5. Am J Health Promot 1997; 11(5): 315-22.
- **19.** Kelishadi R, Mohammadifard N, Sarrazadegan N, Nouri F, Pashmi R, Bahonar A, et al. The effects of a comprehensive community trial on cardiometabolic risk factors in adolescents: Isfahan Healthy Heart Program. ARYA Atheroscler 2012; 7(4): 184-90.
- **20.** Sarraf-Zadegan N, Sadri G, Malek AH, Baghaei M, Mohammadi FN, Shahrokhi S, et al. Isfahan Healthy Heart Programme: a comprehensive integrated community-based programme for cardiovascular disease prevention and control. Design, methods and initial experience. Acta Cardiol 2003; 58(4): 309-20.
- **21.** Sarrafzadegan N, Baghaei A, Sadri Gh, Kelishadi R, Malekafzali H, Boshtam M, et al. Isfahan healthy heart program: Evaluation of comprehensive, community-based interventions for non-communicable disease prevention. Prevention and Control 2006; 2(2): 73-84.
- **22.** Sarrafzadegan N, Kelishadi R, Esmaillzadeh A, Mohammadifard N, Rabiei K, Roohafza H, et al. Do lifestyle interventions work in developing countries? Findings from the Isfahan Healthy Heart Program in the Islamic Republic of Iran. Bull World Health Organ 2009; 87(1): 39-50.
- **23.** Kelishadi R, Pour MH, Sarraf-Zadegan N, Sadry GH, Ansari R, Alikhassy H, et al. Obesity and associated modifiable environmental factors in Iranian adolescents: Isfahan Healthy Heart Program Heart Health Promotion from Childhood. Pediatr Int 2003; 45(4): 435-42.
- 24. Rabiei K, Kelishadi R, Sarrafzadegan N, Abedi HA, Alavi M, Heidari K, et al. Process evaluation of a community-based program for prevention and control of non-communicable disease in a developing country: The Isfahan Healthy Heart Program, Iran. BMC Public Health 2009; 9: 57.
- **25.** Vartiainen E, Laatikainen T. Isfahan Healthy Heart Program (IHHP) External evaluation 12.5.-18.5. [Online]. 2009; Available from: URL:http://www.ihhp.ir/ihhp/sounds/1656/1656_0. pdf/
- **26.** Leparski E. Protocol and Guidelines for Monitoring and Evaluation Procedures: Cindi. Countrywide Integrated Noncommunicable Diseases Intervention Programme. Berlin, Germany: Springer-Verlag; 1987.

- **27.** Zive MM, Berry CC, Sallis JF, Frank GC, Nader PR. Tracking dietary intake in white and Mexican-American children from age 4 to 12 years. J Am Diet Assoc 2002; 102(5): 683-9.
- 28. Singhal N, Misra A, Shah P, Gulati S. Effects of controlled school-based multi-component model of nutrition and lifestyle interventions on behavior modification, anthropometry and metabolic risk profile of urban Asian Indian adolescents in North India. Eur J Clin Nutr 2010; 64(4): 364-73.
- **29.** Luepker RV, Perry CL, McKinlay SM, Nader PR, Parcel GS, Stone EJ, et al. Outcomes of a field trial to improve children's dietary patterns and physical activity. The Child and Adolescent Trial for Cardiovascular Health. CATCH collaborative group. JAMA 1996; 275(10): 768-76.
- **30.** Kelishadi R, Sarrafzadegan N, Sadri GH, Pashmi R, Mohammadifard N, Tavasoli AA, et al. Short-term results of a community-based program on promoting healthy lifestyle for prevention and control of chronic diseases in a developing country setting: Isfahan Healthy Heart Program. Asia Pac J Public Health 2011; 23(4): 518-33.
- **31.** James J, Thomas P, Cavan D, Kerr D. Preventing childhood obesity by reducing consumption of carbonated drinks: cluster randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2004; 328(7450): 1237.
- **32.** Harrell TK, Davy BM, Stewart JL, King DS. Effectiveness of a school-based intervention to increase health knowledge of cardiovascular disease risk factors among rural Mississippi middle school children. South Med J 2005; 98(12): 1173-80.
- **33.** Gortmaker SL, Peterson K, Wiecha J, Sobol AM, Dixit S, Fox MK, et al. Reducing obesity via a school-based interdisciplinary intervention among youth: Planet Health. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 1999; 153(4): 409-18.
- **34.** Donnelly JE, Jacobsen DJ, Whatley JE, Hill JO, Swift LL, Cherrington A, et al. Nutrition and physical activity program to attenuate obesity and promote physical and metabolic fitness in elementary school children. Obes Res 1996; 4(3): 229-43.
- **35.** Dixon LB, McKenzie J, Shannon BM, Mitchell DC, Smiciklas-Wright H, Tershakovec AM. The effect of changes in dietary fat on the food group and nutrient intake of 4- to 10-year-old children. Pediatrics 1997; 100(5): 863-72.
- **36.** Caballero B, Clay T, Davis SM, Ethelbah B, Rock BH, Lohman T, et al. Pathways: a school-based, randomized controlled trial for the prevention of obesity in American Indian schoolchildren. Am J Clin Nutr 2003; 78(5): 1030-8.
- **37.** Burke V, Beilin LJ, Milligan R, Thompson C. Assessment of nutrition and physical activity education programmes in children. Clin Exp

Pharmacol Physiol 1995; 22(3): 212-6.

- **38.** Rasanen M, Niinikoski H, Keskinen S, Tuominen J, Simell O, Viikari J, et al. Nutrition knowledge and food intake of seven-year-old children in an atherosclerosis prevention project with onset in infancy: the impact of child-targeted nutrition counselling given to the parents. Eur J Clin Nutr 2001; 55(4): 260-7.
- **39.** Pirouznia M. The correlation between nutrition knowledge and eating behavior in an American school: the role of ethnicity. Nutr Health 2000; 14(2): 89-107.
- **40.** Wang Y, Bentley ME, Zhai F, Popkin BM. Tracking of dietary intake patterns of Chinese from childhood to adolescence over a six-year follow-up period. J Nutr 2002; 132(3): 430-8.
- **41.** Vereecken C, Haerens L, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Maes L. The relationship between children's home

food environment and dietary patterns in childhood and adolescence. Public Health Nutr 2010; 13(10A): 1729-35.

- **42.** Nicklas T, Johnson R. Position of the American Dietetic Association: Dietary guidance for healthy children ages 2 to 11 years. J Am Diet Assoc 2004; 104(4): 660-77.
- **43.** Willett W. Monographs in Epidemiology and Biostatistics. In: Willett W, Editor. Nutritional epidemiology. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 1990.

How to cite this article: Mohammadifard N, Sarrafzadegan N, Ghassemi GR, Nouri F, Pashmi R. Alteration in unhealthy nutrition behaviors in adolescents through community intervention: Isfahan Healthy Heart Program. ARYA Atheroscler 2013; 9(1): 89-97.
Effects of citrus sinensis juice on blood pressure

Sedigheh Asgary⁽¹⁾, <u>Mahtab Keshvari</u>⁽²⁾

Original Article

Abstract

BACKGROUND: Citrus sinensis juice (CSJ) is a rich source of dietary flavonoids which reduce the risk of adverse cardiovascular events. This study aimed to examine the effects of four-week intake of natural and commercial orange (*Citrus sinensis*) juice on blood pressure in healthy volunteers.

METHODS: In this single-blind randomized crossover study, 22 healthy subjects (age: 18-59 years old) were included and randomly divided into two groups of 11. Group A consumed commercial CSJ during the first four-week period. After a two-week washout period, they consumed natural CSJ for another four weeks. The procedure was reversed in group B. The participants were asked to drink 500 ml/day of either natural or commercial CSJ twice a day with breakfast and dinner. The effects of orange juice on blood pressure were evaluated.

RESULTS: After drinking commercial CSJ, diastolic and systolic blood pressure were significantly decreased (5.13%; P = 0.03 and -5.91%; P = 0.003, respectively). However, consumption of natural CSJ did not have significant effects on either diastolic or systolic blood pressure.

CONCLUSION: Commercial CSJ significantly decreased blood pressure. Higher flavonoid, pectin, and essential oils content of concentrated products compared to natural juice might have been responsible for this finding. Nevertheless, further studies to focus on dose-response effects are recommended.

Keywords: Citrus Sinensis Juice, Hypertension, Blood Pressure

Date of submission: 21 May 2012, Date of acceptance: 15 Aug 2012

Introduction

Hypertension is a major risk factor for cardiovascular diseases (CVD) whose global prevalence is predicted to be as high as 30% by 2025. Approximately 25% (6.6 million) 25-64 yearold have hypertension and 46% (12 million) have prehypertension.^{1,2} А growing number of epidemiological studies have consistently shown the protective effect of polyphenol-rich foods (fruit, tea, wine, cocoa or chocolate, and special citrus fruits) against some intermediate risk factors for CVD including high low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol, high blood pressure, and endothelial dysfunction.³⁻⁵ Orange (Citrus sinensis) juice is also considered a good source of essential nutrients such as vitamin C, folate, and potassium. Vitamin C has recently been found to protect endothelial cells and LDL from intra- and extracellular oxidative stress⁶

and to reduce the risk of atherosclerosis.⁷ In addition, folic acid can lower plasma homocysteine concentrations and to revert endothelial dysfunction in patients with cardiovascular diseases.⁸ Potassium, on the other hand, may contribute to lower blood pressure.⁶⁻⁹ Four-week consumption of orange juice in healthy middle-aged, normal-weight men has been suggested to reduce diastolic blood pressure (DBP). Since DBP is an indicator of peripheral vessel resistance, orange juice can have particular health benefits.¹⁰

Citrus sinensis juice (CSJ) consumption has become a worldwide dietary habit. As a result, the consumption of frozen concentrated juice has also increased steadily over years. Not surprisingly, the market share of this product is now much greater than that of natural fruit, especially in developed countries.¹¹ Furthermore, it was hypothesized that

98 ARYA Atheroscler 2013; Volume 9, Issue 1

¹⁻ Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, And Physiology Research Center, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

²⁻ Falavarjan Branch, Islamic Azad University, Falavarjan, And Physiology Research Center, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Correspondence to: Mahtab Keshvari, Email: mahtabkeshvari87@yahoo.com

natural and commercial orange juice consumption have different effects on blood pressure in healthy volunteers. This study aimed to examine the effects of four-week intake of natural orange (Citrus sinensis) juice and commercial CSJ on blood pressure in healthy volunteers.

Materials and Methods

Subjects

This single-blind, randomized, crossover study was conducted on 22 healthy volunteers (age: 18-59 years old) with no evidence of chronic, metabolic, and endocrine diseases. The exclusion criteria were using medications, antioxidants, or vitamin supplements, intense physical activity (five hours a week), smoking, and vegetarian or other restrictive dietary habits.

Using a protocol approved by the ethics committee of Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center (Isfahan, Iran), this study mainly aimed at comparing the effects of four-week consumption of natural and commercial orange juice on blood pressure in healthy volunteers. The subjects were hence allocated to two groups of 11 using computer-generated random numbers. Group A received commercial orange juice for four weeks, had a two-week washout period, and consumed natural orange juice for another four weeks. The reverse order was used in group B. Commercial orange juice without preservatives, extra vitamin C, or other additives was purchased. Natural fruits were also bought at the fruit market, crushed, and then squeezed. Both types of juice were stored in one-liter bottles at 20°C. The subjects were asked to drink 500 ml/day of orange juice twice a day with breakfast and dinner.

In order to measure blood pressure, the participants made four visits to the clinical research unit, i.e. before and 30 days after each

experimental period. All measurements were performed in the morning and after a 20-minute rest using a stethoscope and a sphygmomanometer (Accutorr 1A, Datascope, Japan) and according to a standard protocol.¹²

The collected data was reported as means ± standard deviation (SD). A paired t-test was performed to analyze data obtained by the crossover design before and after juice supplementation and to determine possible significant differences in blood pressure between time points. A paired t-test between baseline values (before either natural or commercial orange juice supplementation) was used to establish the correct performance of the washout. A paired t-test was also used to compare the mean values obtained before and after the experiment period. Data was compared by repeated-measures analysis of variance with Dunnett's post-test for nonparametric data. In all cases, P values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS for Windows 15.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

Results

Overall, 22 subjects were included. The mean age of the participants was 34.36 ± 11.54 years old in group A and 35.91 \pm 12.80 years old in group B (P = 0.769). The mean SBP in groups A and B was 112.00 ± 8.50 and 110.91 ± 7.01 mmHg, respectively (P = 0.555). The mean DBP was 78.0 ± 11.35 mmHg in group A and 72.73 ± 4.67 in group B (P = 0.130).

Blood pressure was measured at the beginning and at the end of each experimental period. There was a statistically significant difference in DBP between the two groups the first and second experimental periods. However, within group comparisons did not reveal statistically significant differences in DBP and SBP (Table 1).

Characteristics	Group	T1	T2	Р	Т3	T4	Р
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	Group A	112.00 ± 8.50	108.00 ± 7.89	0.020	112.55 ± 8.20	110.91 ± 11.36	0.271
	Group B	110.91 ± 7.01	106.36 ± 6.74	0.129	110.91 ± 7.01	104.55 ± 8.20	0.053
	Р	0.555	0.917	0.860	0.630	0.119	0.840
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	Group A	78.00 ± 11.35	72.00 ± 7.89	0.050	75.45 ± 11.28	76.36 ± 10.27	0.792
	Group B	72.73 ± 4.67	70.91 ± 7.01	0.317	72.91 ± 5.39	69.09 ± 5.39	0.050
	Р	0.130	0.400	0.204	0.011	0.146	0.490

Table 1. Comparison of the two groups before and after each experimental period

Group A consumed commercial Citrus sinensis juice during the first period and natural Citrus sinensis juice during the second. Group B consumed natural Citrus sinensis juice during the first period and commercial Citrus sinensis juice during the second. T₁: Before the first period

T₂: After the first period

T₃: Before the second period

T₄: After the second period

Table 2. Changes in systolic and diastolic blood pressure (SBP and DBP) after the intervention compared to baseline

Characteristic	Commercial orange juice users (n = 22)	Natural orange juice users (n = 22)
SBP (mmHg)	-5.91%	-3.63%
DBP (mmHg)	-5.13%	-0.61%

SBP: Systolic blood pressure; DBO: diastolic blood pressure

In addition, DBP and SBP had significant reductions after commercial orange juice consumption (-5.13% and -5.91% respectively). Nevertheless, commercial orange juice resulted in a significantly lower DBP reduction compared to natural orange juice (Table 2).

Discussion

The main finding of this study is that four-week consumption of commercial CSJ significantly decreased DBP and SBP in healthy subjects. Morand et al. reported similar findings.13 Hara showed that four-week consumption of orange juice reduced DBP in healthy middle-aged, normalweight men.14 Moreover, studies have shown consumption of flavanone-rich fruit juice to have a significant beneficial effect on blood pressure in hypertensive subjects.^{10,14} Focus on flavanones is particularly relevant considering their high content in citrus and high consumption of citrus fruits, and particularly orange juice, worldwide.15 Concentrated citrus products have a greater flavonoid (polymethoxylated flavones, hesperitin and naringin) content compared to natural juice.¹⁶ This is due to the grinding process which uses the entire fruit to produce the juice. Pectin and essential oils contained in the peel are also found in greater amounts in the concentrated juice.16 Naringin and hesperidin are mainly present in grapefruits and oranges. They have been reported to possess antioxidant, antihypertensive, and hypocholesterolemic effects and to offer some kind of protection against mutagenesis and lipid peroxidation.17,18 In healthy. middle-aged, moderately overweight men, regular postprandial consumption of Citrus sinesis juice (CSJ) has been found to decrease DBP and increase endotheliumdependent microvascular reactivity. Hesperidin was suggested to cause the beneficial effect of orange juice.13 Law et al. showed that a 3-4 mmHg reduction in DBP would reduce the incidence of coronary artery disease by 20%.19

The possible mechanisms by which these flavonoid-rich foods lowered blood pressure may involve a chronic increase in the production of nitrogen oxide (NO) by vascular endothelium. Other mechanisms such as an inhibitory effect on angiotensin-converting enzyme could also be responsible for the blood pressure-lowering effects of flavanones.^{13,20,21} Endothelium dysfunction causes the endothelium to become permeable to plasma components such as LDL which are deposited in the subendothelial space. Consequently, endothelial dysfunction can be considered as the first step in atherogenesis and development of arteriosclerotic lesions.²²⁻²⁴

In general, association between flavonoid intake and blood pressure is a theory which requires more research.

Conclusion

Commercial orange juice has a significant effect on blood pressure. As concentrated products have greater contents of flavonoids, pectin, and essential oils compared to natural juice, they are more effective on blood pressure. Future studies to examine dose-response effects are recommended.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

References

- 1. Kapil V, Milsom AB, Okorie M, Maleki-Toyserkani S, Akram F, Rehman F, et al. Inorganic nitrate supplementation lowers blood pressure in humans: role for nitrite-derived NO. Hypertension 2010; 56(2): 274-81.
- 2. Esteghamati A, Abbasi M, Alikhani S, Gouya MM, Delavari A, Shishehbor MH, et al. Prevalence, awareness, treatment, and risk factors associated with hypertension in the Iranian population: the national survey of risk factors for noncommunicable diseases of Iran. Am J Hypertens 2008; 21(6): 620-6.
- **3.** Hooper L, Kroon PA, Rimm EB, Cohn JS, Harvey I, Le Cornu KA, et al. Flavonoids, flavonoid-rich foods, and cardiovascular risk: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Am J Clin Nutr 2008; 88(1): 38-50.
- **4.** Johnsen SP, Overvad K, Stripp C, Tjonneland A, Husted SE, Sorensen HT. Intake of fruit and vegetables and the risk of ischemic stroke in a cohort of Danish men and women. Am J Clin Nutr

2003; 78(1): 57-64.

- **5.** Dauchet L, Ferrieres J, Arveiler D, Yarnell JW, Gey F, Ducimetiere P, et al. Frequency of fruit and vegetable consumption and coronary heart disease in France and Northern Ireland: the PRIME study. Br J Nutr 2004; 92(6): 963-72.
- **6.** Sabharwal AK, May JM. alpha-Lipoic acid and ascorbate prevent LDL oxidation and oxidant stress in endothelial cells. Mol Cell Biochem 2008; 309(1-2): 125-32.
- 7. Boekholdt SM, Meuwese MC, Day NE, Luben R, Welch A, Wareham NJ, et al. Plasma concentrations of ascorbic acid and C-reactive protein, and risk of future coronary artery disease, in apparently healthy men and women: the EPIC-Norfolk prospective population study. Br J Nutr 2006; 96(3): 516-22.
- Moat SJ, Lang D, McDowell IF, Clarke ZL, Madhavan AK, Lewis MJ, et al. Folate, homocysteine, endothelial function and cardiovascular disease. J Nutr Biochem 2004; 15(2): 64-79.
- **9.** Whelton PK, He J, Appel LJ, Cutler JA, Havas S, Kotchen TA, et al. Primary prevention of hypertension: clinical and public health advisory from The National High Blood Pressure Education Program. JAMA 2002; 288(15): 1882-8.
- 10. Reshef N, Hayari Y, Goren C, Boaz M, Madar Z, Knobler H. Antihypertensive effect of sweetie fruit in patients with stage I hypertension. Am J Hypertens 2005; 18(10): 1360-3.
- **11.** Devaraj S, Jialal I, Rockwood J, Zak D. Effect of orange juice and beverage with phytosterols on cytokines and PAI-1 activity. Clin Nutr 2011; 30(5): 668-71.
- Williams JS, Brown SM, Conlin PR. Videos in clinical medicine. Blood-pressure measurement. N Engl J Med 2009; 360(5): e6.
- **13.** Morand C, Dubray C, Milenkovic D, Lioger D, Martin JF, Scalbert A, et al. Hesperidin contributes to the vascular protective effects of orange juice: a randomized crossover study in healthy volunteers. Am J Clin Nutr 2011; 93(1): 73-80.
- 14. Hara Y. Prophylactic functions of tea polyphenols. In: Ho CT, Editor. Food phytochemicals for cancer prevention II: teas, spices, and herbs. Washington, DC: American Chemical Soc; 1994.
- **15.** Neveu V, Perez-Jimenez J, Vos F, Crespy V, du CL, Mennen L, et al. Phenol-Explorer: an online comprehensive database on polyphenol contents in

foods. Database (Oxford) 2010; 2010: bap024.

- **16.** Cesar TB, Aptekmann NP, Araujo MP, Vinagre CC, Maranhao RC. Orange juice decreases lowdensity lipoprotein cholesterol in hypercholesterolemic subjects and improves lipid transfer to high-density lipoprotein in normal and hypercholesterolemic subjects. Nutr Res 2010; 30(10): 689-94.
- **17.** Aranganathan S, Panneer SJ, Nalini N. Hesperetin exerts dose dependent chemopreventive effect against 1,2-dimethyl hydrazine induced rat colon carcinogenesis. Invest New Drugs 2009; 27(3): 203-13.
- **18.** Jin YR, Im JH, Park ES, Cho MR, Han XH, Lee JJ, et al. Antiplatelet activity of epigallocatechin gallate is mediated by the inhibition of PLCgamma2 phosphorylation, elevation of PGD2 production, and maintaining calcium-ATPase activity. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 2008; 51(1): 45-54.
- **19.** Law MR, Morris JK, Wald NJ. Use of blood pressure lowering drugs in the prevention of cardiovascular disease: meta-analysis of 147 randomised trials in the context of expectations from prospective epidemiological studies. BMJ 2009; 338: b1665.
- **20.** Heller R, Unbehaun A, Schellenberg B, Mayer B, Werner-Felmayer G, Werner ER. L-ascorbic acid potentiates endothelial nitric oxide synthesis via a chemical stabilization of tetrahydrobiopterin. J Biol Chem 2001; 276(1): 40-7.
- **21.** Actis-Goretta L, Ottaviani JI, Fraga CG. Inhibition of angiotensin converting enzyme activity by flavanol-rich foods. J Agric Food Chem 2006; 54(1): 229-34.
- **22.** Marx N, Grant PJ. Endothelial dysfunction and cardiovascular disease-the lull before the storm. Diab Vasc Dis Res 2007; 4(2): 82-3.
- **23.** Bonetti PO, Lerman LO, Lerman A. Endothelial dysfunction: a marker of atherosclerotic risk. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2003; 23(2): 168-75.
- **24.** Weissberg P. Mechanisms modifying atherosclerotic disease from lipids to vascular biology. Atherosclerosis 1999; 147(Suppl 1): S3-10.

How to cite this article: Asgary S, Keshvari M. **Effects of Citrus sinensis juice on blood pressure.** ARYA Atheroscler 2013; 9(1): 98-101.

Psychological factors and coronary heart disease

Zohreh Khayyam-Nekouei⁽¹⁾, Hamidtaher Neshatdoost⁽²⁾, Alireza Yousefy⁽³⁾, Masoumeh Sadeghi⁽⁴⁾, Gholamreza Manshaee⁽⁵⁾

Review Article

BACKGROUND: Although psychological factors play an important role in coronary heart diseases (CHD), it seems there is a need for more researches in this respect. The present study aimed to review psychological factors, including depression, anxiety and stress related to etiology and prognosis of CHD.

METHODS: This was a review on medical and psychological literatures, particularly in the years 1995-2012.

RESULTS: As protective factor or risk factor, psychological factors play an important role in CHD.

CONCLUSION: Given the findings of this study, it seems necessary that we pay attention to psychological factors, as independent risk factors or protective factors for CHD.

Keywords: Coronary Heart Disease, Psychological Factors, Depression, Anxiety, Stress

Date of submission: 04 Aug 2012, Date of acceptance: 14 Oct 2012

Introduction

Abstract

Coronary heart disease (CHD) is one of the most important health issues of the twenty first century, and the most important cause of mortality in our community.1-3 According to statistics, 2 million Iranians are suffering from coronary heart disease. The Research Committee of the Iranian Society of Cardiac Surgeons has announced that the age of exposure to cardiovascular disease in Iran is approximately 7 to 10 years less than other countries. In developed countries, people are exposed to this disease in the sixth decade of their lives. However, people in Iran are exposed to this disease during the fifth decade of their life. There are about 50 thousand heart surgeries performed annually in Iran. In China, with a population of one billion and 300 million, the same amount of heart surgeries are performed.4

Although most of the studies on CHD are mainly focused on the biological risk factors and life style, some evidences have revealed that psychological and psychiatric factors have a very important role in the etiology, development, duration, and outcome of this disease.^{1,5,6} The most important factors are depression,⁷⁻²⁹ anxiety,¹²⁻⁴⁰ and stress.^{30-32,41-53} Increasing evidence suggests that psychological factors, as independent risk factors, have an important part in physical chronic diseases, particularly coronary heart disease.^{5,9,38,48,53-58}

The purpose of this paper is to review psychological risk factors of CHD such as depression, anxiety and stress. Then via a computerized literature search in ProQuest, Elsevier, and PubMed covering the period from 1995 to 2012, all studies focusing on psychological factors in the etiology and prognosis of CHD were reviewed.

In recent years, researchers and clinicians have been attempting to reduce CHD occurrence by primary and secondary prevention strategies such as behavioral changes and risk factor modification.^{34,36} Secondary prevention of CHD is also a main objective that results in the reduction of cardiac events especially acute myocardial infraction.⁵⁹

Psychological risk factors in CHD

The biological risk factors for CHD have been studied in many researches, but this paper focused

102 ARYA Atheroscler 2013; Volume 9, Issue 1

¹⁻ PhD Candidate, Department of Psychology, Isfahan Sciences and Research Branch, Islamic Azad University, Isfahan, Iran

²⁻ Professor, Department of Psychology, University of Isfahan, Isfahan, Iran

 ³⁻ Associate Professor, Department of Medical Education, Medical Education Research Center, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran
 4- Associate Professor, Cardiac Rehabilitation Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical

Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁵⁻ Assistant Professor, Department of Psychology, Isfahan Science and Research Branch, Islamic Azad University, Isfahan, Iran Correspondence To: Zohreh Khayyam Nekouei, Email: khayyamnekouei@gmail.com

exclusively on psychological risk factors for CHD etiology, prognosis and mortality.^{60,61}

Depression

Depression is a risk factor for morbidity and mortality in patients with coronary heart disease, especially following acute coronary syndrome.⁷⁻²⁹ Most studies showed depression as an important disorder that leads to an increase in cardiovascular events, re-admission to hospital and CHD mortality.¹⁶ Depression is common among CHD patients; there is ample evidence that prevalence of depression is 20% higher in patients with heart failure than in healthy individuals.^{11,31,47,62-65}

Depression has been found to be a risk factor in the etiology of CHD.^{16,64-70} However pervious research has had several potential limitations concerning causal inference. The greatest challenge in research on prospective association between depression and CHD is the possibility that both depression and subsequent CHD are caused by subclinical manifestation of cardiovascular disease.⁶⁸ Atherosclerosis, the underlying pathophysiological mechanism of CHD, is known to develop during the decade before the first clinical symptoms. Therefore, atherosclerosis may facilitate depressive symptoms even before clinical CHD symptoms.^{48,68}

Balog et al. studied depression symptoms associated with job stress and stress in marital relationships in women with and without coronary artery disease.¹⁷ They found that in women, marital stress is associated with depression symptoms and results in the intensification of CHD. Therefore, it appears that depression has a mediating role for marital stress that ultimately results in CHD.

Anxiety

Although evidence suggests that anxiety has an adverse impact on prognosis in CHD patients independent of depression, the role of anxiety as an etiological risk factor is less clear.^{68,71-74}

In a systematic review, 12 studies evaluated clinical endpoints, such as myocardial infarction (MI) and cardiac death, 5 studies reported significant association, 3 studies reported marginally significant associations, and 4 studies reported no association between indexes of anxiety and cardiac patients.⁷⁵

Roest et al. (2010) in their meta-analysis studied the connection between anxiety and the risk factors of coronary artery disease, and found that anxiety is an independent risk factor for CHD and cardiac deaths. However, the association between anxiety and CHD was somewhat less than the corresponding association between depression and CHD, but this connection was stronger than the relationship between anger and CHD occurrence.³⁸

A survey conducted about physical and psychological symptoms of anxiety in CHD patients revealed that anxiety is correlated with physical factors such as palpitation without any physical exercise, anger and redness in the face, abnormal heart beat, and muscle tension that increases the risk of CHD especially in women.⁷⁶

A research showed that somatic symptoms of anxiety were associated with an increased risk of CHD in women. This finding lends support to the physiological pathway for the relation between psychological factors, anxiety in particular, and CHD.³⁷

A longitudinal research conducted by Janszky et al. over a period of 37 years on 49321 young Swedish men aged 18-20 years evaluated the effects of anxiety and early depression on risk factors of coronary artery disease. This research revealed that both anxiety and depression are associated with low physical activity and high rate of cigarette smoking. Depression was also associated with high levels of alcohol consumption and anxiety had a connection with high blood pressure. Finally, this study indicated that anxiety independently predicted subsequent CHD events such as morbidity and mortality. In contrast, it found no support for such an effect concerning early onset of depression in men.²⁸

In another study, it was indicated that high and low levels of trait anxiety do not have a different effect on cardiovascular reaction. Expressing and inhibiting styles of anger did not have a different effect on cardiovascular reactions, but anger expression and management styles and trait anxiety levels had an opposite effect on cardiovascular reactions. This means that the outward (behavioral) expression of anger with high level of anxiety is associated with low cardiovascular reaction (heart beat), and the outward expression of anger with low level of anxiety is associated with high cardiovascular reaction. In contrast. inner expression of anger with high level of anxiety is associated with high cardiovascular reaction, and inner expression of anger with low level of anxiety is associated with low cardiovascular reaction.77 In addition to depression, other psychological factors such as anger, hostility and anxiety are associated with increase in risk factors of cardiovascular disease.78-81,34

Stress

To fully understand the relationship between cardiovascular disease and stress is simply not

possible, but empirical evidence indicates a relationship between the heart and mind.⁸¹

A number of experts have suggested that those variables that are commonly regarded as components of stress include: depression and anxiety, social isolation and lack of social support, acute and chronic life events, psychosocial work characteristics, and type A behavior and hostility.⁶⁶

Depression and anxiety

The association between depression and anxiety with CHD has been previously discussed in this essay. 11,16,31,34,37,47,61-64,67-70,75-77,80-84

Social isolation and lack of social support

In many studies lack of social support was indicated as a predictor of onset and prognosis of CHD, and mortality among both sexes; however, it was more consistent in males.47,84,85 The risks are increased 2-3-fold and 3-5-fold for females and males, respectively. The association between social isolation and lack of social support with CHD exists for subjects who live in different countries and are of various age groups.⁴⁷ A study aimed to investigate and identify psychological factors in patients with ischemic heart disease within 4 months after discharge.¹⁴ This study indicated that coping style, social network and social support, within 4 months after discharge, caused these patients to be less focused on their illness and feel less threatened in comparison with the control group that did not have these types of support. These patients were also less excited and benefited more from the health services provided by the professionals. Moreover, people who suffered from this disease for the first time were seeking social support and coping style more in comparison to those that had previous history of hospitalization due to ischemic heart disease.¹⁴ In another study, loneliness and social support were studied in patients with heart failure (CHF). They realized that loneliness is one of the important risk factors for patients with heart failure, and the more the patients feel lonely the more severe the heart failure is.86

Acute and chronic stressors

Some studies have shown that acute and chronic psychological stressors are associated with acute coronary syndromes (ACSs).⁸⁷ Acute stressors such as earthquakes or loss of a child may trigger death.^{88,89} However, it is very difficult to study and quantify the magnitude of effects.⁶ Moreover, there has been less focus on how chronic and low-key stress of everyday life affects mortality rate of individuals.⁹⁰

Psychosocial work characteristics

This topic refers to the characteristics of the work environment. Few associations supported the hypotheses that high job demands, low decision latitude, or job strain are associated with increased levels of CHD risk factors.91 When the results for job control, demands and strain were studied, there was not a preponderance of positive over negative studies. The expert working group found no consistency between this review and the other two reviews of work-related stressors.6,64,92 A study on the association between adverse psychosocial characteristics at work and risk of coronary heart disease among males and females with low job control, reported a higher risk of newly reported coronary heart disease during follow up. Subjects with low job control on both follow-ups had an odds ratio for any subsequent coronary event compared with subjects with high job control at both follow-ups.93 One study characterised occupational cohort of British men well. This study reported that the association between psychosocial factors at work and CHD was largely independent on family history of CHD, education, paternal education and social class, number of siblings, and height.93,94 Therefore, the results of these studies were heterogeneous. Future research will need to clarify this subject with the role of moderator variables.

Type A behavior and hostility

Early research data indicated that type A behavior pattern, which is primarily characterized by hostility, intense ambition, competitive drive, constant preoccupation with deadlines, and a sense of time urgency, was related to the development of CHD. However, these original findings were not supported by subsequent research.^{51,95,96} Recent studies do not confirm the correlation between type A behavior and coronary artery diseases.⁶⁴

Studies on American and European populations have demonstrated that high levels of anger and hostility are predictive of coronary heart disease (CHD) mortality.97 Moreover, a Japanese study indicated that higher levels of cynical hostility increased the risk of acute myocardial infarction syndrome (AMIs), and that angercontrol strategies could have some benefit in reducing the risk of AMIs in middle-aged Japanese men.96 However, another review indicated that there was no evidence of such an association.64 Beside some studies demonstrated no clear association between hostility and CHD.6 More research is needed in order to understand this relationship in the future.

Materials and Methods

This study was conducted through searching in related books and articles. The related articles were retrieved from authorized database such as ProQuest, Elsevier and PubMed using keywords such as (psychological factors), (psychological risk factors), (depression, anxiety, stress), (social isolation and lack of social support, acute and chronic life events, psychological work characteristics, Type A behavior and hostility) (coronary heart diseases) from 1995 to 2012. Accordingly, articles that were most related to the subject were selected and the relationship of psychological factors to coronary heart disease were studied.

Results

This study showed that psychological factors as protective or risk factors have an important role in CHD; the most important of which are depression, anxiety, stress, occupational status, and94-97 social support.4,6,7-29,30-40,41-53,48,62-66,80,82,86-89,94-98 Strong evidences regarding the role of depression in enhancing morbidity and mortality of CHD showed that depression is an independent predictor.8,13,14,68,99-105 Depressed people are 64% more at the risk of suffering from CHD than nondepressed people.68 Depression is also a negative predictor for improvement of CHD. Conducted studies have illustrated that after controlling demographic variables, low social support and anxiety were also independent risk factors for mortality.¹⁰⁶ Moreover, the results of these studies have demonstrated that anxiety, stress, and type of stress, such as lack of social support and psychological work characteristic, were associated with coronary artery disease.

One of the major protective factors for CHD is social support. Some studies have shown that perceived social support during hospitalization decreases depressive symptoms in subsequent months.¹⁰⁷ In addition, many studies have shown that after myocardial infarction the rate of depression depends upon the amount of social support.¹⁴ This study also showed different types of stress such as anxiety, depression, social isolation, social support, acute and chronic life event, hostility, and type A behavior. Among these variables, social support is more important than other variables. Not only is the lack of social support associated with the occurrence of CHD, but it is also an independent risk factor for mortality. 6,66,71,108

Research has highlighted the importance of stresses caused by acute and chronic life events in CHD incidence. Acute life event stressors can trigger CHD events, but it is very difficult to study and quantify the magnitude of these effects. Although the deleterious physiological effects of acute stressors as CHD triggers are well documented, the role of chronic stressors in CHD onset and prognosis remains unclear.6 Many researches on hostility as type A behavior were inconsistent. Some studies confirm the role of hostility in the etiology of coronary artery disease, while other researches refute this assumption.64,72 Moreover, some studies have conflicting views about the role of hostility in the etiology and prognosis of coronary artery disease.6,109

Discussion

Coronary artery diseases are caused due to insufficient blood and oxygen flow to the heart muscle and will be the main cause of death until the year 2020.110,111 The risk factors of CHD are divided into unchangeable factors (age, and genetic factors) and changeable factors (smoking, obesity and psychosocial factors).112,113 Only half of the variances of CHD are explained by unchangeable factors (such as age and genetic factors).¹¹³ Due to the high expenses of treatment of these diseases and their complications, appropriate scientific approach, and prevention and treatment of these diseases result in saving millions of Rials in health costs. In this regard, it seems necessary to concentrate on the changeable factors that are mostly the psychosocial factors and life style.

Different reasons such as increasing prevalence in developing countries, like Iran, the high expenses of surgical and other treatment programs, side effects, and the resultant inability make CHD one of the most important medical and health issues.⁷⁴ Although most of the researches on CHD are focused on the biological risk factors and life style, evidence shows that psychological and psychosocial factors have an important part in etiology, development, continuity and the consequence of this illness^{1,5,9,47,64,112} Today, psychological factors are considered as independent risk factors in chronic diseases.^{112,113}

However, psychosocial factors are not recognized clinically. Cardiologists frequently state that the psychosocial factors identified in the literature are not apparent in clinical practice. There are probably three reasons for this. First,

psychosocial factors are risks rather than inevitable causes; they vary widely in importance for different patients, and will not be apparent in every case. Second, psychological characteristics such as hostility may only be elicited under appropriate provocation. Therefore, they are unlikely to be expressed during a typical clinical consultation. Finally, there is a tendency to search for psychosocial explanations only for patients who do not have other clear risk factors such as hypertension, diabetes, or smoking. Many clinicians work based on implicit models that place biological and psychosocial causes as alternatives. However, psychosocial factors may be associated with other risk factors.54 For example, the Whitehall II study by Marmot et al. showed that social isolation, lack of control at work, and hostility are more prominent in low social class groups where smoking, insulin resistance, and other factors are clustered. Therefore, 10,308 women and men, all of whom were employed in the London offices of the British Civil Service, would provide advice to patients, and refer more extreme cases to psychiatric or psychological services.¹¹⁴

Most studies discussed depression and anxiety as an important disorder that results in increase of cardiovascular incidents, re-admittance to hospital, and death in coronary artery patients.^{34,36} Depression is common among coronary artery patients; extensive research evidence showed that prevalence of depression in patients with heart failure is more than 20%.^{47,62-64,115}

The health system in Iran is experiencing different problems such as unfair and inadequate access to health services for the society, high cost of health care, emphasis on health care and neglect of preventive care, intervention on the individual level and neglect of community intervention, lack of balance between the interests of patients, society and the health system, and especially little attention to mental health. Furthermore, the age of exposure to cardiovascular disease, mainly heart failure, is decreasing in Iran and is reaching the teenage years. This is mostly due to psychological and life style reasons, therefore, a new psychological perspective to CHD is crucial. It is obvious that today one of the main aims of psychology is the prevention of psychosomatic disease, that results in decreasing expenses and improving health and quality of life.^{116,117} The new trend in psychology under the name of health psychology, and extensive research and publications in this field are a confirmation of this matter. Thus, by knowing the psychological risk

factors and protective factors of coronary artery disease, prevention, control and adjustment can be performed. These performances result in a decrease in risk factors, decrease in treatment expenses, improvement in life quality, and eventually decrease in illnesses and inabilities.^{68,105,117,118}

Conclusion

This study dealt with this topic using a modern psychological perspective and with the aim to evaluate the role of psychological factors in the etiology and prognosis of coronary heart diseases. The findings of this study showed that although psychological factors are independent risk factors for CHD, the diagnostic and therapeutic procedures of this illness had a favorable process. Prevention is better than cure; therefore, considering the increase in CHD risk factors during recent years, it is necessary that more attention be paid to psychological factors and preventive actions. Without doubt, performing psychological and educational interventions in the community and increasing people's awareness about the psychological factors of CHD can have an effective role in promoting the people's health in the future.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

References

- **1.** Twisk JW, Snel J, de VW, Kemper HC, van MW. Positive and negative life events: the relationship with coronary heart disease risk factors in young adults. J Psychosom Res 2000; 49(1): 35-42.
- **2.** Baba Pour Saatlou B, Kazemi Khalediz A. The prevalence of coronary artery disease and its risk factors in patients undergoing heart valve surgery. J Ardabil Univ Med Sci 2007; 7(25): 254-8. [In Persian].
- **3.** Bonow RO, Mann DL, Zipes DP, Libby P. Braunwald's Heart Disease E-Book: A Textbook of Cardiovascular Medicine. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier Health Sciences; 2011.
- **4.** Mandegar MH, Marzban M, Lebaschi AH, Ghaboussi P, Alamooti AR, Ardalan A. Gender influence on hospital mortality after coronary artery bypass surgery. Asian Cardiovasc Thorac Ann 2008; 16(3): 231-5.
- **5.** Albus C. Psychological and social factors in coronary heart disease. Ann Med 2010; 42(7): 487-94.
- **6.** Rozanski A, Blumenthal JA, Kaplan J. Impact of psychological factors on the pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease and implications for therapy. Circulation 1999; 99(16): 2192-217.
- 7. Frasure-Smith N, Lesperance F, Talajic M.

Depression and 18-month prognosis after yocardial infarction. Circulation 1995; 91(4): 999-1005.

- Brezinka V, Kittel F. Psychosocial factors of coronary heart disease in women: a review. Soc Sci Med 1996; 42(10): 1351-65.
- **9.** Creed F. The importance of depression following myocardial infarction. Heart 1999; 82(4): 406-8.
- **10.** Radloff LS. The CES-D Scale, A Self-Report Depression Scale for Research in the General Population. Applied Psychological Measurement 1977; 1(3): 385-401.
- Lesperance F, Frasure-Smith N, Juneau M, Theroux P. Depression and 1-year prognosis in unstable angina. Arch Intern Med 2000; 160(9): 1354-60.
- **12.** Lane D, Carroll D, Ring C, Beevers DG, Lip GY. Effects of depression and anxiety on mortality and quality-of-life 4 months after myocardial infarction. J Psychosom Res 2000; 49(4): 229-38.
- **13.** Barefoot JC, Brummett BH, Helms MJ, Mark DB, Siegler IC, Williams RB. Depressive symptoms and survival of patients with coronary artery disease. Psychosom Med 2000; 62(6): 790-5.
- 14. Frasure-Smith N, Lesperance F, Gravel G, Masson A, Juneau M, Talajic M, et al. Social support, depression, and mortality during the first year after myocardial infarction. Circulation 2000; 101(16): 1919-24.
- **15.** Carney RM, Freedland KE, Jaffe AS. Depression as a risk factor for coronary heart disease mortality. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2001; 58(3): 229-30.
- **16.** Jiang W, Krishnan RR, O'Connor CM. Depression and heart disease: evidence of a link, and its therapeutic implications. CNS Drugs 2002; 16(2): 111-27.
- **17.** Balog P, Janszky I, Leineweber C, Blom M, Wamala SP, Orth-Gomer K. Depressive symptoms in relation to marital and work stress in women with and without coronary heart disease. The Stockholm Female Coronary Risk Study. J Psychosom Res 2003; 54(2): 113-9.
- **18.** Rumsfeld JS, Havranek E, Masoudi FA, Peterson ED, Jones P, Tooley JF, et al. Depressive symptoms are the strongest predictors of short-term declines in health status in patients with heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003; 42(10): 1811-7.
- **19.** Van Melle JP, De JP, Spijkerman TA, Tijssen JG, Ormel J, van Veldhuisen DJ, et al. Prognostic association of depression following myocardial infarction with mortality and cardiovascular events: a meta-analysis. Psychosom Med 2004; 66(6): 814-22.
- **20.** Barth J, Schumacher M, Herrmann-Lingen C. Depression as a risk factor for mortality in patients with coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis. Psychosom Med 2004; 66(6): 802-13.
- **21.** Wulsin LR. Is depression a major risk factor for coronary disease? A systematic review of the epidemiologic evidence. Harv Rev Psychiatry 2004;

12(2): 79-93.

- 22. McLaughlin TJ, Aupont O, Bambauer KZ, Stone P, Mullan MG, Colagiovanni J, et al. Improving psychologic adjustment to chronic illness in cardiac patients. The role of depression and anxiety. J Gen Intern Med 2005; 20(12): 1084-90.
- **23.** Huffman JC, Smith FA, Blais MA, Beiser ME, Januzzi JL, Fricchione GL. Recognition and treatment of depression and anxiety in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol 2006; 98(3): 319-24.
- **24.** Krzyzkowiak W. Depression after myocardial infarction and its psychosocial conditions. Psychiatr Pol 2007; 41(5): 679-91.
- **25.** Goldston K, Baillie AJ. Depression and coronary heart disease: a review of the epidemiological evidence, explanatory mechanisms and management approaches. Clin Psychol Rev 2008; 28(2): 288-306.
- **26.** Huffman JC, Smith FA, Blais MA, Januzzi JL, Fricchione GL. Anxiety, independent of depressive symptoms, is associated with in-hospital cardiac complications after acute myocardial infarction. J Psychosom Res 2008; 65(6): 557-63.
- **27.** Stafford L, Berk M, Jackson HJ. Are illness perceptions about coronary artery disease predictive of depression and quality of life outcomes? J Psychosom Res 2009; 66(3): 211-20.
- **28.** Janszky I, Ahnve S, Lundberg I, Hemmingsson T. Early-onset depression, anxiety, and risk of subsequent coronary heart disease: 37-year followup of 49,321 young Swedish men. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010; 56(1): 31-7.
- **29.** Stapelberg NJ, Hamilton-Craig I, Neumann DL, Shum DH, McConnell H. Mind and heart: Heart rate variability in major depressive disorder and coronary heart disease - a review and recommendations. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2012; 46(10): 946-57.
- **30.** Leon GR, Finn SE, Murray D, Bailey JM. Inability to predict cardiovascular disease from hostility scores or MMPI items related to type A behavior. J Consult Clin Psychol 1988; 56(4): 597-600.
- **31.** Malkoff SB, Muldoon MF, Zeigler ZR, Manuck SB. Blood platelet responsivity to acute mental stress. Psychosom Med 1993; 55(6): 477-82.
- **32.** Cramer D. Type A behaviour pattern, extraversion, neuroticism and psychological distress. Br J Med Psychol 1991; 64 (Pt 1): 73-83.
- 33. Bonow RO, Mann DL, Zipes DP, Libby P. Braunwald's Heart Disease E-Book: A Textbook of Cardiovascular Medicine. 7th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier Health Sciences; 2007. p. 1976, 1981, 1982.
- **34.** Yousefy AR, Khayyam-Nekouei Z, Sadeghi M, Ahmadi SA, Roohafza HR, Rabiei K, et al. The effect of cognitive-behavioral therapy in reducing anxiety in heart disease patients. ARYA

Atheroscler 2006; 2(2): 84-8.

- **35.** Khayyamnekouei Z, Yousefy AR. Application of cognitive -behavioral therapy for reducing anxiety in cardiac patients. ARYA Atheroscler 2007; 3(2): 69-71.
- **36.** Nekouei ZK, Yousefy AR, Khayyam Nekouei AR, Sadeqhi M. The relation between anxiety and quality of life in heart patients. Health Inf Manage 2009; 5(1): 19-24.
- **37.** Nabi H, Hall M, Koskenvuo M, Singh-Manoux A, Oksanen T, Suominen S, et al. Psychological and somatic symptoms of anxiety and risk of coronary heart disease: the health and social support prospective cohort study. Biol Psychiatry 2010; 67(4): 378-85.
- 38. Roest AM, Martens EJ, de Jonge P, Denollet J. Anxiety and risk of incident coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010; 56(1): 38-46.
- **39.** Roest AM, Martens EJ, Denollet J, de Jonge P. Prognostic association of anxiety post myocardial infarction with mortality and new cardiac events: a meta-analysis. Psychosom Med 2010; 72(6): 563-9.
- **40.** Nekouei ZK, Yousefy A, Manshaee G, Nikneshan S. Comparing anxiety in cardiac patients candidate for angiography with normal population. ARYA Atheroscler 2011; 7(3): 93-6.
- **41.** Harlan WR. Physical and psychosocial stress and the cardiovascular system. Circulation 1981; 63(1): 266A-71A.
- **42.** Cinciripini PM. Cognitive stress and cardiovascular reactivity. I. Relationship to hypertension. Am Heart J 1986; 112(5): 1044-50.
- **43.** Kaplan JR, Adams MR, Clarkson TB, Manuck SB, Shively CA, Williams JK. Psychosocial factors, sex differences, and atherosclerosis: lessons from animal models. Psychosom Med 1996; 58(6): 598-611.
- **44.** Stewart MJ, Hirth AM, Klassen G, Makrides L, Wolf H. Stress, coping, and social support as psychosocial factors in readmissions for ischaemic heart disease. Int J Nurs Stud 1997; 34(2): 151-63.
- **45.** Habib KE, Gold PW, Chrousos GP. Neuroendocrinology of stress. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 2001; 30(3): 695-728.
- **46.** Esch T, Stefano GB, Fricchione GL, Benson H. Stress in cardiovascular diseases. Med Sci Monit 2002; 8(5): RA93-RA101.
- **47.** Bunker SJ, Colquhoun DM, Esler MD, Hickie IB, Hunt D, Jelinek VM, et al. "Stress" and coronary heart disease: psychosocial risk factors. Med J Aust 2003; 178(6): 272-6.
- **48.** Strike PC, Steptoe A. Psychosocial factors in the development of coronary artery disease. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 2004; 46(4): 337-47.
- **49.** Blumenthal JA, Sherwood A, Babyak MA, Watkins LL, Waugh R, Georgiades A, et al. Effects of exercise and stress management training on markers of cardiovascular risk in patients with ischemic

heart disease: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2005; 293(13): 1626-34.

- **50.** Roohafza HR. Stress and heart. ARYA Atheroscler 2012; 2(2): 60-1.
- **51.** Brotman DJ, Golden SH, Wittstein IS. The cardiovascular toll of stress. Lancet 2007; 370(9592): 1089-100.
- **52.** Steptoe A, Kivimaki M. Stress and cardiovascular disease. Nat Rev Cardiol 2012; 9(6): 360-70.
- **53.** Minc S, Sinclair G, Taft R. Some Psychological Factors in Coronary Heart Disease [Online]. 1962; Available from: URL: http://www.psychosomaticmedicine.org/content/25/ 2/133.full.pdf/
- **54.** Kop WJ. Chronic and acute psychological risk factors for clinical manifestations of coronary artery disease. Psychosom Med 1999; 61(4): 476-87.
- **55.** Steptoe A. Psychosocial factors in the aetiology of coronary heart disease. Heart 1999; 82(3): 258-9.
- **56.** Vitaliano PP, Scanlan JM, Zhang J, Savage MV, Hirsch IB, Siegler IC. A path model of chronic stress, the metabolic syndrome, and coronary heart disease. Psychosom Med 2002; 64(3): 418-35.
- **57.** Cohen BE, Panguluri P, Na B, Whooley MA. Psychological risk factors and the metabolic syndrome in patients with coronary heart disease: findings from the Heart and Soul Study. Psychiatry Res 2010; 175(1-2): 133-7.
- **58.** Rafia R, Naumana A. Psychosocial factors as predictors of early onset ischemic heart disease in a sample of Pakistani women. International Journal of Research Studies in Psychology 2012; 1(2): 17-27.
- **59.** Khayam Nekouei Z, Yousefy AR, Manshaee G. Cognitive-behavioral therapy and quality of life: An experience among cardiac patients. J Edu Health Promot 2012; 1: 2.
- **60.** Jousilahti P, Vartiainen E, Tuomilehto J, Puska P. Sex, age, cardiovascular risk factors, and coronary heart disease: a prospective follow-up study of 14 786 middle-aged men and women in Finland. Circulation 1999; 99(9): 1165-72.
- **61.** Jiang G, Wang D, Li W, Pan Y, Zheng W, Zhang H, et al. Coronary heart disease mortality in China: age, gender, and urban-rural gaps during epidemiological transition. Rev Panam Salud Publica 2012; 31(4): 317-24.
- **62.** Glassman AH, Shapiro PA. Depression and the course of coronary artery disease. Am J Psychiatry 1998; 155(1): 4-11.
- **63.** Krantz DS, McCeney MK. Effects of psychological and social factors on organic disease: a critical assessment of research on coronary heart disease. Annu Rev Psychol 2002; 53: 341-69.
- **64.** Kuper H, Marmot M, Hemingway H. Systematic review of prospective cohort studies of psychosocial factors in the etiology and prognosis of coronary heart disease. Semin Vasc Med 2002;

2(3): 267-314.

- **65.** Musselman DL, Evans DL, Nemeroff CB. The relationship of depression to cardiovascular disease: epidemiology, biology, and treatment. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1998; 55(7): 580-92.
- **66.** Kubzansky LD, Kawachi I. Going to the heart of the matter: do negative emotions cause coronary heart disease? J Psychosom Res 2000; 48(4-5): 323-37.
- **67.** Rugulies R. Depression as a predictor for coronary heart disease. a review and meta-analysis. Am J Prev Med 2002; 23(1): 51-61.
- **68.** Lett HS, Blumenthal JA, Babyak MA, Sherwood A, Strauman T, Robins C, et al. Depression as a risk factor for coronary artery disease: evidence, mechanisms, and treatment. Psychosom Med 2004; 66(3): 305-15.
- **69.** Wulsin LR, Singal BM. Do depressive symptoms increase the risk for the onset of coronary disease? A systematic quantitative review. Psychosom Med 2003; 65(2): 201-10.
- **70.** Alboni P, Favaron E, Paparella N, Sciammarella M, Pedaci M. Is there an association between depression and cardiovascular mortality or sudden death? J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown) 2008; 9(4): 356-62.
- **71.** Rudisch B, Nemeroff CB. Epidemiology of comorbid coronary artery disease and depression. Biol Psychiatry 2003; 54(3): 227-40.
- **72.** Rothenbacher D, Hahmann H, Wusten B, Koenig W, Brenner H. Symptoms of anxiety and depression in patients with stable coronary heart disease: prognostic value and consideration of pathogenetic links. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 2007; 14(4): 547-54.
- **73.** Shibeshi WA, Young-Xu Y, Blatt CM. Anxiety worsens prognosis in patients with coronary artery disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007; 49(20): 2021-7.
- **74.** Strik JJ, Denollet J, Lousberg R, Honig A. Comparing symptoms of depression and anxiety as predictors of cardiac events and increased health care consumption after myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003; 42(10): 1801-7.
- **75.** Grace SL, Abbey SE, Irvine J, Shnek ZM, Stewart DE. Prospective examination of anxiety persistence and its relationship to cardiac symptoms and recurrent cardiac events. Psychother Psychosom 2004; 73(6): 344-52.
- **76.** Suls J, Bunde J. Anger, anxiety, and depression as risk factors for cardiovascular disease: the problems and implications of overlapping affective dispositions. Psychol Bull 2005; 131(2): 260-300.
- **77.** Farhadi M. Styles of expressing anger and trait anxiety levels in response to cardio vascular [PhD Thesis]. Tehran, Iran: University of Tehran; 2009. [In Persian].
- 78. Zafar MU, Paz-Yepes M, Shimbo D, Vilahur G,

Burg MM, Chaplin W, et al. Anxiety is a better predictor of platelet reactivity in coronary artery disease patients than depression. Eur Heart J 2010; 31(13): 1573-82.

- **79.** Januzzi JL, Stern TA, Pasternak RC, DeSanctis RW. The influence of anxiety and depression on outcomes of patients with coronary artery disease. Arch Intern Med 2000; 160(13): 1913-21.
- **80.** Todaro JF, Shen BJ, Niaura R, Spiro A, III, Ward KD. Effect of negative emotions on frequency of coronary heart disease (The Normative Aging Study). Am J Cardiol 2003; 92(8): 901-6.
- **81.** Rozanski A, Blumenthal JA, Davidson KW, Saab PG, Kubzansky L. The epidemiology, pathophysiology, and management of psychosocial risk factors in cardiac practice: the emerging field of behavioral cardiology. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005; 45(5): 637-51.
- **82.** Scheier MF, Bridges MW. Person variables and health: personality predispositions and acute psychological states as shared determinants for disease. Psychosom Med 1995; 57(3): 255-68.
- **83.** Berkman LF, Vaccarino V, Seeman T. Gender difference in cardiovascular morbidity and mortality:the contiribution of social network and support. Ann Behav Med 1993; 15: 112-8.
- 84. Sorensen EA, Wang F. Social support, depression, functional status, and gender differences in older adults undergoing first-time coronary artery bypass graft surgery. Heart Lung 2009; 38(4): 306-17.
- 85. Gaston M. The psychological care of patients following a myocardial infarction [Online]. 2003; Available from: URL: http://www.nursingtimes.net/the-psychological-care-of-patients-following-a-myocardial-infarction/199464.article/
 86 Lofwarmerk C. Mattiacson AC. Billing F. Edner M.
- **86.** Lofvenmark C, Mattiasson AC, Billing E, Edner M. Perceived loneliness and social support in patients with chronic heart failure. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs 2009; 8(4): 251-8.
- **87.** Roohafza H, Talaei M, Sadeghi M, Mackie M, Sarafzadegan N. Association between acute and chronic life events on acute coronary syndrome: a case-control study. J Cardiovasc Nurs 2010; 25(5): E1-E7.
- **88.** Leor J, Poole WK, Kloner RA. Sudden cardiac death triggered by an earthquake. N Engl J Med 1996; 334(7): 413-9.
- **89.** Li J, Precht DH, Mortensen PB, Olsen J. Mortality in parents after death of a child in Denmark: a nationwide follow-up study. Lancet 2003; 361(9355): 363-7.
- **90.** Nielsen NR, Kristensen TS, Schnohr P, Gronbaek M. Perceived stress and cause-specific mortality among men and women: results from a prospective cohort study. Am J Epidemiol 2008; 168(5): 481-91.
- 91. Greenlund KJ, Liu K, Knox S, McCreath H, Dyer

AR, Gardin J. Psychosocial work characteristics and cardiovascular disease risk factors in young adults: the CARDIA study. Coronary Artery Risk Disease in Young Adults. Soc Sci Med 1995; 41(5): 717-23.

- **92.** Schnall PL, Landsbergis PA, Baker D. Job strain and cardiovascular disease. Annu Rev Public Health 1994; 15: 381-411.
- **93.** Bosma H, Marmot MG, Hemingway H, Nicholson AC, Brunner E, Stansfeld SA. Low job control and risk of coronary heart disease in Whitehall II (prospective cohort) study. BMJ 1997; 314(7080): 558-65.
- **94.** Hintsa T, Shipley MJ, Gimeno D, Elovainio M, Chandola T, Jokela M, et al. Do pre-employment influences explain the association between psychosocial factors at work and coronary heart disease? The Whitehall II study. Occup Environ Med 2010; 67(5): 330-4.
- **95.** Friedman M, Rosenman RH. Type A behavior and your heart. New York, NY: Knopf; 1974.
- **96.** Izawa S, Eto Y, Yamada KC, Nakano M, Yamada H, Nagayama M, et al. Cynical hostility, anger expression style, and acute myocardial infarction in middle-aged Japanese men. Behav Med 2011; 37(3): 81-6.
- **97.** Sundquist K, Lindstrom M, Malmstrom M, Johansson SE, Sundquist J. Social participation and coronary heart disease: a follow-up study of 6900 women and men in Sweden. Soc Sci Med 2004; 58(3): 615-22.
- **98.** Ahern DK, Gorkin L, Anderson JL, Tierney C, Hallstrom A, Ewart C, et al. Biobehavioral variables and mortality or cardiac arrest in the Cardiac Arrhythmia Pilot Study (CAPS). Am J Cardiol 1990; 66(1): 59-62.
- **99.** Frasure-Smith N, Koszycki D, Swenson JR, Baker B, van Zyl LT, Laliberte MA, et al. Design and rationale for a randomized, controlled trial of interpersonal psychotherapy and citalopram for depression in coronary artery disease (CREATE). Psychosom Med 2006; 68(1): 87-93.
- **100.** Lesperance F, Frasure-Smith N. Depression and heart disease. Cleve Clin J Med 2007; 74(Suppl 1): S63-S66.
- **101.** Lesperance F, Frasure-Smith N. Depression and coronary artery disease: time to move from observation to trials. CMAJ 2003; 168(5): 570-1.
- **102.** Lesperance F, Frasure-Smith N, Talajic M, Bourassa MG. Five-year risk of cardiac mortality in relation to initial severity and one-year changes in depression symptoms after myocardial infarction. Circulation 2002; 105(9): 1049-53.
- **103.** Thomas SA, Friedmann E, Wimbush F, Schron E. Psychological factors and survival in the cardiac arrhythmia suppression trial (CAST): a reexamination. Am J Crit Care 1997; 6(2): 116-26.

- **104.** Friedmann E, Thomas SA, Liu F, Morton PG, Chapa D, Gottlieb SS. Relationship of depression, anxiety, and social isolation to chronic heart failure outpatient mortality. Am Heart J 2006; 152(5): 940-8.
- **105.** Barnett PA, Gotlib IH. Psychosocial functioning and depression: distinguishing among antecedents, concomitants, and consequences. Psychol Bull 1988; 104(1): 97-126.
- **106.** Eriksen W. The role of social support in the pathogenesis of coronary heart disease. A literature review. Fam Pract 1994; 11(2): 201-9.
- **107.** Tennant C. Life stress, social support and coronary heart disease. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 1999; 33(5): 636-41.
- **108.** Miller TQ, Smith TW, Turner CW, Guijarro ML, Hallet AJ. A meta-analytic review of research on hostility and physical health. Psychol Bull 1996; 119(2): 322-48.
- **109.** Collins FL, McChargue DE, Cohen LM. The Health Psychology Handbook: Practical Issues for the Behavioral Medicine Specialist. 1st ed. London, UK: SAGE; 2003.
- **110.** Mancini MC, Cush EM, Sweatman K, Dansby J. Coronary artery bypass surgery: are outcomes influenced by demographics or ability to pay? Ann Surg 2001; 233(5): 617-22.
- **111.** Barth J, Schneider S, von Känel R. Lack of social support in the etiology and the prognosis of coronary heart disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Psychosom Med 2010; 72(3): 229-38.
- **112.** Jiang W, Glassman A, Krishnan R, O'Connor CM, Califf RM. Depression and ischemic heart disease: what have we learned so far and what must we do in the future? Am Heart J 2005; 150(1): 54-78.
- **113.** Rutledge T, Linke SE, Krantz DS, Johnson BD, Bittner V, Eastwood JA, et al. Comorbid depression and anxiety symptoms as predictors of cardiovascular events: results from the NHLBIsponsored Women's Ischemia Syndrome Evaluation (WISE) study. Psychosom Med 2009; 71(9): 958-64.
- **114.** Marmot MG, Smith GD, Stansfeld S, Patel C, North F, Head J, et al. Health inequalities among British civil servants: the Whitehall II study. Lancet 1991; 337(8754): 1387-93.
- **115.** Lesperance F, Frasure-Smith N. Depression in patients with cardiac disease: a practical review. J Psychosom Res 2000; 48(4-5): 379-91.
- **116.** Yousefy AR, Ghassemi GR, Sarrafzadegan N, Mallik S, Baghaei AM, Rabiei K. Psychometric properties of the WHOQOL-BREF in an Iranian adult sample. Community Ment Health J 2010; 46(2): 139-47.
- **117.** Yousefy A, KhayamNekouei Z. Basis of Cognitive-Behavioral Trainings and its Applications in Recovery of Chronic Diseases. Iran

J Med Educ 2011; 10(5): 792-800.

118. Gupta R, Deedwania P. Interventions for cardiovascular disease prevention. Cardiol Clin 2011; 29(1): 15-34.

How to cite this article: Khayyam-Nekouei Z, Neshatdoost H, Yousefy A, Sadeghi M, Manshaee Gh. **Psychological factors and coronary heart disease.** ARYA Atheroscler 2013; 9(1): 102-11.

Dabigatran, a direct thrombin inhibitor, can be a life-saving treatment in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia

Ahmad Mirdamadi⁽¹⁾

Case Report

Abstract

BACKGROUND: Several studies have emphasized thrombosis associated with thrombocytopenia as a potentially fatal complication of heparin. A number of agents are used for this condition. As a new oral, reversible direct thrombin inhibitor, dabigatran has been approved for short-term thromboprophylaxis after elective hip and knee replacement surgery. We present a case of dabigatran administration in a patient with femoral fracture.

CASE REPORT: A 67-year-old woman referred to the orthopedic ward of Shariati Hospital (Isfahan, Iran) due to femoral fracture following an accident. Immediately after surgery, she was found to be suffering from deep vein thrombosis (DVT) in her lower extremity despite sufficient prophylaxis by enoxaparin. Laboratory data showed severe thrombocytopenia. Considering the clinical history, an initial diagnosis of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia was made. Doppler ultrasound confirmed the diagnosis. Heparin was thus replaced with dabigatran which increased platelet count to the normal range and improved DVT.

CONCLUSION: Dabigatran can be a life-saving treatment in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. However, it is contraindicated in patients with renal dysfunction since it may cause potentially catastrophic results.

Keywords: Heparin Induced Thrombocytopenia, Heparin, Enoxaparin, Dabigatran

Date of submission: 20 May 2012, Date of acceptance: 5 Aug 2012

Introduction

Thrombosis associated with thrombocytopenia has been emphasized in several studies as a potentially fatal complication of heparin. After searching PubMed, Sid and Elsevier, we found 7 case reports that described several types of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT) treatment. The use of lepirudin infusion,^{1,2} argatroban,^{3,4} danaparoid,⁵ plasma exchange,6 and streptokinase7 has been indicated. Oral thrombin inhibitors are new agents for prevention and treatment of HIT. Melagatran, an oral thrombin inhibitor, is no longer available due to its hepatic toxicity. While several other thrombin inhibitors such as lepirudin and desirudin are used via parenteral administration, bivalirudin and argatroban are less convenient for patients and health care providers.8 As a new oral, reversible direct thrombin inhibitor, dabigatran has been approved for short-term thromboprophylaxis after elective hip and knee replacement surgery.9 This paper presents a case of dabigatran administration in a patient with femoral fracture.

Case report

A 67-year-old woman with left femoral fracture ward of Shariati Hospital (Isfahan, Iran). She received sufficient thromboprophylaxis with enoxaparin for 6 days and then underwent orthopedic surgery.

Five days after surgery, the patient experienced swelling, pain, and tenderness in her left thigh and leg. Doppler sonography was ordered to confirm the suspected deep vein thrombosis (DVT). Dilation of the left common femoral, superficial femoral, popliteal, and posterior tibial veins was detected without any blood flow in them and with no compressibility as well. In the other hand some echogenic mass presented in those veins (Figure 1). DVT in the left lower limb was thus confirmed. Baseline platelet count was $173,000/\mu$ L but dropped to $32,000/\mu$ L two weeks after the initiation of enoxaparin (Figure 2).

Based on clinical history and laboratory findings, the diagnosis of thrombosis associated with HIT was made. Enoxaparin was therefore discontinued

1- Assistant Professor, Department of Cardiology, School of Medicine, Najafabad Branch, Islamic Azad University, Isfahan, Iran Correspondence to: Ahmad Mirdamadi, Email: drsamirdamadi@yahoo.com

immediately and oral dabigatran was administered (110 mg twice a day). A few days later, platelet count increased to the normal range (236,000/ μ L) and the patient declared improvement in symptoms (Figure 2). On the tenth day of treatment with dabigatran, Doppler ultrasound was repeated which indicated the recanalization of the thrombosis (Figure 3).



Figure 1. Ultrasound before dabigatran administration (1/15/2012)



Figure 2. Platelet (Plt) counts before and after treatment whit dabigatran

Discussion

HIT with thrombosis, or the "white clot syndrome", is a rare but well recognized fatal complication of heparin therapy. The syndrome is idiosyncratic, immune-mediated, and not dose-dependent. It is therefore equally likely to occur with prophylactic and therapeutic heparin dosage regimens. HIT with thrombosis is associated with significant incidence of morbidity and mortality. The frequency of HIT in orthopedic patients is about 0.5% for low molecular weight heparin (LMWH) and 3% for unfractionated heparin (UFH).⁹ Prompt recognition of this complication and immediate withdrawal of heparin therapy are imperative.



Figure 3. Ultrasound ten days after initiation of dabigatran (1/25/2012)

Since HIT and thrombosis are mainly clinical diagnoses, one should not wait for objective test confirmation before stopping heparin treatment. On the other hand, LMWH should not be used to treat HIT because most HIT antibodies exhibit cross-reactivity with LMWH.¹⁰ In addition, due to the consumption of protein C in this condition, administration of warfarin can trigger skin necrosis.¹¹

The agents most frequently used in such conditions are parenteral direct thrombin-inhibitors such as lepirudin, argatroban, and bivalirudin, or factor Xa inhibitors such as fondaparinux.¹⁰ However, we used dabigatran which is an oral direct thrombin inhibitor. It has been approved in the USA for prevention of stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation and is licensed in Europe and Canada for short-term thromboprophylaxis after elective hip and knee replacement surgery. Moreover, it has limited drug interactions, does not require monitoring, and has rapid peak blood level. Therefore, administration of dabigatran can be helpful in the prevention and treatment of HIT. Nevertheless, dabigatran is contraindicated in patients with renal dysfunction since it may cause potentially catastrophic results. In this case, dabigatran was administered with no complications.

Conclusion

All physicians who use heparin in the course of their practice need to be aware of life threatening HIT and the spectrum of its clinical presentations and management. In case of HIT, replacing UFH or LMWH with dabigatran is one of the life-saving strategies. Dabigatran is more convenient for patients and health care providers and has the potential to improve clinical outcomes. Although the use of dabigatran may result in major changes in thrombosis management and prevention, drug contraindications should not be forgotten.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

References

- 1. Sunmez S, Okumus G, Kiyan E, Ece T, Arseven O. A case of heparin induced thrombocytopenia treated with lepirudin infusion: case report. Tuberk Toraks 2006; 54(2): 185-8.
- 2. Nippert M, De ME, Rodermann M, Vancon AC, Amrein D, Brembilla-Perrot B, et al. Treatment with lepirudin in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. A case report. Arch Mal Coeur Vaiss 2002; 95(12): 1234-8.
- **3.** Edwards JT, Hamby JK, Worrall NK. Successful use of Argatroban as a heparin substitute during cardiopulmonary bypass: heparin-induced thrombocytopenia in a high-risk cardiac surgical patient. Ann Thorac Surg 2003; 75(5): 1622-4.
- 4. Beiderlinden M, Treschan T, Gorlinger K, Peters J.

Argatroban in extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. Artif Organs 2007; 31(6): 461-5.

- **5.** Plassat R, Cognet F, Ternisien C, Menoret N, Dubus-Bausiere V, Brunel P, et al. Heparin induced thrombocytopenia: case report with acute thrombotic complications and literature review. Ann Readapt Med Phys 2002; 45(5): 216-23.
- **6.** Poullin P, Pietri PA, Lefevre P. Heparin-induced thrombopenia: rapid regression of thrombopenia and thrombosis after plasma exchange. Case report. Rev Med Interne 1998; 19(11): 819-22.
- 7. Mehta DP, Yoder EL, Appel J, Bergsman KL. Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia and thrombosis: reversal with streptokinase. A case report and review of literature. Am J Hematol 1991; 36(4): 275-9.
- **8.** Meddahi S, Samama MM. Direct inhibitors of thrombin, hirudin, bivalirudin, and dabigatran etexilate. J Mal Vasc 2011; 36(1): 24-32.
- **9.** Picker SM, Gathof BS. Heparin induced thrombocytopenia. A frequently unrecognised complication after major orthopedic surgery. Orthopade 2004; 33(11): 1300-8.
- 10. Bonow RO, Mann DL, Zipes DP, Libby P. Braunwald's Heart Disease E-Book: A Textbook of Cardiovascular Medicine. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier Health Sciences; 2011. p. 1859-60.
- **11.** Srinivasan AF, Rice L, Bartholomew JR, Rangaswamy C, La PL, Thompson JE, et al. Warfarin-induced skin necrosis and venous limb gangrene in the setting of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. Arch Intern Med 2004; 164(1): 66-70.

How to cite this article: Mirdamadi A. Dabigatran, a direct thrombin inhibitor, can be a life-saving treatment in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. ARYA Atheroscler 2013; 9(1): 112-4.

Non-administration of thrombolytic agents in acute myocardial infarction patients in Hajar hospital, Shahrekord, Iran: prevalence rate and causes

<u>Mohammadreza Samieinasab</u>⁽¹⁾, Shahin Shirani⁽²⁾, Sayyed Mohammad Hashemi⁽³⁾, Ali Pourmoghaddas⁽⁴⁾, Mostafa Hekmat⁽⁵⁾

Abstract

Short Communication

BACKGROUND: Cardiovascular diseases are the major causes of mortality worldwide and acute myocardial infarction (AMI) is the leading cause of mortality among cardiovascular diseases. Thrombolytic therapies, especially during the first few hours after the disease onset, can significantly reduce AMI-related mortality.

METHODS: The current study aimed to determine the prevalence and causes of nonadministration of thrombolytic therapy for AMI patients admitted to Hajar Hospital, Shahrekord, Iran, from May until November 2000. Non-probability convenient sampling method was used to select 106 subjects with Q-wave AMI. Data was collected by completing a questionnaire, reviewing medical records, and interviewing with patients. SPSS_{7.5} was for data analysis.

RESULTS: A total number of 106 AMI patients were studied among whom 62 (59%) individuals received thrombolytic therapy. Delayed referral to the hospital was the major cause of failure to provide thrombolytic therapy. The cause of non-treatment could not be identified in 15 (19.5%) subjects eligible to receive therapy.

CONCLUSION: Training general practitioners and individuals involved in this regard along with accelerating the process of patient referral to hospitals can reduce AMI-related mortality.

Keywords: Acute Myocardial Infarction, Thrombolytic, Therapy

Date of submission: 18 July 2012, Date of acceptance: 15 Aug 2012

Introduction

Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) are the leading causes of mortality in the world. In fact, they cause 50% of mortalities in developed countries and 25% of mortalities in developing countries.¹ Acute myocardial infarction (AMI) is responsible for most mortalities due to CVDs. In the U.S., more than one million people diagnosed with AMI are annually admitted in hospitals. Almost one-third of these patients die.²

Like many other countries, CVDs are the main cause of mortality in Iran and heart attacks occur during the 4th and 5th decades of patients' lives.³ In recent years, thrombolytic therapies could reduce the MI-related mortalities from 15% to approximately 6.5%. In addition to mortality reduction, thrombolytic therapies can also lessen disease symptoms and complications such as interventricular septal rupture and cardiogenic shock.⁴

In order to be effective on mortality, thrombolytic therapies are suggested to be administered until 12 hours after the onset of AMI.⁵ In addition to the time limit, patients should not have the contraindication prescription. The most important thrombolytic drug contraindications are active internal bleeding, cerebrovascular events in the past one year, possibility of aortic dissection, and history of intracerebral hemorrhage.⁵ Despite the approved role of thrombolytic therapy in AMI, it is still not administrated in many hospitals for all the patients. Venturini et al. collected information

1- Assistant Professor, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Assistant Professor, Hypertension Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran
 Assistant Professor, Cardiac Rehabilitation Research Center, Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Institute, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁴⁻ Associate Professor, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁵⁻ Cardiologist, Electrophysiologist Chamran Heart Center, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Correspondence to: Mohammad Reza Samieinasab, Email: samieinasab@med.mui.ac.ir

from ten countries and found that 37.3% of patients with AMI did not undergo thrombolytic therapy mainly due to delayed referral.⁵ In another study, race was shown to have influenced the percentage of thrombolytic therapy administration, i.e. while 75% of Caucasians admitted with AMI volunteered and received thrombolytic therapy, only 62% of black patients underwent treatment.⁶ Furthermore, some studies have suggested the administration rate of thrombolytic therapy to be lower in women than men with AMI. The reason might be delayed referral of women to hospitals, higher age among women with AMI, the existence of comorbidities which did not make women as appropriate volunteers for thrombolytic therapies, or differences in quality of services provided to female and male patients.⁶⁻⁸ In another study, the rate of thrombolytic therapy was higher in patients treated by a cardiologist than by a general practitioner or internist which indicates the impact of specialty of physicians on administration rate of thrombolytic drugs.9

The administration rate of thrombolytic therapy to candidates with AMI might indicate the quality of the provided services to patients. Therefore, all health care centers should pay utmost attention to administer such drugs to AMI patients. However, no previous report has been published about the frequency of non-administration of thrombolytic therapies in the province of Chaharmahal-e-Bakhtiari (Iran). Due to the high value of thrombolytic drugs as major pharmacological therapies in patients with AMI, this study aimed to determine the prevalence rate and causes of nonadministration of thrombolytic therapies.

Materials and Methods

This was a prospective, descriptive, cross-sectional study. The study population included all the patients with MI admitted in coronary care unit (CCU) of Hajar Hospital, Shaherkord, Iran during May-November 2000. AMI was diagnosed by a cardiologist based on indicators of the World Health Organization including history of chest pain, echocardiographic changes, and increased cardiac enzymes.⁴ Non-probability convenient sampling method was used to select subjects. Overall, 106 patients diagnosed with Q-wave AMI were examined in terms of administration or nonadministration of thrombolytic therapies. Data was collected by completing a questionnaire, reviewing medical records, and interviewing with patients. Data was extracted, categorized and analyzed by proportions difference test in SPSS_{7.5}. In order to compare the findings, P less than 0.05 were considered as significant.

Results

As indicated in table 1, the numbers of male patients were more than females. Among the 106 studied patients 62 (59%), including 54 males (87.1%) and 8 females (22.9%), received thrombolytic therapy.

Out of 44 patients who did not receive streptokinase, 18 (41%; 11 males and 7 females) referred late, 11 (25%; 6 males and 5 females) had contraindications, and 15 (34%; 9 males and 6 females) did not mention any special reasons while they were candidates for thrombolytic therapy.

Although a total number of 77 patients were candidates to receive thrombolytic therapy, only 62 (80.5%) received the treatment. To be more precise, 89% of men and 62% of women underwent thrombolytic therapy.

Discussion

As indicated in the results of the study, AMI was more prevalent in men, i.e. the number of men was three times more than women. Sex-dependent differences have also been indicated in other studies. In a large study on more than 3600 AMI patients, only 26% of the patients were female.¹⁰ Therefore, being male is known as a risk factor for the incidence

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of patients and summarized results in male and female patients

Number of patients	Males 80 (75.5%)	Females 26 (24.5%)
Mean age (year)	60.5	64.7
Those who did not received thrombolytic therapy	26 (32.5%)	18 (69.2%)
Candidates of receiving thrombolytic therapy	63 (78.8%)	14 (53.9%)
Candidates for thrombolytic therapy who did not receive it	9 (14.3%)	6 (42.9%)
Patients who did not receive thrombolytic therapy due to delayed referral	11 (13.8%)	7 (26.9%)
Patients who did not receive thrombolytic therapy due to contraindications	6 (7.5%)	5 (19.2%)

Males and females were significantly different in all groups (P < 0.05).

of coronary artery diseases and AMI. In this study, mean age of women was higher than men. In most previous studies, females aged higher than males.^{8,10}

According to our findings, 59% of all AMI patients were treated with streptokinase while 41% did not receive any thrombolytic drug. Male and female patients were significantly different in terms of receiving thrombolytic drugs (67.5% vs. 30.5%; P < 0.05). A study in Spain reported 23.9% of women and 41.3% of men with first AMI to have received thrombolytic therapy. Although we found higher percentages, the two studies found a higher prevalence among men.¹⁰

In addition, 80.5% of patients eligible to receive thrombolytic therapy did not receive it. Since the rates were 90% in men and 32% in women, a significant difference was observed between the two sexes (P < 0.05), which can be justified by the lower prevalence of AMI among women due to delayed diagnosis and treatment. Another reason for lower frequency of thrombolytic therapies administration in women might have been their older age compared to men. On the other hand, the percentage of women who did not receive thrombolytic drug due to contraindications was significantly higher than men. Differences in the frequency of thrombolytic therapy administration between men and women have also been mentioned in previous studies.^{8,10}

The overall rate of thrombolytic therapy administration to the eligible patients seems to be lower in this study compared to some other research. For instance, a study reported 93% of patients treated by a cardiologist to have received thrombolytic drugs.⁹

In this study, the most prevalent cause of nonadministration of thrombolytic therapy was delayed referral. There was no significant difference between men and women in this regard. It can be justifiable given that Chaharmahal-e-Bakhtiari is a mountainous province and sometimes it takes patients hours to get to the hospital. Moreover, such therapies are currently accessible only in hospitals and administration of the drugs is not possible in emergency stations and ambulances. Previous studies have also indicated the most prevalent cause of nonadministration of thrombolytic therapy as delayed referral.¹¹⁻¹³

Therefore, in order to provide better health care services and treatment to patients with AMI, all the emergency physicians, who are somehow involved in treatment of such patients, are recommended to be trained with the required educations about pharmacological therapy. Moreover, providing emergency centers with necessary facilities for early diagnosis of AMI and administration of thrombolytic therapies can prevent the mentioned delays. Furthermore, public educations of AMI symptoms, particularly to those at risk including elderly people, smokers and diabetics, can lead to earlier referral of patients to hospitals.

Acknowledgments

Hereby, many thanks go to the Research Deputy of Shahrekord University of Medical Sciences and the highly esteemed staff of CCU in Hajar Hospital for their kind cooperation

The Persian version of this article has been previously published in journal of Shahrekord University of Medical Sciences: 2002, No: 2; 15-20.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

References

- 1. Gaziano JM. Global burden of cardiovascular disease. In: Braunwald E, Zipes DP, Libby P, Editors. Heart Disease: A Textbook of Cardiovascular Medicine. 6th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Saunders; 2001.
- **2.** Antman EM, Braunwald E. Acute myocardial infarction. In: Braunwald E, Zipes DP, Libby P, Editors. Heart Disease: A Textbook of Cardiovascular Medicine. 6th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Saunders; 2001.
- **3.** Barzigar A, Shamkhani K, Hossein Akbar M, Bolourchian MJ, Hemati H, Atrkar Roushan Z, et al. Epidemiologic review of patients with acute myocardial infarction referred to Heshmat Hospital during five years. J Guilan Univ Med Sci 1992; 1(4): 8-27. [In Persian].
- **4.** Becker RC, Gore JM, Lambrew C, Weaver WD, Rubison RM, French WJ, et al. A composite view of cardiac rupture in the United States National Registry of Myocardial Infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol 1996; 27(6): 1321-6.
- **5.** Venturini F, Romero M, Tognoni G. Patterns of practice for acute myocardial infarction in a population from ten countries. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1999; 54(11): 877-86.
- **6.** Manhapra A, Khaja F, Syed M, Rybicki BA, Wulbrecht N, Alam M, et al. Electrocardiographic presentation of blacks with first myocardial infarction does not explain race differences in thrombolysis administration. Am Heart J 2000; 140(2): 200-5.
- **7.** Gan SC, Beaver SK, Houck PM, MacLehose RF, Lawson HW, Chan L. Treatment of acute myocardial infarction and 30-day mortality among

women and men. N Engl J Med 2000; 343(1): 8-15.

- 8. Marrugat J, Sala J, Masia R, Pavesi M, Sanz G, Valle V, et al. Mortality differences between men and women following first myocardial infarction. RESCATE Investigators. Recursos Empleados en el Sindrome Coronario Agudo y Tiempo de Espera. JAMA 1998; 280(16): 1405-9.
- **9.** Go AS, Rao RK, Dauterman KW, Massie BM. A systematic review of the effects of physician specialty on the treatment of coronary disease and heart failure in the United States. Am J Med 2000; 108(3): 216-26.
- 10. Randomised trial of late thrombolysis in patients with suspected acute myocardial infarction. EMERAS (Estudio Multicéntrico Estreptoquinasa Repúblicas de América del Sur) Collaborative Group. Lancet. 1993; 342(8874): 767-72.
- **11.** Bayes de LA. International cooperation in world cardiology: the role of the World Heart Federation. J

Am Coll Cardiol 1999; 33(5): 1427-30.

- **12.** Douglas PS. Coronary disease in women. In: Braunwald E, Zipes DP, Libby P, Editors. Heart disease: a textbook of cardiovascular medicine. 6th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Saunders; 2001.
- 13. Rawles J, Sinclair C, Jennings K, Ritchie L, Waugh N. Call to needle times after acute myocardial infarction in urban and rural areas in northeast Scotland: prospective observational study. BMJ 1998; 317(7158): 576-8.

How to cite this article: Samieenasab MR, Shirani Sh, Hashemi SM, Hekmat M. **Non-administration of thrombolytic agents in acute myocardial infarction patients in Hajar hospital, Shahrekord, Iran: prevalence rate and causes.** ARYA Atheroscler 2013; 9(1): 115-8.